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FOREWORD

IN RESPONSE to widespread public interest in events surround-
ing Idaho’s statehood centennial celebration in 1990, a group of
leaders in the Idaho legislature called upon the state’s most dis-
tinguished senior historian—Leonard Arrington, a native of
Twin Falls with over half a century of scholarly experience—to
prepare a definitive and complete history of Idaho for its citi-
zens.

Such an undertaking would have been nearly impossible until
relatively recently. Nothing approaching an adequate investiga-
tion of many fascinating aspects of Idaho’s history had provided
information essential to a true survey of that history. While
many more scholarly accounts of specific topics still need to be
written, enough has now been published to enable a competent
historian to undertake the assignment given by the legislature.

Leonard Arrington is far more than competent to complete
this ambitious project. Trained in both history and economics,

X1
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and a specialist in western history, he has himself previously in-
vestigated a remarkably wide spectrum of Idaho’s heritage. His
interests encompass—among others—mining, religious, social,
and business history. Such broad interests have made possible
an equally broadly based interpretation of Idaho’s long history
before statehood as well as the century we have recently cele-
brated.

Arrington’s own experience encompasses nearly three quar-
ters of Idaho statehood, which gives him an especially valuable
perspective. Historians who study their own time take special
care to employ proper scholarly methods that they would use in
studying any era; but they can also understand and articulate
concepts and assumptions that their contemporary citizens take
for granted. Later generations of scholars may introduce new va-
rieties of analysis and can use information that becomes avail-
able in subsequent years, but they also encounter problems as
they try to comprehend the context of bygone eras. In this study,
Arrington provides a contemporary understanding of our institu-
tions that will serve future generations as well as present read-
ers.

Many thousands of pages could be filled with a complete ac-
count of Idaho’s past. Complex issues and situations could be
explained in lengthy chapters that could create more confusion
than enlightenment. Arrington’s study offers a healthy balance
between oversimplification and excessive detail. In it, an Ida-
hoan who was raised on an irrigated tract typical of southern
Idaho’s Snake River Plain and who is a graduate of the state uni-
versity in northern Idaho does justice to both sections of his
native state. His understanding of life throughout the state is a
significant contribution to this book’s merit.

In the next decades, a substantial—and, happily, growing—
number of Idaho historians will continue to explore many impor-
tant aspects of Idaho’s history. Their future work will support
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later enterprises of this kind, as their past research and writing
have supported Arrington’s work. Idahoans are fortunate to have
this excellent appraisal of their state’s achievement to initiate a
new era in its rich heritage.

Merle W. Wells
Boise, Idaho
August 1992
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PREFACE AND
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

IN MANY WAYS Idaho is four states. The northern section is part
of the Inland Empire centered on Spokane, Washington, only
sixteen miles from the Idaho border. Southwestern Idaho, fo-
cused on Boise, the state capital, includes an agricultural and
industrial area reaching into eastern Oregon. Southeastern
Idaho is usually regarded as part of the Mormon culture region
centered in Salt Lake City, Utah, one hundred miles south of
the Idaho border. South-central Idaho owes no particular alle-
giance to any of the other three or to any outside cultural center;
its residents are independent farmers and business people who
help hold the state together and strengthen its unity.

The state’s economic and cultural diversity is partly a product
of its contrasting geography. The north touches the borders of
Canada, and the south includes the northern edge of Utah’s tem-
perate Cache Valley. In the southwest corner an arid plain
edges the Nevada desert, while in the east the famed Tetons in
the high Rockies dominate the landscape. The central west is in

XV
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the Columbia Plateau region, the southeast in the Basin and
Range region. Part of the state harvests crops under ample rain-
fall; other sections record less than five inches of moisture a
year. In altitude the state reaches fingers of the Rockies that in-
clude the towering Bitterroot Mountains and Continental Divide
along the Montana border and plummets to Lewiston, a little
over one hundred miles to the west, only 738 feet above sea
level. Parts of the state rest at times under eight feet of snow;
others lie bare all winter.

Idaho contrasts its huge semiarid plains with an enormous
body of running water. Caves hold cavities of boiling water and
massive mountains with towering trees are covered with snow in
winter. With its basalt benches, deep canyons, lofty mountain
peaks, immense forests, and vast stretches of sagebrush plain,
Idaho is the last remaining wilderness state in the “lower 48.”
The state is dotted with thousands of small irrigated farms; the
major metropolitan region includes 205,000 persons, a fifth of
the population.

For many years the United States could not make up its mind
about this large inland area. It was included in the British
Northwest until 1820, when it became part of the Oregon Coun-
try. In 1848 it was recognized as a piece of Oregon Territory,
and in 1853 the northern half was inserted in newly created
Washington Territory. When Oregon became a state in 1859,
the entire area and parts of western Wyoming and Montana were
absorbed in Washington Territory. But in 1863, when the diffi-
culties of transportation made it impossible to govern the region
from Olympia, Idaho was declared a separate territory that in-
cluded all of present-day Montana and nearly all of present-day
Wyoming. Not until 1868 did Idaho Territory emerge with its
present state boundaries.

This land of spectacular diversity and brilliant contrasts has
occupied a strategic position in the interior Northwest. All di-
rect lines of communication from the northern plains to Pacific
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Northwest ports cross Idaho. The Snake River Plain has fur-
nished transportation routes for Pacific-bound travelers in a re-
gion filled with mountain barriers. Idaho has fostered cultural
interchange between peoples of the Great Basin desert to the
south and the forest and plateau inhabitants of the Columbia Ba-
sin to the north and west, between British fur traders from the
north and the American trappers headquartered in St. Louis
whom they confronted. Mormon farmers moving out of Utah into
Idaho encountered non-Mormon miners and stockmen who were
originally from Texas, Missouri, and Nebraska. Idaho has al-
ways had a cultural diversity rivaling the area’s geographical
differences.

Nevertheless, the peoples of Idaho have adjusted to these di-
vers tugs and pulls, and a resolute citizen loyalty to the state has
emerged. Idahoans enjoy their historical uniqueness. Revela-
tions of the theft of the entire territorial treasury, of the aban-
donment of the territory by all of the executive branch, of the
fact that even the name of the state was invented—all of these
and the other distinctive stories of Idaho history are taken in
stride. Indeed, Idahoans take pride in their singularity—their
unique blend of conservatism and progressivism, their free-
wheeling democracy, and their deep commitment to traditional
values. The motto of Idaho is “Esto Perpetua”—may it be for-
ever. As one who was born, reared, and educated in Idaho and
knows from experience the attachment native ldahoans have to
their state, I have been glad for this opportunity of reviewing its
history.

During Idaho’s Centennial Year the Idaho Legislature passed
a measure approved by Governor Cecil Andrus commissioning
me to write a centennial history. Senator Laird Noh of Twin
Falls County, sponsor of the bill, has been especially helpful in
assisting with the arrangements to complete the history.

As specified by legislators with whom 1 have talked, I have
written this book for the general reader. In this spirit I have

Xvil



XVill

HISTORY OF IDAHO

restricted reference notes to quotations and the sources of infor-
mation for which there is some controversy. For the benefit of
serious students, | have listed the monographic literature as
well as the principal sources relied upon for each chapter. For
some chapters | have depended rather heavily on one or two
sources, clearly evident in my statement on sources. Because of
the need to keep the book to a manageable length, I have had to
omit many fascinating aspects of Idaho history. Where there has
been little previous research, I am perhaps more silent than I
ought to be. I regret that many occurrences important to some
readers have been more scantily treated than I would have
liked. I have not included everyone’s grandfather or grand-
mother, nor every community, nor every happening to satisfy
all.

Fortunately, most of the surviving primary documents relat-
ing to Idaho history—the early newspapers, diaries, letters,
memoirs, and personal histories—have already been intensively
studied. Several informative Stories of Idaho have been written
for students in Idaho schools; professors and students at the
state’s colleges and universities have written theses, disserta-
tions, and papers on many aspects of our history; and hundreds
of well-researched articles have appeared in Idaho Yesterdays,
Pacific Northwest Quarterly, and other publications. 1 have
made use of all of these, and I have acknowledged those that
were particularly helpful in the list of sources for each chapter.
This volume owes much to the work of other scholars.

In addition to such early historians as H. H. Bancroft, John
Hailey, William J. McConnell, Hiram T. French, Cornelius J.
Brosnan (a professor at the University of Idaho when I was a stu-
dent there), James H. Hawley, Byron Defenbach, and Thomas
C. Donaldson, I am indebted to many contemporary historians.
Merle Wells, long-time Idaho State Historian and friend, made
available copies of materials he has written and suggested
outlines and bibliographical material. He has read the entire
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manuscript, chapter by chapter, and made helpful comments.
So have Davis Bitton, my friend of many years and an Idaho-
born historian now at the University of Utah, and Heidi Swin-
ton, a Salt Lake City researcher, editor, and friend. Their help
has been indispensable. Jack Peterson, formerly director of the
Idaho Mining Association and a former student of mine, has
helped with some of the chapters. Carlos Schwantes, a brilliant
young historian at the University of Idaho, has been generous in
furnishing me bibliographical and other materials he has written
and has contributed comments on the manuscript. F. Ross
Peterson, also a former student, native of Montpelier, and au-
thor of Idaho’s bicentennial history, shared the many insights
that came from his study of Idaho history. His expert help on the
last chapter is particularly appreciated. Clark Spence, raised in
Glenns Ferry and distinguished professor of western history at
the University of Illinois, and Richard W. Etulain, graduate of
the Northwest Nazarene College, former professor of history at
Idaho State University, and now director of the Center for the
American West at the University of New Mexico, have both read
the manuscript and made valuable suggestions. Dean Robert
Sims, Gwynn (Glenn) Barrett, and Hugh Lovin at Boise State
University; Ron Hatzenbuehler at Idaho State University; Larry
Coates at Ricks College; Louis Clements in Rexburg; Jeff Sim-
monds and his staff at Utah State University; and my brother
Ken Arrington of Twin Falls have all been helpful, and I thank
them. None of them, however, should be held responsible for
anything I have written or for my own inadequacies.

The Idaho State Historical Society has handled the adminis-
trative chores connected with this project with dispatch. I am
grateful to David Crowder, former director, and Ken Swanson,
acting director, for their encouragement and help. I am espe-
cially indebted to Judith Austin, editor, for her careful and con-
structive editing. She has saved me from egregious errors. I also
thank the University of Idaho Press and its director, Peggy

Xix
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Pace, for their excellence in design, production, and marketing,
and Doug Easton for his indexing. The Society and Press and
other readers have given me confidence in referring to Idaho’s
diverse people in ways that are both politically correct and
historically authentic. One will find here tribal names, Indian,
Native American, and early American, and also Negro, black,
Afro-American, and African American. I hope readers will be
patient with my attempts to show respect and yet be historically
responsible.

Not everybody may agree, but throughout the book 1 have re-
garded as Idahoans persons who were born here, even if they
moved away when young; people who were born elsewhere but
came to Idaho; people who have lived here for extensive periods
even though they may have been born elsewhere and moved
away after a sojourn here. It may not be fitting to say “Once an
Idahoan always an Idahoan,” but I am confident that readers of
this history will be interested in their compatriots who have
shared life in the Gem State, even for a brief period.

My greatest indebtedness is to my precious wife, Harriet, who
volunteered to suspend her own research and writing projects
for a year and one-half in order to enter my manually typewritten
drafts into her computer, thus providing up-to-date working
chapters at each stage of the preparation of the final manuscript.
Her cooperation was essential in completing the project ahead
of schedule.

Leonard J. Arrington
Twin Falls, Idaho
3 July 1991



CHAPTER ONE

Idaho’s Natural Setting:
The Geology and the Beauty

0 Ernest Hemingway, Pulitzer Prize-winning author and
seasonal resident of Ketchum for twenty-five years, Idaho
was “unspoiled.” Looking back on a high switchback on
the snaky Old Summit road above the River of No Return, Hem-
ingway said softly, “You’d have to come from a test tube and
think like a machine not to engrave all of this in your head so
that you never lose it.”
He thought it had an “indescribably different look about it, a
bit of Spain in this hemisphere.” In a 1959 letter to a friend he
applauded his setting,.

You would love the high open valleys—beautiful streams
with trout and some with salmon in the spring. There are
duck and geese along all the streams and yesterday we
hunted along small streams in the lava rock with water-
cress in them. The duck jumping so high and fast. Very
nice people live here in the valleys. The farmers and the
ranchers.
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Hemingway loved the warm sun of summer and the high
mountain meadows, the trails through the timber and the sud-
den clear blue of the lakes. He loved the hills when the snow
came. Best of all he loved the fall. No wonder that he wrote a
tribute at the death of an Idaho hunting pal that appropriately is
carved on his own stone memorial, in a lovely grove of aspen
and willow overlooking Trail Creek near Sun Valley:

Best of all he loved the fall

The leaves yellow on the cottonwoods
Leaves floating on the trout streams
And above the hills

The high blue windless skies

... now he will be a part of them
Forever.

His was the Idaho of today formed by millions of years of geo-
logic activity. Comparable in size to Great Britain, Idaho has
about one million residents spread across the state in moderate-
sized communities. It is a harsh but beautiful land that has
molded the lives of its people. Steep mountains cut by racing
rivers, lava beds and lakes—two thousand of them with names
and thousands more without—vast forests and fertile farms in
the river valleys are all part of Idaho today.

GEOLOGIC HISTORY

For millions of years, much of ancient Idaho was part of a
seaway that rose and fell with alterations in the earth’s atmo-
sphere. Small sponge-like creatures floated over the sandy flats,
and worms crawled through the mud near the shores. Shelled
creatures began to emerge, and their shells eventually formed
the limestone in our landscape.

More than 220 million years ago, the inner heat broke
through the earth’s surface and the Seven Devils Volcanoes in
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western Idaho arose—peaks in a semicircle that reached thou-
sands of feet into the sky. The surrounding seas (not our present
seas) swarmed with animals—corals, sponges, sea anemones,
armored shellfish, mollusks, lumpy sea urchins, starfish, and
trilobites. Low mossy plants offered nutriment, and tall fern-like
trees matured with no growth rings, suggesting there were no
winters and no droughts. In the forests, over time, innumerable
insects came to live. The luscious plants and swarming bugs
were tempting fare to evolving amphibians on the ancient shores
west of Sun Valley.

Most of the area was above sea level. For perhaps 100 million
years, it was a land of hills, low mountains, and wide lowlands.
Mountains had risen in the west and cut off much of the rainfall,
but forests still grew, streams still eroded the hills, and sand
and silt were dumped into the basins. A stark contrast is today’s
landscape, as more than half the state looms up 5,000 to 10,000
feet.

About 100 million years ago heat began to rise from within
the earth’s core and throughout most of western Idaho the older
rocks melted, becoming the granite that forms the state’s moun-
tains and wilderness. Many of Idaho’s ore deposits were born at
this time. Hot fluids carried gold and silver, lead and zinc, and
many other metals that were deposited in cracks to form veins as
the fluids cooled.? But streams destroyed most of these primitive
Rocky Mountains, and soon (by geologic time) only low hills
rose above valleys filled with the debris from the mountains.
Much of Idaho was gradually flooded by a sea that spread in
from the Arctic Ocean and the Gulf of Mexico.

About 75 million years ago the earth’s crust was squeezed,
accumulated strata folded into colossal wrinkles, the lands rose
on a grand scale, and towering new chains of mountains arose.
Forests of sequoia and cypress and thickets of cedar and juniper
grew. Grasses and lilies evolved, and broadleaved trees became
common.
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Dinosaurs exercised supremacy. Although no dinosaur fossils
have been located in Idaho, they flourished in every environ-
ment represented in the region, from desert to swamp. Pterodac-
tyls glided over the lakes, the immense Diplodocus moved half-
submerged in the weedy sloughs, and the savage camivore,
Tyrannosaurus, ranged through the valleys terrorizing every-
thing in its path.

About 70 million years ago mammals appeared and the sce-
nery began to be sculptured to its present form. The mountains
were still very high, but frost and streams wasted them away and
the debris spread again in the valleys. The climate became al-
most tropical. At first the mammals were miniature: horses were
smaller than hunting dogs, camels the size of jackrabbits, and
rhinos about as big as sheep. Tree-living animals populated the
forests and ate fruits, nuts, insects, and birds’ eggs. Beavers
and muskrats lived in the wetlands, and bears dominated the
cool regions. Flying squirrels glided through the air, and seals,
dolphins, and whales swam in the oceans west of Idaho.

This idyllic era was interrupted several times when volcanoes
erupted. The earth trembled, and molten lava spread over east-
ern Idaho and the Yellowstone country. Forests were buried.
Then something happened to cool the climate of the whole
world. The fig and breadfruit trees that once had flourished in
the warm climate disappeared. Grasses took over the plains,
while evergreens, poplar, and alder grew on the silts. As the
coolness continued, the mammals declined. No longer did the
elephant-sized Uintatherium roam Idaho, nor the giant peccary
eat the acorns. One sort of mammal prospered, though—the pri-
mates, small forest-dwellers, with improved vision and minds.

About a million years ago the climate of Idaho—and the rest
of the world—became much cooler. Several times ice gathered
in the mountains; glaciers formed, moved sluggishly down the
valleys, and then melted away. The glaciers transported and
dumped massive boulders and bodies of gravel, sand, and clay
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that were eroded from the steep mountain valleys. In the wetter
times the streams spread gravel down the valleys and far out
onto the plains. Lakes formed where lavas dammed streams,
and then more lava spilled out and displaced the lakes.?

Particularly impressive creatures in Idaho during the ice age
were the mammoths and mastodons, huge, hairy elephant-like
mammals with rigid molars. Judging by the number of their
teeth found in the bottomlands, herds of them grazed in Idaho’s
wet bottoms, using their trunks to pluck bunches of tall grass
and stuff it in their mouths. They were joined by giant bison and
sloths.

In northern Idaho, the ice may have been four or five thou-
sand feet thick in the area around Sandpoint. The Sawtooths
cradled vast snowfields. Because of heavy rains and snow the
streams of Idaho carried enormous amounts of water, and large
lakes formed in the closed basins. They spilled out to cause two
spectacular floods, the Spokane Floods and the Lake Bonneville
Flood, within the past 20,000 years.

The Spokane Floods—there were actually several as the ice
advanced and retreated—were caused by an immense glacial
dam that blocked Clark Fork Valley, where the mouth of the
river opens into Lake Pend Oreille. This ice dam towered
several thousand feet above the valley floor. Massive Lake
Missoula behind the dam covered about 3,000 square miles in
western Montana, with a small projection into present-day
northeastern Idaho. The lake did not extend farther into Idaho
because ldaho’s two-thousand-foot Cabinet Gorge was so close
to the Montana boundary. Eventually, as water from thawing
glaciers, rain, and melting snow of nearby mountains flowed
into the lake, the water began to overflow the glacial block. The
glacier, weakened by spilling water, collapsed and the immense
body of water rushed pell-mell toward the Columbia Plateau.
From there it flowed west and southwest across the Rathdrum
Prairie, down the Spokane Valley to the Columbia Gorge, and



NATURAL SETTING

on to the Pacific Ocean. The volume of water was more than ex-
isting river valleys could handle. It ripped apart existing chan-
nels and cut into the basalt bedrock. Some of it splashed back
up the Snake River in a mighty surge above Lewiston. The pow-
erful current carved canyons and moved land mass, blocking
river valleys to create Lake Coeur d’Alene and Priest Lake in
Idaho and Liberty Lake in northern Washington. Geologists
have found evidence of seven separate cycles of lake formation,
ice-dam failure, and flooding.

The other large flood was that from ancient Lake Bonneville,
a deep fresh-water lake unrelated to ice dams. During the wet
glacial stage, it covered more than 20,000 square miles of land
in northern and central Utah, eastern Nevada, and southern
Idaho. The lake was deep; today’s downtown Salt Lake City was
under 1,200 feet of water. Prehistoric residents of Idaho, Utah,
and Nevada may have camped on its shores; ancient utensils
have been found on the slopes of the high mountain peaks that
towered above the lake.

About 14,500 B.C., Lake Bonneville overflowed its banks at
Red Rock Pass south of Pocatello. Billions of gallons of water in
the top 300 feet of the lake rushed with unbelievable force
northward and down Marsh Creek and Portneuf River canyons,
tumbled into the Snake River at Pocatello, roared across the
Snake River Plain toward Oregon, tore away soil and basalt
above the level of Shoshone Falls, and created the deep canyons
in the northern part of Magic Valley, extending on westward.
Eugene Walker points out: “The rushing waters moved boulders
as big as cottages and dropped them helter-skelter where the
current slackened. Small boulders were rolled far downstream
and became well-rounded, like large melons.”™

As Lake Bonneville drained, and then dried up to the level of
the present-day Great Salt Lake, the flow in the Snake River
slowly receded to modern levels, leaving high, abrupt walls of
rock on each side of the dwindling river. Among the first to
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profit from the canyon were cliff swallows that made their nests
in rock crevices of the walls and eagles that bred on the surviv-
ing pinnacles of rock adjacent to the stream. Prehistoric hunters
made homes in caves and rock shelters near the edge of the sur-
viving river, living primarily on Snake River fish—including
sturgeon and salmon that came up from the ocean to spawn.

A description of Idaho’s natural environment requires a
catalogue-like treatment that seems to be unavoidable. It is,
however, essential to an understanding of the state and its his-

tory.

IDAHO’S NATURAL ENVIRONMENT

The winds, waters, and volcanoes that Idaho inherited from
its ancient past fashioned a diverse terrain of mountains, can-
yons, rivers, lakes, and sagebrush deserts. Much of Idaho is
remote country where mountain ranges are tangled into mazes
and where rivers run every way but east. Meriwether Lewis and
William Clark in 1805—6 first mapped the region while search-
ing for a Northwest passage—a usable all-water route from the
Atlantic to the Pacific. They thought they had found such a pas-
sageway, only to be disappointed.

Idaho falls into three distinct natural regions: the north and
northeast belong to the Rocky Mountain region, the south and
southwest to the Columbia Plateau, and the southeast to the
Great Basin. Most of Idaho’s mountain ranges are a central part
of the Rockies that extend from Alaska to Mexico, and Idaho
has more mountain ranges than does any other Rocky Moun-
tain state. In the north are the Bitterroot, Clearwater, Coeur
d’Alene, and Palouse. The Bitterroot Range, the longest moun-
tain range in Idaho, forms almost all of the Idaho-Montana bor-
der. Its deep canyons and snowy peaks seemed impassable to
explorers and trappers until they found the Lolo Pass, used for
generations by the Nez Perce. The land is a traditional wilder-



NATURAL SETTING

ness area where bighorn sheep, mountain goats, elk, and deer
roam. The adjacent Clearwater Mountains are well watered and
rarely exceed 8,000 feet, offering plentiful timber and abundant
minerals.

The highest mountains in Idaho are found in the Lost River
Range of central Idaho. Except for a few passes they have an
elevation of more than 10,000 feet and include Idaho’s two tall-
est peaks: Mount Borah (12,622), which was once three miles
under water (coral limestone can be found on the top), and
Leatherman Peak (12,230). Diamond Peak in the Lemhi Range
at 12,197 is not far behind. Mount Hyndman (12,078), Idaho’s
next tallest named peak, is near Hailey.

Central Idaho’s Salmon River Mountains, the most important
range after the Bitterroots, contain the large Idaho Primitive
Area and the Bighorn Crags, one of the most rugged mountain-
ous areas in the nation. The range also contains Castle Peak
(11,830 feet) and the White Cloud peaks. The other large range
in Central Idaho is the Sawtooths, just south of the Salmon River
Range. To the east of the Salmon River and south of the Bitter-
roots are the Beaverhead Mountains, forming the southern part
of the boundary with Montana. On the western edge of the re-
gion lie the Seven Devils, near the Oregon border; the Smoky
and Boise ranges lie south of the Sawtooths; the White Knob,
south of the Lost River.

The isolated Owyhee Mountains of southwestern Idaho in-
clude 11,000 square miles of high desert, lava, and sandstone.
In southeastern Idaho are, from north to south, the Henry’s
Lake, Centennial, Big Hole, Snake River, Caribou, and Black-
foot ranges and, from east to west at the bottom end of the state,
the Bear River, Portneuf, Malad, Blue Springs, Deep Creek,
and Sublette ranges.

Nearly all of Idaho’s extensive mountain land belongs to the
federal government and is maintained in its primitive condition.
Over 10 million acres of this Forest Service land are still without
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roads, more than in any other state except Alaska. Because
these mountains are rich in forest and mineral resources, they
are the subject of endless debate between persons who want
their resources used to build the economy and those who want
their beauty left undisturbed.

IDAHO’S MAJOR RIVERS AND LAKES

Because so much of the state is mountainous—one person
has counted eighty-one separately named ranges—the state has
many rivers, creeks, and lakes. Several major river systems
cross the state and two large rivers are contained completely
within it. The single most unifying geographical feature is the
Snake River, which has its source in the mountains of Yellow-
stone National Park and meanders west to the Oregon border
and then north through Hells Canyon, is joined by the Salmon,
and then rolls on to Lewiston, where the Clearwater enters, and
heads west to join the Columbia River. The river is more than
1,000 miles long and drains more than 100,000 square miles of
country. By the time it empties into the Columbia it carries 40
million acre-feet of water and has dropped more than 7,000 feet
in elevation. The five major cities of Idaho are located on the
Snake or its tributaries. A dozen or more dams have been con-
structed along its course to provide irrigation water and hydro-
electric power for thousands of farms and homes and most of
Idaho’s industries. Two-thirds of the population of Idaho live in
the fertile Snake River Valley. Because of the fall in elevation
the Snake has deep canyon gorges and several important water-
falls, including the spectacular Shoshone Falls, 212 feet high—
52 feet higher than Niagara—near the present-day city of Twin
Falls. Snake River water that is captured in reservoirs or flows
on to the ocean comes, not from rainfall, but from the snow that
accumulates on the vast peaks of Idaho’s mountains. The fragile
environment of the semiarid Snake River Plain is revealed by
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shifting sand dunes near St. Anthony, Bruneau, and Weiser.

The untamed and imposing Salmon River—“River of No Re-
turn”—winds 425 miles through the mountains of central Idaho,
its canyon gorge deeper than the Grand Canyon of the Colorado.
It flows through the Sawtooth Wilderness Area and finally joins
the Snake about fifty miles south of Lewiston. A spawning
stream for Pacific salmon, it is one of the longest and most rug-
ged rivers lying wholly within one state.

A second major river system lying entirely within the state is
the Clearwater of northern Idaho, which is fed by streams from
the Bitterroots. Not as wild as the Salmon, the Clearwater was
used as a passageway by explorers and trappers, and later by
miners and loggers.

Far to the south is the Bear River, 300 miles long, which
originates in Utah’s Uinta Mountains, winds back and forth
north to Wyoming, back to Utah, back to Wyoming, and then
enters Idaho. It moves north (staying south of the tributaries of
the Snake) and then back southwest, to where it enters Utah and
deposits its water in the Great Salt Lake. Early trappers found
beaver along the Bear. The Oregon and California trails entered
Idaho with the Bear River and followed it for a considerable dis-
tance.

Major rivers in northern Idaho include the Kootenai and Pend
Oreille, which flow into the Columbia; the Clark Fork, which
flows into Lake Pend Oreille; and the Saint Maries, Saint Joe
(St. Joe), and Coeur d’Alene, which flow into Coeur d’Alene
Lake. The Spokane River carries the waters of Coeur d’Alene
Lake to the Columbia. The Boise, Payette, and Weiser flow into
the Snake in southwestern Idaho as it forms the Oregon border,
and there are many shorter tributaries of the Snake in southern
Idaho.

Idaho has more than 2,000 lakes, most of them in high alpine
valleys. The largest in the state is Lake Pend Oreille, in the
northern Panhandle, with a surface area of 180 square miles.

11
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Farther north is Priest Lake, early a heavily used trapper area.
A few miles south of Pend Oreille are Hayden Lake and Coeur
d’Alene Lake, both popular resort areas. Surrounded by for-
ested mountains, all of these lakes are in spectacular settings.

Payette Lake in central Idaho north of Boise is a source of
summer recreation. Farther east, in the Sawtooth National Rec-
reation Area, Redfish, Stanley, and Alturas lakes fulfill the
same role. In northeastern Idaho, only fifteen miles from Yel-
lowstone, is Henry’s Lake, a favorite trapper hangout and trout-
fishing lake. Farther south is turquoise Bear Lake, half in Idaho
and half in Utah. Some of the state’s large lakes are man-made
reservoirs: Palisades Lake, near the Wyoming line; American
Falls Reservoir on the Snake; and Blackfoot, Anderson Ranch,
Arrowrock, Lucky Peak, Cascade, and Dworshak Dam reser-
voirs, all used for fishing and recreation and in some cases for
hydropower generation.

THE NATURAL WONDERS OF IDAHO

Idaho is an outdoor paradise. It possesses glacial valleys,
unusual landforms, mysterious caves, and magnificent scenery.
Hells Canyon, through which the Snake River flows on the Ore-
gon border, is the deepest canyon in North America—at one
spot it is 7,900 feet from the top to the river below—and one of
the narrowest. Historical novels have been set in the canyon,
and it is frequently the focus of environmental disputes.

Craters of the Moon, a National Monument for whom some are
seeking National Park status, is a lava bed where astronauts
trained before going to the moon for the first time. The monu-
ment covers 47,210 acres in Central Idaho.

Two sites in south-central Idaho are called City of Rocks. The
one at Gooding is made up of shale and sandstone formations
that resemble a beautifully colored city; that in Cassia County is
the result of erosion of the granite rock, some of the oldest on
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the continent. Pioneer travelers often thought they were coming
to a prehistoric city as they approached one of these landmarks.

Three ice caves demonstrate nature’s mysteries. Shoshone
Ice Cave is under a lava field; its floor, ceiling, and walls are
covered with ice. Crystal Ice Cave, near Paris, has many large
rooms that honeycomb the center of the Bear River Range.
Crystal Falls Cave, near St. Anthony, has a frozen “river” run-
ning along part of its length.

Two of Idaho’s rivers are “lost”: the Big Lost and Little Lost
flow into chasms, caves, and lakes buried in the porous lava
fields northeast of Arco and are believed to flow underground
through tiny openings in lava beds for about 150 miles until they
empty into the Snake River at Thousand Springs, near Hager-
man. The flow of this underground river or aquifer is only about
one mile a year, so the water now emerging at Thousand Springs
disappeared during the period of the fur trade in about 1840.
Few springtime sights are as beautiful as the Thousand Springs
gushing from the canyon cliff.

Important to Idaho’s history was the existence up to the time
of agricultural settlement in the 1870s of three vast prairies that
produced immense quantities of camas. A blue-flowered lily
with a sweet bulb that, when harvested in the fall, was ground
into a meal-like flour, camas was a staple in the diet of Native
Americans for thousands of years. The rolling plain of Camas
Prairie between Grangeville in Idaho County and Winchester in
Lewis County encompassed about 200,000 acres from the Snake
River on the west to the Clearwater on the north and east.
Camas is no longer a critical source of food for most Native
Americans, but its name appears throughout the countryside as
a reminder of its historic significance. The area now produces
grain and peas and livestock fodder. Big Camas Prairie in
Camas County near Fairfield (not as large as Camas Prairie in
Idaho County) and Camas Meadow on Camas Creek in Clark
County were also locations of great amounts of camas. At each

13
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of these locations, and elsewhere as well, large bands of natives
gathered to dig camas bulbs in what was regarded as communal
territory. In full bloom, the camas created a striking blue-
flowered landscape.

The Clearwater Plateau of northern Idaho, incorporating the
productive Palouse Hills, Nez Perce Prairie, and Camas Prai-
rie, is today among the finest farming (and lumbering) sections
of Idaho and the Pacific Northwest.

With its many mountains and its broad areas of sagebrush
plain, Idaho has a wide diversity of climate, vegetation, and
wildlife. Some mountains get fifty inches of snow each winter;
some arid lands in the south get no snow and less than five in-
ches of rainfall a year. Prevailing westerly winds bring moisture
and mild weather from the Pacific Ocean to northern Idaho, but
there is little moisture left for the Columbia Plateau and Snake
River Plain to the south where winters are mild with sparse
snowfall and the summers are dry. In the eastern portions of the
state the Continental Divide protects the mountain valleys so the
weather does not get as cold as on the eastern slopes of the
Rockies, but there is heavy snow. Wind blows steadily from
west to east along the Snake River Basin. Many mountain val-
leys, like the popular resort of Sun Valley, enjoy a great deal of
sunshine. In some areas of foothills and high plateaus of south-
ern Idaho, grain is grown; at lower elevations farmers plant
Idaho’s luscious potatoes and many other crops.

MOST TIMBERED STATE IN THE ROCKIES

Idaho’s northern forests are covered with Douglas fir, white
pine, and mountain hemlock. Lodgepole pine is one of the most
common evergreens and was used by Indians for their lodges—
as well as for buildings at Yellowstone Park. Farther up the
mountain slopes are Engelmann fir and spruce. Farther down
the mountains are mountain mahogany (also called Pacific yew),
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maples, quaking aspen, ash, willow, birch, cottonwood, and al-
der. Idaho’s western white pine, the state tree, and its cousin,
ponderosa pine, are known to tower 200 feet. Mountain under-
growth includes rhododendron, beargrass, and woodbrush. Cen-
tral Idaho’s hills bear bitterbrush, serviceberry, and buckrush
as well as syringa, the state flower, and a native variety of mock
orange whose stems were used by Indians for bows, arrows, to-
bacco pipes, and woven cradles. Its leaves were crushed for
soap. Semidesert areas in the south have sagebrush and many
hardy grasses—fescue, bunch grass, wheatgrass, and blue-
grass.

Idaho lies along the flyway of migrating waterfowl, and during
spring and fall many birds pass through its skies. Of the 500
species of birds in the state, the mountain bluebird—the state
bird—is one of the most colorful. Juncos, nutcrackers, and
thrushes also abound in the north and in high altitudes. The
sage grouse (“sage hen”), largest grouse in North America, has
been plentiful, along with blue grouse, spruce grouse, and
sharptail grouse. Ring-necked pheasants have populated the
valleys and plains, as have partridges and several varieties of
quail. The Canada goose nests in the state, along with mallards,
wood duck, baldpate, spoonbill, American pintail, and mergan-
ser, canvasback, and ruddy duck.

Because of the lakes, rivers, and reservoirs, many sea and
water birds—cormorants, blue herons, white egrets, pelicans,
and tundra swans, for which Swan Valley was named—nest
here. Island Park and Harriman State Park are the year-round
home of the trumpeter swan, of which there are about 400 in
Idaho.

Many fishermen regard Idaho as a fisherman’s paradise. Bull
trout and rainbow trout are common in the higher streams. Stur-
geon, the largest freshwater fish in the world, have been com-
mon in the Snake River. Now protected by law, this prehistoric
fish, if caught, must be returned to the river. Idaho has always
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had many salmon (some varieties of which are now endangered
as are steelhead, varieties of trout and sculpin, whitefish, and
cisco).

The largest rodent is the beaver, once numbering in the mil-
lions but now below 50,000 animals with a carefully controlled
harvest; other furbearing mammals include mink, badgers, mar-
tin, fisher, bobcats, lynx, red fox, and desert fox.

Idaho’s natural wilderness area holds perhaps the finest big-
game population of the United States, with thousands of Ameri-
can elk, moose, white-tailed deer, black-tailed deer, and mule
deer. The fast-running pronghorn antelope can be seen along
highways; mountain goats are rarely seen but are abundant on
the headwaters of the Big Lost and Little Lost rivers and in the
Owyhee County desert. Mountain lions plague stockmen and
also live on porcupines, raccoons, squirrels, beaver, rabbits,
and deer. The Rocky Mountain Bighorn sheep is noted for its
heavy curved horns that decorate many “dens” in the state.
Idaho always had many grizzly, black, brown, and cinnamon
bears. The voice of the coyote can be heard throughout the state
as can the howl of the grey wolf. These shrewd animals are re-
sponsible for much aboriginal and early American folklore.

Just catching a glimpse of some of the wild animals is a treat
for tourists and residents. Ernest Hemingway and his wife en-
countered a black bear on the road to Yellowstone and stopped
to chat with the “beast” standing coyly by the side of the road.
Mary reported the event in How It Was:

“How you doin’ boy? They treatin’ you right?”

Six or seven yards away the bear looked the other direc-
tion.

“All that posing for pictures. Gets to be a bore, eh boy?”

The bear looked back at us, his eyes sleepy in the sun-
shine.

“With no compensation. That’s tough. You fellows ought
to get together. Charge ten shillings a shot. Or a goat’s
leg.”
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The bear ambled off.

“Very uncommunicative bear,” said Ernest.

Mary Hemingway called Idaho “Papa’s country.” Indeed,
Idaho residents love the diversity of the land, the unique nature
of its features, the habitat it provides for wildlife—those vanish-
ing and those plentiful. All seem to have found a place of their
own in a country as diverse as they come—carefully crafted by
millions of years of geologic activity.

CHAPTER ONE: SOURCES

Particularly helpful in writing this chapter were: F. Ross Peterson,
Idaho: A Bicentennial History (New York: W. W. Norton & Co.,
1976), 1—19; Vardis Fisher, Idaho: A Guide in Word and Picture
(Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1937), 73—162; Bill Gulick, Snake River
Country (Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1971); Robert O. Beatty, Idaho
(Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1975); Donald W. Meinig, The Great Col-
umbia Plain: A Historical Geography, 1805-1910 (Seattle: Univer-
sity of Washington Press, 1968); Don Moser, The Snake River Country
(New York: Time-Life Books, 1974); and a pair of articles by Herman
J. Deutsch, “Geographic Setting for the Recent History of the Inland
Empire,” Pacific Northwest Quarterly 49 (October 1958):150—65;
and ibid. 50 (January 1959):14—25. 1 have also studied Climates of
the States: Idaho (Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office,
1960), a publication of the U.S. Weather Bureau.

Other helpful Idaho histories include Byron Defenbach, Idaho: The
Place and Its People, 3 vols. (Chicago: American Historical Society,
1933) 1:2—40; Cornelius J. Brosnan, History of the State of Idaho,
rev. ed. (New York: Charles Scribner’s Sons, 1948), 10-22; Merrill
D. Beal and Merle W. Wells, History of Idaho, 3 vols. (New York:
Lewis Historical Publishing Co., 1959) 1:1-28; and Earl H.
Swanson, Jr., “The Snake River Plain,” Idaho Yesterdays 18 (Sum-
mer 1974):2—11.

For the Geologic History section I have used Clyde P. Ross and
J. Donald Forrester, Outline of the Geology of Idaho (Moscow: Idaho
Bureau of Mines and Geology, 1958); Eugene H. Walker, “The Geo-
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logic History of the Snake River Country of Idaho,” Idaho Yesterdays
7 (Summer 1963):18—31; and Richard E. Ross and David Brauner,
“The Northwest as a Prehistoric Region,” in William G. Robbins,
Robert J. Frank, and Richard E. Ross, eds., Regionalism and the
Pacific Northwest (Corvallis: Oregon State University Press, 1983),
99—-108.

Sources on Ernest Hemingway and Idaho include: Matthew J.
Bruccoli, Conversations with Hemingway (Jackson: University of Mis-
sissippi Press, 1986), 63—64; Mary Walsh Hemingway, How It Was
(New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1976), esp. 521—30; and Lloyd Armold,
High on the Wild with Hemingway (New York: Grosset & Dunlap,
1968), 160—62.
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CHAPTER TWO

Idaho’s Earliest Residents:
The Big-Game Hunters

BOUT 15,000 years ago the first humans moved into
Idaho. Some of them may have come from the north—

from present-day Alberta and British Columbia; some

from the west—from present-day Washington and Oregon; some
from the east—from present-day Montana and Wyoming; and
some from the south—from present-day Nevada and Utah. Ar-
chaeologists suppose that the earliest migrants to the New
World came from northeastern Asia by way of Beringia, the an-
cient broad plain between Siberia and Alaska, around 28,000
years ago. That the oceans were several hundred feet below
their present level would have simplified the crossing. Beringia
would have been a relatively level grassland sixty miles across
and a thousand miles wide. Families might have been pursuing
browsing animals—mammoths, mastodons, giant ground sloths,
musk oxen, moose, bison, elk, and caribou. Over the millennia
they would have moved south, through what is now Canada into
what is now the United States, and on down into Mexico and
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Central and South America. Some archaeologists believe they
have found evidence of humans in Central and South America at
least 20,000 years ago.

The weather was cold. Glaciers stretched down the mountains
and into the valleys of western Canada, but an ice-free corridor
ran east of the Rocky Mountains down through the Saskatche-
wan River Valley. The migrants might also have moved south
through the mountain valleys of the Fraser River Valley in Brit-
ish Columbia. The going was not easy; between 20,000 and
18,000 years ago the ice was at its maximum, reaching south of
the Great Lakes and covering most of Montana.

A second migration from Asia followed between 20,000 and
12,000 years ago, after the glaciers had melted and created
great lakes no longer in existence: Lake Bonneville in Utah,
Lake Lahontan in Nevada, and Lake Missoula in Montana. A
third migration of Aleuts and Eskimos occurred about 6,000
B.C.'

These people had brown skin and may have come before
“races,” as we know them, developed, but they bore many re-
semblances to the Mongoloids of Siberia. They were hunters,
fishermen, and collectors. Out of select stones, wood, and im-
perishable bones, they made axes, knives, scrapers, and large
lanceolate (shaped like the head of a lance) projectile points,
and they chased big-game animals into bogs where they killed
them. They conversed, knew how to use fire, roasted meats, and
made robes out of the hides of the great-horned bison. They co-
operated in hunting, painted pictures and sometimes chiseled
designs on the rocks, made beads and other ornaments, partici-
pated in religious rites, and buried their dead with respect and
ceremony. They probably told ancestral legends and repeated
traditional religious stories in the evenings. The camps of these
people have been found lining the banks of streams that no
longer exist in areas once frequented by native American
horses, camels, and other animals long since extinct in North
America.
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The so-called Pleistocene ice age, which began about a mil-
lion years ago, continued during this period of migration. There
were, in fact, four periods when ice gathered and then melted.
In southern Idaho ice covered all the highlands that were more
than 7,500 feet high, and the Sawtooths were blanketed with
snowfields. As the glaciers ebbed and flowed, plants, animals,
and prehistoric peoples moved northward and southward.
Groups of these people were in Idaho when the ice tongues in
the Sawtooths were building the moraines that hem in Redfish
Lake. Some of them in southern Idaho may have witnessed the
Bonneville Flood of around 14,000 B.c., and some in northern
Idaho may have seen one of the Spokane Floods as late as two
thousand years after. Some may have witnessed the eruption of
Glacier Peak in the Cascade Range about 12,000 B.c. Others
west of the Bitterroot Mountains were present during volcanic
eruptions that created the mass of basalt which makes up the
Craters of the Moon. Present estimates suggest that volcanic
activity began about 15,000 years ago and went through eight or
more periods of eruption that produced about forty flows from
twenty-five different vents—the most recent as recently as
2,000 years ago. Witnesses surely expressed wonder at the cra-
ters of fire and the burning rock.

The earliest known campsite of Idaho’s original Big-Game
Hunters was discovered by Ruth Gruhn and other Idaho archae-
ologists in Wilson Butte Cave, near Dietrich. Carbon dating
suggests that remains found at the bottom of this cave—bones of
Idaho’s primitive horse, an extinct Idaho camel, and a sloth—
date from 13,000 B.C. One of the instruments found near the
bottom of the camp detritus was a spear point that is dated
12,500 B.C. These points, presumably secured to spears to kill
ancient beasts, were glassy rock shaped by percussion flaking
on both faces of the rock, the tip long and steeply tapered. This
“find” is one of the earliest conclusive evidences of ancient
human habitation in the United States.

As these people looked out of their caves, they would have
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seen shaggy, long-tusked mastodons grazing in herds in the wet
bottomland, perhaps not far from a lake. Occasionally their
children might have wondered at the rare spectacle of a surviv-
ing Emperor Mammoth, fourteen feet high, or a large bison,
known as Bison antiquus. They might have awakened to hear
the monstrous scream of an angry mastodon and laughed at the
attempt of a lumbering twenty-foot sloth to escape a giant saber-
toothed tiger. They were surely captivated watching Idaho’s
small horses racing over the grassy prairie. We have no knowl-
edge that they ever attempted to ride or domesticate any animal.
However, archaeologists believe these people used dogs in
hunting sheep and other animals.

When the continental ice retreated about 12,000 years ago
and the weather warmed, the grassland expanded and bison,
deer, and mountain sheep and goats became more prevalent.
The result was that many peoples established “home territories”
in Idaho. The many archaeological digs in recent years have
provided abundant evidence of human occupation in the Snake
River Plain, the Lower Salmon River region, the mountain val-
leys in central and eastern Idaho, and the desert area in south-
western Idaho in the years after the end of the ice age, and more
particularly after 10,000 B.c. The finds also suggest inter-
change between peoples from different areas—between the
Snake River Plain and the Great Plains east of the Rockies, be-
tween the Snake River Plain and the Great Basin farther south,
and between southwestern and northern Idaho and what is now
eastern Oregon and Washington.

Archaeologists have distinguished three different periods in
the prehistory of ldaho’s peoples: Early Big-Game Hunting,
15,000—6,000 B.C.; Archaic, 6,000 B.C. to A.D. 500; and Late
Period, A.D. 500 to 1805.% The peoples of these three periods
might be called the Big-Game Hunters, the Migratory Hunters
and Gatherers, and the immediate ancestors of the Kutenai, Nez
Perce, Coeur d’Alene, Pend Oreille, Shoshoni, Bannock, and
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Northern Paiute who lived here when the first white men arrived
in 1805. During each period there were some cultural differ-
ences among the peoples along the Snake River Plain, those in
the high mountain valleys next to Montana and Wyoming, those
in western and northern Idaho, and those to the south of the
Snake River Plain. Nevertheless, one can give some general im-
pressions of those in Idaho in each of the three time periods.

The Big-Game Hunters, following migrating game, favored
springs and waterholes where mammoths, mastodons, bison,
horses, camels, bears, rabbits, and other animals went to drink.
They may well have collected seeds, wild vegetable foods, fruit,
and camas roots to balance their diet. They were inventive and
made exquisite tools and weapons of fine-grained rock (obsid-
ian, flint, quartz) and worked with wood and leather. Archaeolo-
gists have found some of their stone knives, scrapers, and pro-
jectile points. They did not use the bow and arrow; those were
introduced only two thousand years ago.

Big-Game Hunters led a migratory life within a loosely de-
fined homeland, moving about to take advantage of seasonal
food resources. An extended family or “tribe” had a home base,
but one or two families usually moved about together to forage.
They lived in caves, rock shelters, and flimsily built dwellings.
They did not engage in agriculture, nor did they have pottery—
too fragile and bulky for families constantly on the move. Horns
and gourds were used as containers.

Archaeologists tell us that, over the years, the tools and
methods of Big-Game Hunters were refined through several
stages. Sharing skills with Plains peoples between 12,000 and
9,000 years ago, they made and used Clovis projectile points,
mounted and hafted on long lances or spears of remarkable
beauty and craftsmanship. A large cache of these was found in
the 1960s at the Simon site near Fairfield, Idaho. Clovis points
were widely used in attacking the large game that was gradually
disappearing. About 9,000 years ago these evolved into Folsom
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points, even more expertly made—the finest product of the tool-
maker’s art—and presumably more suited to the smaller ani-
mals that remained, particularly bison and mountain sheep.
However, archaeologist Susanne Miller and others have found
fragments of these points in association with extinct elephant-
type remains on the eastern end of the Snake River Plain. Many
bison were obtained not by means of spearing but by bison
drives, in which rock and brush were piled to create a path
drawing animals to a steep slope over which they plunged to
their deaths. Such a “jump” has been found near Challis. The
fine workmanship of these bison hunters is also indicated in
their decorative work on hide and wood, their use of bone and
antler for projectile points, and in general their well-developed
bone and antler technology.

In a third phase, the Big-Game Hunters used Plano projectile
points. Many of these have been found in southern Idaho, a few
dating back as far as nine thousand years. Their users had a
more diverse culture than did those who preceded them. Appar-
ently, without the herds of camel and horse, and with bison
found largely in vast grassland areas, the people foraged and
hunted to provide food, clothing, shelter, and medicine.

The Archaic Period peoples (6,000 B.C. to A.D. 500) were
also migratory hunters and gatherers. In the early stages of their
culture the earth experienced a warming trend called the
altithermal. The climate of Idaho became much warmer and
drier than it is now, and it remained warm for perhaps two thou-
sand years. As ice disappeared from the mountains, vegetation
and animals moved up the slopes and northward, and descen-
dants of the Big-Game Hunters and other groups from farther
south followed. Water from the melting glaciers caused the
Salmon River to grow in depth, volume, and velocity. Taking
advantage of the rivers and lakes, the people caught salmon and
steelhead trout with harpoons (the fish migrated up the Colum-
bia and thence up the Snake and its tributaries to spawn).
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Whole bands of natives came to depend on this important source
of protein for their major food, and they also used river mussels
extensively. Many followed a seasonal pattern: fishing in the
waters under Shoshone Falls, moving north to the headwaters of
the Salmon, and then returning to the Snake River Plain. Those
who went farther north moved into the Palouse Country and
fished in the Columbia, the Clearwater, and other streams. They
interacted with several other Northwest groups.

The people of the Archaic Period also depended heavily on
camas bulbs for storage and winter consumption. Attendance at
large fish runs and use of blue-flowering camas roots continued
until the frontier era, and this lifestyle was noted by early
explorers, trappers, and overlanders.

As the climate continued warm and the glaciers had melted,
less water flowed in the rivers and there was space for suitable
habitats along the canyon floors. Some groups remained in
mountain retreats, others adopted a river-based culture. They
fished and, at the same time, killed elk, deer, antelope, sheep,
and ground squirrels. Temporary winter camps were established
along the Salmon. Archaeologists have discovered large, circu-
lar pit houses built one to three feet deep, with poles lashed to-
gether at the top and with benches, for winter use. The few of
those that have been uncovered are the oldest houses in Idaho.
Finely woven mats made out of tule or cattail were attached to
the poles as “walls.” A thick layer of grass was put on the mats
around the base of the structure, with dirt on the grass as insula-
tion. The house was heated by a fire in the center of the floor.
Some scraps of basketry have also been found in a cave across
the border in Oregon, which suggest that these people did fine
twine weaving. In this cave were dozens of pairs of partly
burned sandals made—well made—of shredded sagebrush bark
that, together with some bits of wood, horn, and bone, were
carbon-dated to 9,000 years ago.

Each extended family was a self-sufficient unit, although it
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might occasionally trade with other groups. Women were in
charge of butchering meat, cooking, and collecting plant roots,
seeds, and berries. Some of them made pots and hopper mor-
tars. Men were responsible for hunting and fashioned knives,
awls, scrapers, and chipped stone projectile points used in the
search. Although families sometimes settled near each other,
joined in buffalo hunts and rabbit drives, and participated in
group dances and sacred observances, there were no villages,
“nations,” or “communities.” They did not grow maize or de-
velop any agricultural capability.

Archaic hunters were expert in the use of the atlatl, a wooden
throwing-stick or spear-thrower with a handle at one end and a
groove at the other that provided extra mechanical advantage by
adding length to the hunter’s arm. This launch-pad handle in-
creased the throwing distance, the velocity, and the accuracy of
the spear. Lanceolate spear points, modifications of the Plano,
were side-notched or stemmed-indented. Archaic hunters who
lived in northern and western Idaho made long, thin spearpoints
that are sometimes referred to as Cascade Points. Archaeolo-
gists have found that these peoples had a distinctive burial pat-
tern: burial offerings included bifacially worked blades, large
corner-notched and side-notched points, and other tools as well
as religious symbols.

The Late Period inhabitants of Idaho, the ancestors of the In-
dian peoples that Lewis and Clark and other explorers met in
1805 and succeeding years, were still more diverse than earlier
peoples. Most of them were descendants of the Archaic peoples,
keeping alive the hunting, fishing, and food-gathering practices
of their nomadic ancestors. From them grew the Shoshonean
culture that was to dominate much of south Idaho’s civilization
from the fifteenth century until Idaho’s permanent white settle-
ment began in 1860.

To the Shoshoni people that descended from Big-Game Hunt-
ers was added the gradual in-migration of persons reared in a
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Desert culture (archaeologists refer to them as the Northern Fre-
mont peoples). The Desert Culture developed during the Ar-
chaic Period among the descendants of peoples who had moved
southward during the Great Migration from Siberia and who ei-
ther stopped in the Great Basin or, having moved into the South-
west, had returned or been driven back into the Great Basin.
The nature of the culture was made clear with the examination
of Danger Cave in western Nevada in the 1950s by archaeolo-
gists from the University of Utah. As described by Jesse Jen-
nings, the effective social unit was small—an extended family
of perhaps twenty-five or thirty. The band moved from place to
place in search of seasonal plant and animal resources. Its
members had little material wealth and gathered with others
only for pine-nut harvests and animal drives.

The hallmarks of Desert Culture, wrote Jennings, were the
basket and the flat milling stone. Its members were expert in
making the most of small seed and berry harvesting and cook-
ery. They were also expert in using plant fibers. Some of their
cordage was as fine as today’s machine-twisted thread and was
used in mats, nets, baskets, and twine. They had characteristic,
if somewhat crude and simple, projectile points and also made
scrapers, drills, bone tools, and bark sandals. They collected
pine nuts, made clothing of rabbit skins, and fashioned rattles
out of the dew-claws of deer. They made pottery, and about the
time the Late period commenced they began to use bows and ar-
rows. About 1650 A.D. they obtained horses.

As the altithermal continued—perhaps as early as 5,000
B.C., when there was widespread drought—many of these
people moved into the Snake River Plain and occupied the
caves and territories that had been abandoned by the Big-Game
Hunters. Their remains have been found in many locations in
southern and western Idaho. Here the migrants found deer in
place of the small mammals they had been accustomed to kill-
ing. Here, instead of pinenuts, they gathered camas roots; they
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also joined in fishing for salmon and steelhead. Among their
camping sites archaeologists have found ornaments, molded
clay objects, and figurines: further indications that they may
have had a religious practice of visiting an established sacred
site, perhaps to have personal visions and reassurance of a god’s
protecting care.

In many respects the Shoshonean and Northern Fremont cul-
tures continued up to the nineteenth century. The culture of the
Big-Game Hunters developed into the Archaic, and the Archaic
into the Northern Shoshoni that explorers, emigrants, mission-
aries, and settlers encountered on the eastern Snake River in
1850. The Cascade group of the Archaic and late Archaic may
be the ancestors of the Nez Perce of the early nineteenth cen-
tury. The Northern Fremont eventually evolved into the Western
Shoshoni and Northern Paiute of the modern era.

We do not know much about the inner motivations of these
prehistoric people—their hopes and fears, their dream life,
their personal aspirations. We can be reasonably sure that they
tried to live with nature, not change it. They respected and tried
to find meaning in the movement of the sun, the moon, and the
stars, in lightning, thunder, and the wind. We do not know what
they made of birth, of death, of the lunar flow of women’s blood.
We suppose that they laughed and played jokes on each other,
and we know that they felt an intimate kinship with fellow crea-
tures. We have also found cairns, tipi rings, and other indi-
cations that they had religious dances and ceremonials. They
believed in the power of magic and had a strong sense of pride
in their own small hunting groups.

The earliest residents of Idaho, over a period of more than
15,000 years, achieved remarkably successful adaptation to the
frequent and often extreme natural and human changes in their
environment. They provided a sound foundation, culturally and
materially, for the Idaho Indians of historic times.
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CHAPTER THREE

Idaho’s Native Americans

HEN the first white men came to Idaho in 1805, the

number of Indian aborigines within the modern state

varied from 6,000 to 10,000. Because Idaho’s bound-
aries do not conform to the general patterns of Indian residence
and migration, it would have been difficult to decide which rov-
ing bands or groups to assign to Idaho. Sven Liljeblad has esti-
mated that about 3,000 Shoshoni-Bannock and about 3,000 Nez
Perce could be assigned to Idaho. About 700 Coeur d’Alene and
about 300 Pend d’Oreille (or Kalispel) might also be counted as
Idaho Indians. Another 200 or more Kutenai and perhaps some
Northern Paiute were also in Idaho some of the time. Each of
these groups lived in and roamed over the country that included
parts of Idaho and nearby states.'

The Kutenai were the northernmost and smallest of the
groups. Most of them now live on the Flathead Reservation in
Montana or north of the Canadian border, although one small
band still lives near Bonners Ferry. Linguistically unrelated to
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any of the other Idaho Indians, they lived in a well-watered re-
gion with open valleys, small lakes, a mild climate, and abun-
dant fish and game. The Pend d’Oreille were part of the Kalispel
group that occupied a vast forested and mountainous area south
of the Kutenai and extending into Montana, Washington, and
Canada. The territory of the Coeur d’Alene, who were related to
the Flatheads of Montana and the Spokanes of Washington, en-
compassed about four million acres centering on Lake Coeur
d’Alene and reaching into Montana and Washington. Now most
live near Plummer. The Nez Perce were a populous group in-
habiting a large territory between the Bitterroot Range and the
Blue Mountains of Oregon. Today, while some of them live on
the Colville Reservation in Washington, most live in the lower
Clearwater Valley. They were renowned horsemen and had
large herds of horses and elaborate horse trappings made of raw-
hide, horse hair, bone, and antler, which they decorated with
dyes, skins, porcupine quills, and beads. While these northern
aboriginal people were banded together in groups, they were not
supervised by formal “chiefs.”

Horses were introduced to America by the Spaniards, and
they reached Idaho peoples from New Mexico about the middle
of the eighteenth century—forcing the Indians to adapt quickly
to a procession of changes. Like their eastern neighbors, Idaho’s
Native Americans began to alter their lifestyles and patterns of
dress and to develop the organization that went with hunting
buffalo on horseback. This included living in tipis and traveling
from one camp site to another using the travois—a carrier to
transport belongings suspended from poles and dragged behind
dogs or a horse; “jerking” meat for preservation; wearing orna-
mented clothing made from skins and fancy feather head-
dresses; and performing ceremonial dances. Eventually each of
the bands came to be organized under a trusted leader to facili-
tate cooperation in finding food and protecting each other in
hostile territory. At first, the political and social structure still
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in its early stages, the “chiefs” were not autocratic. Individual
Indians could move freely from one band to another.?

Living conditions among the Kutenai, Pend d’Oreille, Coeur
d’Alene, and Nez Perce were quite similar. In the summer they
caught salmon, plentiful in most rivers, and dried and stored
them for winter. They also caught steelhead, white fish, moun-
tain trout, and sturgeon. They migrated to Montana to conduct
communal bison hunts as well as killing bighorn sheep, Rocky
Mountain goat, grizzly, black bear, moose, elk, deer, antelope,
caribou, and such small game as beaver, squirrel, badger, and
rabbits. They hunted grouse, ptarmigan, ducks, and geese.
They dug for tuberous roots and bulbs—the blue-flowering
camas lily, sego, bitterroot, wild onion, and the kouse or “bis-
cuit root.” They mashed and dried huckleberries, chokecher-
ries, serviceberries, blackberries, wild rhubarb, and other
fruits.

Permanent dwellings were semisubterranean, mat-covered
longhouses. Clothing resembled the styles of the Plains Indians:
men wore a long, fringed buckskin shirt with loose sleeves, and
leggings, breechcloth, belt, and moccasins. Women wore an
undecorated, fringed, long Plains skin frock and knee-length
leggings, belts, moccasins, and headbands or caps. In winter
both wore robes made from small animal furs. Hats were made
from rawhide, fur, and willow withes. Distinguished warriors
wore feathers.

These people were quite individualistic and maintained au-
tonomous villages, each with elected headmen. Before the or-
ganization under chiefs, local leaders had little authority. In
addition to a band leader and a war leader, each band might
have a fishing leader, deer-hunting leader, and duck-hunting
leader. After they adopted the horse, bands cooperated much
more. On their migrations they traded tools, ornaments, and
foods with other native groups in Washington, Canada, and
Montana.
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The social pattern of the Nez Perce is representative of most
other North Idaho Indians.? Family was a major focus in their
life-style, and the opinions of relatives mattered. An expectant
mother would receive advice from the older female relatives that
ranged from an exercise program to personal hygiene including
hot and cold baths and administration of medicinal herbs. An
expectant mother was counseled not to observe, touch, or scorn
deformed animals or persons for fear the child she was carrying
would face a similar fate. Women avoided tying knots or partici-
pating in any activities that suggested difficulties encountered
in the birthing process.

Typically babies were delivered in specially designated small
houses. A Nez Perce woman was attended by a midwife or a sha-
man and her own mother or another older female member of the
family. If problems arose a male shaman with obstetrical skills
participated. Usually he would apply healing herbs, physical
manipulation, and rituals drawing upon the power of tutelary or
guardian spirits. Recognized as an intimate part of the child,
the umbilical cord was saved in a special buckskin pouch af-
fixed to the cradleboard. New babies and their mothers were
honored with feasts and presents.

Cradleboards were home to the baby until it could walk. The
mother strapped the cradleboard on her back or kept it near her
all the time. Mothers nursed their infants often for several years
and other women relatives assisted in feeding the baby if neces-
sary until it was weaned; then softened vegetables and meats
were introduced. A chewy gristle was used to keep the baby sat-
isfied between meals. If a mother died, other family members
cared for the baby.

Aboriginal parents and grandparents wished for large fami-
lies. The children were treated very formally by their parents;
the grandparents shared a more relaxed attitude and tended to
treat the children as equals, while they also taught the basics of
behavior and expectations. A young boy was schooled in fishing
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and hunting, sweat-bathing, and horse-riding by his grand-
father; a young girl was tutored in domestic skills by her grand-
mother. Children were educated by listening to hours of Indian
tales told by grandparents as passed from generation to genera-
tion. Aunts, uncles, cousins, and other siblings also were ac-
tively engaged in the training of youth. Each morning all the
children flocked to the bathing area for the daily regimen of
proper exercise and hot and cold baths. There were stern lec-
tures on proper conduct. Infants were rarely disciplined, but
older children who misbehaved were often whipped, sometimes
in groups. Northern Indian youth spent most of their time with
siblings or cousins whom they viewed as brothers and sisters.

At a formal ceremony children were named after important
family ancestors with the hope that the youth’s development
would thus be favorably influenced. Nicknames were common
and sometimes names were changed to reflect a great accom-
plishment, a tutelary-spirit vision, or the refinement of a desir-
able personal trait.

By the age of three or four boys and girls were expected to
contribute to the family’s lifestyle. Sometimes strapped to a
horse to keep from falling, they would accompany the family in
various hunting, fishing, root-digging, and berry-picking duties
where they would learn the process with toy bows, digging
sticks, and other tools designed just for them. By the age of six,
they were expected to make a meaningful contribution to the
family’s reserves. At special ceremonies the boys were honored
for their first kill of game and the girls were recognized for their
initial root digging and berry picking.

At this point, the children were individually lectured by one
of their significant elders. Attention was again focused on mor-
als, behavior, and attitudes. During adolescence youths actively
sought visions from tutelary spirits to learn what their specialty
or “power” would be in life. Some pursued a visionary expe-
rience many times before receiving a personal endowment or
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mission. If successful in receiving a vision, they were almost as-
sured of a successful life as an adult. If no vision was received
they could expect a lackluster existence.

Upon reaching puberty a Nez Perce girl faced an elaborate
ceremony to mark her transition. At the first indication she
would be isolated from the village in a special house and cared
for by older female relatives. She was prompted to think good
thoughts and engage in worthwhile activity since this period
would establish a pattern for the rest of her life. She stayed in-
doors all day, venturing out only after dark and only for a short
time. She had an elaborately carved instrument to scratch her
body that was prepared for this event. She ate meals cooked
over a special fire. At the end of her isolation, usually about a
week, she returned to the community with new status—she was
ready for marriage. New clothes, a more mature hairstyle, and
gifts from friends accompanied her new role.

Marriage among the Kutenai, Pend d’Oreille, Coeur d’Alene,
and Nez Perce was a serious step usually arranged by relatives.
The main issue was the social standing of the families involved.
Three levels of class structure defined relative wealth and social
prestige. The lowest bracket was made up of slaves captured in
war or traded for goods, who performed the servile jobs and had
no voice in the operation of the family or the village. Children of
slaves were treated much better than their parents. The middle
class was the largest group and focused on work responsibili-
ties, while the upper class was composed of strong leaders and
their families. Their wealth was apparent and often measured in
horses. Upper- and middle-class marriages were made usually
within their own groups though slave women were sometimes
taken as second wives. Slave men married within their class or
sometimes into poor middle-class families.

If a young man was interested in a certain girl, his family
reviewed his choice in light of her family’s social standing.
Genealogies were checked to make sure no family lines crossed,
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as marriage to relatives was not allowed. Marriages within fami-
lies where one son had already taken a wife were commended
since family ties were critically important.

An older female relative of the boy negotiated for the hand of
the bride. If the girl’s family was responsive to the overture, the
relative moved in with them to observe the girl and the two fami-
lies held occasional feasts. If the two seemed compatible, the
couple began living together. If the union was harmonious a cere-
mony was planned with an elaborate exchange of gifts, first from
the family of the groom and about six months later from the fam-
ily of the bride. Gifts from the groom’s relatives would include
such items as horses, hunting and fishing tools, and buckskin.
The bride’s gifts would favor her role with materials like root
bags, baskets, beads and beaded bags, and clothing.

With the second exchange of gifts the couple was considered
legally married. Very few divorces occurred since the ties be-
tween the two families were as important as between the individ-
uals. The couple normally moved in with the parents of the
bride although they might later relocate with the family of the
groom if conditions seemed better suited to their needs.

Among these bands age meant wisdom and often wealth. The
senior males commanded respect and usually held the promi-
nent leadership positions. A leader’s death resulted in an offi-
cial mourning period. A herald crier announced the death to the
village and close female relatives immediately began wailing in
a high-pitched lamentation. They were joined in their weeping
by a larger group of friends and relatives around the corpse until
the body was buried the following day. In preparation the body
was bathed, dressed in ornate new clothes, and decorated with
red face paint, and the hair was combed. Those who prepared
the corpse underwent a ritual purification. The grave, usually
dug on a high point overlooking the area, was marked with a
wooden stake. Wrapped in a robe and surrounded by some of
the deceased’s precious possessions, the body was carried to the
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grave by a horse-drawn travois. If the horse was a favorite of the
departed, it sometimes was killed and left near the site. The
shaman concluded the burial by performing rituals to prevent
the ghost of the deceased from bothering the living.

At a feast following the ceremony the family distributed the
remaining personal wealth according to the wishes of the de-
ceased. Men received the horses, robes, necklaces, and war
and hunting materials, while the women were given cooking im-
plements, beaded bags, and robes.

During the extended period of mourning the spouse’s hair was
cut, old clothes worn, laughing and public appearances elimi-
nated, and remarriage banned for one year. To assist in elimi-
nating memory of the deceased, the spouse was prohibited use
of the name and homes and furnishings, and sweat houses were
often abandoned or destroyed. At the end of a year, relatives
lifted the mourning period and the surviving spouse received
new clothes and a new spouse, usually a kin to the deceased if
one was available.

Southern Idaho Indians, most of whom now live at Fort Hall,
differed from the northern groups both in language and in way of
life. The two major southern groups were the Shoshoni and
Northern Paiute. The name “Bannock” has been given to a
people of Northern Paiute origin who also live at Fort Hall.*
Moving north from Nevada and Utah into the Snake River Plain,
perhaps in the sixteenth century, and related to the Northern
Paiute of Oregon, Nevada, and the eastern portion of California,
they were closely associated with the Shoshoni by 1805. In fact,
by the time the white men arrived in Idaho the so-called North-
ern Shoshoni and Bannock were for the most part blended into
one, most of them speaking both languages. They shared the
same region for their villages, and there was some intermarriage
between them.

Prior to the horse era these people congregated in their re-
lated families called patrilocal bands, referring to the tradition
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of the bride moving in with the husband’s family. The experi-
enced family heads were the acknowledged leaders. There was
little political unity beyond bands, who were often referred to by
their primary source of food such as “squirrel eaters,” “sage-
brush eaters,” “mountain sheep eaters,” “elk eaters,” and “bi-
son eaters.” Wandering in search of food, the bands often fell
into camps together. As they associated and shared caches of
food they also intermarried.

The aboriginal territory of the Shoshoni-Bannock extended
across most of southern Idaho into western Wyoming and down
into Nevada and Utah. This area was very dry, although the
higher areas on the northern and eastern periphery supported
vegetation and animal life more abundantly, as did the borders
of Snake River tributaries.

The Northern Paiute were part of a large language and cul-
tural grouping that extended south from Oregon and Idaho into
south-central Nevada and eastern California and even into
northern Mexico. They exploited the same resource areas as the
Shoshoni-Bannock, although much of their country was desert,
with little water, alkaline soils, and very sparse fauna and flora.
They had few mountains to relieve the heat and desiccation of
the desert. One small Paiute band, separate from the Bannock,
still lives at Duck Valley on the southern boundary of Idaho.

The cultures of the Shoshoni-Bannock and Northern Paiute
reflected their differing environments from that of the northern
Indians. The Idaho Shoshoni, for example, made more use of
the flat grinding stone than did their northern neighbors, who,
in turn, were more familiar with the mortar, suitable for pound-
ing meat and bulbs. North Idaho groups excelled in house-
building; their long gabled structures covered with mats were
home to several families. In the south the conical grass hut was
the traditional dwelling. Northern Indians excelled in basket-
making. The sophisticated designs on their beautiful soft bags
were passed down through generations. The Shoshoni produced
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more pottery. Shoshoni clothing was skimpy; a robe with woven
strips of rabbit skins served as a coat. Southern people had few
weapons for warfare, while their best bows were fashioned from
the horns of mountain sheep.

The Shoshoni-Bannock fished for salmon below Shoshoni
Falls and also found an abundance of roots in this area. Prior to
the introduction of the horse these Indians lived on food sup-
plies made up of insects from grasshoppers and crickets to ants
and larvae, birds, and occasionally their eggs, seeds, nuts, and
small game such as groundhog, jackrabbit, cottontail, porcu-
pine, prairie dog, and badger.

The horse probably reached the Shoshoni-Bannock before it
reached the northern Indians. By 1700 these people’s lifestyles
had been altered dramatically; the new mobility allowed them to
hunt bison in southeastern Idaho and, as it reached extinction,
to move east into the Great Plains. Hunting expanded to such
large game as deer, antelope, bears of several varieties, and
mountain sheep. They also dug camas and other roots in distant
well-watered regions in south central Idaho as far as Smith Prai-
rie and Camas Prairie on Wood River.

The integration of the horse into Shoshoni-Bannock life refo-
cused much of the daily activity. In the spring, they divided into
groups to gather foodstuffs; some sought large game and roots in
the mountains while others returned to proven fishing grounds
on the Snake River. This cycle continued until midsummer
when parties assembled to search for bison in Wyoming and
Montana. Also in midsummer intertribal gatherings were held in
locations such as Weiser and Lemhi Valley where each group
brought items to trade. The women gathered berries, roots,
nuts, seeds, and insects from spring to early fall. Birds were
most plentiful in summer but were stalked almost year round.
Late fall was a time to prepare the foods for the winter, and
caches of meat and plants were stored in protected areas where
the Indians expected to linger during the winter months. Little
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hunting or gathering was done during the bitter winter season.

Shoshoni-Bannock used fishing implements that were proba-
bly borrowed in design from their northern neighbors. Fish from
small streams were scooped up in twined conical baskets. Fish
weirs used on the larger Snake River were a community effort in
construction and application. Deer hunts on the other hand were
much more individualized, although communal nets were used
for capturing antelope, rabbits, and some waterfowl. The groups
used clubs to kill waterfowl or simply wrung their necks.
Snares, decoys, blinds, and spring-pole traps were employed to
capture birds and small game. Rodents were prodded out of
their holes by a “skewer,” a long thin pole that dug into the
animal’s skin. Sinew backed the bows made from both wood and
horn. Obsidian was used for the tips of knives and arrows, and
bone was used for salmon spears, awls, and other hand tools.
Utensils were carved primarily from horns of bison and moun-
tain sheep. Serving pieces like bowls, pots, and cups were usu-
ally fashioned out of soapstone.

The Shoshoni-Bannock collected and carried seeds in conical
baskets. Foods prepared in twilled baskets covered in rawhide
were transported in baskets of woven sagebrush and bark
strengthened by straps of skin or vegetable fibers. Water was
stored in a special basket lined with pitch. A loaf similar to
bread was prepared from a ground mixture of sunflower seeds,
lamb’s quarter, and serviceberries. Seeds were pounded into a
mash and roasted in willow trays; chokecherries were mashed
and spread in the sun to dry. Camas and other tuberous roots
were baked in earth ovens and shaped into loafs to dry in the
sun. Meat was either broiled or sun-dried.

The Shoshoni-Bannock lived first in conical long-poled
dwellings thatched with bundles of grass, bark, and tule before
advancing to the conical skin lodge, the “tipi,” adopted from the
Great Plains Indians. Sunbreaks and windbreaks provided shel-
ters while some lived in caves. Sweat houses and menstrual huts
were common, as they were in northern Idaho.
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Indians wore few clothes for centuries, but by the time white
explorers and settlers arrived the Shoshoni-Bannock were
mounted on horseback and dressed in the typical buckskin at-
tire. Men wore the long fringed shirt made from deer, antelope,
or big-horn sheep, with fur caps and leggings that often dis-
played scalps. Women wore dresses from the same hides orna-
mented with porcupine quills and girdles of polished leather,
and often specially woven basket-caps. Men, if facing warfare,
shielded themselves with armor of laminated layers of glue,
sand, and antelope skin.

The Shoshoni-Bannock were the major political force in
southern ldaho. Despite the differences among these Idaho
bands, they were unified in halting aggressions from the Plains.
Joining with the Shoshoni in western Wyoming, they were able
to repel encroachments by the Blackfeet and Crow, and they
were also known to link up with the Nez Perce to oppose the
Blackfeet.

Traditionally, the Northern Paiute did not ride horses. In-
deed, the rare horse that ventured into their territory was killed
for food. They lived off the land and exploited their bleak envi-
ronment more intensively than any other group in Idaho. Since
large game like deer, elk, antelope, and mountain sheep were
scarce, they focused their efforts on small game animals like
cottontail, jackrabbit, mink, gopher, kangaroo rat, mouse,
muskrat, woodchuck, squirrel, raccoon, bobcat, badger, and
beaver. They caught small minnows, a few trout, and suckers to
augment their meager supply of salmon. Fowl such as doves,
horned owls, quail, robins, woodpeckers, ruffed grouse, prairie
chickens, sage hens, blackbirds, loons, ducks, and geese made
up an important part of their diet. Insects used for food ranged
from caterpillars and ants to crickets and grasshoppers. Seeds
such as wada (a desert plant) and sunflowers were staples, as
were tuberous roots like camas and the so-called Indian potato.
Currants, chokecherries, huckleberries, and serviceberries add-
ed variety to their nutritional fare.
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In aboriginal times, the Northern Paiute spent most of their
time searching for food. In early May the women started can-
vassing the countryside for edible roots while the men repaired
salmon traps. At the end of the salmon run, the fishermen re-
turned to family units and browsed the countryside for deer,
sagehens, and seeds or roots. In midsummer the women gath-
ered crickets, in early fall currants and huckleberries. Men
turned to the mountains for deer and elk and joined together for
rabbit and antelope campaigns. By November, they, like other
Indians, were preparing for winter, depositing stores of food for
the cold months to follow.

Deer were hunted with dogs who would herd them into traps
by trails or springs. The hunters also used fire, scarecrows, and
even deer costumes to lure their game. Antelope and mountain
sheep were enticed into corrals of sagebrush-bark rope or
stalked by individual hunters. Nets, clubs, and bows and arrows
were used to kill rabbits and other small game. Ducks, geese,
and mudhens or coots were taken in communal hunts, some with
bare hands from cleverly designed blinds. Skewers snared small
animals in holes and tunnels. Hook and line, dip nets, weirs,
traps, baskets, harpoons, and even hands were employed to
catch fish.

Tools to gather and prepare food were often simple, often in-
genious. Simple bows of juniper and serviceberry were used.
Sometimes the tips of arrows, made of obsidian, bone, or horn,
were poisoned. Digging sticks were fashioned from mahogany or
serviceberry wood. Grinding seeds, roots, and meat was done
with stone pestles and mortars and thin, oval metates. Willow
cups, made of coiled and twined sticks, were used with animal
stomachs and basketry to serve as water canteens. Horn, bone,
and stone scrapers were used in many ways; hammers and chop-
pers were fashioned from bone awls and broken cobbles. Fire
was made with the familiar fire drill.

Fish, game, and insects were dried for storage while small
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animals were roasted for eating. As with the north Idaho Indi-
ans, meat was pulverized and mixed with fat. Spawn eggs were
combined with seeds; marrow was scooped out of split long
bones. Most foods were stone-boiled or broiled over the fire on
forked sticks. To parch seeds, the Indians layered them in bas-
kets hung over hot coals.

The Northern Paiute lived in frame structures of pine, poplar,
or willow pole construction sheathed with tule mats, usually ei-
ther domed or tripodal. In winter they added extra matting for
additional protection. As with the Shoshoni-Bannock, their
communities often included simple sun shades, sweat houses,
and menstrual and birth huts.

Elderly Paiute females hovered over an expectant mother to
see that her diet was low in fatty foods; a large baby was too hard
to deliver. They prepared mostly roots and warmed water for her
to eat and protected her from jolts or sudden cold spells. The
babe was delivered in a special house with the assistance of
midwives, also the practice of northern Indians. The father ritu-
ally bathed the child at birth and would often fast until the
child’s umbilical cord detached. Unlike the northern tradition,
the cord was ceremonially buried to ensure that the child would
grow up strong. At the time of the birth, the father took a cold
bath and a rigorous run. He was forbidden to smoke, gamble, or
sweat bathe for five days, and must not hunt or have any contact
with the mother for a month. The new mother returned to the
family and home three or four weeks after delivery, freshly
bathed and clothed in new attire. The father must dress in fresh
clothes in honor of the occasion.

The care of the infant was entirely up to the women. A cradle-
board was made for the new child which was essentially its envi-
ronment for the first year. Only if the child grew up well would
the cradleboard be reused for the next infant. At the end of the
first year, the child graduated to a robe carried on his mother’s

back.
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Children were named by the mother’s parents, usually at the
time they were withdrawn from the cradleboard. Boys were usu-
ally named for their grandfathers and girls for their grandmoth-
ers. As with most Indian groups, the boys’ and girls’ activities
were closely aligned with their roles as adults. The girls gath-
ered roots and seeds and wood; boys learned the habits of small
animals and hunted with relatives. Warfare was insignificant in
the social system, in sharp contrast to the Shoshoni-Bannock,
whose boys were encouraged to pursue honor in battle.

When the child could walk, he or she was cared for by
siblings and grandparents who also lived with the family.
Shoshoni-Bannock society was permissive with children, who
were rarely whipped for fear of breaking their spirit. If a child
struck his father, he was considered brave rather than disre-
spectful. A child’s dreams were considered a foreshadowing of
his or her eventual contribution to society. As a result, they
were questioned carefully after a night’s sleep, and some of the
children were allowed to follow their dreams to the mountains
for special visions.

While girls faced an abrupt transition as they reached adoles-
cence, boys made gradual steps to manhood, beginning with
public honor for their first kill and, in the case of Shoshoni-
Bannock, advancing to hunting parties, raids into the Great
Plains, and eventually an invitation to join a warrior society.
Usually this training culminated with marriage at about age
twenty.

The Shoshoni-Bannock girl’s experience at puberty was sim-
ilar to that of the northern and central Indians. But, unlike those
aboriginal inhabitants, she did not face taboos of touching her
body. Still, her time isolated in a special house was believed to
have great significance to her adult personality.

Youth activity following puberty was dominated by courtship.
There were many formal dances where boys and girls paired off
with little adult supervision. A boy played a flute late at night to
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draw the girl outside her tent for a tryst. Family marriages were
also common. When a young man announced his choice for a
mate the negotiations were accomplished by an older family
member of either sex. If the prestige and wealth of each family
were considered mutually acceptable, the prospective groom
awarded the father of the bride-to-be a gift of horses. At the
marriage ceremony the father reciprocated. Among Shoshoni-
Bannock the girl’s family could also initiate marriage negotia-
tions.

Marriage among both Shoshoni and Northern Paiute was ex-
tended beyond traditional Indian culture to permit polygyny,
polyandry, and what Euro-Americans would describe as mar-
riage of first cousins. Primarily, the arrangements were simply a
result of few potential partners. Polyandry, the marriage of one
woman to several husbands, was practiced by brothers and the
children she bore called all the men father. With the arrival of
the horse, these marriages declined since the circle of prospects
was widened. Polygyny, the practice of multiple wives for one
husband, continued despite the introduction of the horse; in
fact, it may have increased because of the slave-raiding prac-
tices of the Shoshoni-Bannock. Men who were rich in horses of-
ten used their wealth to purchase additional wives, reducing the
number of women of marriageable age for the young men to se-
lect. They were then forced to marry very young girls or women
who were slaves. Because the Shoshoni-Bannock, like most
other aboriginal Indians, did not live long lives—in part be-
cause of their precarious hunting and warrior activities—a dead
brother’s wife might be added to an existing family unit. The
oldest surviving brother might well be married to all his broth-
ers’ surviving wives.

Most of the rituals of mourning employed by the northern In-
dians were also employed by the Shoshoni-Bannock. At burial,
the corpse was placed with the head to the west and shamans
performed rites to protect the surviving family members from the
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ghost. Among the Northern Paiutes, where harsh living condi-
tions shortened life expectancy, the mourning family buried the
body in a rock shelter, rocky slope, or mountain; they observed
mourning periods similar to those of other aboriginals.

Class differences so prominent among the Nez Perce and
Shoshoni-Bannock were not an issue to the bands of Northern
Paiute. They were few in number and had such meager wealth
that class distinction was impractical. Occasionally they were
taken as slaves by Nez Perce, Cayuse, and Umatilla and traded
throughout the Northwest, or captured by bands of Shoshoni-
Bannock.

At the beginning of the nineteenth century white men moved
overtly into the Indian territories of Idaho. The Blackfeet, bran-
dishing firearms procured from Canadian trappers, were also
systematically terrorizing the Indian camps, stealing horses,
and destroying property. The Kutenai, Pend d’Oreille, Coeur
d’Alene, Nez Perce, Shoshoni-Bannock, and Northern Paiute
frantically traded for guns to protect themselves and occasion-
ally used them against each other. However, years of fairly
satisfying relations between Indians and whites were mutually
advantageous to the fur traders and natives. Some trappers mar-
ried Indian women and adopted Indian ways of life. Trading furs
to the trappers, the Indians obtained not only guns but knives,
tools, traps, fish hooks, kettles, cloth, glass beads, tobacco,
and—to later dismay—whiskey. The Hudson’s Bay Company,
which monopolized the fur industry, eventually eliminated the
liquor trafficking.

The Indians of north Idaho were visited by Protestant and
Catholic missionaries in the 1830s and 1840s, and thousands of
white migrants moved across southern Idaho in the next twenty
years on their way to Oregon and California. Except for the
Jesuit Coeur d’Alene mission, a post at Fort Hall, and a moun-
tain man or two, no white settlers lived in Idaho for any length of
time until 1855. Through the 1860s the aboriginal culture con-
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tinued to thrive. Living with the advantage of horses and manu-
factured tools in their primitive environment, the Indians could
not have predicted the enormous upheaval ahead for them and
their families.

The “Indian summer” then suddenly ended with gold rushes
and white settlements. Irrigated farms, white men raising stock,
telegraph lines, and railroads intruded on the life natives had
known for centuries. Bewildered by the white demand for own-
ership of land signified by pieces of paper, and pushed from
their traditional hunting and fishing grounds, the Indians re-
sponded with bows and arrows and gunfire. A tragic sequence of
provocations and wars resulted in the inevitable internment of
Indians on reservation lands. Governed by vacillating national
policies that were administered by insensitive political ap-
pointees, the Idaho Indian people suffered the indignities im-
posed to control “savages.”

Little remains of a varied but productive culture that nurtured
Indian bands for hundreds, even thousands, of years. When
Idaho Indians gave up their lands, they also gave up the only
life they knew. They have sought in recent years to respond to
the challenge of finding a bridge between the past and the pres-
ent.’

CHAPTER THREE: SOURCES

The finest sources on Idaho Indians in historic times are Deward E.
Walker, Jr., Indians of Idaho (Moscow: University Press of Idaho,
1978); Sven Liljeblad, Indian Peoples of Idaho (Pocatello: Idaho State
College, 1957); Patricia K. Ourada, ed., Indian Peoples of Ildaho
(Boise: Boise State University Press, 1975); Sven Liljeblad, The
Idaho Indians in Transition, 1805—1960 (Pocatello: Idaho State Uni-
versity Museum, 1972); and Deward E. Walker, Jr., Myths of Idaho
Indians (Moscow: University Press of Idaho, 1980). In addition to
these there are chapters in most Idaho histories, including Beal and
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Wells, History of Idaho, 1:29-59 (written by Sven Liljeblad); Defen-
bach, Idaho: The Place and Its People, 1:41—178; Brosnan, History of
the State of ldaho, 23—34; James H. Hawley, History of Idaho: The
Gem of the Mountains, 4 vols. (Chicago: S. J. Clarke Publishing Co.,
1920), 1:31—50; Thomas Donaldson, Idaho of Yesterday (Caldwell:
Caxton Printers, 1941), 276—335; and Floyd R. Barber and Dan W.
Martin, Idaho in the Pacific Northwest (Caldwell: Caxton Printers,
1956), 111—18.

Several books on Indians in the Northwest and Great Basin treat
Idaho Indians. They include Robert H. Ruby and John A. Brown,
Indians of the Pacific Northwest: A History (Norman: University of
Oklahoma Press, 1981); Robert F. and Yolanda Murphy, “Northern
Shoshone and Bannock,” in Warren L. D’Azevedo, ed., Handbook of
North American Indians: Great Basin; John R. Swanton, The Indian
Tribes of North America (Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Of-
fice, 1953); Francis Haines, Indians of the Great Basin and Plateau
(New York: G. P. Putnam’s Sons, 1970); and Omer Stewart, Indians
of the Great Basin: A Critical Bibliography (Bloomington: Indiana
University Press, 1982).

Histories of particular Indian nations include: Paul E. Baker, The
Forgotten Kutenai (Boise: Mountain States Press, 1955); Century of
Survival: A Brief History of the Kootenai Tribe of Idaho (Bonners
Ferry: Kootenai Tribe, 1990); John Fahey, The Kalispel Indians (Nor-
man: University of Oklahoma Press, 1986); Francis Haines, The Nez
Perces: Tribesmen of the Columbia Plateau (Norman: University of
Oklahoma Press, 1955); Alvin M. Josephy, Jr., The Nez Perce Indians
and the Opening of the Northwest, abridged edition (Lincoln: Univer-
sity of Nebraska Press, 1979); Edward Dorn, The Shoshoneans: The
People of the Basin Plateau (New York: William Morrow Co., 1966);
Virginia Cole Trenholm and Maurine Carley, The Shoshonis: Sentinels
of the Rockies (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1964); Brig-
ham D. Madsen, The Bannock of Idaho (Caldwell: Caxton Printers,
1958); Brigham D. Madsen, The Lemhi: Sacajawea’s People (Cald-
well: Caxton Printers, 1979); Brigham D. Madsen, The Northern
Shoshoni (Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1980); Hank Corless, The
Weiser Indians: Shoshoni Peacemakers (Salt Lake City: University of
Utah Press, 1990).
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Helpful scholarly articles include: Alvin M. Josephy, Jr., “Origins
of the Nez Perce People,” Idaho Yesterdays, 6 (Spring 1962):2—13;
Albert W. Thompson, “Coeur d’Alene: The Names Applied to Tribe
and Lake,” Idaho Yesterdays 21 (Winter 1978):11-15; J. C. Yer-
bury, “Kootenay Linguistics: An Unsolved Mystery,” Idaho Yester-
days 22 (Spring 1978):11-15; Clifford M. Drury, “Lawyer, Head
Chief of the Nez Perce 1848—1875,” Idaho Yesterdays 22 (Winter
1979):2—12; Omer C. Stewart, “The Shoshoni: Their History and So-
cial Organization,” Idaho Yesterdays 9 (Fall 1965):2—5, 28; and
Haruo Aoki, “What Does Chopunnish Mean?” [origin of the name
Nez Perce], Idaho Yesterdays 10 (Winter 1966—67):10—11.

Although not specifically focused on Idaho Indians, the life of other
Indian women is discussed in Gretchen M. Bataille and Kathleen
Mullen Sands, American Indian Women: Telling Their Lives (Lincoln:
University of Nebraska Press, 1984); and John Upton Terrell and
Donna M. Terrell, Indian Women of the Western Morning: Their Life
in Early America (New York: The Dial Press, 1974).
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CHAPTER FOUR

The First Explorers:
Lewis and Clark

N 1801 newly elected President Thomas Jefferson, always fas-

cinated with western North America, began planning an expe-

dition to explore the West. He employed twenty-six-year-old
Meriwether Lewis as a private secretary, intending to prepare
him to lead the expedition. Born on his family’s plantation in
Albemarle County, Virginia, Lewis had enlisted in the state mi-
litia at the age of twenty and soon advanced to the rank of cap-
tain. Most of his service was on the then western frontier beyond
the Alleghenies, where he acquired experience with the wilder-
ness and with aborigines. At Jefferson’s urging Lewis was given
special scientific and technical training from the faculty of the
University of Pennsylvania; he collected equipment and sup-
plies and studied maps of the West.

When the enterprise was secretly approved by Congress in
January 1803 and Lewis was designated commander, he invited
William Clark to join him as co-leader. Clark, who was also
born on a Virginia plantation, was the younger brother of George
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Rogers Clark, hero of the American Revolution in the West.
Four years older than Lewis, William Clark had been commis-
sioned a lieutenant in the army in 1792, had fought under Gen-
eral Anthony Wayne in the battle of Fallen Timbers, and had
been an acquaintance of Lewis in a campaign in 1795—96. He
was a mapmaker, had experience fighting Indians, and was a
skillful negotiator with them. Clark eagerly accepted the assign-
ment and was henceforth treated as a captain. The two men
acted as equals on the journey.

The expedition was charged with exploring the Missouri
River to its source in the Rocky Mountains and then proceeding
down the nearest westward-flowing stream to the Pacific. The
explorers would not only prepare the way for the extension of the
American fur trade to the tribes throughout the area, but also
advance geographical knowledge of the continent. Reflecting
Jefferson’s interest in natural science, the party was to gather
information about plants, animals, fossils, soils, and geology
and to report on the Indian cultures the explorers encountered.

Twenty-eight-year-old Lewis left for the West on July s,
1803, two months after the United States had gained possession
of much of that region by the Louisiana Purchase. He picked up
Clark and several recruits at Louisville, Kentucky, and then as-
cended the Mississippi to Camp Wood River, Illinois. The party
remained at the junction with the Missouri River not far from St.
Louis throughout the winter of 1803—4, recruiting and training
their men, gathering supplies and equipment, and collecting in-
formation from traders and boatmen familiar with the Missouri.
In addition to Lewis and Clark the permanent exploring party in
April 1804 included twenty-seven unmarried soldiers, a half-
Indian hunter and interpreter named George Drouilliard (often
anglicized to Drewyer), and Clark’s black slave, York. In addi-
tion, a corporal, five privates, and several French boatmen were
to accompany the expedition the first season and then return
with its records and scientific specimens.
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The “Corps of Discovery” began its journey on May 21, 1804.
By October the group had reached the villages of the Mandan
and Minnetaree Indians near the mouth of the Knife River in
North Dakota. They built a log fort and remained there for the
winter. Now numbering thirty-three persons, they resumed their
journey on April 7, 1805. They took with them as an interpreter
Toussaint Charbonneau, his young Shoshoni wife, Sacagawea,
and her baby, Jean Baptiste, born two months earlier.'

On June 13, 1805, the expedition reached the Great Falls of
the Missouri, where the river tumbled downward almost 100
feet. After a month portaging their goods around the obstacle the
explorers headed through wild mountain country to Three
Forks, northeast of present Bozeman in southwestern Montana.
They named the streams that joined to form the Missouri the Jef-
ferson, Madison (after James Madison, Jefferson’s Secretary of
State), and Gallatin (after Albert Gallatin, Jefferson’s Secretary
of the Treasury). Lewis and Clark chose to follow the northern-
most of the streams, the Jefferson, which Sacagawea claimed
would take them to her Shoshoni people; she had been captured
by the Minnetarees at Three Forks and knew the approximate
direction and distance to her homeland. Following the Jefferson
and its tributaries, the Corps came to what the Shoshoni called
Beaver Valley, where a prominent cliff bears a strong resem-
blance to a beaver. Thirty miles farther they reached the head of
the valley, Beaverhead (the site of Dillon, Montana); the stream
is also named the Beaverhead.

At this point, on August 9, 1805, Lewis and three compan-
ions left the main expedition. Not hindered by boats or baggage,
they reached the headwaters of the Missouri near Armstead, just
a few feet below Lemhi Pass. On August 12 they stood on the
summit of the Continental Divide. It was the first time the eyes
of a white man had beheld any part of the state of Idaho—the
last of the fifty states to be seen by a Euro-American. It was also
an event that the United States could use in claiming the right of
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discovery to the “lower” part of Oregon Country, which was not
part of the Louisiana Purchase. On this historic day, Drouilliard
crossed the divide into present-day Idaho. Significantly, the na-
tion’s flag was erected on Idaho soil on that first day of its
recorded history.?

Did Lewis appreciate the drama of this accomplishment? He
did. Here are the words in his journal of August 12:

The road took us to the most distant fountain of the
waters of the mighty Missouri in search of which we have
spent so many toilsome days and restless nights. Thus far |
had accomplished one of those great objects on which my
mind has been unalterably fixed for many years. Judge
then of the pleasure I felt in allaying my thirst with this
pure and ice-cold water which issues from the base of a low
mountain or hill of a gentle ascent for one-half a mile. The
mountains are high on either hand, [but] leave this gap at
the head of this rivulet through which the road passes.
Here I halted a few minutes and rested myself. . . . After
refreshing ourselves, we proceeded on to the top of the di-
viding ridge [Continental Divide] from which I discovered
immense ranges of high mountains still to the west of us [in
Idaho] with their tops partially covered with snow. I now
descended the mountain about three-fourths of a mile,
which I found much steeper than on the opposite side, to a
handsome bold running creek of cold clear water. Here |
first tasted the water of the great Columbia river.?

The spot where Lewis and his partners crossed the divide is
now known as Lemhi Pass and in itself is not impressive. With
an elevation of 7,373 feet, Lemhi Pass is a ridge only slightly
lower than the ground on either side. To the east is the arid
country of Montana; to the west, across the Lemhi River some
twenty miles distant, is the northern projection of Idaho’s Lemhi
Range.

Lewis determined that the western slope of the divide was
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very steep. The creek below the men, later named Agency
Creek after the Lemhi Indian Agency, was 3,900 feet below the
pass. Sure that this creek eventually ran into the Columbia and
on to the Pacific Ocean, Lewis and his associates followed the
stream for a short distance, then crossed hills and hollows into
the ravine formed by Pattee Creek, where they camped on the
night of August 12.

The next day the men took the Indian trail west and that after-
noon spied an Indian on horseback; frightened, the rider
quickly fled. As the whites rounded a hill, they came upon three
“Snake” (Shoshoni) women. One started to run; an older woman
and girl about twelve, sure that they would be killed, sat on the
ground with bowed heads. Captain Lewis tried to reassure the
old woman, who called back the one trying to escape. Lewis
then painted the cheeks of all three with vermillion rouge, a sign
of peace, and gave them gifts of beads and awls and a small mir-
ror. The captain was able to convey to them that he wished them
to lead his party to their camp. They walked about two miles,
where they met about sixty mounted men. The women informed
the warriors of Lewis’s peaceful intentions and exhibited the
gifts they had received. There were more presents, embraces,
and smoking, and the whole party traveled about four miles far-
ther to the Indian camp in “a pretty little meadow” on the bank
of the Lemhi River—a tributary of the Salmon—about seven-
teen miles south of present-day Salmon City. (The river, valley,
and pass were later given the name Lemhi by Mormons, who
settled the region in 1855.) Lewis noted the Shoshoni custom of
removing their moccasins before they would receive or smoke
the pipe, indicative, he wrote, “of a sacred obligation of sincer-
ity in their profession of friendship. ..as much as to say that
they wish they may always go barefoot if they are not sincere; a
pretty heavy penalty if they are to march through the plains of
their country.™

The “Snakes,” as Lewis and Clark referred to them, were
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actually Shoshoni. Half-starved, they were in wretched condi-
tion. In the days before horses they had held their own against
the Blackfeet and Minnetarees, but when the Blackfeet had ob-
tained guns from English traders the Shoshoni had been driven
in terror into their mountain retreat where hunting was poor. As
their leader, Cameahwait (“He who does not walk”), told Lewis,
they had been compelled to hide themselves “in these moun-
tains and live on roots and berries as the bear do.”® Lewis and
his party were the first white men the band of about five hundred
had ever seen, and all eyes were fixed upon them every minute.
The men were fed cakes of serviceberries and chokechernes,
which was all the food the Shoshoni had.

Lewis worked to persuade Cameahwait to accompany him
back over the divide with sufficient horses to supply the main
party for the return expedition over the pass. The suspicious
Shoshoni would agree, then change their minds. Four days
later, on August 16, Lewis reached the Beaverhead (Armstead),
expecting to find Clark and the twenty-eight men in the main
company. However, Clark, weary and ill, was still struggling
with his canoes up the winding Beaverhead Creek. Lewis sent
out a search party to find him.

The next day, August 17, was a happy reunion. As the still-
fatigued, red-haired Clark was walking with Charbonneau in ad-
vance of the canoes, Sacagawea, who was ahead of the leader,
suddenly rushed forward “to dance and show every mark of the
most extravagant joy, turning round to him and pointing to sev-
eral Indians, sucking her fingers at the same time” to indicate
that among these people she had been suckled as a baby.® Com-
ing toward them were several Shoshoni who had come with
Lewis, and the expedition’s half-breed hunter, Drouilliard, this
time in Indian costume. Sacagawea recognized her people by
their dress and manner of wearing their hair.

As the group drew closer to the Beaverhead camp, a Shoshoni
woman made her way through the crowd toward Sacagawea. The
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two recognized each other as childhood companions who had
been taken prisoners three or four years earlier at Three Forks
by the Minnetarees. The young Shoshoni woman had later es-
caped and returned to her homeland while Sacagawea had been
passed on to the Hidatsa and then to Charbonneau. As the
chronicle says: “They [the two young women] embraced with the
most tender affection.” There followed a salmon and berry feast,
the solemn removal of moccasins, and the passing of the peace
pipe.

In the ensuing council meeting, Lewis and Clark sent for
Sacagawea so she could interpret. She had only begun the trans-
lation when she recognized the “chief,” Cameahwait, as her
brother (or cousin).”

She instantly jumped up and ran and embraced him,
throwing over him her blanket and weeping profusely. The
chief was himself moved, though not in the same degree.
After some conversation between them she resumed her
seat, and attempted to interpret for us, but. . . she was fre-
quently interrupted by her tears. After the council was fin-
ished [she] learned that all her family were dead except
two brothers, one of whom was absent, and a son of her

eldest sister, a small boy, who was immediately adopted
by her.?

Sacagawea was born of a Shoshoni leader’s wife in the Bitter-
root Mountains not far from Salmon, Idaho. At about age twelve,
during a Shoshoni hunt into Montana for buffalo, she and her
friend were captured by a party of Minnetaree Indians. They
traded her to the Hidatsa Indians, and she was purchased or
won from them on a wager by Toussaint Charbonneau, a French-
Canadian living with the Hidatsa. Charbonneau, who was a fur
trader with the North West and American Fur companies, took
her to wife. When Lewis and Clark met him, Charbonneau had

three Indian wives, of whom the youngest was Sacagawea. Her
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Hidatsa captors named her Sakagawea, meaning Bird Woman.
The babe she carried on her back throughout the journey, her
first child, was named Jean Baptiste Charbonneau, but Sacaga-
wea called him Pomp or Pompey, a term of endearment express-
ing hope that he might become a head person or leader. Captain
Clark acknowledged the importance of this sixteen-year-old
woman to the expedition in his journals: “The wife of Shabono
[Charbonneau] our interpreter we find reconciles all the Indians
as to our friendly intentions—a woman with a party of men is a
token of peace.™

Sacagawea’s most significant contribution was establishing
friendly relations with the Shoshoni, from whom the party had to
secure horses and guides to continue the journey on to the Col-
umbia. The Americans argued that they would provide ample
compensation and that the result of their mission would be to
open commerce with peoples to the east and west that would be
mutually beneficial. '’

While that request was being negotiated at Beaverhead,
Clark and eleven men left on August 18 to accompany the Sho-
shoni back to Idaho. The party confirmed that the Lemhi flowed
into a larger stream, the Salmon. Continuing on, they found the
Salmon was not a good route. The mountains on each side were
“eternally covered with snow.” The river tumbled into steep
canyons that could not readily be navigated by boat; perpendic-
ular and jutting rocks hemmed in the river, so that a company
could not pass along the shore. Clark sent Lewis a note that the
Salmon was not passable; another route should be chosen. After
conversations with the Shoshoni, Lewis came to the same con-
clusion. Both men independently selected the Nez Perce route
over the Lolo Trail, 140 miles to the north, which the Shoshoni
had advised against."'

With Sacagawea’s urging, Cameahwait and his band agreed
to provide the horses necessary for the northern passage. Lewis
and the main party returned to Idaho on August 26 to catch up
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with Clark and head for the Lolo Trail. The Lemhi Shoshoni
headed east on their annual fall hunting trip. Sacagawea tear-
fully bade her people goodbye and accompanied her husband
and the explorers on toward the Pacific.

The expedition, now consisting of the original thirty-three
plus six Shoshoni, headed west again. The captains had been
able to secure twenty-nine horses. They followed the Lemhi
Valley to the Salmon River, moved along the valley to Tower
Creek, and worked their way up that bank for four miles to
where they reached the valley of the North Fork of the Salmon.
Over what one of their party called “the worst road ever trav-
eled,” they reached the summit of the Bitterroots on September
4 and left Idaho. They had found the going difficult: “High
mountains closed the creek on each side and obliged us to take
the steep sides of the mountains—so steep that the horses could
scarcely keep from slipping down. Several slipped and injured
themselves very much. .. .[we had] but little to eat.”'? They
went over Saddle Mountain, west of Lost Trail Pass to the head-
waters of the Bitterroot River and then down the Bitterroot Val-
ley into Montana. There they encountered a camp of four hun-
dred Flatheads or Salish with five hundred horses on their way
to join the Shoshoni in the buffalo grounds.

The Lewis and Clark expedition continued down the Bitter-
root to the mouth of Lolo Creek, about ten miles southwest of
present-day Missoula. Heading south and west up Lolo Creek,
they crossed the Bitterroot range on the Lolo Trail, reentering
Idaho on September 13. They were now about two hundred
miles north and a little west of Lemhi Pass, on a trail used by
the Nez Perce when they went east to hunt buffalo.

The Corps now experienced the worst privations and greatest
hardships of the entire expedition. On September 14 they
crossed a very high, steep mountain on a trail “excessively bad
and thickly strewn with fallen timber and pine, spruce, fir,
hackmatack, and tamarack. Steep and stony, our men and
horses much fatigued.”"? The next day was just as bad:
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Proceeded on down the right side of Koos-koos-key River
[Clearwater] over steep points, rocky and bushy as
usual . . . ascend[ing] a mountain, winding in every direc-
tion to get up the steep ascents. . . . Several horses slipped
and rolled down steep hills, which hurt them very much.
The one which carried my desk and small trunk turned
over and rolled down a mountain forty yards and lodged
against a tree, broke the desk....From this mountain
[top] I could observe high rugged mountains in every di-
rection as far as I could see. '

Here was an incident typical of those that delayed them:

Frazier’s horse fell from this road in the evening and
rolled with his load near a hundred yards into the creek.
We all expected that the horse was killed but to our aston-
ishment when the load was taken off him he arose to his
feet and appeared to be but little injured. In twenty min-
utes he proceeded with his load. This was the most won-
derful escape I ever witnessed. The hill down which he
rolled was almost perpendicular and [was] broken by large
irregular and broken rocks.'®

Snow fell all day on September 16. They had difficulty find-
ing their way. Delayed in the rugged Bitterroots, short of food,
and at the mercy of a confused Indian guide, the expedition
split, with Captain Clark taking six men to travel ahead.

After a week, Clark’s party entered the open valley of the
Clearwater to vistas of the Camas Prairie and Craig Mountain to
the southwest. On September 20 they encountered three Indian
boys, to whom they gave some small pieces of ribbon, and they
soon approached the large Chopunnish (Nez Perce) encamp-
ment on Weippe Prairie. The “great chief” was away with a war
party, leaving behind the women, who showed signs of fear but
presented the expedition with buffalo meat, dried salmon, ber-
ries, and bread made of camas roots.

Anxious to establish good relations with the Nez Perce, Clark
and a guide went down the creek to the Clearwater, where they
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found the camp of Twisted Hair, chief of the band. The camp
was adjacent to the site of present-day Orofino. Clark gave the
Nez Perce leader a presidential medal and smoked with him un-
til after midnight.'® Then the expedition reunited and journeyed
four miles down the river, crossed the Orofino, and established
Canoe Camp near the entrance of the North Fork and the site of
modern Ahsahka.

The shift in diet from almost no food to the dried salmon and
camas flour supplied by the Nez Perce gave the camp dysentery,
and they were unable to work or travel. Clark’s remedies were
strong emetics, the medicine of the day—enough to debilitate
those who were perfectly hardy and healthy. Observing this
“American shaman” giving powerful medicine, the Indians also
crowded around seeking help. Clark gave one Indian some lini-
ment to rub on his knee and thigh for pain; the man recovered
and extolled the virtues of the medicines. Near Kooskooske
(Lewiston) Clark gave a gentle purgative to a man with a tumor
on his thigh, cleaned and dressed the sore, and left him some
Castile soap to wash the wound until it got well. “These two
cures,” wrote Clark, “raised my reputation and gave those na-
tives an exalted opinion of my skill as a physician.™"’

Meanwhile, the men of the expedition settled down near the
forks of the Clearwater on September 26 to cut and shape pine
trees into dugouts and canoes. Twisted Hair furnished the cap-
tains with a white elk-skin map of the country and peoples
ahead, showing the junction of the Clearwater and Snake some
forty miles below. By October 6 the canoes were completed and
the saddles and land equipment cached at Canoe Camp; the
company left their horses to the care of the Nez Perces until
their return the next spring. The next day they launched their
five vessels on the Koos-koos-kie or Clearwater River. To the
small stream entering from the north they gave the name of Col-
ter Creek, in honor of John Colter, one of their party.

As the party proceeded down the river the canoes struck
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rocks and encountered rapids and eddies that delayed their ad-
vance. Their Shoshoni guide and his son left them on October 9
in order to get back to Salmon before snow closed their trail.
Reaching the junction of the Clearwater and the Snake, the ex-
pedition made camp below the site of Lewiston on the present
border between Idaho and Washington. They then left Idaho
and continued on to the Columbia. On November 18, 1805,
they reached “that ocean, the object of all our labours, the re-
ward of all our anxieties.”'® They built a camp on the south side
of the Columbia—Fort Clatsop, above Astoria—and remained
the winter.

Lewis and Clark decided the Pacific Ocean was badly named:
“It roars like a repeated rolling thunder.” They celebrated
Christmas by exchanging gifts, firing salutes, shouting, and
singing. Their festive dinner consisted of “poor elk, so much
spoiled that we eat it through near necessity.” They saw a
whale, and Sacagawea successfully pleaded “that she had trav-
eled a long way with us to see the great waters, and now that
monstrous fish was also to be seen, she thought it very hard she
could not be permitted to see either.” The winter was dismal;
Clark counted only six days of sunshine between January and
the last week of March. The men replenished their salt supply
by evaporating ocean water; hunted, despite a scarcity of game;
and suffered from colds, food poisoning, and Indian thievery.
Lewis and Clark gathered and recorded information about the
surrounding country and its native inhabitants and planned the
expedition’s return route. '’

On March 23, 1806, anxious to be on their way, members of
the expedition left Fort Clatsop and followed their original route
up the Columbia, then cut across toward the site of Lewiston.
On May 5 they returned to the mouth of Colter Creek, now
known as the Potlatch, on the site of Arrow Junction. The next
day they crossed the Clearwater at a point thirteen miles above
modern Potlatch and repossessed the horses they had left with
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Twisted Hair the previous fall. The horses had been well cared
for. They traveled up to the Nez Perce prairie and proceeded
southeasterly to Lawyer’s Canyon, four miles above Kamiah,
where they rested three days. Then they trekked down the can-
yon, crossed the Clearwater River, established Camp Chopun-
nish, and waited a month until the snow should melt sufficiently
to make the Lolo Trail passable. Because they had established
friendships with the Nez Perce the previous fall, their stay was
pleasant. Some of the men ventured down to the Salmon River
and the Snake River, partly to see the region but mainly to go
fishing.

Clark was now faced by an insistent group of patients. A lead-
ing man below Lapwai presented him with “a very elegant gray
mare” in return for a phial of eye water and a handkerchief.
While Clark did not think of himself as possessing medical
skills, he decided to “continue this deception” as a means of
earning some provisions to replenish their severely depleted
stores. He wrote that he gave them nothing that would injure
them (the purgatives?), and in many cases his medical and sur-
gical aid was helpful. On May 6, he wrote: “I was busily em-
ployed for several hours this morning in administering eyewater
to a crowd of applicants. We once more obtained a plentiful
meal, much to the comfort of all the party.” Five days later he
wrote: “Great numbers of Indians apply to us for medical aid,
which we gave them cheerfully. .. scrofula, ulcers, rheuma-
tism, sore eyes, and loss of the use of their limbs were the most
common cases among them.” Clark and the men also amused
themselves “showing them the power of magnetism, the spy
glass, compass, watch, air gun, and sundry other articles

equally novel and incomprehensible to them.”?

A generation
later, these memories still alive, the Nez Perce would ask for
missionaries to show them more of the white man’s ways.

A group was ready to leave for the East on June 9, when the

level of the Clearwater indicated that the melting snows would
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make crossing the mountains possible. The party moved to
Weippe Prairie, hoping they might be able to proceed. Against
the advice of the Indians, they left five days later with sixty-six
horses. That was a serious mistake; the next fifteen days were a
nightmare. Snow twelve to fifteen feet deep made the trail hard
to follow, and the air was cold and damp. If a horse slipped
crossing the precipices, they would lose it forever. The group
returned and waited. They set out again on June 24, this time
with three Nez Perce guides. Despite the heavy snow on the
mountains, the Indians proved to be “admirable pilots,” and
they made their way through.?!

The party reached the Lolo Summit on June 29 and crossed
the divide the next day, leaving Idaho and arriving at the hot
springs on the Montana slope, where they delightedly bathed in
the warm waters.

Lewis and Clark and company experienced many firsts in
Idaho. They were the first white men to cross the Lemhi and
Lolo passes and the Bitterroot Valley, and the first Euro-Ameri-
cans to contact the Shoshoni and Nez Perce tribes in their Idaho
homelands. They were the first geographers to examine portions
of the Lemhi, Lochsa, Clearwater, and Salmon rivers; the first
scientists to describe, in something approaching technical lan-
guage, the grizzly bear, the prairie dog, the pronghom antelope,
the jackrabbit, the black-tailed deer, the mountain goat, and
such creatures native to Idaho as the steelhead trout, Clark’s
nutcracker, and Stellar’s jay; the first botanists to collect speci-
mens of the mountain ash, lodgepole pine, and bluebunch
wheatgrass. And they were the first non-Indians to feast on
camas and huckleberries—both on the same day, September
20, 1805.%

They had lived with and established friendly relations with
the “Snake” and Nez Perce Indians, an association that was im-
portant in the later settlement of Idaho. They had also prepared
the way for the St. Louis fur trade to reach up the Missouri
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toward the Snake country, so important in the next stage of
Idaho’s development. And they had laid the foundation for the
coming of missionaries in the 1830s.?

When the expedition reached the mouth of Lolo Creek on July
3, the explorers split. With nine men Lewis went north to Great
Falls and then ventured along the Marias River as far as Cut
Bank Creek in northern Montana before descending the Mis-
souri. Clark and the rest of the company returned to Three
Forks, north of Dillon, and then went down the Yellowstone
River. The two groups reunited a few miles below the mouth of
the Yellowstone on August 12 and then as a group hurried down
the Missouri.

When Lewis and Clark reached the Mandan village near Bis-
marck, Dakota, Charbonneau and Sacagawea remained with
their people. Sacagawea’s history from that moment is not cer-
tain. The usually accepted view is that she accompanied Char-
bonneau to St. Louis about 1809, then two years later left her
son with Clark and returned upriver with her husband. She fell
victim of a “putrid fever” at Fort Manuel late in 1812.%

Sacagawea’s son Jean Baptiste was educated by William
Clark at a Catholic academy in St. Louis. When he was eigh-
teen, he met Prince Paul of Wurttemberg, who was in the west
on a scientific expedition, and lived at his castle near Stuttgart
for several years. Baptiste later served with the American Fur
Company, working with the Robidoux fur brigade in the Utah-
Idaho region. He attended the great fur rendezvous of 1833 on
the Green River. Several years later he accompanied Sir Wil-
liam Drummond Stewart, a Scottish nobleman, on a pleasure
trip to the Rockies via South Pass to the Green River and then
north into the Yellowstone country. When the Mexican War be-
gan he was guide for Colonel Philip St. George Cooke and his
Mormon Battalion on its trek from Santa Fe to San Diego. In
California he was alcalde (mayor) for the mission of San Luis
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Rey, then went to the gold fields on the American River. In the
1860s he joined the miners’ gold rush to Montana but died en
route near Jordan Creek, just west of Idaho, probably of Rocky
Mountain fever. Charbonneau lived well in two worlds, at home
both in educated white circles and on the frontier among his na-
tive people.*

A second significant personality connected with the expedi-
tion was John Colter, one of the nine young men who enlisted for
the expedition in 1803. Only a private, he was given dangerous
and responsible assignments. When the expedition returned to
the Mandan villages in 1806 he was released and joined two fur
traders on their way up the Missouri. For four years he was a
mountain man in the northern Rockies, during which time he
had two narrow escapes from the Blackfoot Indians (including
an 1808 encounter in which he ran naked in terror six miles
over a thorn-covered plain to find a hiding place under a raft
of driftwood). Having been witness to the thermal phenomena of
the region, Colter is sometimes given credit for the discovery of
Yellowstone National Park.?®

Minus Sacagawea, Baptiste, and Colter, the party arrived at
St. Louis on September 23, 1806, after twenty-eight months’
absence. They had long since been given up for lost by nearly
everyone except Thomas Jefferson. There was an appropriate
celebration.

Lewis was appointed governor of Louisiana Territory and
served for two years. In 1809, during a journey to Washington,
D.C., he died under mysterious circumstances—probably sui-
cide. Clark was appointed brigadier general of militia and su-
perintendent of Indian affairs for Louisiana Territory, with
headquarters in St. Louis. In 1813 he became governor of Mis-
souri Territory, and for several years he was government negoti-
ator for Indian treaties. He died in 1838. Clark’s slave, York,
returned to Virginia, where he lived to a “ripe, old age.”
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Lewis and Clark’s Corps of Discovery had not found, as Jef-
ferson had half expected, a waterway across the continent, but it
had accumulated an enormous wealth of observations, valuable
maps, and priceless animal, plant, and mineral specimens, and
had left a record of decency and fair play in dealing with Indian
peoples. Only one of the Corps had died, of “bilious colic” (rup-
tured appendix), three months after the expedition began. Dr.
Samuel Mitchill, one of the men who had helped Lewis gather
information before the expedition was launched, expressed the
common feeling that the trip was “a rare performance. It does
honour to our national enterprize.”?’

The 8,000-mile journey had opened up the trans-Mississippi
West to the American people, and the Corps’s experiences of-
fered a fresh approach to American Indians and their way of
life.?® Not only had the explorers taken part in a romantic and
stirring event, but they had kept daily journals of their discover-
ies, impressions, and activities, thus enabling subsequent gen-
erations to relive this national epic in words written by men who
were both observant and thrilled by the story.? As Bernard
DeVoto, that devoted student of the expedition, wrote, “It satis-
fied desire and it created desire: the desire of a westering na-

tion.™®

CHAPTER FOUR: SOURCES

Several editions of the fascinating and comprehensive Lewis and
Clark journals have been published. The first full publication was
Reuben G. Thwaites, ed., Original Journals of the Lewis and Clark
Expedition 1804—1806, 8 vols. (New York, 1904-5; reprinted in 7
vols., New York: Antiquarian Press, 1959). Important extracts from
that original edition were published in Bernard DeVoto, The Journals
of Lewis and Clark (Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1953). A new edi-
tion of the journals in the process of publication is Gary E. Moulton,

ed., The Journals of the Lewis and Clark Expedition, 7 vols. to date of
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a projected 11 vols. (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1983— ).
The crossing of Idaho in 1805 is in volume 5.

Other informative sources include: Elliot Coues, The History of the
Expedition Under the Command of Lewis and Clark (New York: Fran-
cis P. Harper, 1893); Bernard DeVoto, The Course of Empire (Boston:
Houghton Mifflin Co., 1952); Donald Jackson, Among the Sleeping
Giants (Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 1987); John Logan Allen,
Passage Through the Garden: Lewis and Clark and the Image of the
American Northwest (Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 1975); Wil-
liam H. Goetzmann, Exploration and Empire: The Explorer and Scien-
tist in the Winning of the American West (New York: Alfred A. Knopf,
1966); William H. Goetzmann, New Lands, New Men: America and
the Second Great Age of Discovery (New York: Viking Press, 1986);
Donald Jackson, ed., Letters of the Lewis and Clark Expedition with
Related Documents, 1783—1854., 2nd ed., 2 vols. (Urbana: Univer-
sity of lllinois Press, 1978); David F. Hawke, Those Tremendous
Mountains: The Story of the Lewis and Clark Expedition (New York:
W. W. Norton & Co., 1980); James P. Ronda, Lewis and Clark
Among the Indians (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1984);
Olin D. Wheeler, The Trail of Lewis and Clark, 1804—1806, 2 vols.
(Hartford, 1870); John Bakeless, Lewis and Clark, Partners in Dis-
covery (New York, 1947); Paul R. Cutright, Lewis and Clark: Pioneer-
ing Naturalists (Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 1969); John
Bakeless, The Journals of Lewis and Clark (New York: New American
Library, 1964); and a charmingly illustrated book for juveniles by an
Idaho teacher: Ronald K. Fisher, West to the Pacific: The Story of the
Lewis and Clark Expedition (Coeur d’Alene: Alpha Omega, 1989).

A splendid article summarizing these and other publications is
Gary E. Moulton, “On Reading Lewis and Clark: The Last Twenty
Years,” Montana: The Magazine of Western History 38 (Summer
1988):28—39.

Western and Pacific Northwest histories that contain substantial
accounts of Lewis and Clark include Dorothy O. Johansen and
Charles M. Gates, Empire of the Columbia, 2d ed. (New York: Harper
& Row, 1967), 72-81; Carlos A. Schwantes, The Pacific Northwest:
An Interpretive History (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press),
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47-53; Ray Allen Billington, Westward Expansion: A History of the
American Frontier, 2d ed. (New York: The Macmillan Co., 1960),
446—50; LeRoy R. Hafen and Carl Coke Rister, Western America:
The Exploration, Settlement, and Development of the Region beyond
the Mississippi, 2d ed. (Englewood Cliffs, N.].: Prentice-Hall, 1950),
173—-81; Thomas D. Clark, Frontier America: The Story of the West-
ward Movement, 2d ed. (New York: Charles Scribners Sons, 1969),
243—46; George W. Fuller, A History of the Pacific Northwest (New
York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1931), 61-76; David Lavender, The Rockies
(New York: Harper & Row, 1968), 40—49.

Histories of Idaho that have chapters or sections on Lewis and
Clark include: Beal and Wells, History of Idaho, 1:60—77; Defen-
bach, Idaho: The Place and Its People, 1:80—96; Peterson, Idaho: A
Bicentennial History, 24—32; Brosnan, History of the State of Idaho,
39—50. | have been particularly helped by the Beal and Wells chap-
ter. See also Ralph S. Space, The Lolo Trail (Lewiston: Printcraft,
1970), and Roy E. Appleman, Lewis and Clark: Historic Places Asso-
ciated with Their Transcontinental Exploration (Washington, D.C.:
National Park Service, 1975).

Articles that focus on the experience of the expedition in Idaho
include three by John J. Peebles: “Rugged Waters: Trails and Camp-
sites of Lewis and Clark in the Salmon River Country,” Idaho Yester-
days 8 (Summer 1964):2—17; “On the Lolo Trail: Route and Camp-
sites of Lewis and Clark,” Idaho Yesterdays 9 (Winter 1965—66):
2—-15; and “The Return of Lewis and Clark,” Idaho Yesterdays 10
(Summer 1966):16—27. The three Peebles articles were combined
and published by the Idaho State Historical Society in 1966 under the
title Lewis and Clark in Idaho.

Also informative are John E. Rees, “The Shoshoni Contribution to
Lewis and Clark,” Idaho Yesterdays 1 (Summer 1958):2—13; and
Robert C. Carriker, “Following the Trail of the Captains: The Jour-
nals of the Lewis and Clark Expedition at Midpoint,” Idaho Yester-
days 33 (Summer 1989):25—-30.

On Sacagawea, the two principal sources are Harold P. Howard,
Sacajawea (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1971), and Grace
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R. Hebard, Sacajawea: Guide of the Lewis and Clark Expedition
(Glendale, Calif.: Arthur H. Clark Co., 1933, 1957). An assessment
of the legend is provided in C. S. Kingston, “Sacajawea as Guide: The
Evaluation of a Legend,” Pacific Northwest Quarterly 35 (January
1944):3—18.

(photos on next page)

19. Meriwether Lewis planned the great expedition to the Pacific and
helped realize Thomas Jefferson’s dream of a United States reaching
from ocean to ocean. Lewis was probably the first white man to set
foot on Idaho land. 1sHs.

20. The able companion of Lewis, William Clark, helped conduct the
great expedition to the Pacific Coast. He was later territorial governor
of Missouri. ISHS.

21. A 1931 painting by M. L. Bailey shows the encampment of Lewis
and Clark near Tolo Lake where the first United States flag was raised
in Idaho in 1805. The Lemhi Mountains and Lemhi Pass are in the
background. I1SHS 2837.
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CHAPTER FIVE

Fur Traders and Early Explorers

UST two years after Lewis and Clark had left Idaho, one of

the great geographers of all time, David Thompson, ar-
QJ rived and by 1809 had erected the first house used by
white men in Idaho. He would be followed by explorer-trappers

with such familiar names as Andrew Henry, Wilson Price Hunt,
Donald Mackenzie, William H. Ashley, Jedediah Smith, Fran-
cois Payette, B. L. E. Bonneville, Nathaniel Wyeth, and Peter
Skene Ogden.

David Thompson was born in England of Welsh parents. Or-
phaned at an early age, he was trained in mathematics at a char-
ity school for poor children in London. At fourteen he was sent
to Canada as an apprentice to the Hudson’s Bay Company, a
British colonizing and trading company chartered in 1670. The
company gradually extended its domain westward until it cov-
ered 1.4 million square miles of North America—all the lands
draining into Hudson’s Bay, more than a third of present Can-
ada. While still in his teens, Thompson began mapping the vast
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regions west and southwest of his base on Hudson Bay. One of
the first whites to deal with the Blackfeet and other Indians liv-
ing in the borderlands between present-day Montana and Can-
ada, he may have supplied some tribes with their first firearms.

In 1797 Thompson left the Hudson’s Bay Company to work
for its principal competitor, the North West Company. Organ-
ized in 1784 with headquarters in Montreal, the North West
Company directed the exploration of much of western North
America, including the Columbia River and Snake River coun-
try. In this employ Thompson crossed the Rocky Mountains via
the Saskatchewan River, scouted the Columbia River from its
source to its mouth, and established the first fur posts in Idaho
and western Montana.

Thompson, whose ventures in the Pacific Northwest had been
thwarted by the warlike Piegan (Blackfeet) Indians, was “re-
leased” by them after one group of them had been bested by
Meriwether Lewis in 1806; their way of avenging defeat by
Americans was to assist a Canadian competitor. Thompson es-
tablished the first fur trading post on the Columbia, Kootenay
(Kootenai) House in modern British Columbia, in July 1807. He
spent the winter there and then moved south, instituting a trade
with the Kutenai and Pend d’Oreille Indians at Bonners Ferry.
He and his associates built a log structure on the eastern shore
of Lake Pend d’Oreille near Hope, which, together with tents
and a lodge, was called Kullyspell House after the Kalispel In-
dians. The earliest fort in the Pacific Northwest of the United
States and the first white habitation in Idaho, the facility was
built only three years after Lewis and Clark had traversed the
Lolo Trail on their return east.

Thompson was more than a fur trader. He carefully surveyed
and mapped the region. Indeed, he apparently switched from
Hudson’s Bay to the North West Company because the latter en-
thusiastically supported his exploratory activities. In Idaho, for
example, he skirted along the shore of Lake Pend d’Oreille and
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came to a place that he noted as “A Point of Sand.” It became
Sandpoint. He crossed the Priest River and continued to what
he called “Pointed Heart’s Lake.” It became Lake Coeur
d’Alene. He drew the first map of northern Idaho. A pious man
who always carried his Bible, Thompson was an ardent foe of
the liquor traffic; he refused to carry alcohol into areas he
visited or supply it to the Indians. However, he was happy to
supply the Kutenai with rifles to defend themselves against the
Blackfeet because the latter had been an obstacle in his devel-
opment of the Columbia trade. He thought the Kutenai and
Coeur d’Alene were industrious people who “pride themselves
in their industry, and their skill in doing anything, and are as
neat in their persons as circumstances will allow.”™

After Thompson left to spend the winter at Saleesh (Salish)
House, which he built in western Montana, Kullyspell House
was left in charge of Finan McDonald, a native of Inverness,
Scotland. Tall, athletic, and red-haired, he had been associated
with Thompson in the Columbia venture and remained promi-
nent in the Idaho fur trade until his return to Canada in 1826.

During the winter of 1809—10 Thompson, McDonald, and
their associates gathered beaver skins, and in April they took
out forty-six packs. (A pack or plew consisted of about eighty
beaver skins, each worth from $5 to $10 depending on size and
quality. They were pressed and bound by a large leather thong.)
The furs went to Bonners Ferry and on to Montreal and London.
Thompson was back briefly at Kullyspell House in 1811, but he
soon tracked west past Spokane Falls and established a new
post, Spokane House. He returned to north Idaho in the spring
of 1812, but then left the area to develop other interests in Mon-
treal. In the four years he was in north Idaho he had explored
routes still used by transcontinental railways and highways,
opened permanent communication with the East, formed
friendly relationships with Indians, and established the fur
trade as a reputable business.
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The second fur outpost pioneered in Idaho was Fort Henry,
built beside Henry’s Fork or the North Fork of the Snake River.
Founder Andrew Henry, a native of Pennsylvania, had moved to
Tennessee and then in 1808 to Missouri, where he was a lead
miner. In 1809 he became a partner in the Missouri Fur Com-
pany organized at St. Louis by Manuel Lisa and others. Their
1809—10 expedition opened up the Three Forks of the Missouri
to organized trapping. Impressed with the Lewis and Clark ex-
ploration, Lisa had employed John Colter, George Drouilliard,
and others before Henry joined him. Henry built a fort at Three
Forks, where he was attacked by Blackfeet and grizzly bears.
Although Drouilliard and others were killed, Henry managed to
send thirty packs of beaver skin down the Missouri to St. Louis.

Henry and his associates crossed a low pass in the Continen-
tal Divide into ldaho in 1810 and found what we call Henry’s
Lake. Impressed with the trapping prospects of the region, he
decided to build a post and settled there for the winter. The fort
was five miles downstream from St. Anthony on the bench on
the west side of Henry’s Fork (North Fork) and north of the Te-
ton River. Henry’s party struggled through a bitter cold winter.
Had they asked the Shoshoni they could have been prepared:
the Shoshoni name for the area was “Egin,” meaning cold.
When the severe winter forced most of the game southward,
Henry’s party had to subsist mainly on the flesh of their own
horses. Nevertheless they were able to secure forty packs of
beaver skin in 1810-11. In the spring of 1811 Henry aban-
doned the site and returned to Missouri. There he occupied
himself with other opportunities until 1822, when he returned to
the Rockies with William H. Ashley.

Meanwhile, in 1808 John Jacob Astor founded the American
Fur Company to free himself from dependence on Canadian and
British markets and suppliers and to enable him to trade in furs
on the East Coast, in the Pacific Northwest, and in China. His
company became the most powerful of the American fur enter-



FUR TRADERS

prises and made Astor a fortune. A stout and arrogant entrepre-
neur, Astor built Fort Astoria at the mouth of the Columbia fol-
lowing an expedition from St. Louis. In 1810 he organized the
Pacific Fur Company to handle American Fur Company busi-
ness on the Pacific Coast. After the fort was threatened by a
British frigate during the War of 1812, Astor sold the Pacific
Fur Company to the North West Company.

Chosen to lead the expedition to the West in 1810 was Wilson
Price Hunt, a twenty-eight-year-old businessman from New Jer-
sey who had established a store in St. Louis in 1804. Hunt, the
hero of Washington Irving’s book Astoria (1836) but not an ex-
perienced frontiersman, eventually assembled a party of sixty-
two men and one woman with two children. An indispensable
member of Hunt’s party was Pierre Dorion (or Dorian), son of a
Frenchman (the first white settler in South Dakota) and an In-
dian woman, who brought his lowa Indian wife (Marie Aiowe, or
lowa) and two young boys aged five and three. Dorion knew In-
dian sign language.

The company sailed up the Missouri in keelboats and spent
the winter of 1810—11 with the Arikaras in South Dakota.
There they met with John Colter and three mountaineers who
had spent the winter at Fort Henry. Hunt’s party went overland
through Wyoming and entered Jackson Hole in September
1811, camping on the South Fork of the Snake River (which
they called Mad River). French Canadian members of the com-
pany called the peaks on the west the Trois Tetons (Three
Teats), and that name stuck. Crossing Teton Pass, the party ar-
rived in the Teton Basin at modern Victor, Idaho, and occupied
vacant cabins at Fort Henry in October.

Assuming they could float down the Snake to the Columbia,
they abandoned their horses at Fort Henry (a monumental blun-
der) and launched fifteen heavily laden canoes fashioned from
cottonwood trees in the area. They voyaged down to Idaho Falls,
portaged around it, then on to American Falls for another
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portage. As they continued down the river they lost one man
when a canoe hit a large rock in the rapids several miles west of
where Milner Dam is located. “Much goods lost,” they re-
corded. Continuing on to a spot in the Snake River’s narrow
gorge where a pool at the bottom of the high cascade of water
churned so fiercely that it reminded them of a witch’s brew, they
named it Caldron Linn. They beached the remainder of their ca-
noes and scouted the river chasm (from the bluff above) for
thirty-five miles. Another attempt was made, another canoe and
its goods were lost, and three other canoes were stuck in the
rocks. On November 1, calling this stretch of water the Devil’s
Scuttle Hole, they abandoned their canoes, dug sixteen caches,
and filled them with their remaining goods. Divided into three
groups, each left to its own resourcefulness, they proceeded
afoot to try different routes to the Columbia. One group returned
to Fort Henry to get the horses but gave up before they got there
and returned without the animals.

Determined to press on to the Columbia, Hunt and nineteen
others, including the Dorions, moved ahead suffering from hun-
ger, thirst, and cold. They were able to induce Indians they en-
countered to give them some salmon and dog meat. They spent
one night in Hagerman Valley, another at the site of Glenn’s
Ferry, and another at Canyon Creek. Mistakenly they left the
river to cross the barren sagebrush plain and would have died of
thirst if it had not rained. They followed Donald Mackenzie to
the Boise River and forded the Payette and Weiser rivers. There
were further losses of goods. Guided by friendly Shoshoni, who
furnished them horses, Hunt headed westward across Oregon,
missing Hells Canyon and the Seven Devils. Crossing the Blue
Mountains and the Grande Ronde Valley, the party navigated
the Umatilla to the Columbia and finally reached Fort Astoria on
February 15, 1812. A group of them returned by essentially the
same route to report to Astor. Traveling as they did along the
banks of the Snake, they were the first to cover much of what
later became the Oregon Trail.
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One group of these trappers, under the leadership of John
Reed (sometimes Reid), returned to the Payette River Valley in
1813 to trap beaver. Among them were the Dorions. They put
up a log house, and at the junction of the Snake and Boise riv-
ers, near the site of Parma, they established another field post.
Early in 1814, Reed and his party became victims of the first
massacre by a band of Indians in Idaho history. The Indians
killed everyone at the log house and everyone at a post farther
down the river—a total of nine men, including Reed and
Dorion. They took all the guns and ammunition and headed for
the post at Parma, where Marie Dorion and her two boys were
staying. Warned by a friendly Indian, she hurriedly gathered up
buffalo robes and some buffalo meat and, with her boys, set out
on the Hunt trail that led about 260 miles to Walla Walla.
Knowing she could not go all the way, she traveled nine days to
a lonely spot in the Blue Mountains, built a small hut of pine
branches and moss, and lined it with horse skin, padded by
snow, to keep out the cold. They remained for fifty-three days
until spring, living on dried horsemeat. Setting out once more
on the trail, the three crossed the Blue Mountains and found
friendly Walla Wallas. After a rest, she told her tragic story to
trappers.?

Another member of the Hunt Party was red-haired Donald
Mackenzie, who had moved from the Highlands of Scotland to
Montreal in 1800 and worked for the North West Company. In
1809 he transferred to John Jacob Astor’s Pacific Fur Company.
As a member of Wilson Price Hunt’s expedition, he spent the
fall of 1811 exploring above a long stretch of the Snake River
from Weiser to Lewiston on his way to Astoria. Under the aegis
of the North West Company, which he rejoined in 1816 four
years after it took control of Astoria, Mackenzie organized the
annual Snake Country expeditions that continued until 1832.
This activity laid the foundations for the Snake Country fur
trade.

A large man (312 pounds), a skillful trader, efficient admin-
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istrator, and trusted Indian negotiator, Mackenzie took crews
consisting of Indians, Owyhees (Hawaiians), and whites who
produced fur in quantity far beyond expectations. After 1818,
when the United States and England agreed to joint occupancy
of the Oregon country and the area was open to the citizens of

both countries, he operated out of Fort Nez Perce at the junction
of the Snake and the Columbia.

In September 1818 Mackenzie set out with a stock of mer-
chandise, 195 horses, 300 traps, and 55 men for the headwaters
and many of the tributaries of the Snake River. They set up win-
ter quarters from Boise River to Bear Lake. Alexander Ross, an-
other Scotsman who had been with both Astor and North West
and had helped Mackenzie establish Fort Nez Perce, described
this Snake country of southwestern and southeastern Idaho in
1818 as follows:

Woods and valleys, rocks and plains, rivers and ra-
vines, alternately met us; but altogether it is a delightful
country. There animals of every class rove about undis-
turbed; wherever there was a little plain, the red deer [elk]
were seen grazing in herds about the rivers; round every
point were clusters of poplar and elder, and where there
was a sapling, the ingenious and industrious beaver was at
work. Otters sported in the eddies; the wolf and the fox
were seen sauntering in quest of prey; now and then a few
cypresses or stunted pines were met with on the rocky
parts, and in their spreading tops the raccoon sat secure.
In the woods, the martin and black fox were numerous; the
badger sat quietly looking from his mound; and in the num-
berless ravines among bushes laden with fruits, the black,
the brown, and the grizzly bear were seen. The mountain
sheep, and goat white as snow, browsed on the rocks and
ridges, and the big-horn species ran among the lofty cliffs.
Eagles and vultures of uncommon size flew about the
rivers.’
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It was not a Garden of Eden. Along one stream (Camas Creek)
Mackenzie’s trappers became ill from eating the tails of beavers
that had fed on certain plants. They named the stream Malade,
or Malad, a French word for sick. The name stuck for the river
and is still frequently used for the stream above its entry into
Magic Reservoir.

Three Owyhees in the expedition were lost. The name, which
is English, requires an explanation. When Captain James Cook
discovered the Sandwich Islands in 1778, he asked the natives
what they called themselves. They responded with a sound that
he wrote down as “Owyhees” (later usually spelled “Hawai-
ians”). After stopping at the islands for food and water, English
vessels that plied North American West Coast ports often
brought Owyhees along as laborers, and each of Mackenzie’s
three Snake River expeditions included several. When Macken-
zie reached southwestern Idaho, he directed three Owyhees to
go south of later Fort Boise to trap in the unexplored watersheds
of a large unnamed river. The three disappeared and were as-
sumed killed by the Indians.* Those associated with the expedi-
tion named the river after them, and later the mountains and the
county took the same name (and spelling). Other Owyhees were
in the contingent in Old Fort Boise in the 1830s and 1840s.

Mackenzie had intended to establish a permanent base in
Boise Valley, but he gave up that plan because of the difficulty
of supply and Indian hostility. Many horses were stolen, some of
his men were killed, and Mackenzie himself had many narrow
escapes. But he persisted and tenaciously worked with Indian
bands and their leaders. Much of the problem arose from the
raids of Indian groups on each other—the Nez Perce on the
Sheepeaters, and the Blackfeet on both Nez Perce and Sheep-
eaters.

Mackenzie’s base during the winter of 1819-20 was Little
Lost River. He held a grand council of the Snakes (Shoshoni)

and secured their assurance of cooperation with his trapping
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projects, producing a mutually advantageous commerce. He
was also able to establish an Indian truce that enabled the
Snakes and British traders to maintain good relations throughout
the remainder of the fur-trade period.

When Mackenzie’s party of seventy trappers arrived at Fort
Nez Perce with the season’s return in June 1820, they were es-
corted by a band of four hundred Cayuse Indians from eastern
Oregon and Washington. The procession was said to have been
more than two miles in length, with 154 horses loaded with
beaver.®

In 1821, under pressure from the British government, the
North West and Hudson’s Bay companies merged under the
name of the latter, creating a monopoly of the British fur trade in
North America. The next year Mackenzie left Idaho and the
Northwest to manage Hudson’s Bay operations around Winni-
peg-

The monopoly was not to be without stiff competition. Ameri-
cans at St. Louis organized the Rocky Mountain Fur Company
in 1822, and the American Fur Company continued its own
campaigns. Their encroachment on the British fur trade was
substantial.

Finan McDonald led an 1823 Hudson’s Bay expedition
through the Snake River country. After venturing over to west-
ern Montana and then returning to Idaho over Lemhi Pass, Mc-
Donald went on to Henry’s Fork, the Blackfoot, and the Bear
River. On the upper Lemhi, in eastern Idaho, he and his
twenty-nine men were forced to fight a battle with a band of
seventy-five marauding Piegans (Blackfeet) who ambushed
them. By taking advantage of the natural terrain and by astute
maneuvers McDonald and his men were able to defeat the at-
tacking hostiles, losing only six men while the Blackfeet suf-
fered sixty-eight casualties. Upon his return to Spokane House,
McDonald declared, “I got safe home from the Snake Country
...and when that Country will see me again the beaver will
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have a gold skin.”® Nevertheless, McDonald had broken the
power of the Blackfeet in Idaho, opening up a new phase in
Idaho’s fur trade. St. Louis trappers were now able to penetrate
the upper Missouri and Snake country. This victory was particu-
larly significant in the history of Indian wars in Idaho.

Command of the annual Snake brigade was next given to Al-
exander Ross, who had directed the Hudson’s Bay Flathead
Post in western Montana in 1821 and led the Snake River ex-
pedition of 1824 into southern Idaho. That 1824 brigade,
Hudson’s Bay’s largest expedition up the Snake, consisted of
140 persons—including 25 women and 64 children—and 392
horses. The company was a motley group that included two
Americans, seventeen Canadians, five Red River métis (mixed
French and Indian), twelve Iroquois, two Abanekees from lower
Canada, two natives from Lake Nipissing in Ontario Province,
one from Lake Huron, two Cree from Athabaska, one Chinook,
two Spokane, two Kutenai, three Flathead, two Kalispel, one
Palouse, and one Snake slave. Ross lamented that as many as
two-thirds of them were “more expert at the bow and arrow than
at the use of the beaver trap.” Leader of the Iroquois was “Old
Pierre” Tevanitagon, whose name was preserved during the
years of the fur trade in Pierre’s Hole under the Tetons in Idaho.

Ross and his party finally reached Idaho at Lemhi Pass on
April 29, 1824. They were delighted: “Here birds are singing
and spring smiles. All traps out for the first time since we left
the fort.” The brigade trapped the Lemhi and Salmon rivers
southward to the Lost and Wood rivers and then moved over to
the Boise Valley, where they participated in a peace congress
with the Cayuses and Snakes. They covered the Boise, Payette,
and Weiser valleys after the conference and then returned to
Walla Walla with 5,000 beaver pelts.

The expedition was profitable. But some of Ross’s Iroquois
trappers were attacked by Indians near Blackfoot and were in
grave trouble when stumbled upon by Jedediah Smith and a
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small party of American trappers. In gratitude, the Iroquois in-
vited the Americans to follow them to Ross’s brigade. Fearful
that Smith would use the visit to gain further knowledge about
the country, Hudson’s Bay executives in Vancouver decided
that Ross had been too tolerant of a competitor and replaced him
with Peter Skene Ogden in 1825. That meeting of British and
American fur hunters and the completion of Ross’s 1824 ven-
ture marked the beginning of a crucial battle for the fur empire
in the Oregon Country. The clash between Ross’s replacement
for Hudson’s Bay, Peter Skene Ogden, and America’s mountain
men for the occupation of the Oregon Country took place largely
in Idaho—a disputed borderland in the competition for empire
in the Pacific Northwest. Within ten years the British “monop-
oly” of Oregon fur country was at an end.

Peter Skene Ogden was a major explorer of the fur-trade pe-
riod. Born in Quebec City, Canada, of American loyalist par-
ents, Ogden grew up in Montreal. He entered the fur trade when
he was twenty, worked briefly for John Jacob Astor’s American
Fur Company in the Great Lakes region, and then joined the
North West Company. Sent to the Pacific Northwest in 1818, he
was dropped by North West Company in 1821 but picked up by
Hudson’s Bay Company to run the Spokane House district.
When he replaced Ross in the Snake Country fur brigade in the
fall of 1824, Ogden was instructed to trap the interior so ruth-
lessly that there would be nothing left for American trappers and
mountain men. His first expedition of 1824—25 took him from
the Bitterroot River in western Montana south through eastern
Idaho to the Bear River in northern Utah. His second expedi-
tion, 1825—26, took him south from the Columbia, east over the
Blue Mountains, and down into the Snake River country. He
made a magnificent catch of 2,188 beaver and other valuable
furs that year, but there was a price to pay on this and nearly
every trapping expedition: Ogden lost one of his trusty French-
men, “Portneuf,” to hostiles along a stream and in a valley that
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has since borne the victim’s name.? For three more years,
1827-30, Ogden directed expeditions to the Snake River coun-
try, competing with American trappers.

The contest for ascendancy involved two very different sorts
of operation. Hudson’s Bay Company brigades were regulated as
part of a well-managed operation, while the American competi-
tors consisted of many self-reliant frontier individualists who
went where they pleased, so long as their resources held out and
the Indians did not restrain them.

There were three leading American trappers. One, William
Henry Ashley, organized the rendezvous system that fostered
the rise of the mountain man, who played such an important role
in western history. He had found a way to exploit the fur trade at
minimal expense through the organization of fur brigades of free
(unattached) trappers, the rendezvous system, and the use of
horses instead of boats to penetrate the wilderness. Ashley and/
or his men also rediscovered the South Pass and opened the
central overland trails to Oregon and California.

Born in Virginia, Ashley moved to Missouri shortly after the
Louisiana Purchase. He was associated with Andrew Henry in
the manufacture of gunpowder and lead during the war of 1812.
A popular officer of the territorial and state militia, he held the
title of general by 1822 and was elected Missouri’s first lieuten-
ant governor in 1821.

In 1822 Ashley and Andrew Henry advertised for a number of
“enterprising young men” to undertake a fur-trading expedition
to the upper Missouri. The famous party included young
Jedediah Smith, Mike Fink, Jim Bridger, and a dozen others
who were significant in the development of the western fur
trade. Ashley and Henry succeeded in establishing a post, Fort
Henry (later Fort Union), on the Yellowstone River but were
resolutely opposed by the Arikara Indians, who wanted to con-
trol the river trade in that region. A second expedition the next
year was wiped out by the Arikara.
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Ashley then sent two parties overland from Fort Kiowa to the
Rockies, avoiding the Missouri River route. Trappers were
mounted on horseback and went forth in small parties that
would be hard to spot. The first group, Andrew Henry’s party,
traveled across Nebraska and the Dakotas to Fort Henry on the
Yellowstone. The second party, led by Jedediah Smith, went
west to the Black Hills and into the Wind River region of Wyo-
ming. In 1824, they rediscovered South Pass in western Wyo-
ming (first discovered by returning Astorians), which made it
possible to follow a relatively easy route along the Platte and
Sweetwater rivers to the Rocky Mountain trapping grounds. No
longer would parties have to follow the Missouri into hostile ter-
ritory. It also meant that wagons might more easily travel a cen-
tral route.

Both of Ashley’s brigades came to Idaho in the fall of 1824.
Jedediah Smith’s group—six trappers, including William Sub-
lette—reached the Portneuf about the end of September; the
other group, under John Weber—Jim Bridger was one of them
—did well that fall on the Bear River, north of Franklin. That
fall also, Smith and his men discovered a group of Iroquois who
had been robbed and left naked on the plains by hostile Ban-
nock. They escorted the Iroquois back to Alexander Ross’s
Snake brigade on the Salmon and then to their Flathead base in
Montana, reaching there the same day that Peter Skene Ogden
arrived to save the Snake brigade from St. Louis competition.

Ashley, starting late in the fall of 1824, had to fight storms
and snows to take supplies overland by pack trains and wagons
to his trappers in the mountains. Arriving in April 1825, he di-
vided his party into small groups to explore and trap. They
agreed to rendezvous on the Green River in the summer. The
first rendezvous or gathering was held twenty miles north of
Henry’s Fork on the Green. After a second rendezvous in 1827,
Ashley sold out to Jedediah Smith, David E. Jackson, and Wil-
liam L. Sublette and then returned to St. Louis.
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The rendezvous attracted hundreds of white trappers and
traders who brought furs; negotiated for supplies like salt, flour,
tea, and coffee; picked up letters and newspapers, did business,
and saw old friends. To these “wilderness fairs” came hundreds
of Indians from many bands who brought furs, horses, dried
meat, moccasins, and buckskin shirts to trade for kettles, guns,
bright cloth, and beads. There was much buying and selling,
haggling, bragging, feasting, and card-playing. Trade goods,
even with the attendant risks of loss and high costs of transpor-
tation, sold at unconscionable prices: tobacco from one to three
dollars a pound, blankets from twelve to sixteen dollars each,
coats as high as forty dollars, sixpenny calicoes at fifty cents a
yard, and beads for a dollar a bunch.’

The rendezvous were like medieval fairs. Along with the
horseracing, wrestling, shooting matches, gambling, and ca-
rousing, some of a different temperament enjoyed the associa-
tion and excitement but spent their evenings around the camp-
fires reading from the Bible and English and French classics.
Some regaled their acquaintances with tall tales, impromptu
readings, and the singing of newly composed frontier ballads.
There were Indian dances, Scottish reels, and exchanges of
medicines.

Some historians have tended to overemphasize the corrosive
effects of the wilderness on the mountain men. Picturesque wil-
derness trailblazers, half-civilized and half-savage, a brave and
reckless breed, they have been described as men who, sepa-
rated from the traditional patterns of civilized life, reverted
toward the primitive.'® The men discussed here do not fit this
characterization. They seem to have been “astonishingly sim-

hed

ilar,” to use William Goetzmann’s phrase, to their civilized
contemporaries. They were “expectant entrepreneurs” who
worked tirelessly for the main chance and reveled in the prom-
ise of America.'!

Associated with Ashley on his first and second expeditions,
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and one of the partners who bought his interests, was Jedediah
S. Smith. Born in Bainbridge, New York, Smith went to St.
Louis as a teenager and soon teamed up with Ashley. His stated
motives: “I started into the mountains with the determination of
becoming a first-rate hunter, of making myself thoroughly ac-
quainted with the character and habits of the Indians, of tracing
out the sources of the Columbia River, and following it to its
mouth, and of making the whole profitable to me.”"?

A “mild and Christian young man” who did not indulge in
profanity, tobacco, or alcoholic liquor or forsake his mild and
unassuming manner, Smith always took his religion with him.
He was an able leader in Idaho’s fur trade although he lived only
thirty-two years, and he ranks with Lewis and Clark as one of

America’s truly great explorers. As Dale Morgan has written:

During his eight years in the West Jedediah Smith made
the effective discovery of South Pass; he was the first man
to reach California overland from the American frontier,
the first to cross the Sierra Nevada, the first to travel the
length and width of the Great Basin, the first to reach
Oregon by a journey up the California coast. He saw more
of the West than any man of his time, and was familiar with
it from the Missouri River to the Pacific, from Mexico to
Canada. . . . Jedediah Smith is an authentic American
hero...."

In his western travels Smith spent many weeks in Lemhi Val-
ley, Teton Valley, Bear Lake Valley, and Cache Valley and in
the Boise, Payette, Weiser region. He was one of Idaho’s great
explorers.

Another notable participant in the fur trade was Frangois
Payette, a French Canadian, who arrived at Astoria in 1812 and
spent the next thirty-two years in the business. He began with
the Pacific Fur Company, transferred to the North West Com-
pany when the Astor partners sold out, and finished his career



FUR TRADERS

with the Hudson’s Bay Company. He was with the Snake expe-
dition of 1818 under Donald Mackenzie, and at that time the
Payette River was named for him. He was with Finan McDonald
on the Snake Country expedition of 1823 and with the Snake
brigade of 1824—25. Peter Skene Ogden had a high opinion of
Payette and assigned him to take an advance party of thirteen
trappers ahead of the Snake brigade to oppose Jedediah Smith
and get a share of the beaver along the Blackfoot River. His
party was attacked by Blackfoot Indians, one of his men was
lost, and Payette barely escaped by swimming across the river,
leaving his horse, traps, and clothes behind. Continuing with
the regular group after his escape, Payette and two others, trap-
ping out ahead of the party, came back with 110 beaver pelts.
At ten shillings per beaver, the three had £55 for less than a
month’s actual trapping.'* He accompanied the next year’s expe-
dition as an interpreter.

On one visit to his traps Payette and Baptiste the Iroquois
encountered three Snake Indians who had stolen seven horses
from fellow Hudson’s Bay Company employee Thomas McKay.
The two trappers took the horses and demanded payment in ad-
dition. Payette began beating the Indians with his whip; in the
ensuing scuffle an Indian was killed and the two trappers were
severely wounded. Payette soon recovered but lost another
horse, gun, and blanket. He was back with the 1827—28 and
1828—29 expeditions as a “free” trapper. On several missions
he was given important responsibilities by Ogden, the expedi-
tion leader, and he continued to work in eastern Washington,
Oregon, and north and central Idaho. Finally he settled at Fort
Boise, where he directed affairs until 1844.

One of the many visitors to Old Fort Boise was Thomas Jeffer-
son Farnham, a lawyer in Peoria, lllinois. Inspired by a lecture
on the Oregon country by Reverend Jason Lee, Farnham de-
cided to make a trip across the continent. He stopped in Boise
on September 13, 1839, and described Monsieur Payette:
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Mr. Payette, the person in charge at Boisais, received us
with every mark of kindness; gave our horses to the care of
his servants, and introduced us immediately to the chairs,
table and edibles of his apartments. He is a French Cana-
dian; has been in the service of the Hudson’s Bay Company
more than twenty years, and holds the rank of clerk; is a
merry, fat old gentleman of fifty, who, although in the wil-
derness all the best years of his life, has retained that man-
ner of benevolence in trifles, in his mode of address, of
seating you and serving you at table, of directing your
attention continually to some little matter of interest, of
making you speak the French language “parfaitment”
whether you are able to do so or not, so strikingly agreeable
in that mercurial people. The 14th and 15th were spent
very pleasantly with this gentleman. During that time he
feasted us with excellent bread, butter made from an
American cow, obtained from some of the missionaries;
with baked, boiled, fried and broiled salmon—and, at my
request, with some of his adventures in the wilderness. '®

Boiseans can be grateful to French-Canadian Payette for the
popularization of the name of their city, meaning “wooded.”
Many early maps anglicized it to Wood River, but Payette’s in-
fluence over many years caused the name Boise to prevail.

Partly because of the large number of American trappers in
southern Idaho in 1824, 1825, and 1826, Britain agreed with
the United States in 1827 to continue the Oregon boundary con-
vention of 1818 for an indefinite period. Idaho and the Oregon
country remained open for exploitation by both St. Louis and
Hudson’s Bay traders on terms of legal equality.

Both British and American trappers continued to ply the
Snake and its tributaries in 1827, 1828, and 1829, sometimes
with losses of men and equipment to hostile natives—both
Snakes and Blackfeet. The double adversity of Indian depreda-
tions and competition, plus the exhaustion of the beaver supply,
caused a decline in profits; previously, trappers had made good
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money. Ogden’s four expeditions had averaged over $10,000
profit per year; William Sublette earned $36,000 for the fur
from the Bear Lake rendezvous—furs that cost him only $9,000
there. By 1830 the six years of sharp competition in the Snake
country fur trade had given neither Hudson’s Bay nor the St.
Louis mountain men a clear-cut victory.

During the early 1830s there were continued forays into
Idaho by both British and American trappers. Both continued to
have difficulties with Blackfeet and Bannock Indians as well as
with each other.

In 1830 John Work took Ogden’s place in managing the inter-
ests of Hudson’s Bay in the Snake River area. Born in Donegal
County, Ireland, with the surname of “Wark,” Work anglicized
his name about the time he joined the Hudson’s Bay Company
in 1814. He was sent to the Columbia River region in 1823 with
a party of men that included Peter Skene Ogden. During the
next seven years he was at Spokane House and Fort George (for-
merly Astoria), traded with the Flathead, explored British Col-
umbia, and helped construct Fort Colville, the successor to
Spokane House. (Fort Colville was near Kettle Falls, about
seventy-five miles north of Spokane.) His instructions, like
those given to Ogden, were to trap out the interior so completely
that there would be nothing left for the Americans. His 1830 ex-
pedition, consisting of forty men, twenty-nine women, and forty-
five children, traveled east from Walla Walla to the Salmon
River and then southwest to the Humboldt in Nevada. Detach-
ments trapped the Weiser, Payette, and Boise country but found
few beaver remaining. Work went on to southern Idaho’s Camas
Prairie (where he lost one Snake in his party), up the Lost River
to the Salmon, then over to the Blackfoot and Portneuf for the
winter. Still not harvesting many beaver, he went on in the
spring to the Humboldt.

The 1831 expedition took Work and his party into western
Montana and the headwaters of the Missouri. Several of his men
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were killed in an attack by three hundred Blackfeet, who
claimed the territory. Work quickly retreated to the Salmon
River to trap and trade with the Snakes. Since too few beaver re-
mained to attract St. Louis trappers, Work took his 1832 bri-
gade south to the Sacramento Valley in California. He was given
other responsibilities along the coast and did not return again to
Idaho.

In 1834 Hudson’s Bay reorganized the Rocky Mountain fur
trade by establishing permanent posts to replace the rendezvous
system. Fort Hall and Fort Boise (on the Snake) were erected
that year. Dissolution of the Rocky Mountain Fur Company at
the conclusion of its 1834 rendezvous shifted the St. Louis trade
entirely into the hands of the American Fur Company, which
lasted only another four years. By 1838 the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany became the undisputed leader of the fur empire.

The first leader in the transition to Hudson’s Bay control was
Benjamin Louis Eulalie de Bonneville. Best remembered as the
hero of Washington Irving’s The Adventures of Captain Bon-
neville (1837), Captain Bonneville was born near Paris during
the middle of the French Revolution. His father was a friend of
Lafayette, Condorcet, and Thomas Paine. When Napoleon be-
came emperor of France in 1803, the family migrated to Amer-
ica. Under an appointment arranged by Lafayette, Bonneville
attended West Point. After graduation with honors, he served in
various army garrisons in New England, then in posts in the
West.

In 1830 he decided to lead his own expedition to the West
and for that purpose was given a two-year leave of absence from
the army (which was later extended). Leaving Fort Osage, Mis-
souri, in 1832 with 110 men and twenty wagons, he went to the
Green River country in southwestern Wyoming, where he
planned to build Fort Bonneville. When experienced men in the
region cautioned that the location was subject to severe winters,
Bonneville relocated at the headwaters of the Salmon. His camp
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was on Carmen Creek, several miles north of where Salmon City
now stands. His men trapped along the Snake River, and some
of them established a camp near the future site of Fort Hall. He
established close relationships with Nez Perce, Flatheads, and
Bannocks, who were there hunting buffalo.

The next winter Bonneville set up camp on the Portneuf near
present-day Pocatello. He moved between many sites in south-
eastern Idaho: Bear Lake, Bear River, Pierre’s Hole (Teton Val-
ley), and Soda Springs. The latter was his name for the phenom-
enon; apparently a band of trappers had come upon the spring
and in a moment of revelry pronounced it Beer Springs. Here is
Washington Irving’s account, which describes an experience in
the spring of 1834 when Bonneville’s men were away from their
camp on the Portneuf:

The most noted curiosity . . . of this singular region, is
the Beer Spring, of which trappers give wonderful ac-
counts. They are said to turn aside from their route through
the country to drink of its waters, with as much eagerness
as the Arab seeks some famous well of the desert. . . .

Here the men all halted to have a regale [June 4, 1834].
In a few moments every spring had its jovial knot of hard
drinkers, with tin cup in hand, indulging in mock carouse;
quaffing, pledging, toasting, bandying jokes, singing
drinking songs, and uttering peals of laughter, until it
seemed as if their imaginations had given potency to the
beverage, and cheated them into a fit of intoxication. In-
deed, in the excitement of the moment, they were loud and
extravagant in their commendations of “the mountain tap”;
elevating it above every beverage produced from hops or
malt. It was a singular and fantastic scene; suited to a re-
gion where everything is strange and peculiar:—These
groups of trappers, and hunters, and Indians, with their
wild costumes and wilder countenances; their boisterous
gayety, and reckless air; quaffing and making merry round
these sparkling fountains; while beside them lay their
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weapons, ready to be snatched up for instant service.
Painters are fond of representing banditti at their rude and
picturesque carousals; but here were groups, still more
rude and picturesque; and it needed but a sudden onset of
Blackfeet, and a quick transition from a fantastic revel to a
furious melee, to have rendered this picture of a trapper’s
life complete.'®

The company traveled over the desert plains north of the
Snake River. As the story goes, when they came to Boise River,
with its green forested banks, the Frenchmen shouted, “Les
bois, les bois, voyez les bois,” meaning, “The woods, the
woods, see the woods!” But it appears that Boise River—
Wooded River—was named by French Canadians in 1811 or
1812, and Ogden was using the French form, Boise, in 1825 or
1827.

Although Bonneville spent three years in the mountains, most
of the time in Idaho, he was not able to compete successfully
with more knowledgeable trappers. Food was a problem—the
region had been hunted out by the Indians; snow and cold
weather were obstacles; Blackfeet were always threatening. His-
torians Beal and Wells suggest that he accomplished little be-
yond experiencing the adventure later used to embellish Wash-
ington Irving’s book.'” Idaho has remembered Bonneville by
naming the county in which Idaho Falls is located Bonneville
County. The huge prehistoric lake that once covered some of
southern Idaho and northern Utah was also named for him.

Another important figure in the fur trade during the middle
1830s was Nathaniel J. Wyeth. Born near Cambridge, Massa-
chusetts, Wyeth spent most of his life in the Boston ice busi-
ness. After conversations with his fellow townsman Hall Jack-
son Kelley, a Boston schoolteacher and journalist and booster of
the Pacific Northwest, Wyeth arranged to have a ship sail
around Cape Horn to the Columbia with a cargo that he hoped to
market profitably in the Portland area. Meanwhile in 1832, he
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led a group of men overland to Oregon, hunting and trapping on
the way. He planned, when the ship’s cargo was sold, to load
the vessel with furs and return to Boston.

The overland trip was not a vacation. Seven men left him at
Pierre’s Hole. '® The remaining eighteen continued with Wyeth to
Hudson’s Bay’s Fort Vancouver, on the north bank of the Col-
umbia. Upon their arrival they learned that their ship had been
wrecked in the South Pacific, forcing Wyeth to return overland
to Boston empty-handed. On his trip east in 1833 he made an
agreement with Milton (brother of William) Sublette and others
of the Rocky Mountain Fur Company to supply them with goods
at the 1834 rendezvous. He also organized the Columbia River
Fishing and Trading Company to send salmon and beaver skins
to the East by ship around Cape Horn, rather than overland, and
he trapped south of the Columbia. When he reached the 1834
rendezvous with $3,000 worth of goods, the Rocky Mountain
Fur people refused to buy them. (Another partner apparently
had made other arrangements.) Furious, Wyeth told Thomas
Fitzpatrick, “I will roll a stone into your garden that you will
never be able to get out.”"” Wyeth then built Fort Hall, on the
Snake River eleven miles north of present-day Pocatello, hoping
to dispose of his goods and conduct his own fur trade. Behind a
stockade were cabins and a little garden, and an American flag
flew over the fort. The place was named after Henry Hall, a
wealthy Bostonian who had backed Wyeth’s second trip. Rocky
Mountain Fur did retire from the field, but Wyeth had competi-
tion from the new Hudson’s Bay post at Fort Boise. In the winter
of 1836—37 he sold Fort Hall to Hudson’s Bay and returned to
Boston.

After the rendezvous of 1834, on July 8 and 9, there was a
curious get-together of Captain Bonneville, Nathaniel Wyeth,
and Thomas McKay at Soda Springs. McKay, who was now in
charge of the Hudson’s Bay Snake River brigade (he was a step-
son of John McLoughlin, chief factor or agent for the Hudson’s
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Bay Company in Oregon Territory from 1824 to 1845), had with
him Sir William Drummond Stuart (or Stewart) of Perthshire,
Scotland. Bonneville entertained them royally. Wyeth struck up
a friendship with McKay. Surviving correspondence suggests
that the two men determined to establish posts to support trap-
ping activities in Idaho—one in eastern Idaho (Fort Hall) and
one in the west (Fort Boise). Hudson’s Bay’s stockholders re-
jected their expansionary joint enterprise, however. Wyeth may
very well from the beginning have had in mind selling Fort Hall
to McKay’s company once it was well established. At any rate,
that was what he did.

One of Wyeth’s men was Jason Lee, a Methodist missionary
who commenced a ministry at Fort Hall and later went with
McKay, driving a herd of cattle across southern Idaho on his
way to his permanent location in the Willamette Valley in Ore-
gon. On July 27, at the request of McKay—whose crew was
camped nearby during the fort’s construction—Lee delivered a
Sunday sermon at a cottonwood grove near Fort Hall to a con-
gregation of Indians, trappers, and mountain men. The tall,
bearded missionary, dressed in his ministerial garb, gave an ex-
hortation based upon I Corinthians 10:21: “Whether therefore
ye eat or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the glory of God.”
As payment for the sermon, the first in Idaho, McKay presented
the missionary with a sack of flour.*

Wyeth’s description of the dedication ceremony for Fort Hall
on August 5, 1834, recalls the excitement he and his men felt
on the completion of the historic building:

We manufactured a magnificent flag from some un-
bleached sheeting and a little red flannel and a few blue
patches, saluted it with damaged powder and wet it in vil-
la[i]nous alcohol, and after all it makes, I do assure you, a
very respectable appearance amid the dry and desolate re-
gions of central America. Its Bastions stand a terror to the
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skulking Indian and a beacon of saf[e]ty to the fugitive
hunter. It is man[n]led by 12 men and has constantly
loade[d] in the Bastions 100 guns and rifles. These bas-
tions command both the inside and the outside of the Fort.?!

John K. Townsend, a Philadelphia naturalist and physician
who also accompanied Wyeth across the continent, described
the revelry that accompanied the christening;:

At sunrise this morning, the “star spangled banner” was
raised on the flag-staff at the fort, and a salute fired by the
men, who, according to orders, assembled around it. All in
camp were allowed the free and uncontrolled use of liquor,
and, as usual, the consequence was a scene of rioting,
noise, and fighting, during the whole day; some became so
drunk that their senses fled them entirely, and they were
therefore harmless; but by far the greater number were just
sufficiently under the influence of the vile trash, to render
them in their conduct disgusting and tiger-like. We had
“gouging,” biting, fisticuffing, and “stamping” in the most
“scientific” perfection; some even fired guns and pistols at
each other, but these weapons were mostly harmless in the
unsteady hands which employed them. Such scenes I hope
never to witness again; they are absolutely sickening, and
cause us to look upon our species with abhorrence and
loathing.??

Although Wyeth was disappointed in the failure of the fort to
survive as a supply center for mountaineers and Indians who
wished to trade, it became the focus for other activity. The very
year of Wyeth’s departure, in August 1836, Henry Harmon
Spalding and Marcus Whitman were traveling westward with
their wives to work with the Nez Perce and Cayuse Indians in
north Idaho and eastern Oregon. They stopped at the fort, thus
initiating a new role for both Fort Hall and Fort Boise as stations
for emigrants on the Oregon Trail. Placed in the charge of
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Francis Ermatinger—a Hudson’s Bay friend of Wyeth—in
1838, the two forts continued to operate until 1855—56.

Meanwhile, Thomas McKay left his returning company at
Glenn’s Ferry and went to the Boise region to spend the winter.
Two earlier posts on the Boise River had failed, in 1814 and
1819, but McKay confidently built Fort Boise as a means of es-
tablishing a supply center close to his Snake River operations.
McKay could stock his post with corn, pork, and flour from his
Willamette Valley farm, and of course he was backed by the re-
sources of his giant Hudson’s Bay Company. His post proved its
worth financially as well as practically, and his occupation of
the area brought other developments. He planted a vegetable
garden at the fort and had onions, peas, and corn on hand when
the missionary party of Spalding and Whitman visited in August
1836.%

Mountain men continued to trade with Fort Hall—men like
Jim Bridger, Osborne Russell, and Andrew Drips. But with the
start of the Oregon Trail as the standard route for overlanders
bound for the Northwest, the day of the mountain man began to
fade. A rendezvous supplied by Andrew Drips on the Green
River in 1840 was the last of the sixteen great Rocky Mountain
fairs. When Robert Newell, William Craig, and Joe Meek drove
a wagon from Fort Hall to Fort Boise, over the Blue Mountains,
and then on to the lower Columbia in the fall of 1840, they dem-
onstrated once and for all that the Oregon Trail was a practical
wagon route. In the next few years hundreds of wagons followed.
At the same time, the fur trade in Idaho had essentially reached
its end. Beaver hats represented the past; instead, men began to
wear silk hats. Most of Hudson’s Bay’s competition dropped out,
and missionaries and passing overlanders, not fur trappers,
dominated the history of Idaho from 1840 to 1860.

Considering the impressive exploratory and exploitative
achievements of the Hudson’s Bay and North West companies,
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we are left with a large question: Why did the British lose the
Columbia and all its empire south of the 49th parallel? The ef-
forts of American missionaries, settlers, and statesmen are obvi-
ous explanations. But William Goetzmann suggests something
more. Able men like Thompson, McDonald, Mackenzie, Ross,
Ogden, and Work were marvelous explorers and frontiersmen—
they deserve respect and gratitude. But they viewed themselves
as employees of a gigantic self-governing monopoly that was a
product of mercantile England. The Hudson’s Bay Company
was a commercial enterprise—its goal was the maximization of
profit. Only secondarily was it interested in settlement and
broad economic development. The British brigade leader was
not searching for wagon routes, places for permanent settle-
ment, opportunities for agricultural production or mineral or for-
est exploration. He was looking for beaver, something that
would enhance dividends; when the beaver became scarce, the
attraction of the Northwest diminished.

In the spring of 1829, the British governor in North America,
George Simpson, questioned Jedediah Smith about the possibil-
ity of American migration to the Northwest for reasons of agri-
culture. Smith replied that he had discovered difficulties likely
to deter Americans: the impassable sandy desert and the rugged
mountains. The Englishman accepted this appraisal. But in an
1830 letter to John H. Eaton, American Secretary of War, Smith
and his two partners, David E. Jackson and William L. Sub-
lette, stated that it was possible for wagons and herds of cattle to
go by way of South Pass and on to the Columbia over what was to
become the Oregon Trail. They further described the Oregon
country (that is, the Willamette Valley) as a fertile farming land.
Clearly, they now envisioned the possibility of settlement, of
frontier agriculture, mining, and lumbering—the development
of a commonwealth, and not just the making of a profit for a
great business enterprise.*
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CHAPTER FIVE: SOURCES

Most histories of the American West have sections dealing with the
early explorations and fur trade. The following were especially help-
ful: Ray Allen Billington, The Far Western Frontier, 1830—1860
(New York: Harper & Bros., 1956), 41—68; Dan Elbert Clark, The
West in American History (New York: Thomas Y. Crowell Co., 1937),
422—-41; William H. Goetzmann, Exploration and Empire: The Ex-
plorer and the Scientist in the Winning of the American West (New
York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1966), 105—-80; Hafen and Rister, Western
America, 209-27; John A. Hawgood, America’s Western Frontiers:
The Exploration and Settlement of the Trans-Mississippi West (New
York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1967), 93—128; and Robert V. Hine, The
American West: An Interpretive History (Boston: Little, Brown & Co.,
1973), 44—58. Particularly helpful have been the articles in Lamar,
ed., Reader’s Encyclopedia of the American West, most of which were
written by Gordon B. Dodds.

Histories of the Northwest that include extensive sections on fur
traders and explorers are: Fuller, History of the Pacific Northwest,
57—123; Johansen and Gates, Empire of the Columbia, 63—149;
Schwantes, The Pacific Northwest, 47—66; Oscar O. Winther, The
Great Northwest: A History, 2d ed. (New York: Alfred A. Knopf,
1955), 33—106; and Oscar O. Winther, The Old Oregon Country: A
History of Frontier Trade, Transportation, and Travel (Lincoln:
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CHAPTER SIX

The Missionaries

DAHO’S Indians were fascinated with the “powers” of their

white visitors. They had long since accommodated to the

horse. But they had no way of explaining the knives, guns,
steel traps, beautiful blankets, and glass mirrors that Lewis and
Clark, David Thompson, and other sojourners showed them.
Whites scribbled on little pieces of paper and seemed to place
great store in them. Did these things have something to do with
the Book that the whites read and so respected? Did the whites
get the power to make these things from the world of spirits?
How did they acquire that power? How could Indians get pos-
session of this power? The mighty white God must give the
whites powers that were worth acquiring.

The North West Company and later the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany had sent several Christian Iroquois, a few of whom had
learned to read and write, from the St. Lawrence region into the
Columbia and Snake River basins. The Iroquois hunters intro-
duced parts of the Christian religion to the Kutenai, Pend
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d’Oreille, Coeur d’Alene, Shoshoni, Bannock, and Paiute.
Some of the beliefs and practices—for instance, belief in spir-
its, a future life, and prayers—were not entirely new to the Indi-
ans. One could still be an Indian and accept these “new” teach-
ings. But Indians wanted the “big medicine” of the whites and
wanted instruction on how to acquire it.

When George Simpson, head of British interests in Canada,
went to the Columbia Basin in 1825, Idaho “chiefs” asked him
for teachers. Pleased, Simpson drew up plans for a mission
school at Spokane. He took two Spokane Indian boys with him
to be educated in the company’s school at Red River Settle-
ment, the colony the Scottish Earl of Selkirk had established in
the valley of the Red River at modern Winnipeg, Manitoba. One
of the boys died, but the other, Spokane Garry, returned to his
band about 1830. Having learned to read and write, he built a
schoolhouse, conducted classes in reading, writing, and reli-
gion, and taught farming methods to raise potatoes for food.

The Nez Perce did not wish to be outdone by the Spokanes.
How could they get someone to teach them to read, write, and to
grow crops? Ever since the visit of Lewis and Clark they had
been friendly with Americans and they wanted American—not
British—teachers. After their old friend William Clark was as-
signed as head of U.S. Indian affairs for western Indians, the
Nez Perce decided at a conclave in Kamiah in 1831 to send
three men to visit with Clark, who was based in St. Louis; a
fourth, wanting to see the country, later joined them. The men
took the traditional Lolo Trail, and one old man soon turned
back. Chief Black Eagle, who led the mission, and the two oth-
ers went by the Flatheads near Great Falls. Wanting teachers
themselves, the Flathead sent three men and a youth with the
Nez Perce group.

The party rode down to the Missouri River and boarded an
American Fur Company boat loaded with furs. The hot weather
and bad drinking water made some sick, and two Flathead and
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one Nez Perce turned back at Council Bluffs. Black Eagle and
one of the Flatheads died of fever (smallpox?) at St. Louis, but
the two young Nez Perce who were left, No Horns on His Head
and Rabbit Skin Leggins, remained the winter in St. Louis
where they visited with Clark. They returned to Fort Union the
next spring, but No Horns on his Head later died of fever. Rab-
bit Skin Leggins reached a Nez Perce group in the buffalo coun-
try, only to be killed that fall in a fight with the Blackfeet.

Obviously, the Nez Perce were facing difficulty conveying
their initial request for instruction to St. Louis authorities. Their
petition for teachers was somehow interpreted as meaning that
the tribe wanted to become Christians. William Walker, an
Ohio Wyandot chief, son of a white father and part-Indian
mother, happened to be visiting William Clark in St. Louis in
1831 at the same time as the Nez Perce. Impressed by their
seeking knowledge of the religion and “power” of the white
man, he wrote a letter about his experience to a friend in New
York, who published it in the Methodist New York Christian Ad-
vocate and Journal.

The story created a sensation among New England church
members. A mission board selected Jason Lee and his nephew
Daniel Lee to go to the Nez Perce in 1834. The Lees, staunch
Methodists, went west with Nathaniel Wyeth’s second expedi-
tion, and at Fort Hall the elder Lee, as mentioned earlier, con-
ducted the first church service in Idaho. After he learned of the
instability in the region because of the annual Nez Perce defen-
sive battles against the Blackfeet, Jason Lee decided to go on to
the Willamette Valley where there were other white men. He
became the leader of the first American settlement in the Ore-
gon Country.

In 1835 two Presbyterians were sent west to establish mis-
sions: Samuel Parker and Marcus Whitman. They accompanied
the American Fur Company caravan, and at the 1835 rendez-
vous they talked with Snake, Nez Perce, and Flathead and
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obtained an impression of the tasks that lay ahead. Parker,
leader of the two, sent Whitman back to New England for addi-
tional funding, while Parker planned to locate sites for mis-
sions. The two promised to meet at the 1836 rendezvous. Parker
located the sites but did not remain in the Far West. Instead, he
ventured on to the Sandwich Islands (Hawaii) and then returned
to New York.

Whitman, who was thirty-three in 1835, had received a de-
gree from the medical college at Fairfield, New York, served for
four years as a doctor in Canada, and then set up practice in
New York. An elder in the Presbyterian church, he knew he
would never be assigned as a missionary unless he married; so
after his return from his journey with Parker he married Nar-
cissa Prentiss, who also wished to be a missionary and also
needed to be married before she could serve in the mission
field. The two left for Oregon in February 1836, accompanied
by Henry Harmon Spalding, his wife Eliza, and William H.
Gray, all under the sponsorship of the American Board of Com-
missioners for Foreign Missions. Narcissa Whitman and Eliza
Spalding were the first white women to cross the Rocky Moun-
tains.

When the Whitmans and Spaldings arrived at the 1836 ren-
dezvous, they were met by a large party of Nez Perce. Eliza
Spalding described that meeting in her diary:

July 4, 1836: Crossed a ridge of land today called the
Divide, which separates the waters which flow into the At-
lantic from those which flow into the Pacific, and camped
for the night on the headwaters of the Colorado. The brave
Nez Perces, who have been awaiting our arrival at the ren-
dezvous for several days, on hearing we were near, came
out to meet us, and have camped near us tonight. They ap-
pear to be gratified to see us actually on the way to their
country. Mr. Spalding, Dr. Whitman, and Mr. Gray are to
have a talk with the chiefs tonight.
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July 6: We arrived at the rendezvous this evening. Were
met by a large party of Nez Perces, men, women, and chil-
dren. The women were not satisfied short of saluting Mrs.
Whitman and myself with a kiss. All appeared happy to
see us. If permitted to reach their country and locate
among them, may our labors be blessed to their temporal
and spiritual good.

July 18: We have commenced our journey for Fort Walla
Walla in company with Mr. McLeoud. The Nez Perces
seem sadly disappointed because we do not accompany
them.'

In spite of advice that they were dangerous, Whitman estab-
lished his mission among the Cayuse Indians, twenty-five miles
up the Walla Walla from the Hudson’s Bay Company’s Fort Nez
Perce (Old Fort Walla Walla). The mission at Waiilatpu had
plenty of good farmland, water for irrigation, and Indians to
help. The Waiilatpu mission ultimately became an important
way station for Oregon-bound pioneers.

The Spaldings were assigned to settle among the Nez Perce in
Idaho. Henry Spalding, who was thirty-three in 1836, was born
out of wedlock in Wheeler, New York, to an uncaring mother
and foster father, and was rejected by his sweetheart, Narcissa
Prentiss, who later married Marcus Whitman. He studied to be
a missionary to the Indians and his wife, Eliza Hart, helped him
finance his schooling by taking in boarders. They initially set
out for the Osage tribes in Oklahoma but were intercepted by
Whitman and persuaded to go to Oregon. Eliza was adept at lan-
guages and could talk with the Nez Perce by the time they estab-
lished their mission. She could spin, weave, sew, and prepare a
meal quickly and was a good housekeeper.

For two years the Spaldings established their mission for the
Nez Perce on the site of present-day Lapwai (the Valley of But-
terflies) on Lapwai Creek about two miles above its mouth and
perhaps a dozen miles up the Clearwater from present Lewiston.
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In 1838 they moved to the bank of the Clearwater River at the
mouth of Lapwai Creek. This location is now part of a national
historic park. While Spalding worked to build a cabin, Eliza
soon gave birth to a daughter, also named Eliza, the first white
child born in Idaho. In addition to family duties Mrs. Spalding
taught large classes of eager Nez Perce students of all sizes and
ages. Having mastered some of their language on the way to
Lapwai, she was able to keep the students busy by writing in-
structions in her own hand. Hundreds of Nez Perce soon learned
to read in their own tongue. In 1839 a Protestant mission in Ha-
waii sent the Spaldings a small printing press so the lesson
sheets could be printed. Several books were printed in Shahap-
tin, the Nez Perce language, and a small eight-page children’s
book in the language was the first printing in the Northwest.
Other publications included a songbook and parts of the New
Testament. These early imprints appeared at a time when fewer
than fifty white people resided in all of Idaho.

While Eliza was conducting her school, Henry, wanting to in-
duce the Indians to settle down and live like white people, was
teaching the Nez Perce men to farm. He and tribe members
planted vegetable gardens, fruit trees, potatoes, corn, and
wheat. A water-powered gristmill ground the grain into flour, a
sawmill was started to furnish lumber for new buildings, a
blacksmith shop helped them make tools. Dr. John McLough-
lin, chief factor at Fort Vancouver, assisted in obtaining this
equipment, as well as some cattle, pigs, sheep, and chickens.
By 1838 their “model farm” was producing 800 bushels of pota-
toes. In March 1839 Spalding wrote the secretary of the Ameri-
can Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions:

We are turning our hoes into horses which are to be sent
into the lower Columbia and exchanged for iron which will
be made into hoes again for the same purpose and in this
way we hope to supply the nation in a few years with the
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means of cultivating their lands. The desire for hoes is far
beyond my expectation. I looked for a strong desire to cul-
tivate this spring, but I did not dream of the present enthu-
siasm. We gave four hoes for a horse, but our stock was
gone in two days, and now they would gladly give a horse
for a hoe, a horse with us is about $6.00. Yesterday a gun
was brought for a hoe....Today we have bought...
enough old axes and enough [old iron] to make fifty hoes.?

That fall Spalding recorded, “The Lord has blessed us
with. . . about 2,000 bushels of potatoes, corn, wheat, peas &c
plenty.”™

The summer of 1839 was very dry, and in order to provide
water, Spalding dug a ditch and watered the plants in his
garden—the first time irrigation was practiced in the region.

Charles Wilkes, who led an exploring expedition to the
Northwest by sea, reported after visiting Lapwai that Spalding
had “succeeded admirably” in inducing the Indians to give up
their roving mode of life and settle down to cultivate the soil.* In
1843 Spalding reported that 140 natives had cultivated from
one-fourth to four or five acres each and that the Lapwai farmers
had thirty-two head of cattle, ten sheep, and forty hogs. Spal-
ding asked for ten or twelve plows to be sent each year.®

Not all went easily for the missionaries. Spalding was inflexi-
bly opposed to liquor, gambling, and polygamy; boldly, some-
times tactlessly, he denounced sin, reproved many, and in some
instances resorted to the whip. He was denounced by some, rid-
iculed by others. Eliza Spalding, however, was gentle, patient,
and cheerful, and the Indians treated her almost reverently.
The Spaldings had three children besides Eliza, all of whom
watched the mission lands at Lapwai progress successively as
part of Oregon Territory, Washington Territory, and then ldaho
Territory. All but one of the children lived to see Idaho become
the forty-third state in the nation.®

Despite Spalding’s positive reports, it is clear that as the
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years wore on the Nez Perce lost much of their enthusiasm for
the schools, their teachers, and the farm. The missionaries had
not brought them the expected Big Medicine. There had been no
miraculous appearances of guns, food, and other supplies. If
they would do His will, they were promised, God would look af-
ter them. But their new God had not delivered as the missionar-
ies, in flowery language, had implied He would.

The missionaries, too, were discouraged. Asa B. Smith, who
had been sent to join the Spaldings in 1838, had tried and failed
to establish a mission at Kamiah, sixty miles southeast of Lap-
wai. He took the liberty of writing adverse reports about Spal-
ding, an unquestionably hard worker but with limitations and
weaknesses. Smith did not hesitate to criticize Spalding, even in
front of the Indians. The Indians became half-hearted in keep-
ing up the work they had begun.

The missionaries had additional problems. Some of the
mountain men, after the last rendezvous in 1839, chose to settle
down with the Nez Perce. They included William Craig, friend
of Joe Meek, Jim Bridger, and Kit Carson, who went to Lapwai
in 1840, located a farm, and married the daughter of Chief
James of Lapwai. Craig expected the Spaldings to pay rent on
their mission lands and wanted the Christianized Indians to go
back to their villages instead of living at Lapwai.

There was also trouble with the mission board in the East,
who thought the mission should support itself by farming and
dismissed Spalding in 1840. Whitman, thinking the mission
board did not understand the situation, went east in 1842 to get
Spalding reappointed and to boost support for both missions.
The board relented, and Whitman returned in 1843 with the
first large immigration train headed for the Oregon Country.

But Whitman was also in trouble. The Cayuse Indians attrib-
uted many deaths to white men’s diseases—diseases such as
measles and scarlet fever that had reached them because of Dr.
Whitman’s willingness to help sick travelers. Although the
Cayuse disliked travelers who crossed their lands, they were
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willing to trade fresh horses to those whose teams were tired and
worn out. So many Cayuse horses reached Oregon settlements
this way that the term “Cayuse horse,” or simply “cayuse,” be-
came a common term for western range horses.’

Dr. Whitman treated both Indians and whites for illness.
Usually the whites recovered, but the Indians often died. As we
now know, the Indians did not have the resistance that white
people had built up over thousands of years. Seeing so many of
their band die, the Cayuse came to believe that Dr. Whitman’s
cures were witchcraft or even that he was administering poison
disguised as medicine. Following the severe winter of 1846—
47, when many deaths further weakened the Indians, some of
the Cayuse killed Marcus and Narcissa Whitman and twelve of
the men working at the mission. Several men escaped death,
and fifty-three women and children taken prisoner were later
rescued by the Hudson’s Bay manager at Fort Walla Walla. Set-
tlers in the Willamette Valley raised a volunteer force and tor-
mented the Cayuse until six of them surrendered voluntarily to
save the rest of their people from further attacks. The six were
taken to Oregon City and hanged after a hasty trial.®

After the Whitman massacre, the Spaldings abandoned the
Lapwai Mission. Guarded by friendly Nez Perce, they moved to
the Willamette Valley, where they engaged in farming. At the
time of abandonment the Lapwai mission had forty-four acres
under cultivation and 164 horses, cattle, and hogs.® For a while
Henry was commissioner of schools and Indian agent in Oregon.
Eliza Spalding died in 1851.

In 1863 Spalding returned to Lapwai as a teacher. He was
forced out by a change of administration in 1867, but in 1871,
in accordance with President Ulysses Grant’s “peace policy,”
Spalding resumed his missionary work in Lapwai with a re-
appointment by the American Board of Commissioners for For-
eign Missions. He remained until his death in 1874, when he
was seventy-one, and was buried near his wife at Lapwai. Evi-
dence indicates that Spalding had greater success among the
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Nez Perces in the early 1870s than in the 1836—47 period.

Spalding’s efforts at Lapwai were not in vain. One of his early
converts was Tuekakas, who came from the Wallowa River area
of Oregon. Spalding baptized him and gave him the Christian
name of Joseph; he was one of the two deacons in the Lapwai
church. He became known as Old Joseph. In 1840 Old Joseph’s
wife bore a son, also known as Joseph, who became the Chief
Joseph who will be described in Chapter Thirteen—one of
Idaho’s best-known leaders.

Visitors to Lapwai in subsequent years found the Nez Perce
continuing to farm. In 1861, when Captain E. D. Pierce led a
party of prospectors onto the Nez Perce Reservation, created in
1855, they became aware of the beef, horses, corn, potatoes,
and onions the Nez Perce had to sell. Dr. G. A. Noble reported
to the Oregon City Argus in 1861: “These Indians have some
fine crops here, well-fenced and apparently well-cultivated. I
had not seen chicken or egg since June last, but here we saw
both chickens and eggs. Chickens three dollars apiece, and
eggs four dollars a dozen.™°

Eliza Spalding Warren, Idaho’s first white child, in her
Memoirs of the West, recalls this picture of the Spalding Mis-

sion:

The Indians were settled in homes; their crops of grain
were 20,000 to 30,000 bushels a year; the cows brought by
the missionaries had multiplied into numerous herds; the
sheep given by the Sandwich Islanders had grown into
flocks. In the school which Mrs. Spalding taught there had
been 500 pupils. A church of a hundred members had
been gathered. The language had been reduced to writing.
A patriarchal government had been established. They had
adopted a code of laws. The Sabbath was observed."

What Plymouth Rock was to New England, the Spalding Mis-
sion was to Idaho.
By 1895 the Nez Perce population was recorded at 2,000 and
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was described as having 8,000 acres under cultivation and
10,000 acres fenced. About 350 families were engaged in tilling
the soil, and their livestock included 15,000 horses and 7,500
cattle. D. E. Livingston-Little concluded, “Unlike the Indian
tribes in other parts of the United States, those of North Idaho
had learned how to participate in the region’s economic devel-
opment.”"?

There had been other missionary efforts. Catholic missionar-
ies in Fort Vancouver and the Willamette Valley served the
French-Canadians and others in the 1830s. In 1840, Father
Pierre Jean de Smet, of Belgium, was sent by the Jesuit Order to
the Flathead country of Three Forks, Montana, to locate mission
sites. When the Flatheads heard that de Smet was coming they
sent 1,600 of their tribe to meet “the black robe” at Pierre’s
Hole. He was overwhelmed by their interest. This feeling con-
tinued as he visited a dozen or more tribes living in the valleys
and mountains of Oregon Country. He went back to St. Louis
and then to Europe for reinforcements. Returning to the North-
west in 1841, he revisited his Indian hosts and established St.
Mary’s Mission in the Bitterroot Valley near Stevensville, Mon-
tana. This was the first Catholic mission in the Pacific North-
west.

De Smet soon established three other missions, one in Idaho.
Even though he settled in St. Louis in 1846, he remained prom-
inent in Northwest Indian affairs until his death in 1873,
including serving as an arbitrator in several white-Indian dis-
putes.

In 1842 de Smet commissioned Father Nicolas Point, co-
founder of St. Mary’s Mission, to expand the work from the Flat-
heads to the Coeur d’Alenes in North Idaho by establishing the
Mission of the Sacred Heart on the north bank of the St. Joe
River about one mile from the southern end of Lake Coeur
d’Alene. Because the site was subject to spring floods and
vicious mosquitoes, the mission was moved in 1846 to a site
east of modern Coeur d’Alene on the Coeur d’Alene River.
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Father Point, who was born in France, ventured among the
Nez Perce in 1845 and remained in the Northwest until 1847.
He was a topographical artist and left more than one hundred
sketches that have formed illustrative material for Father de
Smet’s published journal.

When the Flathead mission closed in 1850, Father Antonio
Ravalli, born in Italy and skilled in medicine and architecture,
went to Sacred Heart. There he designed a larger new church
building ninety feet long, forty feet wide, and thirty feet high
with a portico supported by six massive wooden pillars. Because
the Coeur d’Alenes, who constructed the building, had no nails,
they bored holes in the beams and boards and put wooden pegs
through the holes to hold the pieces together. For the walls they
wove saplings with grass and smeared them with mud. The “Old
Mission” building was begun in 1847, finished sufficiently for
use in 1854, and finally completed in 1868. Still standing be-
tween Kellogg and Coeur d’Alene, the building is the oldest
public building in Idaho. In 1853 Governor Isaac 1. Stevens of
the newly created Washington Territory described the station
and its five hundred inhabitants as follows:

It is indeed extraordinary what the Fathers have done at
the Coeur d’Alene Mission....They have a splendid
church nearly finished by the labor of the fathers, laymen,
and Indians; a large barn, a horse-mill for flour, a small
range of buildings for the accommodation of the priests and
laymen, a store-room, a milk or dairy-room, a cook room
and good arrangements for their pigs and cattle. They are
putting up a new range of quarters and the Indians have
some twelve comfortable log cabins. . . . They have a large
cultivated field of some two hundred acres and a prairie
from two to three thousand acres. They own a hundred
pigs, eight yokes of oxen, thirty cows and a liberal propor-
tion of horses, mules and young animals. '*

In 1858 Captain John Mullan, who was building the wagon
road that bears his name, was a guest of the Old Mission and
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called it “St. Bernard in the Coeur d’Alene Mountains.” During
the winter of 1858—59 it sheltered Father de Smet.'*

When new boundaries were proposed for the Coeur d’Alene
Reservation in 1877, the Sacred Heart Mission was found to lie
outside the reservation, so in 1878 a new mission was begun in
DeSmet, in Benewah County, where it still functions. (Another
group of people wanted to use Father de Smet’s name for their
town. Since the name was already taken, they decided to use his
name spelled backward: Temsed. Someone misspelled the name
so the town is known as Tensed.)

In 1877, Father Joseph M. Cataldo was placed in charge of
the nine mission stations in the Pacific Northwest, and he
served as superior until 1893. A Sicilian by birth, Cataldo had
entered the Society of Jesus at the age of fifteen, became a priest
at twenty-five, and was assigned to the American West at his
own request. During a period of language study at Santa Clara
College in California he met Father Gregory Mengarini, who had
participated with de Smet in the founding of St. Mary’s Mission
among the Flathead. From Mengarini he learned the language
and customs of the Salish Indians.'®> He was assigned to the Pa-
cific Northwest in 1865 and took station at the Coeur d’Alene
Mission of the Sacred Heart. This frail man, called “Dried
Salmon” by the Indians, subsequently lived among several other
tribes, including the Nez Perce. Cataldo was a peacemaker in
the Nez Perce War of 1877. He was also an accomplished lin-
guist, eventually mastering ten Indian languages. He built res-
ervation boarding schools, established Gonzaga College in
1883, and increased the number of missions from nine to fif-
teen. Cataldo organized Indian-operated, self-supporting farms,
some with large herds of livestock, and opened hospitals, mis-
sion schools, and orphanages. By 1883 the number of Jesuits in
the Rocky Mountain Missions had grown to fifty-three men, of
whom twenty-seven were priests. For future personnel needs,
Cataldo established a Jesuit novitiate at the Sacred Heart Mis-
sion at DeSmet.
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One wonders about the success of the Rocky Mountain Mis-
sion founded by Father de Smet in 1841, involving as it did
such a wide difference in languages. By 1873 the Catholics had
baptized and retained as members about 107,000 Indians of dif-
ferent tribes in the Pacific Northwest, compared with 15,000
natives affiliated with Protestant churches.'®

The Roman Catholics had several advantages over their Prot-
estant counterparts. Catholic priests were unencumbered by
families or individual property and could devote themselves
completely to the natives and their problems. With Protestants,
the challenge of feeding and clothing their families and educat-
ing their children must have taken much if not most of their en-
ergies. Another reason is that most of the Catholic missionaries
were not American-born and thus were not tied to the repressive
policies of the American government and military. Nearly all of
the “Black Robes” were from Italy, France, Belgium, Holland,
and Germany and had been exposed, almost from birth, to a
multiplicity of languages. Learning languages was a necessity of
life. Moreover, nearly all of them knew French, a second lan-
guage for many Indians because of the long-term associations
with the métis whom the Hudson’s Bay Company employed."’

A still further reason for Catholic success was theological or
doctrinal. About all a potential convert had to do to be baptized
was express a belief in Jesus as the Christ. To become a Presby-
terian, however, one had to undergo far more rigorous instruc-
tion and be able to enunciate far more complex beliefs, absorb-
ing and reciting a full-fledged catechism that must have been
difficult, at best.

The very success of the Catholics was a source of Protestant
antagonism. The Catholic missionaries who came from Canada
by permission of the Hudson’s Bay Company were regarded as
British reinforcements as well as ecclesiastical competitors.
Spalding and his associates believed that the future of Oregon
country belonged to their white countrymen; they were advance



MISSIONARIES

agents of white civilization. In their view, Catholics were for-
eigners, their orders came from Rome, and the expansion of
their activities was a tragedy. Anti-Catholicism was in many
ways an assertion of American nationalism. Spalding was so up-
set with the Catholic presence that he blamed the priests for the
Whitman massacre—a charge that historians have long since
dismissed as having no foundation.

Not all early missionary activity occurred in northern Idaho.
In 1847, the same year the Whitman Massacre caused the clos-
ure of the Lapwai Mission, the Mormons entered the Great Ba-
sin. Within a few years Brigham Young, their leader, founded
several missions to convert the natives to a more sedentary life-
style. One of these was within the territory of the Shoshoni-
Bannock in central Idaho. That story, because it occurs in a dif-
ferent time period, will be told in Chapter Seven.'®

Inevitably, there was tension between white culture and In-
dian culture and between different sects of white Christians.
The most enduring achievements of both Catholic and Protes-
tant missionaries were the establishment of permanent settle-
ments, the introduction of agriculture, and the assistance ren-
dered to Indians during their painful transition from nomadic
life to the kind of culture imposed by white immigration after
1860. '

CHAPTER SIX: SOURCES
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CHAPTER SEVEN

Emigrant Trails

N 1838 the United States dispatched a worldwide naval ex-
ploring expedition from Norfolk, Virginia, under the com-
mand of Lieutenant Charles Wilkes. In three years and ten
months the expedition confirmed that Antarctica was a conti-
nent, made excellent charts of islands in the Central and South
Pacific, and in April 1841 arrived off the coast of Oregon to
strengthen American claims to the Pacific Northwest. In addi-
tion to land parties that explored Puget Sound, Grays Harbor,
the Willamette and Sacramento river valleys, and Yerba Buena
(San Francisco), a group under Lieutenant Robert E. Johnson
explored all the way up the Columbia to the mouth of the Snake
River, Spokane Falls, Coeur d’Alene Lake, Lapwai, and Fort
Walla Walla. The well-publicized expedition confirmed the im-
pressions created by fur traders, Marcus Whitman, Henry Spal-
ding, Pierre Jean de Smet, and other explorers and settlers that
the Oregon Country was ripe for agricultural settlements.
The findings of the Wilkes expedition in the Northwest were
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soon corroborated by Captain John C. Frémont, who explored
the region in 1843. A native of Georgia, educated in Charles-
ton, South Carolina, Frémont was commissioned a second lieu-
tenant in the United States Corps of Topographical Engineers in
1838 when he was twenty-five and accompanied the distin-
guished French scientist Joseph N. Nicollet on a reconnais-
sance of the upper Mississippi and Missouri rivers. In Washing-
ton, D.C., while engaged in further surveys and in completing
maps, Frémont eloped with Jessie Benton, daughter of Senator
Thomas Hart Benton of Missouri. In 1842, on an official survey,
Frémont followed a path to South Pass and the Wind River
Mountains of Wyoming. His report, written with Jessie Fré-
mont’s help, stirred the imaginations of Americans and was
enormously helpful in pointing the way west.

The 1842 expedition was followed the next year by a recon-
naissance that took Frémont to Oregon. The precise and accu-
rate description of the route to Oregon in that report, published
immediately by order of Congress, changed the entire picture of
the West: no longer an uninhabitable desert, it now appeared as
a land of opportunity that invited settlement. Frémont’s maps,
complete with mileage calculations, descriptions of the terrain,
and suggested camping places, provided a prized handbook for
thousands of overlanders. His descriptions of the valleys along
the Bear River and east of Great Salt Lake were crucial in influ-
encing the Mormons to settle in the Great Salt Lake Valley. Ida-
hoans have remembered him with the naming of Frémont
County.

As he crossed South Pass in August 1843, Frémont had first-
class equipment and thirty-nine men, including Thomas “Bro-
ken Hand” Fitzpatrick and Kit Carson, two of the best scouts
and mountain men in Idaho’s history. Frémont and his party fol-
lowed the Bear River into Bear Lake Valley, then up to Soda
Springs, which he called Beer Springs. He tested the gurgling
carbonated water in the spring; it was eighty degrees Fahren-
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heit. His party crossed the divide into the Portneuf Valley and
proceeded to Fort Hall. They then followed the Bear River, in-
vestigated the Great Salt Lake, and returned to Idaho down the
valley of “Pannack,” now known as Bannock Creek, just west of
Pocatello. Coming to the Snake River Plain, Frémont observed
to the north the famous Three Buttes. Before him stretched a
sagebrush desert.

Upon reaching the Portneuf Frémont described a green val-
ley with scattered timber and the white walls of Fort Hall in the
distance.

Except that there is a greater quantity of wood used in its
construction, Fort Hall very much resembles the other
trading posts. It is in the low, rich bottom of a valley appar-
ently twenty miles long formed by the confluence of Port-
neuf River with Lewis Fork of the Columbia [Snake River]
which it enters about nine miles below the fort and narrow-
ing gradually to the mouth of Pannack Creek where it has a
breadth of only two or three miles.'

The Snake River Plain to the west of Fort Hall seemed to him
notably barren and hopelessly unproductive:

There does not occur, for a distance of nearly three hun-
dred miles to the westward, a fertile spot of ground suffi-
ciently large to produce the necessary quantity of grain, or
pasturage enough to allow even a temporary repose to the
emigrants. On their recent passage, they have been able to
obtain, at very high prices and in insufficient quantity only
such assistance as could be afforded by a small and remote
trading post [Fort Boise]—and that a foreign [British] one.
... An American military post sufficiently strong to give
their road a perfect security against the Indian tribes, who
are unsettled in locality and very uncertain in their disposi-
tion, and which, with the necessary facilities for the repair
of their equipage, would be able to afford them relief in
stock and grain from the produce of the post would be of
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extraordinary value to the emigration. Such a post (and all
others which may be established on the line to Oregon)
would naturally form the nucleus of a settlement, at which
supplies and repose would be obtained by the emigrant, or
trading caravans, which may hereafter traverse these ele-
vated, and, in many places, desolate and inhospitable re-
gions.?

On September 25 Frémont and party passed through Massa-
cre Rocks and camped on the Riviére aux Cajeaux (Raft River).
On the twenty-eighth they crossed Goose Creek and spent the
night at Rock Creek a few miles south of the present site of Twin
Falls. (They apparently did not see Shoshone Falls.) The next
morning they found Thousand Springs. Resuming their journey,
on October 1, they camped on the south bank of the Snake at
Kanaka Rapids, which Frémont called Fishing Falls. They
found several lodges of Indians, unusually jolly and laughing
loudly, presumably from the good salmon catch. The next day
they were at Upper Salmon Falls, and on October 3 reached
Three Island Crossing (downstream from present Glenns Ferry)
and crossed to the north side (no ferry there yet) with some diffi-
culty. On October 7, in sight of the Boise—“Wooded”—River,
they were delighted to camp under fine old trees. The next two
days they traveled fifty miles, camped at the mouth of the Boise,
and the next morning arrived at Fort Boise, a simple house on
the right bank of the Snake about a mile below the mouth of the
river. Here they were hospitably received and fed by Frangois
Payette. On the morning of October 11, 1843, they crossed the
Snake into Oregon and camped on the “unlucky” river, the Mal-
heur.

Frémont continued on to the Columbia and Fort Vancouver,
then down through Oregon to Nevada. Heading west, he made a
rash midwinter crossing of the Sierra that is still viewed with
wonder. His scattered force regrouped at Sutter’s Fort, went to
the Sacramento River and Yerba Buena, then moved on to Los



EMIGRANT TRAILS

Angeles. Finally, he headed for the Midwest on the Old Spanish
Trail. In fourteen months Frémont had completed a virtual cir-
cuit of the entire West.

In 1841, two years before Frémont’s passage, the first over-
land migration of pioneers intending to settle permanently in
Oregon took place. This company of seventy persons, including
Father Pierre de Smet, had Thomas Fitzpatrick and Joseph
Meek as guides and John Bidwell and John Bartleson as cap-
tains. Fitzpatrick, who as noted above was a guide for the Fré-
mont expedition of 1843—44, was born in Ireland, came to
America as a young man, joined Ashley’s expedition of 1823,
attended the first fur-trading rendezvous of 1825, and was a
founder of the Rocky Mountain Fur Company in 1830. He trav-
eled west with Whitman in 1836. Joseph Meek was born in Vir-
ginia, fled to Missouri to escape his stepmother, then trapped in
the Snake River and Utah regions for many years. As the fur
trade declined, he operated out of Fort Hall as a guide.

John Bidwell, a western New Yorker who was educated in
Pennsylvania and Ohio, moved to Missouri in 1839, then de-
cided to go on to California in 1840. He formed the Western
Emigration Society and by 1841 had promises from five hundred
persons to journey from the Missouri River to the West. But
Missouri merchants, not anxious to lose customers, furnished
sufficient discouragement that Bidwell’s party was reduced to
sixty-nine. Organizing for the journey, they chose John Bart-
leson of Jackson County, Missouri, as commander of the com-
pany, which included a number of women and children. Fitz-
patrick and de Smet guided them to the Platte, Fort Laramie,
Independence Rock, and the Sweetwater, to South Pass and
Green River Valley, to Soda Springs. At that point the party di-
vided. Thirty-two of the emigrants went to Oregon with Fitz-
patrick and de Smet; the remainder, including one woman and
her young daughter, joined Bidwell for the trip to California.
The Oregon-bound party abandoned their wagons at Fort Hall
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and continued their journey by pack train. Every experienced
person seemed to agree that one could not drive a wagon to Ore-
gon.

In 1842 a larger group of approximately 112 persons and
thirty wagons followed the trail under the leadership of Dr.
Elijah White, a former missionary heading to his new post as In-
dian agent for Oregon. Once more, at Fort Laramie, Thomas
Fitzpatrick was employed as the guide, and Lansford Hastings
was the captain. Born in Ohio, Hastings, who was taking his
first trip west with the company in 1842, later wrote one of the
early overland guidebooks, The Emigrants’ Guide to Oregon and
California—the guidebook used by the ill-fated Donner Party of
1846. Dr. White’s party took with them to Oregon the news that
the Presbyterian missions in Idaho and Oregon were to be dis-
continued, prompting Marcus Whitman to journey east to obtain
a reversal.

Dr. Whitman’s return to Oregon in 1843 was marked by what
is referred to as the Great Migration. Spurred on by favorable
publicity about Oregon, by outbreaks of malaria in the Missouri
and Mississippi river valleys, by the prospect of an abundance
of free land, and no doubt by the patriotic desire to bolster
American claims to a rich and resourceful region, about 1,000
men, women, and children gathered at Independence, Mis-
sourl, in the early spring of 1843 for the journey. Peter H. Bur-
nett, a Missouri lawyer, was elected captain of the train com-
prised of about 200 wagons and approximately 5,000 head of
cattle.

Since they would not be under United States law for the six
months or more on the trail, the large company adopted rules
and regulations that would govern them on the journey. The
“wake up” bell would be rung at 4 A.M., when they would round
up, feed, and water the stock, eat breakfast, “hitch up,” and be
ready to depart at 7 A.M. There was an hour’s stop at noon, and
they halted at 6 P.M. There were specified punishments for fail-
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ure to carry out assigned tasks, sleeping on guard duty, and
other derelictions. One group required every couple to carry
their Bible; most refused to travel on Sunday. Men (or boys)
usually drove the team, although when cholera or other disease
or accident took the men, the women did the driving. They aver-
aged from twelve to fifteen miles a day.

Later trains, as protection against possible Indian raids on
livestock, drew their wagons into a circle each evening, the
tongue of one placed under the body of the next to make a cor-
ral. These early emigrants did not have that concern, although
in case of a storm or suspected thievery, the stock were gathered
inside an enclosure and guards posted to watch the cattle and
horses. When the group camped in the evening and circled their
wagons, fire was kindled and supper prepared. Jesse Apple-
gate, who was driving a large herd of cattle, describes a typical
evening:

It is not yet 8 o’clock when the first watch is to be set;
the evening meal is just over, and the corral [to keep cows
out] now free from the intrusion of cattle or horses, groups
of children are scattered over it. . . . Before a tent near the
river a violin makes lively music, and some youths and
maidens have improvised a dance upon the green; in an-
other quarter a flute gives its mellow and melancholy notes
to the still night air, which, as they float away over the
quiet river, seem a lament for the past rather than a hope
for the future. . . . But time passes; the watch is set for the
night; the council of old men has been broken up, and each
has returned to his own quarter; the flute has whispered its
last lament to the deepening night; the violin is silent, and
the dancers have dispersed. . . . All is hushed and repose
from the fatigues of the day, save the vigilant guard, and
the wakeful leader, who still has cares upon his mind that
forbid sleep, [until] the last care of the day being removed
and the last duty performed, he too seeks the rest that will
enable him to go through the same routine tomorrow.*
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In this and succeeding companies most of the men, the young
people, and the women who were not pregnant walked across
the plains. Their wagons were loaded with supplies and furnish-
ings, and often a woman had a baby and a small child or two.
Most wagons were pulled by oxen, not horses, because oxen had
greater endurance and were not as tempting to Indians. Many
also took mules—as pack animals and to pull wagons—because
they were more sure-footed than horses and had greater stam-
ina.

Although western movies usually feature an Indian attack,
John Unruh calculated that during the period 1840 to 1860 a
total of 362 overland emigrants were killed by Indians and 426
Indians were killed by emigrants. The fewer than 400 emigrants
killed by Indians (a substantial number in Idaho) were less than
4 percent of the estimated 10,000 or more who died on the trail
and a miniscule fraction of the 53,062 whites emigrating over-
land to Oregon and 200,335 traveling overland to California.*
The overwhelming majority of those who died were victims of
accidents or disease. There were drownings, accidental dis-
charges of firearms, and kicks by horses and mules. Children
sometimes fell off their perch and were run over by wagons.
There were outbreaks of cholera, smallpox, measles, tick fever,
and sickness from drinking impure water. There were births of
“covered wagon babies” along the way and weddings of couples
who had become acquainted on the trail.

The companies followed similar paths but meandered some-
what according to weather conditions and other factors. The Or-
egon Trail (referred to by Indians as “The Great Medicine Road
of the Whites”) was a broad avenue of paths, not necessarily one
road except in narrow passes. In some places there were many
parallel routes miles from each other. Emigrants hated to travel
alone and in nearly every case chose to join a group.

Another reason for the bunching of wagons was that they
could not leave the Missouri River Valley until the grasses were
out to provide feed for their livestock, and they had to be over
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the Blue and Cascade mountains in Oregon before the snows.
Thus the companies left in late April and May and were over the
mountains by the end of September.

An emigrant train as large as that of 1843 was bound to have
conflicts, particularly between those who traveled without cattle
and those who drove herds. At the crossing of the Big Blue
River in Kansas a “Light Column” of sixty wagons split off un-
der the leadership of their own captain, William Martin. The
wagons in the “Cow Column,” led by Jesse Applegate, followed
behind. For ninety-eight days the two bands of white-topped
wagons rolled westward. At Fort Hall, 1,288 miles from Inde-
pendence and 786 miles from Fort Vancouver, the two columns
were temporarily united. They received the usual advice from
the Hudson’s Bay people that they should leave their wagons at
Fort Hall and go on by pack train. But Whitman had been over
the trail four times and counseled them to continue their trek by
wagon. There were enough men and boys, he thought, to make a
satisfactory road as they went, to remove rocks, fill in holes and
depressions, clear away trees, and locate suitable approaches to
stream crossings.

The emigrants crossed southern Idaho in August when it was
hot, dry, and dusty. The grass was brown, and the animals were
tired and thirsty. It was frustrating that the cool waters of the
Snake River were at the bottom of impenetrable canyons. The
ever-present lava rock of the plains cut into the hooves of the
oxen; some were so injured that they had to be left behind.
When they reached Three Island Crossing, many found the
crossing too deep and were forced to continue on the south side
of the Snake to Boise. It was a rugged, dreary desert country.
One described it as a “wild, rocky, barren wilderness, of
wrecked and ruined nature, a vast field of volcanic desolation.”
A later emigrant left this description of the country:

The country all the way down the Snake River is one of
the most desolate and dreary wastes in the world. Light,
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soft ground with no soil on top, looking like an ash heap,
dust six inches deep and as light as flour. When a man
travels all day in it he looks like a miller. You can see
nothing but his eyes and they look red. . .the ground is
covered with two of the most detestable shrubs that grow,
grease wood and artemesia or wild sage.®

No pioneer seems to have given serious consideration to settling
down anywhere along the trail in Idaho.

By the time the emigrants reached the Snake River country
they had exhausted most of their provisions, the buffalo were
behind them, and the wild game had migrated to the cool moun-
tains. There was considerable privation. Moreover, their horses
and oxen were worn out, injured, or stolen. When they encoun-
tered natives they were eager to do a little trading, and the
poorly clothed, destitute Shoshoni, Bannock, and Northern
Paiute also were zealous to obtain whatever the whites had to
offer. The emigrants bought or traded for horses, fresh and
smoked salmon, camas roots, Indian corn, potatoes, tobacco,
knives, and herbs. In exchange they offered money, clothing,
blankets, needles, thread, mirrors, guns, and ammunition. The
diaries, letters, and reminiscences of overlanders are filled with
references to swarms of Indians coming to trade and pilfer. One

emigrant wrote:

Whenever we camp near any Indian village we are no
sooner stopped than a whole crowd may be seen galloping
into our camp, male and female. Some come to swap and
others are idle spectators. The squaws do all the swapping
except in the pony line. When we will not trade with them
they leave with exclamations as no good, NO GOOD.”

Although sources suggest that Indians were little or no threat for
most of the emigrants, more than one recorded in a diary that
the principal problem in Idaho, besides the lack of available
water and the dust, was the delight of local Indian bands in
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stealing horses and oxen and then holding them for ransoms of
clothing and blankets. The emigrants were fortunate to find
lodges of contented Indians fishing for salmon at Salmon Falls
and Thousand Springs, even in off-season.

The appearance of the large 1843 company in Vancouver and
the Willamette Valley that fall did not exactly delight Dr. John
McLoughlin, chief factor of Hudson’s Bay. Although he was po-
lite and helpful, he could see that the Oregon Country was turn-
ing into an American, rather than a British, commonwealth.
Moreover, passage from the states by wagon was now firmly es-
tablished, and the way was open for some new bypasses and cut-
offs that would shorten the distance and lighten the burden. Fer-
ries were built at river crossings, mills established to provide
flour and other “stores,” and way-stations constructed. The av-
erage number of days required to make the journey decreased
from 169 between 1841 and 1848 to 128 during the 1850s.®

The annual migration of 1844 was not much larger than that
of the previous year because an unusually wet spring forced a
late start. But in 1845 an estimated 2,500 migrants traveled to
Oregon and in 1846 about 1,200 went to Oregon and 1,500 to
California. By the end of 1846, when the southern part of the
great Oregon Country officially became part of the United
States, approximately 6,300 persons had crossed ldaho headed
for Oregon and another 2,900 had cut through part of Idaho to
go to California. In 1847 another 4,000 traveled overland to Or-
egon and 450 to California and in 1848 1,300 journeyed to Ore-
gon and 400 to California.

In 1841, as we have seen, an emigrant party of thirty-two un-
der the leadership of Bartleson and Bidwell left the Oregon Trail
at Soda Springs. Heading southwest to the Humboldt River in
Nevada, following a route similar to that later known as Hud-
speth’s Cutoff, they went down the Humboldt and across the Si-
erra Nevada into California. This was the first group of settlers
to take the California Trail. Although no parties took the trail in
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1842, some thirty-eight men, women, and children headed that
way in 1843 directed by Joseph Reddeford Walker. They took
consolation in the fact that from Fort Hall it was 800 miles to
Oregon and only 700 to Sutter’s Fort, California. They trudged
through the sagebrush and greasewood, and at the Raft River
they left the Oregon Road to go up the Raft and over the divide
to what is known as the City of Rocks, the area where the state
lines of Nevada, Idaho, and Utah would meet a half-century
later. Then they turned southwest for the Humboldt.

They were followed in 1844 by the Stephens-Murphy party of
53, and another group of 260 in 1845. In 1846, the year of the
war with Mexico, 300 wagons on the California Trail carried up-
wards of 1,500 men, women, and children. With the discovery
of gold in California in 1848, thousands took the route begin-
ning in 1849—25,000 in 1849, 44,000 in 1850, and 50,000 in
1852. Some idea of the magnitude of this migration is suggested
by the fact that in 1850 soldiers at Fort Laramie counted 9,000
wagons, 7,500 mules, 31,000 oxen, 23,000 horses, and more
than 5,000 cows.’

The number of overland migrants accelerated rapidly, not
only for California but for Oregon as well. In the years 1849 to
1860 an estimated 41,550 persons crossed Idaho to go to Ore-
gon, and approximately 200,000 to take the California Trail.'® In
recognizing its own responsibilities to protect the emigrants,
Congress in 1846 provided for a series of emigrant-trail forts to
be built by an expedition of mounted riflemen. The Mexican
War delayed action on this commitment, but in 1849 Fort Lara-
mie was converted into an army installation, and a temporary
Cantonment Loring was started near Fort Hall. The U.S. Army
Fort Boise was not established until July 4, 1863, in response to
emigrant and mining camp security problems, but it continued
to operate until 1912. During the early 1860s Camp Connor
functioned at Soda Springs, but it was abandoned in 1866.
Travelers continued to use the Oregon Trail; although the Ore-



EMIGRANT TRAILS

gon Short Line Railway was completed across southern Idaho in
1884, emigrant wagons continued to cross Idaho for two more
decades. The trail was also used for cattle (and sheep) drives
from the west to feeding grounds and markets in the upper
Plains states and Midwest.

In 1849 a party of about 250 persons—most of them women
and children—led by Benoni M. Hudspeth and John J. Myers
ventured to shorten the route toward the Humboldt by traveling
directly westward from Soda Springs. Myers, an experienced
mountain man, had come over the Fort Boise California Trail al-
ternate in 1843; both he and Hudspeth had journeyed to Califor-
nia with Frémont in 1845. Returning to Missouri in 1848, they
led this party along a route shown to Frémont’s party in 1844 by
an old-time ldaho trapper. The shortcut allowed them to bypass
Fort Hall but required them to cross four uncharted mountains.
They managed to find enough water and ungrazed grasses for the
oxen. But when they emerged from the hills east of Raft River
and rejoined the regular California Trail, they were surprised to
find that they were only eighty miles west of Fort Hall. Although
they had saved only twenty-five miles of travel, they were de-
lighted to have spent time at Lava Hot Springs. Because the
route was passable and saved two days of travel, it soon drained
the California-bound traffic from the Fort Hall road. The older
road became almost deserted. Fort Hall was abandoned in 1855
when even the Oregon settlers followed Hudspeth’s Cutoff.

The junction of the California Trail and Sublette Cutoff was at
the Silent City of Rocks, near Almo, south of Burley and
Oakley—a twenty-five-mile-square aggregation of eroded cathe-
drals, towers, and walls. Because it was a junction of two impor-
tant trails, thousands of names and dates and messages are re-
corded on its sheer granite walls, some so high and remote that
they must have been written by overland scribes suspended by
ropes from the tops of cliffs. The site, with its weird mosques
and monoliths, strange pockets and caverns, bathtubs and toad-
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stools, Dragon’s Head and Old Woman, was visited by more
than 80,000 tourists in 1990.

There were other shortcuts to the Oregon and California
trails. In 1862 Tim Goodale, a mountain trader well acquainted
with the Indian and fur trails north of the Snake River, led a
group from Fort Hall directly west to Lost River, then across
Camas Prairie, forging an approach to Boise that stayed north of
the broad valley of the Snake. The cutoff ran south of Craters of
the Moon and the sites of Bellevue and Fairfield and rejoined
the Oregon Trail at Ditto Creek, near Mayfield.

In 1859 the government provided funds to enable Frederick
W. Lander, an engineer, to locate a new road from South Pass,
Wyoming, to Fort Hall that would lead straight west rather than
following the original trail down to Fort Bridger and then back
up to Fort Hall. Some 13,000 emigrants passed over Lander’s
Road in 1859, and with further modifications and improvements
it became the standard route, obviating the necessity of going
south to Fort Bridger. (Jim Bridger, who lost potential business,
hated it.) The road saved an estimated 100 miles—at least five
days of travel time. The Lander Road went past salt deposits in
eastern Idaho later developed by the Oneida Salt Works Com-
pany, a concern that sold enormous quantities of salt to mining
communities in Idaho and Montana in the 1860s, 1870s, and
1880s. When the transcontinental railroad was completed, traf-
fic over the trail declined. The last wagons crossing it were ob-
served at Fort Piney, Wyoming, between 1910 and 1912.

The Oregon and California trails were the most significant
wagon roads through Idaho. Another of historic importance was
the Mullan Road, a United States military route that connected
Fort Benton, Montana, on the upper reaches of the Missouri
(thirty-five miles northeast of Great Falls), with Fort Walla
Walla (Wallula), Washington. The road, 624 miles long, was
designed to connect the end of navigation on the Missouri with
that on the Columbia. Under the direction of army lieutenant
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John Mullan, work on the road was started in 1859 and pro-
ceeded rapidly. At one time 150 men were at work cutting a 25-
foot swath through dense forests for 124 miles and 30 miles of
rock, through the Bitterroot and Coeur d’Alene mountains,
grading across open country, building hundreds of bridges, and
establishing many ferries. The road was completed in August
1860. Almost immediately an army unit traveled its full length,
an accomplishment that required fifty-seven days. The road was
never important as a military route, but it played a significant
role for north Idaho and Montana during the historic gold rush
that began in 1861 and was resumed with undiminished vigor in
the 1880s.

The road was also used by immigrants and by cattlemen driv-
ing many herds from the upper Columbia to the Montana mines.
In the years from 1880 to 1910 the Northern Pacific; Chicago,
Milwaukee, and St. Paul; and Oregon-Washington Railway and
Navigation companies came to traverse Idaho near the line of
the Mullan Road. In our day, a broad paved highway winds its
way along much of Mullan’s original route through scenic Idaho
and western Montana.

Years after the completion of the road, Mullan, then a cap-
tain, reflected on this supreme achievement of his life:

Night after night I have laid out in the unbeaten forests,
or in the pathless prairies with no bed but a few pine leaves
(needles), with no pillow but my saddle, and in my imagi-
nation heard the whistle of the engine, the whirr of the
machinery, the paddle of the steamboat wheels, as they
plowed the waters of the sound. In my enthusiasm, I saw
the country thickly populated, thousands pouring over the
borders to make homes in this far western land. !

For John Mullan, all of those dreams came true.
In 1869, John Hailey, later delegate to Congress, opened a
stagecoach line from Kelton to Boise. It ran northwest through
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the City of Rocks to Rock Creek, where it joined the Oregon
Trail to Thousand Springs. There it crossed the Snake at Clark’s
Ferry and followed an alternate Oregon Trail to Boise. Emi-
grants took the train to Ogden, Corinne, and Kelton (all in
Utah); used the Kelton Road to Boise; and followed the Oregon
Trail from there. Until completion of the Oregon Short Line
Railway across Idaho in 1883, freight and mail were carried
from Salt Lake City and Ogden into Boise over the Kelton Road.

Although Indian difficulties were minor during the years of
heavy wagon train migration over the Oregon and California
trails, at least three massacres are a part of Idaho history. The
first is the Ward massacre, which occurred near the present
town of Middleton, twenty-five miles east of Fort Boise, on Au-
gust 20, 1854. The five-wagon emigration train, the advance
portion of a larger company that had previously split into three
sections, consisted of twenty people under the leadership of Al-
exander Ward of Lexington, Missouri. When one of the emi-
grants spotted an Indian stealing a horse in midday (it was Sun-
day), he shot the thief. Soon a band of thirty “Winnestah”
Snakes launched a furious attack. The day before three white
men had been killed in the third segment of the wagon train sev-
enty miles behind when eleven Indians had suddenly opened
fire after coming up ostensibly to trade. But the small advance
party suffered most. Only two boys of the twenty in the Ward
train escaped, one by feigning death after he had been knocked
down; the other, unconscious from an arrow wound in his side,
was rescued by seven white men who were traveling east. In
search of a stray cow, the men came upon the gruesome scene as
the Indians were plundering the wagons. They engaged them in
battle. One of their number was killed, bringing the death total
to nineteen. Two days later eighteen men left Fort Boise in the
hope of finding additional survivors. The condition of those they
buried was revolting—women raped, scalped, and cut to
pieces, and children burned alive. The Indians, who were from
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east of Fort Boise, took forty-one cattle, five horses, and $3,000
in money. Shortly after the massacre three other whites were
shot to death near the fort, and several others were killed on
Camas Prairie, seventy-five miles from the post. A federal force
of sixty-five men was dispatched to capture the murderers.
Three hostile Indians were shot and three others hung at the
massacre site; others were imprisoned. Since it was clear that
the perpetrators of the massacre were a small band in the re-
gion, no general anti-Indian campaign of extermination re-
sulted.'

A second massacre occurred in September 1860 on Succor
Creek in present Owyhee County, about twenty miles below
Shoshone Falls. The Otter-Van Orman emigrant train, consist-
ing of forty-four persons and eight wagons, was ambushed on
September 9 by Shoshoni. Four soldiers from Fort Hall helped
the group defend themselves from repeated attacks for two days,
during which nine of the emigrant train were killed and the cov-
ered wagons were set on fire. Then, while the Indians were en-
gaged in plunder, some of the emigrants escaped. The Indians
proceeded to kill them as they fled. The soldiers mounted the
best horses and rode for help, but two of them were killed before
they reached a settlement. Eventually two of the escaping emi-
grants reached the Umatilla Indian Agency on October 2. Mean-
while the Indians took about one hundred head of stock and all
of the emigrants’ provisions. The future of the thirty who es-
caped was bleak. By the time an army detachment, 110 men un-
der Captain F. T. Dent, arrived from Fort Dalles and Walla
Walla to rescue the destitute survivors, twenty-three had been
killed by Indians, several bodies were mutilated, and four chil-
dren were abducted (a Van Orman boy was finally retrieved two
years later). The remaining eighteen and one soldier had wan-
dered toward the northwest, living on berries and salmon but
mainly starving. When the military arrived, there were only
twelve still alive, subsisting in part on the flesh of five of their
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number who had died of wounds and/or starvation. The emaci-
ated survivors, many of them children, were taken by the sol-
diers to the Willamette Valley.'?

Major John Owen, who had been instructed to search for the
children, insisted that some of the blame for the massacre rested
on the whites:

These Indians [Bannock and Shoshoni] twelve years ago
were the avowed friends of the White Man. I have had their
young men in my employment as hunters, horse guards,
guides, &c &c. I have traversed the length and breadth of
their entire country with large bands of stock unmolested.
Their present hostile attitude can in a great measure be
attributed to the treatment they have received from unprin-
cipled White Men passing through their country. They
have been robbed, murdered, their women outraged &c&c
and in fact outrages have been committed by White Men
that the heart would shudder to record.™

On August 9, 1862, about one hundred Shoshoni under Chief
Pocatello gathered west of American Falls and attacked eleven
wagons. By the time the rest of the wagon train approached,
most of the men had been killed. The next morning 40 men went
out to recover the stolen stock, but they were driven back by
300 warriors and 3 of the whites were killed. The emigrants
waited until their group numbered 700 people, but they were
harassed all the way to the Humboldt. This was one of the inci-
dents that led to the Battle of Bear River—a massacre of Indians
early the next year in which several hundred Indians were
killed, about which more in Chapter Twelve.'?

Not all purported attacks were by Indians; some were by
“white Indians” pretending to be Indians. And there was un-
thinking killing of Indians by whites for reasons that seem ludi-
crous, if not downright cruel. A reprehensible example of emi-
grant brutality was a Texan traveling west from Fort Hall in
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1845 who saw an Indian near the trail, rode up to him, struck
him, handcuffed him, tied a rope around his neck, and fastened
it to the rear of his wagon. The rest of the company was so intim-
idated by the bully that they did not interfere. This cruelty went
on for a week until the Texan thought the Indian’s spirit was bro-
ken, and he put him to work on various tasks including driving
the wagon. One night the Indian slave disappeared, taking with
him some of the Texan’s personal effects, including his $100
gun. The company members were elated, particularly when the
Texan’s “wonder dog” was unable to track the vanished Indian.'®

Finally, there was the counterbalancing factor of numerous
instances of Indian assistance to whites—providing informa-
tion, food, horses, labor, and medicine.

In any case, the massacres did not prevent the migration of
thousands across the labyrinths of Idaho mountains, valleys,
and plains to Oregon and California in the 1850s and 1860s.
Eventually, some of them would find places along the trail to es-
tablish farms and ranches. The acres of “dreary sagebrush”
would be converted into irrigated wonderlands.

CHAPTER SEVEN: SOURCES

Virtually all histories of the West have chapters or sections on the
Oregon and California trails. Among these are Billington, Westward
Expansion, 509-33; Clark, Frontier America, 486—505; Billington,
Far Western Frontier, 91—115; Dan Clark, The West in American His-
tory, 467—87; and Hafen and Rister, Western America, 228-4s5.

Histories of the Pacific Northwest with excellent chapters or sec-
tions on the Oregon Trail include: Winther, The Great Northwest,
107—-26; Winther, The Old Oregon Country, 109—-34; Schwantes,
The Pacific Northwest, 78—94; Fuller, History of the Pacific North-
west, 180—94; and Sidney Warren, Farthest Frontier: The Pacific
Northwest (New York: The Macmillan Co., 1949), 45-58.

Histories of Idaho that discuss the Oregon, California, and other
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trails through the state include: Beal and Wells, History of Idaho,
1:216—41; Brosnan, History of the State of Idaho, 117-30; Hawley,
History of Idaho, 1:77-87; and Defenbach, Idaho: The Place and Its
People, 1:217-36.

For young people, texts that have chapters on the trail include:
Rawlins, Exploring Idaho’s Past, 81-89; Haines, The Story of Idaho,
59—64; Jensen, Discovering Idaho, 90—104; and Fisher, Beyond the
Rockies, 155—170.

Monographic sources that treat the Oregon, California, and other
trails that went through Idaho include Jay Monaghan, The Overland
Trail (Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill Co., 1947); W. J. Ghent, The
Road to Oregon: A Chronicle of the Great Emigrant Trail (New York:
Tudor, 1934); P. A. Rollins, ed., The Discovery of the Oregon Trail
(New York: Charles Scribner’s Sons, 1935); V. E. Geiger, Ann W.
Bryarly, and David M. Potter, eds., Trail to California (New Haven:
Yale University Press, 1945); David Lavender, Westward Vision: The
Story of the Oregon Trail (New York: The McGraw-Hill Book Co.,
1963); George R. Stewart, The California Trail: An Epic with Many
Heroes (New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1962); Route of the Ore-
gon Trail in Idaho (Boise: Idaho Department of Highways, 1963);
John Mack Faragher, Women and Men on the Overland Trail (New
Haven: Yale University Press, 1979); John D. Unruh, Jr., The Plains
Across: The Overland Emigrants and the Trans-Mississippi West,
1840-1860 (Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 1979); H. J.
Warre, Overland to Oregon in 1845: Impressions of a Journey across
North America, edited by Madeline Major-Fregeau (Ottawa: Public
Archives of Canada, 1976); Mike Hanley and Ellis Lucia, Owyhee
Trails: The West’s Forgotten Corner (Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1988);
William E. Hill, The Oregon Trail: Yesterday and Today (Caldwell:
Caxton Printers, 1989); Bureau of Land Management and Idaho State
Historical Society, Emigrant Trails of Southern Idaho (Boise: Idaho
State Office, Bureau of Land Management, 1989); Jesse Applegate, A
Day with the Cow Column in 184.3: Recollections of My Boyhood, Jo-
seph Schafer, ed. (Chicago: Caxton Club, 1934); George W. Goodhart
and A. C. Anderson, Trails of Early ldaho (Boise: Privately pub-
lished, 1940); W. Turrentine Jackson, “The California Trail” and
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“The Oregon Trail,” in Lamar, ed., Reader’s Encyclopedia of the
American West, 155—56, 884—85; Irene D. Paden, The Wake of the
Prairie Schooner (New York: The Macmillan Co., 1943); Federal
Writers’ Project of the Works Progress Administration, The Oregon
Trail: The Missouri River to the Pacific Ocean (New York: Hastings
House, 1939); Wilkes, Narrative of the United States Exploring Ex-
pedition, esp. vol. 4; and W. Turrentine Jackson, Wagon Roads West:
A Study of Federal Road Surveys and Construction in the Trans Missis-
sippi West, 1846—1869 (Berkeley: University of California Press,
1952).

On John C. Frémont, see Allan Nevins, John C. Frémont: Path-
marker of the West, 3d ed. (New York: Longmans, Green & Co.,
1955); Donald Jackson and Mary Lee Spence, eds., The Expeditions
of John Charles Frémont, 3 vols. (Urbana: University of Illinois Press,
1970—84).

Articles that are particularly helpful in gaining an understanding
of the trails include: [Merle W. Wells], “Thousand Springs and
Salmon Falls,” Idaho Yesterdays 18 (Fall 1974):14—23; Howard Ross
Cramer, “Geology and Hudspeth’s Cutoff,” Idaho Yesterdays 19 (Fall
1975):14—24; Clark C. Spence, “Pioneers with Wagging Tails: Dogs
on the Trail to Oregon,” Idaho Yesterdays 25 (Summer 1981):27—31;
Francis Haines, Sr., “Goldilocks on the Oregon Trail,” Idaho Yester-
days 9 (Winter 1965—66):26—30; Jesse Applegate, “A Day with the
Cow Column in 1843,” Oregon Historical Quarterly 1 (December
1900):371—83; Samuel Flagg Bemis, “Captain John Mullan and the
Engineers’ Frontier,” Washington Historical Quarterly 14 (July 1923):
201-205; and T. C. Elliott, “The Mullan Road: Its Local History and
Significance,” Washington Historical Quarterly 14 (July 1923):
206—-209.
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CHAPTER EIGHT

The Salmon River Mission

N a move similar to the location of the Presbyterians among

the Cayuse and Nez Perce, and those missions that the Cath-

olics built for the Coeur d’Alene and Flathead, the Latter-
day Saints established a farming settlement to work with Idaho
Indians in east-central Idaho called the Salmon River Mission.
The mission was located in a narrow, well-timbered river valley
on an ancient Indian and trapper trail that connected the Snake
River with the upper Missouri and the Bitterroot Valley. Lewis
and Clark had followed that tributary of the Salmon River after
their history-making crossing of the Continental Divide in 1805,
but the names in the area that have come down to us are those
that were provided by the Latter-day Saints. They named their
post after King Limhi, an ancient Indian leader mentioned in
the Latter-day Saint scripture the Book of Mormon. The spelling
was soon altered to Lemhi, perhaps because that is the way the
Mormon colonizers pronounced it, and today’s maps now in-
clude Lemhi River, Lemhi Pass, Lemhi County, Lemhi City,
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and Lemhi Indians. Virtually all of the contemporary sources of
the Salmon River Mission refer to Limhi, however, and that
spelling will be retained in this chapter.

The first contingent of 16,000 Mormons who had been driven
from their homes in Illinois in 1846 had arrived in the valley of
the Great Salt Lake in 1847, the year of failure and tragedy for
the Whitman and Spalding missions. Two years later the Mor-
mons organized the State of Deseret to encompass a large area
that included all of present-day Utah and Nevada, the south-
eastern corner of Idaho, southcentral Oregon, southern Califor-
nia, northern Arizona, northwestern New Mexico, western Colo-
rado, and central and western Wyoming. By the time Congress
considered the Mormon request for statehood, however, the Cal-
ifornia Gold Rush had led to statehood for California. In the
Compromise of 1850 Utah Territory, named for the Ute Indians
(Congress did not approve of the name of Deseret), had been
created to include Utah, Nevada, and adjoining lands in Wyo-
ming and Colorado. Under the impression that northern Utah
and southern Idaho were too cold to grow crops, the Mormons
had not gone very far north of the southern tip of Cache Valley
until May 1855 when Brigham Young, leader of the Mormons—
who now included several thousand immigrants from Great Brit-
ain, Scandinavia, and emigrants from the American East,
South, and Midwest—called twenty-seven men to found a set-
tlement in the Salmon River country. This was the first Anglo-
Saxon agricultural settlement in Idaho, and it continued only
until it was abandoned in March 1858.

The Idaho colony was one of six the Mormons founded in
1855. Other outpost settlements were established the same year
among Indian groups at Carson Valley, in western Nevada;
Little Salt Lake Valley, in southern Utah; Elk Mountain, in
eastern Utah; Fort Supply, near Fort Bridger in western Wyo-
ming; and among the Cherokees in Indian (Oklahoma) Territory.
Some three hundred missionaries were called to establish these

six posts.
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The persons “called,” that is, asked to go to what was then
Oregon Territory, represented a variety of skills and were nearly
all from northern Utah—Salt Lake Valley, Davis County, and
Weber Valley. Their appointed leader was thirty-seven-year-old
Thomas S. Smith of Farmington, Utah. A native of New York,
and a Mormon since 1844, Smith became one of the LDS
Church’s leading colonizers. An indispensable member of the
party was George Washington Hill, who had performed previous
missions to Indians in the West and who knew the language of
the Shoshoni. He would serve as interpreter.

Most of the persons called were young men. Some were mar-
ried but at the beginning were not expected to take their wives
and children. Each was given five or six weeks to prepare for the
trip. The instructions to the missionaries were to settle among
the “buffalo-hunting Flathead, Bannack, or Shoshone Indians,”
or anywhere near them that the tribes would permit. The mis-
sionaries were told to teach the Indians the principles of civili-
zation; that is, teach them to “settle down,” grow crops, build
houses, take better care of each other, and live in peace with
native nations and with whites. The colonists were to pack pro-
visions to last a year so they would not be a burden on the na-
tives but rather would have enough to share if the Indians
needed help. They were expected to live exemplary lives.

The group gathered on the west side of Bear River, west of
Ogden, and traveled northward to what later became Brigham
City, then along the eastern base of the mountains to Collinston,
up the Malad Valley, and on to cross the Bannock Mountains.
Passing by the present location of Pocatello, they crossed the
Portneuf River and Ross’ Fork and then reached the Snake
River and Fort Hall. They proceeded on to the Blackfoot River
and Eagle Rock (Idaho Falls), then north to Market Lake. After
crossing the lava beds they went on to Muddy Lake, then the
headwaters of what they called Spring Creek (Birch Creek), and
finally to the summit of the Salmon Divide at the headwaters of a
fork of the Salmon River.
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The Mormon men had to make roads as they went along. They
built bridges or forded the rivers and creeks as best they could.
Their outfit consisted of thirteen wagons, with two yokes of
cattle to each wagon, and a few cows. The company was well-
organized, with Smith as president, a captain, a secretary, a
captain of the guard, and so on. The party was divided into
messes with five or six men to a mess, each with a particular
duty to perform. Each morning and evening they held a prayer
meeting, each member taking his turn according to the roll call.

After a day’s journey down the mountain valley, they met
Rock-i-kae, also called Sow-woo-koo, chief of the Bannock. He
was more widely known as “Le Grand Coquin” (The Great
Rogue), having been given this name by French-Canadian trap-
pers who regarded him as an efficient horse and cattle thief. Af-
ter the missionaries explained their purpose, he said that they
were welcome to any land that they might select for farming.

The missionaries traveled down the Limhi River, cutting
through a narrow valley, and on June 15 stopped at a point
about twenty miles above where the river empties into the
Salmon River—about two miles north of the present town of
Tendoy. After thirty days of travel, they were 333 miles from
Ogden, as shown by the odometer they kept on the wheels of
their wagons—about 370 miles north of Salt Lake City. At this
location the valley was about a mile wide, the hills on the east
well wooded. The location of Idaho’s first white farming commu-
nity, “Fort Limhi,” was but a few miles from Idaho’s first camp-
ground of white people at the famous Lewis and Clark Seventeen
Mile Camp of 1805.

The site they chose, after conversations with mountaineers
and travelers at Fort Hall and vicinity, was the summer home of
three different tribes—Bannock, Shoshoni, and Nez Perce. For
many years, perhaps millennia, nomadic bands had gone to the
spawning beds of the ocean-run salmon. A central place like
this was appealing to the missionaries because of the opportuni-
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ties for service to more than one tribe. Apparently the chief of
the Bannock-Shoshoni had urged them to camp there, not far-
ther north. Most of the missionaries liked the valley and pre-
pared to make it their home. Four of them returned to Salt Lake
City almost immediately and brought their families back with
them.

In the vicinity the missionaries found a large gathering of
Bannock, Shoshoni, and Nez Perce who were there on their an-
nual fishing trip. In meetings with these groups, George Wash-
ington Hill helped them to understand that the missionaries had
come to teach them and would like to remain there if they had
no objection. The missionaries were kindly received and were
told that they might cut the necessary timber for their houses,
corrals, and forts. They might kill game or catch fish for their
own sustenance, but must not do so for sale or profit.

Having determined the site of the fort, the new residents dug
a 300-yard ditch to convey water for irrigation and planted a
garden. Although it was late in the season, they planted pota-
toes, peas, turnips, and corn, hoping to grow something for
winter’s supply. As it turned out, the planting was done too late;
the crops did not mature, and each blade, as it grew out of the
ground, was devoured by grasshoppers that descended in devas-
tating swarms.

A strong corral was built for their horses and cattle, and the
missionaries erected a mud-walled fort, sixteen rods square,
with separate abodes to last them through the winter. They set
twelve-foot logs into a three-foot ditch for a palisade. The fort
wall was 2 feet wide, 7 feet high, and 165 feet long, with a gate
on the east and one on the west. Thirteen cabins were initially
constructed inside the fort; later the number of cabins was dou-
bled. They also set up a blacksmith shop, a sawmill, and a well.
The lumber for doors, windows, and floors was all sawed by
hand. Every night a strong guard was kept over the fort and the
cattle so as to prevent a surprise attack. The men never went to
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the timber to get logs for lumber or fuel unless they were armed
with a rifle and revolver. Some of the rifles were among the first
manufactured by Jonathan Browning of Ogden, who later in-
vented the Winchester—“the gun that won the West”—the re-
peater pistol, the Browning Automatic, and the modern anti-
aircraft gun.

The summer’s labor was arduous. The missionaries later tes-
tified that they had never worked so hard in their lives as during
that summer. In addition to plowing, planting, and building,
they also assisted Indians in their fishing. The run of salmon
was such that, with willow traps, as many as 300 were caught in
a few hours, weighing from twenty to sixty pounds each. These
were sliced thin and hung up to dry on willow scaffolds, with a
small fire underneath to smoke the fish. They were then placed
inside the skins of larger salmon, tied up in bales, and put away
for winter use. The Mormons later sent eight wagons of the
smoked salmon with one of the parties returning to Utah.

In the fall, when it became clear that their supplies would run
short and that they needed seed for next year’s planting, they
sent eleven men back to Ogden. The men returned on November
19 with their families and with fresh supplies. When winter set
in, in November, a large number of Shoshoni camped near
them, expecting the whites, as their declared friends, to share
their food. The settlers complied, giving them grain and beef.
They soon discovered that their food would be exhausted by
spring, so a group was again dispatched to Utah for more sup-
plies, to return by spring. Nine men made this trip, leaving on
December 4 with six yoke of oxen and three wagons. Nine in-
ches of snow were on the ground, and as they traveled the alti-
tude increased, the snow became deeper, and the weather grew
colder. They arrived in Ogden on December 26, more or less
frostbitten and “mighty hungry.” The group left Ogden on their
return to Limhi on March 28, taking with them not only addi-
tional supplies but also twenty-two new missionaries.
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Meanwhile, the Limhi colonists, in harmony with Mormon
land policy, surveyed twenty-two five-acre lots south of the fort
and apportioned them among the colonists by a community lot-
tery, some of those present drawing for those who were absent.
They attended classes in the Shoshonean languages (Shoshoni,
Paiute) during the winter, three evenings each week, and some
of them became quite fluent. Three of the men married Indian
women. Meetings were held each Sunday, and more than one
hundred natives were baptized.

In the spring of 1856 the colonists planted ninety bushels of
wheat, barley, oats, and peas, as well as many garden vegeta-
bles. But the grasshoppers hatched their eggs by the millions
and the offspring devoured all the young crops, leaving the
fields barren. The mission suffered during the summer from
want of bread. For weeks they lived on fish, butter, and milk.
Because of their failed crops, about nine of the missionaries left
for Utah on June 30 to get new supplies and seed wheat. Four
new missionaries arrived during the summer. In August two
men were sent to carry mail to Utah and presumably to bring
some back. Late in the fall three men were sent with additional
mail to Utah, with the understanding that they would return in
the spring.

In May 1857 Brigham Young and a large entourage of church
authorities and their families visited Fort Limhi. The company
included many of Young’s closest associates—115 men, 22
women, 5 boys, and fifty-three wagons and carriages, with an
average of three horses or mules each. Among those on the trip
was Milo Andrus, founder of a large Idaho clan (not, however, a
direct ancestor of Governor Cecil Andrus, a Missouri Synod
Lutheran). The purpose of the trip was to encourage the mis-
sionaries at Fort Limhi, but it was also a pioneer equivalent of a
vacation to “see the country”: the only known occasion when
Brigham Young and his associates took along their families and
friends with the primary purpose of enjoying the scenery.
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The party left Salt Lake City on April 24, traveled to Ogden
and up the Malad Valley to Fort Hall and Bannock Creek, and
on May 1 reached the Snake River, which they crossed in
safety. Reaching Fort Limhi on May 8, the group remained five
days. They left for Salt Lake City on May 13, arriving on May 27
after thirty-three days on the trail.'

In a meeting at the fort, Young told the missionaries that they
had settled so far from “home” in Utah that immediate help
could not be sent if needed. He thought they should have
stopped near the Blackfoot River, just north of Fort Hall. Other-
wise, he was pleased with their work. Now that they had settled
at Limhi, he would strengthen the mission to give it greater
chance of success. The men were exhorted to be patient and
kind, to encourage and instruct the Indians, and to do every-
thing possible to create good feelings. Young held conferences
with Tio-van-du-ah (Snag), head chief of the Shoshoni, and had
a smoke and long friendly talk with him. Snag, who succeeded
Cameahwait as leader of the Lemhi Shoshoni, was quite possi-
bly a nephew of Sacagawea. Young gave him presents of blan-
kets and other goods. Arrapeen, head chief of the Utahs, had
come with Young’s party, and he participated in these conversa-
tions.

Young made a major effort to acquire Fort Hall and almost
succeeded; but the federal government had other ideas. One
other consequence of the visit was the formation of an exploring
party to go farther north to investigate possibilities of establish-
ing other settlements. The party explored the Bitterroot Valley
and the Deer Lodge and other valleys in what later became Mon-
tana, including the locations where now stand Butte, Helena,
the Flathead Reservation, the Big Salmon Forest, and other
places along the Lewis and Clark Trail. Although nothing re-
sulted at the time from this effort, some of the Salmon River
missionaries drove teams to supply foodstuffs to miners in these
regions after the discovery of gold in the 1860s.
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The settlers continued to have trouble with grasshoppers in
1857, but they succeeded in raising a fair crop of potatoes and
other vegetables and 2,500 bushels of wheat. They had demon-
strated that grain could be raised on the headwaters of the
Salmon River. They built a gristmill and dug additional irrigat-
ing ditches and a large canal.

Threshing was done by oxen and flails and separated by a
fanning mill. The ground was cleared in a circle about thirty feet
in diameter and grain was laid lengthwise along the edge of the
circle about six sheaves wide. The center of the ring was left
bare. Five or six yoke of oxen were then fastened together, one
yoke after another, forming a circle, while the driver occupied
the center of the circle, driving them in a continuous round. In
this way the grain was thoroughly tramped out. The straw was
then pitched away while the chaff and grain were pushed into
the center of the ring. The edge was again filled with fresh
sheaves and the process repeated again and again until a large
stack of chaff and grain was in the center of the ring. With the
completion of the threshing, the next step was placing the grain
in front of the fanning mill to clean it.

In September, as the threshing was being done, two of the
men were sent back to Utah to carry the mail and reassure
everyone that the mission had raised good crops and had main-
tained peace with the Indians.

When the men reached Utah, however, they learned of an oc-
currence that proved to be catastrophic. A federal army of 2,500
men, “the Utah Expedition,” was headed for Utah to discipline
the Mormons. Disgruntled Utah officeholders had gone to Presi-
dent James Buchanan in Washington and declared that the Mor-
mons were plotting to set up an independent republic, were in-
subordinate to federal authority, and were conniving with Indian
tribes to subvert federal control. Without notifying Brigham
Young, governor of the territory, Buchanan appointed a new
governor, Alfred Cumming of Georgia, and sent a major force of
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the U.S. Army to establish and maintain federal dominion.
Since they had not been notified and since the troops had been
dispatched with much secrecy, the Mormons concluded that the
troops were coming to conquer them, to drive them out of their
homes, as had been done in Missouri in the 1830s and in Illi-
nois in 1846. Brigham Young and his associates issued a proc-
lamation—“We are being invaded”—declared martial law, and
made preparations to defend their homes.?

Despite this danger to their Utah refuge, word of which had
come to Brigham Young on July 24, 1857, Mormon leaders fol-
lowed through with their promise to strengthen the Salmon River
Mission by calling, in the fall of 1857, an additional thirty-two
men, some of them with wives and children, to join the settlers
at Fort Limhi. Most of them were from the Farmington area of
Utah. They started north in October, following the route first
taken in 1855, and reached Fort Limhi on October 27 after
twenty-five days on the trail. The Salmon River colony now con-
sisted of one hundred souls.

One would be surprised if the arrival of these additional set-
tlers did not cause the Shoshoni-Bannock to view the growth of
the Mormon colony with some concern. They were likely already
provoked by the cutting of timber, the two hundred cattle pas-
tured on the meadows, the shipment of salmon to Utah, and the
repeated trades with the Nez Perce—who sometimes fought the
Shoshoni-Bannock. Now here was evidence of intended perma-
nent and extended settlement.

With the added personnel at Limhi, the missionaries built a
new “Lower Fort,” four miles below (north of) Limhi, thereby in-
creasing the acreage and giving more room for new arrivals. Mil-
ton D. Hammond, a twenty-six-year-old veteran of a Michigan
regiment in the Mexican War of 1846—48, was appointed presi-
dent of the new little community.

Trouble began at Limhi in the early winter of 1857—58. It
was apparently touched off by mountaineers. Many of them had
spent time in Missouri, where there had been anti-Mormon feel-
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ing since 1831; some had visited the camps of the Utah Expedi-
tion and had willingly imbibed the prejudices against the Mor-
mons expressed by the soldiers and officers. But there were
other troubles. The missionaries maintained friendships with
tribes that were enemies of each other. The Mormon friendship
with the Nez Perce, for example, was an offense to the Bannock
and Shoshoni, even though the many favors rendered to them
were even more substantial than the friendship extended to the
Nez Perce.

On December 21, forty lodges of Shoshoni arrived at the fort.
The Shoshoni—who, unknown to the missionaries at the time,
were returning from a raid on the Nez Perce—were treated
kindly and were fed by the mission. A few days later a band of
Nez Perce arrived looking for stolen horses. They also were
treated kindly and fed, were “put up” in the log houses, and
their animals were placed in the fort corral. The Bannock, more
enterprising and warlike than the Shoshoni, had planned a raid
on the Nez Perce horses and were frustrated and offended that
the Mormons had put the horses in their corral.® There was a
contention between the Nez Perce and Bannock, but the trouble
was smoothed over by Thomas Smith, the Limhi president. They
smoked a pipe of peace, and the Nez Perce left the next day in
good spirits. But that was just a facade, for that night they re-
turned and stole some fifty Shoshoni and Bannock horses—at
least, this is what the Shoshoni reported to the missionaries.
The Bannock vowed to punish the Mormons, who, they thought,
were instruments in the damage done to them by the Nez Perce.

On January 13, 1858, six of the men at the fort were sent out
to their herd some miles away. On their arrival, they found one
or two cattle gone. They went in pursuit of the Indians and after
twenty miles found them in possession of meat from one of the
oxen whose carcass had been found eight miles back. The mis-
sionaries demanded a horse to pay for the slaughtered cattle.
The Indians complied but bided their time.

In February a volunteer officer in the Utah Expedition was in
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the Bitterroot Valley seeking recruits for an onslaught on the fort
to carry off the cattle and sell them to the army. Upon learning
this, John Owen, Indian Agent in the Bitterroot Valley, per-
suaded the mountaineers to abandon participation in the
scheme to steal the livestock because of the good that the mis-
sionaries were accomplishing with the Indians.

On February 7, a large band of Shoshoni arrived at the fort on
their way to fight the Nez Perce. They demanded to be fed and
housed and the demand was met. They left the next day. Two
days later an Indian stole the horse of President Thomas Smith.
A company was sent out; they found the horse eighty miles east
of the fort. Sensing difficulties, leaders moved the families in
the lower settlement into the fort on February 11. On February
24, a mountaineer rode into the camp and warned the mission-
aries that the Indians were talking of burning their haystacks
and stealing their horses and cattle. They took some precau-
tions, but not enough.

The very next day, February 25, some two hundred Bannock
and Shoshoni galloped toward the Limhi cattle herd, grazing two
miles from the fort. Seeing their approach, a party of ten men
from the fort rode out to protect the herd. The Indians reached
the herd first and began to encircle the cattle. George McBride
“waved his hat around his head a few times, a veritable chal-
lenge, uttered a yell, dashed over the hill and down among the
Indians” in a brave attempt to turn the cattle back. The Indians
shot him and took his horse. He was later found scalped and
stripped of his revolver and clothing. Orson Rose, who hap-
pened to be on the side of the herd nearest the fort, dropped into
heavy sagebrush when the firing commenced. The Indians rid-
dled the brush with shot but did not hit him. He hid until night
and returned safely to the fort. President Smith and Ezra Bar-
nard hastened toward the herd to save it. The Indians fired at
them. Smith was wounded but managed to return safely to the
fort. Fountain Welch was wounded, as were several others;
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James Miller was killed. The Indians drove off the entire herd,
consisting of 235 cattle and 31 ponies. Several herders barely
escaped, and one of them, who had been missing, was later
found dead, scalped, and stripped.

For the next two weeks, the men at the fort spent their time in
building bastions, strengthening the fort, digging holes in which
to cache their wheat and other provisions, and standing guard.
On February 28, three days after the attack, President Smith
held a camp meeting at which it was decided to send a dispatch
to Brigham Young asking his advice on the proper course to pur-
sue. Two men were chosen to carry the dispatch. With trepida-
tion, they left in the night and with good luck were able to slip
past the hostiles.

On March s, three Shoshoni came to the fort as delegates,
they said, of the Shoshoni chiefs. They said they wanted to
make peace and were willing to bring back the cattle. They said
they had only thirty head, as the Bannock had taken the remain-
der and all the horses. Three days later they brought back
twenty-eight cattle. On March 11, they brought back eight
more. The Indians now said that a majority of the stolen cattle
had been driven to the army at Soda Springs and exchanged for
items that the Indians desired.

Those who have studied the matter carefully believe that the
causes of the attack are complex. Apparently the Bannock were
the chief perpetrators. There is considerable evidence that they
were encouraged by mountaineers who charged that the Mor-
mons were planning to take over their lands and drive off the
game. The Bannock were also incensed by the friendly treat-
ment the Mormons had given the Nez Perce. Brigham Madsen
concludes that the Bannock were encouraged to engage in their
age-old custom of horse-stealing and war because the Nez Perce
had stolen their horses, which called for retaliation and replace-
ment; white traders in Beaverhead, having been commissioned
by the Army, had advertised they would pay high prices for
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cattle and horses; and the war of the United States against the
Mormons assured the Indians that any hostile action would re-
sult only in applause, not punishment.*

Meanwhile, the two missionaries sent to Brigham Young ar-
rived in Salt Lake City after some narrow escapes. The presi-
dent ordered Colonel Thomas Cunningham of the militia, with
100 mounted men and twenty wagons laden with needed provis-
ions, to accompany the missionaries back to Fort Limhi. An-
other company of fifty, under twenty-five-year-old Captain
Horton D. Haight, started from Farmington. An advance contin-
gent of these relief expeditions arrived in the fort on March 21.
They took with them Young’s instructions to abandon the mis-
sion and return to Utah. Ten men immediately were sent to Utah
with the mail and various other properties. As they neared the
Bannock range, while passing through the narrows on Bannock
Creek, they were ambushed by Indians and one of the men was
killed and scalped; a horse and mule were also killed.

After a few days of preparation Fort Limhi was abandoned
and left in the hands of the Indians. As they left, Thomas Smith
gave one thousand bushels of mission wheat to Chief Snag, who
had been baptized a Mormon and who, along with his followers,
wept at the departure of the Mormons. The missionaries arrived
in Ogden on April 11. Two births had occurred on the way, but
the passage was safe and without serious incident.

When the men reached their northern Utah communities,
they discovered to their dismay that their and their neighbors’
homes were empty. Most of the people in northern Utah had
packed up and gone south—to central and southern Utah. As
the federal army had approached Utah in the summer and fall of
1857, the Utah militia had slowed them and delayed them by a
variety of tactics, forcing them to “hole up” at Fort Bridger, then
in Utah Territory. President Buchanan had been informed of the
falsity of the charges that had been made against the Utah Mor-
mons and had sent out a presidential commission to achieve a
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peaceful solution to the conflict. But the army, under Albert
Sidney Johnston, would certainly head for the Salt Lake Valley
when the snows melted in the spring, and Brigham Young was
fearful that they would seek to occupy the Mormon metropolis
and that some of the more belligerent Saints would give them an
excuse to start shooting. In a dramatic gesture to win national
sympathy, Brigham Young asked his followers, on March 18,
1858, to abandon their homes and move south. Some 30,000
made the move in the weeks that followed, and they included
most of the families of the Salmon River missionaries. Within a
day or two, most of the missionaries were on the road to try to
find their families. After the federal army marched through the
Salt Lake Valley on June 28 and went on to establish Camp
Floyd forty miles to the south, northern Utah settlers were in-
structed to return home.

Thus ended the Salmon River Mission; the Mormons had not
been able to maintain a settlement at Limhi. Later, a govern-
ment reservation was established a little above the Limhi loca-
tion, which began to appear on maps as Fort Lemhi and the
Lemhi Valley Indian reservation. Not surprisingly, there were
things that none of the missionaries could forget—the beauty of
the country, the productivity of the soil, and the friendliness of
most of the Indians.

Several of the men later moved to Idaho Territory to make
their homes. Among them were Thomas S. Smith, leader of the
mission, who went to Wilford, a beautiful tract lying between
Henry’s Fork and Teton River, where he served as one of the
first settlers and bishop. Another was Horton D. Haight, leader
of one of the rescue groups, who later moved to Oakley and
served as bishop and as first Cassia Stake President of that
Latter-day Saint community. He was a Cassia County Commis-
sioner and president of the Oakley Cooperative Mercantile Insti-
tution. Captain Haight’s chief lieutenant, Thomas E. Ricks,
later returned to the Upper Snake River Valley to found
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Rexburg and other Mormon settlements in the region. Even
Brigham Young, in his brief journey to the fort in 1857, was
impressed with the country. After the end of the Utah War epi-
sode, he encouraged families to settle northern Cache Valley,
Malad Valley, and points north and west. As a result, the first
permanent non-Indian settlement in what is now Idaho was
made by Latter-day Saints in Franklin in 1860.
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There are many original manuscripts in the LDS Church Library-
Archives, Salt Lake City. The most important of these are the “Manu-
script History of the Salmon River Mission,” the 1855—58 diary of
Thomas S. Smith, president of the mission; and the journal of David
Moore, clerk of the mission. The library-archives also has the diaries
and personal histories of about twenty other participants in the mis-

sion.
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CHAPTER NINE

The Gold Rush of the Early 1860s

XCEPT for the Mormons at Franklin, the settlement of

Idaho and the creation of Idaho Territory were indirect

outgrowths of the gold rush to California. Some 300,000
Americans, Mexicans, Chinese, and South Americans had
rushed to California after James Marshall’s discovery of gold at
Sutter’s Fort in 1848. As that Eldorado began to play out, gold
seekers rushed to the Fraser River in British Columbia in 1858,
to the Comstock Lode in western Nevada and Pike’s Peak in
Colorado in 1859, and then to northern Idaho and Montana in
1860—62.

Elias Davidson Pierce is credited with the discovery that led
to Idaho’s first gold rush. A native of Ireland who migrated to
Virginia in 1839, he was practicing law in Indiana when, at the
age of twenty-four, he volunteered to serve in the Mexican War.
There he earned the rank of captain. Shortly after his discharge
he joined the California gold rush as both prospector and trader.
He served in the California legislature in 1852 and later that
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year he joined a retired Hudson’s Bay Company trapper on a trip
to the Nez Perce country, where he did some trading. He was at-
tracted by the stories of the presence of gold and looked for an
opportunity to return. In 1857 he was back trading in the Nez
Perce country, but Indian turmoils signified that the time was
not yet ripe for prospecting. In 1858 he joined the throng of
prospectors going to the Fraser River in British Columbia, north
of Lake Okanagan. He returned to the new town of Walla Walla,
in Washington, where he tried farming and cattle raising.

Shortly before, the United States Army had defeated the
Coeur d’Alene, so at least a part of eastern Washington and
northern Idaho was safe for whites. (At the time what is now
Idaho was in Washington Territory, and it remained so until
1863.) Remembering his earlier Nez Perce experience, Pierce
smuggled a prospecting outfit into the camp of his Nez Perce
friend Wislanaeqa. What he found excited him. The Nez Perce
had signed a treaty with the whites in 1855 establishing a large
Nez Perce reservation in central Idaho. Pierce tried to interest
the tribe in letting him and others open mines on the reserva-
tion. The Nez Perce refused; they could not understand the
white man’s eager search for gold and did not want whites on the
reservation. Undeterred, Pierce went to Walla Walla, attracted
ten returnees from Fraser River, and in August sneaked by Nez
Perce guides to establish a camp on the north fork of the Clear-
water.

Traveling on foot toward the Clearwater country, Pierce and
his party encountered a Nez Perce camp near what is now Lew-
iston. He attempted to persuade Chief Timothy, who had been
converted to Christianity by the Spaldings, that he should allow
whites to pass through the reservation to prospect. The Nez
Perce were strongly opposed, but the chief restrained his people
from using force to prevent Pierce and his associates from pros-
pecting. There is a legend that Chief Timothy’s eighteen-year-
old daughter, with the Christian name of Jane, guided them past
the modern site of Moscow and then southeast near present-day
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Kendrick. Recent historians have expressed doubt about the
story of Jane (later Jane Silcott) and believe the guide, if there
was one, was a young Indian male.'

In the Clearwater Valley, about 150 miles from Walla Walla,
the group prospected forty miles of rivers and creeks. One after-
noon, said to have been September 30, they camped at the
mouth of Canal Creek, a tributary of Orofino Creek, itself a trib-
utary of the south branch of the Clearwater River. A member of
the party, Wilbur F. Bassett, a carpenter, dug up a shovelful of
dirt that contained “flour gold”—also called “oro fino,” Spanish
for “fine gold.” The enterprise was a success.

Pierce returned to Walla Walla with something less than
$100 in gold dust. There he organized a party under the leader-
ship of Sergeant John Calhoun Smith to go to Canal Gulch in
November. Pierce City was founded on December 3. During the
winter the group staked off seventy-one claims; built cabins;
sawed lumber for rockers, a long sluice, and sluice boxes; and
continued prospecting. They employed proven techniques and
equipment used in other gold fields.

Following the California example, the men held an open
meeting on January 5, 1861, to organize the Oro Fino Mining
District to govern the territory surrounding Oro Fino Creek.
They elected officers and drafted rules. The twenty-four rules of
this first mining district in Idaho included, for example:

1. All American citizens may locate and hold claims.

2. Each mining claim shall consist of 150 feet from the
place of beginning and running up or down the gulch or
stream upon which it may be located, and extending from
bluff to bluff on said gulch or stream, unless said bluffs be
more than 250 feet from each other.

3. [Because claims could not be worked in the winter]
No claim shall be considered forfeited from the first of De-
cember to the first of June, on Oro Fino Creek, nor on the
tributaries thereof, from the first of December until the first

of April.
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4. All claims shall be considered forfeited within fifteen
days from said dates if not worked.

5. All claims shall be worked at least one day in seven,
otherwise they are considered forfeited.

12. Any citizen may hold one creek, one hill, and one
ravine claim.

14. Any person disabled by sickness shall not forfeit his
claim.

15. Claims shall be distinctly marked by notices at each
end of the bounds thereof, in the name of the claimant, and
no more ground shall be deemed claimed than are included
in such notices.

16. Any person, who by proof, shall pull down or de-
stroy any notice on any mining claim, or the laws of this
district, shall be fined in any sum that the miner’s court of
enquiry may direct.

17. No person who may hold a mining claim, shall for-
feit said claim by reason of being compelled to leave the
district for provisions for himself or company; Provided, he
does not absent himelf for a longer period than twenty-five
days.

18. Any person or persons who may have grievance to
settle, shall do so by arbitration; each party choosing a per-
son to settle the matter, and in case they cannot agree, for
the two arbiters to choose a third arbiter, a majority of
whom shall settle the difference; and in case they do not
settle the matter, then a call for a miners’ meeting, who
shall assemble and settle such matter as they may deem fit.

24. These laws to be amended hereafter, at the option of
the miners, and to take effect from and after their passage.

M. More, Chairman
John W. Park, secretary®

“M. More,” the chairman who signed the proclamation, may
have been J. Marion More, a native of Tennessee, who had gone
to California in 1850, joined the Clearwater rush in 1861, rep-
resented the miners in the Washington legislature in 1861, and
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lobbied for the creation of a new territory for the miners.? He and
his colleagues in the Oro Fino District set up a do-it-yourself
kind of jurisprudence that had been widely applied in Califor-
nia, Nevada, and Colorado and would apply until county gov-
ernment was established. (Local laws were recognized by the
federal government in 1866 and codified into laws in 1872.) Be-
cause the men had made their own rules, they felt free to take
the law into their own hands if there was violence or robbery.
Little attention was paid to due process.

Early in 1861 Sergeant Smith returned to Walla Walla with
$800 worth of gold dust. The dust was shipped to Portland, and
within days—just about the time of the booming of cannon at
Fort Sumter, South Carolina—hundreds of fortune-seekers were
on their way to Pierce City. A new mining camp, Oro Fino, was
founded about two miles from Pierce City and about forty miles
north of the present Idaho city of the same name.

In this beautiful Clearwater Valley, surrounded on all sides
by trees, one thousand persons were reported present by May
1861, including two hundred French, Spanish, Mexicans, and
Dutch, and about a dozen families with women and children.
The steamer Colonel Wright operated on the Snake River, which
meant that miners could ship to within fifty or sixty miles of the
mines. An enterprising young Nez Perce named Reuben built a
ferry across the Snake River at the mouth of the Clearwater,
which suggests that at least some of the Nez Perce were not ob-
jecting to this “invasion” of their land so long as it did not inter-
fere with their hunting and root lands. There was widespread
belief that this was the biggest find since the California gold
fields of 1849. Word was that a man could make eight to ten
dollars a day.

Although the original miners in Pierce City were mostly from
Oregon and Washington, those arriving in the summer of 1861
and succeeding years were mostly from California or returnees
from the Fraser River stampede. The men chartered steamers
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from Victoria and San Francisco and then went up the Columbia
to the confluence of the Snake and Clearwater rivers. A leading
steamer on the Columbia was the Idaho—a name that had origi-
nally been proposed in 1859 for Colorado Territory and that was
still used at Idaho Springs, a small village beneath Mount Evans
west of Denver. Because so many of the miners en route to
Clearwater area had sailed on the Idaho, persons often referred
to them as ldahoans, a name that proved to be prophetic.

Steamship passengers landed at a location on Indian land
where, in June 1861, the town of Lewiston was established.
Named after Meriwether Lewis (of Lewis and Clark fame), the
town for a year or two had so many tent houses that it was nick-
named “rag town.” Overnighters could stay at the Luna House,
a flimsy structure with canvas roof and walls and an earthen
floor, managed by Hill Beachy, of whom more later. In 1862
eggs were $1 per dozen, butter $1 per pound, and whisky $3 to
$5 per gallon.

One of those who rushed to the Idaho mines in 1862 was
Alonzo Leland, a native of Vermont who had gone to Oregon in
1850. He lost his Idaho mine to claim-jumpers and returned to
Lewiston to help John H. Scranton and others establish a news-
paper, The Golden Age—ldaho’s first and its leading newspaper
until 1863.

Some contemporaries complained of the lawlessness around
Lewiston. Such outlaw activity appeared near most of the gold
mines. Among so many men with so little governmental supervi-
sion some foul play was inevitable. In the summer of 1862 gangs
of highwaymen occasionally held up a miner thought to be car-
rying dust, so even complete strangers often banded together
and traveled in groups to be able to defend themselves if held
up. Pat Ford, who conducted a Spanish dancehouse in Oro
Fino, was killed by one of these groups, supposedly because he
recognized some of them and would betray them.*

That same summer Henry Plummer, a professional gambler,
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was in north Idaho for a month or two. There were contemporary
rumors that he operated one roadhouse between Lewiston and
Walla Walla and another between Lewiston and Oro Fino and
that he and his “gang” robbed men of valuable property. Histor-
ical research has failed to find solid evidence to support these
accusations. Later Plummer was hanged by a vigilante group in
Montana. (At the time Plummer was hanged the area was still
Idaho, but no one today thinks of the vigilantes of Virginia City,
Idaho.) Men in Lewiston formed their own vigilante group in
1863 and arrested and hanged three men for the robberies of
three miners. Other outlaws fled.

By the end of June 1861 about 3,000 men resided in the
mines, and more were coming in by the hundreds. Impatient
with the failure of Olympia to organize the area politically, the
miners held a mass meeting at which Shoshone County—the
first county in what is now Idaho—was organized and officers
elected. The two-story log courthouse at Pierce City, still stand-
ing and one of the oldest public buildings in Idaho, served as
Shoshone County’s official courthouse until 1884. Application
was made for a post office. The community was thriving. Many
thousands of dollars in gold dust were being carried out at every
opportunity. By the middle of the summer of 1861, according to
the contemporary Oregon City Statesman, Oro Fino had six res-
taurants, two hotels, twenty whiskey shops, ten gambling sa-
loons, two bakeries, one watchmaker, thirty stores, one book-
store, one barbershop, four meat markets, three doctors’
offices—in all, seventy-five buildings.

There were northerners and southerners, farmers and profes-
sors, stoics and profligates, preachers and merchants. There
was plenty to quarrel about, even to fight about. It is remarkable
that there was so little crime. In the end, wrote W. A. Goulder,
who spent four years in the Clearwater region in the early
1860s, they “were fused and blended and moulded into a people
that have given us the model political community that we are to-
day proud to call the State of Idaho.™
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Captain Pierce had always believed that the “show” of gold at
Pierce City was an indication of a rich central deposit that would
eventually be found in the Clearwater region. Prospectors
spread out in every direction. One group of fifty-two left Oro
Fino in May 1861 to explore the south fork of the Clearwater.
The Nez Perce warned them that the area was closed, and half of
the group turned back. Willing to risk war—or perhaps quite
sure that the Nez Perce would stop short of that alternative—the
other half obstinately continued when Nez Perce backs were
turned. In June, with no Indian intervention, they found gold at
a place they called Elk City about sixty miles south of Pierce
and Oro Fino. Gold was also found at Newsome, a few miles
northwest of Elk City.

Another party of twenty-three left Oro Fino in July 1861 and
on August 12 found gold on the Salmon River, fifty miles south-
west of Elk City and about 110 miles southeast of Lewiston.
There were showings in several locations, but the basic settle-
ment was placed at Florence, where the Summit District was or-
ganized on September 16. These mines were also within the Nez
Perce reservation. The Indians took the strongest measures
short of war to prevent a rush, but without success.

From the workings at Pierce City and Oro Fino, Elk City and
Newsome, and the Florence area about $3 million worth of gold
dust was transported down the Columbia by express companies
on Oregon Steam Navigation Company boats. Much more may
have been carried out personally by the miners. (The Oregon
Steam Navigation Company had been formed in 1860, as if in
anticipation of the Idaho miners’ rush that began in 1861.)

The winter of 186162 was severe and prolonged, not only in
the mining areas but throughout the Northwest. The Clearwater,
the Snake, and even the Columbia froze over; boat transporta-
tion was impossible. Cattle died by the thousands, as did many
travelers and settlers. Despite the heavy snowfall, ice-choked
streams, and bitter wind, the trails to Oro Fino and to Florence
were kept open. Some miners using Norwegian snowshoes (skis)
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succeeded in beating their way through.® The nearby Nez Perce,
having been taught principles of compassion and helpfulness by
the missionaries, furnished food, medicine, and other supplies.’
(Judging by their treatment of Lewis and Clark, they might have
done so anyway.)

The long winter evenings were devoted to reading old news-
papers and available books. Goulder found one person who had
a nearly complete set of the novels of the Sir Walter Scott. His
cabinmates agreed to buy the books if Goulder would read them
aloud evenings. In the process Goulder read aloud all of Scott’s
stories except The Fair Maid of Perth, which he decided was
unsuitable for “a wild mining camp.” Goulder also says there
were games of chess and weekly meetings of the Oro Fino Ly-
ceum and Debating Club.?

There was drinking, of course. Saloonkeepers employed men
to carry kegs of alcohol, together with what Goulder called vials
of chemicals that would convert the alcohol into the “mildly ex-
hilarating fluids of various names and colors, and flavors to suit
the whims and tastes of his customers.” Wrote Goulder: “With
my own eyes | have seen a very superior quality of both Bourbon
and Cognac manufactured in five minutes from alcohol, water,
and burnt sugar, with a slight admixture of other ingredients,
the compound equaling, in its most desired effects, the best im-
ported beverages of the most ancient vintage.™

Beginning in 1862, tired of waiting for government service,
the miners employed Israel Burr Cowen, a native of Wisconsin
who had gone to California in 1849 and remained there twelve
years, to carry the mail the eighty miles each way between
Pierce City and Lewiston. He used snowshoes during the win-
ter. He also served as probate judge for Shoshone County, was
later sheriff, and still later a county commissioner. Cowen per-
formed the mail service on foot, taking ten days each way, car-
rying a load of between sixty and eighty pounds on his back, in
addition to his blankets and provisions. The task was rendered
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all the more difficult because he was club-footed, his crippled
foot making a track at right angles with the other.'°

Another who carried mail and express between Lewiston and
Pierce City in the early sixties was Joaquin Miller (Cincinnatus
Heine Miller), who subsequently went to Oregon and also
served as a pony express messenger. He later achieved recogni-
tion for his poetry, especially in England, where he attained
fame as a frontier poet—“The Byron of Oregon.” Unfortunately,
some of his statements about Idaho in his autobiographical
Memorie and Rime (1884) are not entirely trustworthy.

As word of the richness of the Salmon River mines spread,
several thousand Argonauts moved in. Approximately 10,000
flocked to that basin in June 1862. But not enough mines ex-
isted to serve all the newcomers at any of the locations, so many
of the new arrivals turned elsewhere for possible opportunities.
Among these was James Warren, who on July 22, 1862, organ-
ized a settlement just south of the Salmon called Warrens.
(Secesh Valley in the Warrens District was named for the many
Confederates who worked there.) Another group went south to
prospect in Boise Basin.

The Florence area gave the richest promise. Situated near the
center of a high basin surrounded by snow-capped mountains,
the hundreds of burning campfires gave the appearance of an
army camp. Because of the high altitude Florence had severe
frost almost every night during the summer of 1862, and on July
3 of that year there was a blinding snowstorm. Nevertheless
prospectors continued to come, not only from California and the
Pacific Northwest, but also from Missouri, Minnesota, and Col-
orado, by riverboat, horseback, and stagecoach.

In the summer of 1862 one party heading for the Salmon
River mines strayed from its course long enough to prospect on
the upper Missouri, then on the westernmost border of Dakota
Territory. Their discovery of gold at Grasshopper Creek and the
organization of a miners’ district at East Bannack in August
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1862 resulted in a miners’ rush to what is now western Montana.
Many of the miners left Florence and headed for East Bannack
by the Nez Perce Trail. When prospectors discovered Alder
Gulch early in 1863, Virginia City (Montana) became a new
mining center. There were more than 11,000 people in Madison
County, where Alder Gulch was located, by 1864. An even
more important discovery was made that year in Last Chance
Gulch, from which Helena emerged. Clearly it was becoming
more and more difficult to administer Washington Territory from
Olympia and, to the east, Dakota Territory from Yankton.

In the meantime the throng of prospectors spreading over the
region discovered gold in the Boise Basin on August 2, 1862.
The members of this little party, led by George Grimes and Mo-
ses Splawn, had scarcely reached the scene of their discovery
before they were reportedly attacked by hostile Indians and
Grimes was killed. The group went back to Walla Walla, re-
cruited additional prospectors, and returned to the basin to re-
sume their search. They found paying quantities of dust at sev-
eral locations, with some claims extraordinarily rich. William
Purvine reported from Grimes Creek on October 14 that the new
placers were yielding $18 a day. The mad rush was on.

J. Marion More led the party that on October 7 founded Ban-
nack, which became the leading city in the basin. Because the
reinforced Grimes-Splawn party claimed all the workable prop-
erties in the area of their first discovery, latecomers named it
the Hog-Em District (later named Pioneerville) and went on to
found other districts at Placerville, Centerville, Buena Vista,
and West Bannack (later named Idaho City). More reported that
a claim near Placerville had been returning $300 per day and
that Lyman Shaffer had found a good quartz lode there. Reports
of astonishingly rich claims kept the rush going throughout most
of the winter, with a speed-up in the spring of 1863. At Placer-
ville ditches were dug, sluices installed, and miners were hard
at work using the water in the spring run-off. By June the
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Placerville area had a population of 2,000, eighty-seven frame
and log houses, thirteen saloons, five blacksmith shops, seven
restaurants, and five meat markets that dispensed two tons of
beef daily.'' By the end of 1863, 16,000 miners lived in Boise
Basin, and they had taken out $6 million in gold dust.

Thirty miles in a straight line northeast of the present city of
Boise, the basin was a deep, saucer-like, timbered tract of 150
square miles among the mountains. Five hundred miles from
Olympia and continuing to increase in numbers, the miners in
the basin could hardly be denied having their own territory.
More, who continued to represent them in the Washington Leg-
islature, lobbied with the hope of establishing a new territory.

Most of the thousand who joined the 1863 rush to the basin
sailed up the Columbia to Umatilla and then took a pack train or
saddle train over the Blue Mountains, through the Grande
Ronde Valley, and across a long stretch of alkaline desert to the
diggings. The first saddle train, which arrived in the Boise
Basin in April 1863 with sixteen passengers, was under the
management of John Hailey. A native of Tennessee who had
moved to Missouri, Hailey went to Oregon in 1853 when he was
eighteen and moved on to the Florence mines in 1862. There he
decided to become a packer and stage driver in time to serve the
rush to Boise Basin in 1863—64. He later became ldaho’s dele-
gate to Congress and secretary of the Idaho State Historical
Society, and he wrote an informative History of Idaho that gen-
erations of readers have found fascinating. Stage service to the
Boise rushers was also provided by the noted transportation
entrepreneur Ben Holladay, who had established the Overland
Stage Line from Kansas to Salt Lake City and triweekly service
from Salt Lake City to Boise and Walla Walla.

Within a year of its founding, Idaho City (still called West
Bannack with the Montana spelling) had 6,167 people, includ-
ing 360 women and 224 children, and 250 businesses. These
included a printing office, eight bakeries, nine restaurants,
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twenty-five saloons, forty variety stores, fifteen doctors, twenty-
five attorneys, seven blacksmith shops, four sawmills, two den-
tists, three express offices, five auctioneers, three drugstores,
four butcher shops, three billiard tables, two bowling alleys,
three painters, one photographer, three livery stables, four
breweries, one harness shop, one mattress factory, and two jew-
elers.'* There were also Protestant and Catholic churches, a
school, a hospital, and a theater. Three additional theaters were
founded the ensuing winter. Idaho City was now the largest city
in the Northwest, even greater than Portland.

The rush was filling the basin. By the end of September
1863, Placerville had 3,254 people; Fort Hogem or Pioneer
City, 2,743; and Centerville, 2,638. Boise City, which had just
been founded in July, had about one thousand. Many of the
newcomers had come from north Idaho. By the fall of 1863
Pierce City was down to 508; Florence, 575; Warrens, 660; Elk
City, 472; and Lewiston, 414. Of the 16,000 in the basin, about
half were miners and the other half merchants, artisans, and
professional people.'* The Boise News was first published Sep-
tember 29, 1863, on a printing press secured from Walla Walla.
One of the newspaper carriers was James H. Hawley, later gov-
ernor of Idaho and author of a four-volume History of Idaho. A
large number of newcomers were emigrants from Missouri and
Arkansas, bent on escaping the guerrilla warfare in their states.
They brought “nice” girls, and there were many marriages.

To protect the miners from hostile Indians a military post was
established on the Boise River on July 4, 1863, and called Fort
Boise. The military had reached Boise on June 30 and selected
their fort site on July 4, the day of Lee’s battle at Gettysburg and
Grant’s capture of Vicksburg. The new Fort Boise had no con-
nection with the old Hudson’s Bay Company trading post that
went under the same name. The location of the new fort, with its
tasteful buildings of sandstone and fine parade ground, was the
beginning of Boise City—platted July 7 by a small group of local
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settlers. Boise City thus arose as a trading, not a mining, town,
and a year and a half later it was also the state capital. Located
in the center of a smooth valley of the Boise River—a valley
about fifty miles long by five or six in width—it had an agricul-
tural capacity and was soon producing food for the miners and
feed for the livestock. By the fall of 1865 it had about 2,000
inhabitants. An eastern journalist who visited was impressed:
“The broad, level, treeless avenues, with their low, white,
verandahed warehouses, log-cabins, neat cottages and ever-
shifting panorama of wagons and coaches, Indians, miners,
farmers, and speculators remind one of a prairie town in Kansas
or lowa.”™"*

In tandem with the mining boom came a steady growth of
farmers and homesteaders hoping to earn income by filling the
demand for food and feed. In 1864 Robert, John, and Alexander
McKenzie joined the goldseekers moving eastward along the Or-
egon Trail to the new Eldorado in Boise Basin. They stopped at
a pleasant site on the Boise River just north of Black Canyon,
about twenty-five miles downriver from Boise. There they built a
cabin where Robert’s wife came to live the next year. Some
other families settled on the strip of land bordering the river at a
community later called Middleton. Many of them were refugees
from the Confederate South; others were mostly from the Mid-
west. Some of these people cleared land and planted crops. The
venture proved profitable: peddlers came by every week or two
to buy whatever the settlers had to sell and take it to the mines.
Ninety percent of the heads of household in Middleton in the
1870 census were farmers or farm workers, many of whom also
had ties with nearby mining areas. Nearly all the land between
Boise City and the canyon was claimed by such would-be home-
steaders. So well developed did the farming become that a grist-
mill was founded at Middleton in 1869.'°

The rush to Boise Basin kept up during the winter of
1863—64 and gained momentum during the spring. Production
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figures for the richer claims were high. On one of them, six men
realized $1,000 in one twenty-four-hour day; in another, six
men made seventy-two ounces in a twenty-four-hour day, worth
a little more than $1,000; in a third seven men recovered thirty-
five pounds of gold in nine days, worth perhaps $8,500. While
water was available, the work went on twenty-four hours a day,
day after day. The water supply began to fail around the end of
May, but before that happened, a mine near Idaho City earned
$15,000 in one week in May, less $7,000 in expenses, leaving
$8,000 in profit for the four partners. '

Early in 1863 there were other placer discoveries along the
south fork of the Boise River at Rocky Bar, about sixty miles
from Idaho City, and in August other discoveries at nearby
Atlanta. Both eventually became rich quartz districts.

In May a party of miners under the leadership of Michael
Jordan prospected a gold-rich stream, named Jordan Creek, in
the Owyhee Mountains about one hundred miles south of Boise
Basin. They located a bar called Discovery Bar just above what
became Delamar. The men held a miners’ meeting, organized a
district, established rules, and continued their prospecting up
the creek, where they established Happy Camp and appropri-
ated the better ground before the inevitable rush. When word of
this discovery reached the basin, some 2,500 men hurried to the
new diggings.

The initial Jordan Creek placers that were worked that sum-
mer before the water gave out yielded $15 to $18 per day. Gold-
bearing gravel was shoveled directly into sluices, and bedrock
was only three to six feet below the surface. The work continued
through 1864, but by the end of that season most of the placers
were finished.

The first camp in the Owyhee District, as laid out in the sum-
mer of 1863, was Boonville. The name of the settlement was
later changed to Dewey in honor of Colonel W. H. Dewey, a pio-
neer mining entrepreneur in the district. A little later Ruby City
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was founded, to be eventually absorbed by Silver City. All were
very rich producing areas.

Virtually all of the mining in Idaho from 1860 to 1864 was
placer mining, the simplest kind of mining. The earth’s core be-
ing hot, the molten metal oozed up over time through cracks and
crevices. In the millions of years of geologic formation, moun-
tains thrust up, and with erosion these mineral veins cropped
out. With further erosion loose fragments or nuggets were mixed
with gravel and could be found underneath the surface of exist-
ing and extinct streambeds. In some cases the action of the ele-
ments broke up the nuggets into infinitesimally fine fragments,
so that the gold resembled a kind of flour. It was nevertheless
separable with the use of quicksilver (mercury), which clung to
the gold and could be separated later by heating.

Prospectors were often young men, some not much more than
boys, working with one or more experienced older men, nearly
all unmarried. As a group of them, usually four to ten, went to a
likely area, they took along food and equipment enough to last
several weeks and shovels, picks, axes, and gold pans. They
were heavily armed to prevent robbery. They usually walked,
leading their pack animals. As they came to a likely-looking
gulch, streambed, or hillside ledge, they dug down to bedrock
and panned for specks of gold. If, after several tries, they aver-
aged seven cents of gold dust in the pan (gold dust was worth
about $15 per fine ounce), they would stake out a claim. After
testing the whole area for a mile or two around to see if the field
was worth working, they would stake off individual claims and
organize a miners’ district.

Placer gold was attractive because it could be mined with
simple devices—and hard work. The gold was initially located
by using a pan, perhaps twelve to eighteen inches in diameter
and between three and four inches deep. The sand and gravel to
be tested were placed in the pan and submerged in water. The
pan was swirled in a circular motion and the heavier material

199



200

HISTORY OF IDAHO

(gold is very heavy) settled on the bottom. Lighter material was
poured off, additional water was added, and the same process
repeated until the “dust” was recovered. A few verifiable flakes
might be worth seven or eight cents per pan—enough to make
the work worthwhile.

When the prospectors settled down to more permanent min-
ing, they often used a rocker—a wooden frame about four feet
long, a foot or two wide, and two feet high. On top was a hopper
with a piece of perforated sheet iron as its bottom. Below the
hopper was an apron of canvas or cloth below which were a se-
ries of cleats or blocks called riffles that caught the gold and
heavier material as the water washed through. Sand and gravel
would be shoveled into the hopper and water was poured in as
the frame rocked. Some of the gold was caught in the apron. As
the water and gold-bearing solution passed over the riffles the
heavier gold was caught behind the riffles. '’

If a running stream could be dammed and diverted to the
claim, as at Oro Fino and Florence and to a lesser extent in
Boise Basin, miners installed a string of sluice boxes or a flume
with riffles across the bottom to catch the gold as it sank while
running water carried away the rest of what was shoveled into
the sluices. Lumber from the trees on the hillside was whip-
sawed to make the flumes and sluice boxes. The working of a
claim usually required several men—two men to shovel gravel
into the sluice boxes; another to fish out the boulders carried
down by the stream; a fourth to throw the wasted sand and gravel
as far as he could; a fifth to pour quicksilver into the moving
mass of water, sand, gravel, and boulders; two others to strip the
overburden from the sand and gravel.

Some companies worked both day and night shifts. Obvi-
ously, the finding had to be rich to bring a return to all of these
partners. In order for each of these seven men to earn $8 per
day, their operations would have to yield four ounces of dust.
Many reported that the Clearwater claims averaged that much
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for at least four years.'® Not only was the process tedious, mining
was hard physical labor. The typical picture of a mining district
is not one of shooting up saloons and robbing the stage and ex-
press companies, but of hundreds of men toiling in the hot sun
to earn a worthwhile pouch of dust. The men who laid the foun-
dations for establishing Idaho were hard workers—persistent,
patient, and, at times, rewarded.

According to Goulder, all the operations ceased on Saturday
evening. Sundays were devoted to paying the workers, repairing
equipment, purchasing supplies and provisions, card-playing,
and “socializing.” In Oro Fino the Wells Fargo express man ar-
rived from Walla Walla on Sunday noon after three days on the
trail. He brought papers carrying news of the Civil War, letters
from loved ones, and packages with supplies.

The circulating medium of gold-rush society consisted pri-
marily of gold dust. Shortly after the Civil War began, the
United States government found it impossible to maintain the
gold standard (a fixed quantity of gold backing the currency and
gold coins in circulation) and so, beginning in 1861, the govern-
ment went on a paper basis by issuing United States Notes.
These were called greenbacks because of their color. Green-
backs were not well received, especially in the West, where
they were called “Lincoln Skins.” Until that time, the only pa-
per money consisted of notes issued by state-chartered banks,
business corporations, partnerships, and individuals. These
notes were printed on all sorts of paper, were of various sizes
and designs, and were almost always inadequately secured by
gold. Counterfeiting was easy and commonly practiced. Indeed,
the nation was flooded with what was called “shin-plaster”
money that was largely worthless. Having no need for paper
money, the people in Idaho’s gold country simply used gold dust
or nuggets. There was no gold coin; the government had with-
drawn it and private individuals were not yet set up with a mint.

The dust was passed by weight. Small purchases, as for a
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glass of whiskey, were made in terms of pinches, a pinch being
the amount of gold dust that could be raised out of a miner’s
pouch between the thumb and forefinger. In fact, a phrase often
used in the financial world, “How much can you raise in a
pinch,” originated in California in 1849, when employers were
concerned that their clerks have large hands so they could raise
a satisfactory amount in a pinch. A bartender customarily wet
his thumb and forefinger before dipping it into the miner’s bag
of gold dust. The dry dust would be dropped into the saloon’s till
and the dust that clung to his finger would be rubbed off in his
vest pocket as his “tip” on the transaction.

There were problems with this kind of payment because not
all gold dust was equally valuable. Some persons added a little
sand to the gold dust to increase its bulk and weight; others
made imitation gold dust (“bogus”) using base metals. Indeed,
Bogus Basin, now a popular ski resort, was named for counter-
feiters headquartered there who substituted colored lead for
gold dust to increase their assets. Even authentic placer gold
varied in richness because some silver was always mixed with
it. The prevalence of impure gold dust caused some merchants
to raise the price of their goods by twenty-five or fifty percent.
Saloonkeepers sometimes compensated for adulterated gold
dust by providing their scales with heavier weights; honest pur-
chasers were thus short-changed.’”® When persons presented
greenbacks for payment, they were depreciated from their face
value, sometimes to as low as 35 cents on the dollar. A store
would sell an article for $1 in gold or $3 in greenbacks. Most of
the greenbacks that reached the region were picked up by mer-
chants and sent east to pay for merchandise or to pay taxes.
Nevertheless, even when greenbacks circulated far below par,
some merchants preferred them because of experiences with bo-
gus and varying value.

Idaho has always been, historically, a “hard money” state,
preferring gold and silver, when possible, to paper. That tradi-
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tion began with the very founding of the territory during the gold
rush. Idahoans have been suspicious of paper money, and since
many transactions during the early years were in gold and sil-
ver, the use of metal currency became a strong habit.

D. E. Livingston-Little estimates the production in the Nez
Perce and Salmon River camps during the years 1860 to 1866
as follows: Elk City, $2.7 million; Pierce, $2.8 million; War-
rens, $4.5 million; Newsome, $400,000; and Florence, $9.6
million. Production in north Idaho was estimated as $1,000 in
1860, $2.4 million in 1861, $8.4 million in 1862, $4.5 million
in 1863, $4 million in 1864, $2.4 million in 1865, and $2.1
million in 1866.%° The mines in the Boise Basin, worked for a
longer period of time, produced perhaps $66 million in gold.

In subsequent years prospectors would discover numerous
deposits of quartz gold and “lodes” and “veins” of gold and sil-
ver. A new kind of mineral activity emerged. But in the mean-
time, Washington Territory had difficulty controlling these
thousands of citizens located so far away from Olympia who in
fact represented a majority of the citizens of Washington Terri-
tory. Puget Sound residents, fearful of losing control, realized
that it was necessary to split off the rapidly growing eastern
portion.

CHAPTER NINE: SOURCES

Especially detailed and well-researched are Merle W. Wells, Gold
Camps and Silver Cities, Bulletin 22 of the Idaho Bureau of Mines and
Geology, 2d ed. (Moscow: The Bureau, 1983), which gives the history
of mining activity in the Boise Basin and Owyhee County in the
1860s; and Merle W. Wells, Rush to Idaho, Bulletin No. 19 of the
Idaho Bureau of Mines and Geology (Moscow: The Bureau, 1961), a
history of mining in north Idaho in the 1860s.

General histories of Idaho and parts of Idaho that include substan-
tial sections on early mining activities include: Hubert Howe
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Bancroft, History of Washington, ldaho, and Montana, 1845-1889
(San Francisco: The History Company, 1890), 406—41 et passim;
John Hailey, The History of Idaho (Boise: Syms-York Co., 1910),
19—44, 61-76, 91-99; W. J. McConnell, Early History of Idaho
(Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1913), 55—110; Hiram T. French, His-
tory of Idaho, 3 vols. (Chicago: Lewis Publishing Co., 1914),
1:26—39; Hawley, History of Idaho, 1:115-31; Merle Wells and Ar-
thur A. Hant, Idaho: Gem of the Mountains (Northridge, Calif.: Wind-
sor Publications, 1985), 35—51; Brosnan, History of the State of
Idaho, 135—75; Defenbach, Idaho: The Place and Its People,
1:257—342; Beal and Wells, History of Idaho, 1:281-324; Peterson,
Idaho: A Bicentennial History, 54—68; and Livingston-Little, An Eco-
nomic History of North Idaho, 23—52.

Local histories that have important chapters on early mining in-
clude: M. Alfreda Elsensohn, Pioneer Days in Idaho County, 2 vols.
(Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1947—51); Annie Laurie Bird, Boise, the
Peace Valley (Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1934); Merle Wells, Boise:
An lllustrated History (Woodland Hills, Calif.: Windsor Publications,
1982); and Harry B. Averill, John M. Henderson, and William S.
Schiach, An lllustrated History of North Idaho (n.p.: n.p., 1903).

The books of Idaho history written for young people also include
chapters or units on early mining in Idaho.

All of the general histories of the American West and the Pacific
Northwest have substantial sections on early mining in Idaho. Histo-
ries of mining in the West that include helpful information about min-
ing in early Idaho include: William S. Greever, The Bonanza West:
The Story of the Western Mining Rushes, 1848—1900 (Norman: Uni-
versity of Oklahoma Press, 1963; rpr., Moscow: University of Idaho
Press, 1991); T. A. Rickard, A History of American Mining (New
York: The Macmillan Co., 1932); Clark C. Spence, British Investment
and the American Mining Frontier, 1860—1901 (Ithaca, N.Y.: Cor-
nell University Press, 1958); Muriel S. Wolle, The Bonanza Trail:
Ghost Towns and Mining Camps in the West (Bloomington: Indiana
University Press, 1953); John Fahey, The Ballyhoo Bonanza: Charles
Sweeny and the Idaho Mines (Seattle: University of Washington Press,
1971); Rodman W. Paul, Mining Frontiers of the Far West,



GOLD RUSH

1848-1880 (New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1963); Clyde
P. Ross, Mining History of South-Central Idaho (Moscow: Idaho Bu-
reau of Mines and Geology, 1963); William J. Trimble, The Mining
Advance into the Inland Empire, Bulletin of the University of Wiscon-
sin, No. 638 (Madison: University of Wisconsin, 1914); Vardis Fisher
and Opal Laurel Holmes, Gold Rushes and Mining Camps of the Early
American West (Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1968).

A series of nine articles appeared in the issues of Idaho Yesterdays
from the fall of 1959 to the summer of 1962 reprinting original news-
paper accounts of the Clearwater gold rush and the Salmon River rush
to Florence. These clarify the Idaho gold discovery just as it was re-
ported in contemporary papers. Other articles, in addition to those
mentioned in the notes, include: Merle W. Wells, “History of Mining
in Idaho,” in Idaho’s Mineral Industry, Bulletin No. 18 of the ldaho
Bureau of Mines and Geology (Moscow: The Bureau, 1961), 9-18;
and August C. Bolino, The Role of Mining in the Economic Develop-
ment of Idaho Territory, Information Circular No. 6, Idaho Bureau of
Mines and Geology (Moscow: The Bureau, 1960), a reprint from
Oregon Historical Quarterly 59 (June 1958):116—51.

Several numbers in the Idaho Historical Society Reference Series
discuss aspects of the mining history of Idaho. A personal history
written with literary flair, which contains significant material on early
mining history, is William Armistead Goulder, Reminiscences: Inci-
dents in the Life of a Pioneer in Oregon and Idaho (repr., Moscow:
University of Idaho Press, 1990), 196—242. An early account of the
plunderers and murderers by an unknown author is The Banditti of
the Rocky Mountains and Vigilance Committee in Idaho: An Authentic
Record of Startling Adventures in the Gold Mines of Idaho (Chicago,
1865; repr. Minneapolis: Ross & Haines, 1964).

Theses and dissertations that treat Idaho mining history include:
Robert Wayne Smith, “History of Placer and Quartz Gold Mining in
the Coeur d’Alene District” (M. A. thesis, University of Idaho, 1932);
Ralph Burcham, Jr., “Reminiscences of E. D. Pierce, Discoverer of
Gold in Idaho” (Ph.D. dissertation, Washington State College, 1957);
Ralph Burcham, Jr., “Elias Davidson Pierce, Discoverer of Gold in
Idaho: A Biographical Sketch” (M.A. thesis, University of Idaho,
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1951); and Robert L. Romig, “The South Boise Quartz Mines, 1865—
1892: A Study in Western Mining Industry and Finance” (M.A. thes-
is, University of California, Berkeley, 1951).

Also helpful are Otis E. Young, “The Prospectors: Some Consider-
ations on their Craft,” in John Alexander Carroll, ed., Reflections of
Western Historians (Tucson: University of Arizona Press, 1969),
121-33; and Elliott West, The Saloon on the Rocky Mountain Mining
Frontier (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1979).
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CHAPTER TEN

The Creation of Idaho Territory

HE United States was experiencing its worst moments in
1863. The Civil War battle of Gettysburg occurred in late
June and early July and left almost fifty thousand men
wounded, killed, or missing. The battles of Chancellorsville,
Vicksburg, Chickamauga, and Chattanooga were not quite as
deadly, but they were destructive and troubling. In addition, the
nation had sought to regulate its banking system in the interests
of financing the war by passage of the National Banking Act,
general conscription had been ordered, and the Homestead Act
of the previous year had been designed to increase the supply of
food and fiber by promoting agricultural expansion in the West.
The miners’ rush into the Clearwater region (Pierce City, Oro
Fino, Elk City), into Salmon River (Florence, Warrens), into
Boise Basin (Idaho City, Centerville, Placerville), along with
Rocky Bar, Atlanta, and Owyhee, had proceeded apace. By
1863 there were (in addition to the Indians) almost a thousand
persons in Clearwater, another five hundred in Florence, per-
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haps twenty thousand in Boise Basin and Owyhee, and twelve
thousand additional in East Bannack and Virginia City. The
time was ripe for the creation of a new territory.

From the era of Lewis and Clark’s expedition until 1820,
Idaho was included in what was known as the Columbia River
Country. After 1820 the region was called the Oregon Country,
and it included what later became the states of Oregon, Wash-
ington, Idaho, western Montana, western Wyoming, and the
southern two-thirds of British Columbia. (Most of Montana and
Wyoming were in Indian Country—earlier part of Louisiana
Territory.) When the British Columbia region was awarded to
England in the Treaty of 1846, the northern border of the United
States was fixed at the forty-ninth parallel. In 1848 Congress
established Oregon Territory; Washington, Idaho, western Mon-
tana, and western Wyoming became part of that huge land area.
In 1853 Oregon Territory was split when Congress created
Washington Territory for the benefit of the 4,000 or fewer scat-
tered settlers north of the Columbia River. Washington Territory
thus formed the northern half and Oregon Territory the southern
half of the enormous geographic area that had been Oregon
Territory for five years. Northern Idaho was in Washington Ter-
ritory and central and southern Idaho remained in Oregon Ter-
ritory.

In 1859, when Oregon became a state, the area of it was
reduced to its present size. The remainder of Oregon and Wash-
ington territories was incorporated as part of the greatly
expanded Territory of Washington. That was the situation in
1860 when gold was discovered along the Clearwater River in
what is now Idaho. As the population of the region built up in
the Clearwater, Salmon, Boise Basin, and Owyhee districts—all
regarded as a part of eastern Washington territory, and all sepa-
rated from the territorial capital by towering mountain ranges
and semi-hostile Indians—consideration was given to creating a
new territory.
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Three proposals to establish the new territory were offered.
One proposal would place eastern Washington (east of the Cas-
cades), Idaho, and western Montana (some of which was in a
new territory) together with Walla Walla or Lewiston as the cap-
ital. Walla Walla and Lewiston favored this proposal, each hop-
ing to be the capital. The second proposal would extend the line
separating Oregon and Washington east; all above the line (east-
ern Washington, northern Idaho, and western Montana) would
be Washington Territory, with Walla Walla or Lewiston as the
capital, and all south of the line and east of Oregon would be in
a new territory to be called Montana Territory. This would in-
clude almost all of the Idaho and western Montana gold mining
regions and also Wyoming. The capital city would presumably
be Idaho City. An actual bill making these provisions was
passed by the United States House of Representatives on Febru-
ary 12, 1863, but was never implemented.

The third proposal, the one eventually adopted, provided that
the eastern border of Washington Territory should run straight
north from the eastern border of Oregon—due north from Lewis-
ton—and Olympia would remain the capital city of Washington.
The remainder—all of Idaho, all of Montana, and nearly all
of Wyoming—would be placed in a new territory to be called
Idaho Territory. Lewiston would be the provisional capital.
Eventually, everyone was sure, a new territory or territories
would have to be created out of this expansive region to serve
the needs of what would become, in due time, Montana and Wy-
oming.

Puget Sound interests obviously wanted to hold on to as much
territory as they could without giving up the capital of Olympia;
they left Washington with an area east of the Cascades that had
little in common with the coastal area, creating sectional prob-
lems that have plagued Washington ever since. On the other
hand, the city of Lewiston, as the connecting link with the min-

ing regions in the Clearwater and Salmon Mountains, wanted
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the boundary to extend as far west as possible. In this way Idaho
retained the western boundary of the new territory, and when
the state was admitted in 1890 the western border remained in-
tact.

Congress, of course, had expected the inland empire to be
settled slowly, over a period of several decades. The gold rush
to Idaho changed that perspective. When the Washington elec-
tions were held in 1861, the newly organized Shoshone County
cast more ballots than any other part of Washington, which
forced the Olympia people to acknowledge the need for a new
territory lest they lose control of their entire territory. Their
plan, the one eventually adopted, was to keep Washington as
large as possible and yet get rid of the mining population that
was now the controlling majority.

Abraham Lincoln on March 4, 1863, signed the Organic Act
creating Idaho Territory, the last great territory in the United
States. Covering an area of 325,000 square miles, the territory
was larger than Texas but smaller than Alaska. The advantage
of territorial government was that Congress supplied most of the
essential expenses to run the area. The disadvantage was that
those who ran the territory—governors, secretaries, supreme
court justices, attorneys, marshals, and other officials—were
appointed by the president of the United States and confirmed
by the Senate. They often had few roots in Idaho country. Even
the territorial legislatures, although elected by the voters in the
territory, were paid with federal funds. Along with executive
and judicial officials, they received supplementary pay from
Idaho’s treasury that doubled their salaries, but that was not
supposed to be needed. From 1863 on, territorial citizens
worked toward the goal of statehood by building stable commu-
nities, developing a constitution, and persuading Congress that
they were “ready.”

By the time Idaho Territory was created, it had four counties:
Shoshone, founded in 1861; Nez Perce, 1861; Idaho, 1861; and
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Boise, 1863. The territorial legislature consisted of a Council of
seven members and a House of Representatives of eleven mem-
bers. The seven members of the Council were from Boise (two),
Madison (Virginia City), Beaverhead, Idaho, Nez Perce, and
Shoshone counties. (Boise County included southeastern and
south central Idaho.) The eleven members of the House were
from Boise (five), Idaho (two), Nez Perce (one), Beaverhead
(one), Madison ( one), and Shoshone (one). The voters also
elected a territorial delegate to the U.S. House of Representa-
tives, who represented them in deliberations but without voting
privileges.

The name given to Idaho Territory is not easily explained. As
early as the fall of 1859 the miners in the Pike’s Peak region
held an election in what they called Jefferson Territory to elect a
territorial delegate to Congress to lobby for territorial status. For
various reasons the group was represented by three persons.
They soon learned that there was opposition to singling out a
particular United States president for honor in this way, and a
variety of other names was suggested: Lafayette, Columbus,
Franklin, San Juan, Yampa, Arapahoe, and ldaho. The last,
George M. Willing suggested, meant Gem of the Mountains.
Idaho seemed to be the preferred name. As James S. Green,
chairman of the U.S. Senate Committee on Territories, de-
clared: “Idaho is a very good name. In the Indian language [he
did not say which one] it signifies Gem of the Mountains. Some
had proposed the name of Colorado, because the Colorado River
is in that region; but Idaho being an Indian name, and its mean-
ing being Gem of the Mountains, as so much mineral is found
there, it may be very appropriate.”™

When promoters of that new territory discovered that Idaho
was not an Indian word, the name was changed to Colorado just
before passage. On February 28, 1861, President James Bu-
chanan signed the act that created the Territory of Colorado.
The name of Idaho was then used in a variety of ways in this de-
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veloping region. In June of 1860 a steamer was launched on the
Columbia bearing the name of Idaho. Later that same month the
town of Idaho, thirty-five miles west of Denver, received its
name; it later became Idaho Springs, Colorado. In October 1861
Nettie Idaho Jackson was born in Blackhawk, Colorado. On De-
cember 20, 1861, Idaho County, of Washington Territory, was
created as the third county in what is now Idaho (Nez Perce
County was the second). Finally, in 1863 the Territory of Idaho
was created with the legendary meaning of its name, “Gem of
the Mountains,” perpetuated.

The first governor of Idaho Territory was William H. Wal-
lace, a lawyer from Steilacoom, Washington. Born in Troy,
Ohio, in 1811, Wallace had moved with his family to Indiana
when he was six. When his older brother became governor of In-
diana in 1837, the younger Wallace moved to lowa, where he
served as speaker of the House and later as a member of the
Council. He became a colonel in the Iowa militia and a General
Land Office official before moving to the new territory of Wash-
ington in 1853. He continued his legislative career, becoming
president of the Washington Council in 1855—-56. When his
friend Abraham Lincoln became president, Wallace was ap-
pointed governor of Washington Territory, but before he could
take office he was elected delegate to Congress and declined the
governorship. Fully aware of the settlements in eastern Wash-
ington and of their need for a government closer than Olympia,
he used his considerable influence in Washington to secure the
passage of the Idaho Act establishing the territory.

Wallace assumed office in Lewiston on July 10, 1863, and
organized the government of the new territory that summer. He
designated Lewiston as the temporary capital; actually, Lewis-
ton was the only accessible “city” in the territory. Idaho City,
though much larger, was a new mining town which could be
reached only by saddle and pack animals, and was without a
wagon road or a post office. Boise City had not been founded by
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the time the Organic Act was passed. Lewiston at least had
stage and freighting lines connecting with steamboats at Wallula
for Portland.

But there was a technical problem, even with Lewiston. In a
strictly legal sense Lewiston was not in the territory. In 1855 a
treaty between the United States and the Nez Perce Indians had
confirmed their reservation, and both Florence and Lewiston
were within the reservation. Neither of those places could thus
be included within the territorial boundaries of Idaho until the
treaty was revised. Treaty negotiations reduced the reservation
on June 9, 1863, an action that most of those concerned ac-
cepted. Because some dissented, there were now two groups of
Nez Perce—those under Chief Timothy and Lawyer, his associ-
ate, who had agreed to relinquish Lewiston and the mining
lands, and the remainder whose lands were removed from the
reservation and who did not consider themselves bound by the
treaty. Because of U.S. Senate delays and blunderings in ratify-
ing the new treaty, Lewiston and Florence did not officially be-
come part of Idaho until April 20, 1867. In the meantime, how-
ever, the treaty had been signed, the nontreaty Indians did not
make a disturbance, and everyone acted as though Lewiston and
the mining lands were part of the territory.?

Another problem arose. Since Congress had created the terri-
tory in the closing hours of the final day of its session, no appro-
priations had been made for Idaho except those Wallace had
been instrumental in securing for the Indians. Wallace came to
believe that, because of his congressional and legislative expe-
rience as delegate from Washington Territory, he could obtain
the needed appropriations more easily than a newcomer, and so
he agreed to submit his name as territorial delegate to Congress.
Another consideration may have been his loyalty to Abraham
Lincoln and the Union and his feeling that his influence might
be helpful in keeping the territory loyal during the divisive war.
At any rate, he resigned as governor, won Idaho’s first election,
and left Lewiston for the national capital on December 6.
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At the first legislative session in Idaho held a day later, the
governor’s address was given by William B. Daniels, the territo-
rial secretary. Secretary Daniels, who had lived in Yamhill
County, Oregon, served as acting governor until Wallace’s
replacement, Caleb Lyon, arrived in August 1864. As acting
governor during the first legislative session, which lasted from
December 7, 1863, to February 4, 1864, Daniels supervised
the installation of the first territorial supreme court, consisting
of Sidney Edgerton, chief justice, who was assigned to the wild
area east of the Rockies; Samuel C. Parks, who was first as-
signed to the Boise District; and Aleck C. Smith, assigned to the
Lewiston District.

The legislature failed to act on a measure to select a perma-
nent capital, but they agreed unanimously that Idaho Territory
should be divided. The Virginia City delegates from east of the
Continental Divide had to go down the Columbia to Portland,
take ship to San Francisco, go east to Salt Lake City, and then
head north to Virginia City on their return. That was enough to
persuade Congress to create Montana Territory on May 26,
1864. Justice Edgerton was appointed Montana’s first governor.
In the same act Congress returned most of Wyoming to Dakota
Territory. Idaho was left with something close to its final bound-
aries. With North Idaho effectively separated from the south by
the Salmon River Mountains projecting between Washington
and Montana, a geographic division between north and south
would be a constant challenge to governing the territory, not to
mention the eventual state.

In the meantime, the first trial in an Idaho court, in January
1864, was presided over by Justice Parks in Lewiston. Lloyd
Magruder, a prominent packer and trader in northern Idaho,
purchased a cargo of miners’ supplies in Lewiston and loaded
his pack train of sixty or seventy mules to go to Virginia City,
still in Idaho Territory, about three hundred miles away. Hill
Beachy, who kept the principal hotel in Lewiston, was a good
friend of Magruder. The night before Magruder was to depart,
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Beachy had a dream that his friend would be attacked in the
mountains and murdered and robbed. He was telling his wife
about the dream the next morning when Magruder arrived to say
good-bye. Without saying anything about the dream, Beachy
loaned Magruder a fine gun to take on the trip.

Shortly before Magruder reached Virginia City he was over-
taken by a party of men who offered to help him into Virginia
City in return for grub. They reached the destination and
Magruder found a ready sale for his goods. In preparing to re-
turn to Lewiston, Magruder had his large train of pack mules
and $25,000 to $30,000 in gold dust. Four of the men who had
joined the party that rode into Virginia City had ingratiated
themselves sufficiently that Magruder gladly employed them for
the return trip. The four turned out to be G. C. Lowry, David
Renton (alias Howard), and James Roumain (Romain), who
were “road agents”—murderous robbers—and William Page, a
mountaineer trapper and miner. Also employed were a Mr. Phil-
lips, a Mr. Allen, and two young men from Missouri, names un-
known, miners who were returning with $2,000 in gold dust: a
total of eight men besides Magruder.

About two-thirds of the way to Lewiston, Lowry, Howard, and
Roumain put Page on guard duty, told him to keep his mouth
shut under promise of death, and proceeded to murder Mag-
ruder, Phillips, Allen, and the two young men. Page later
claimed he saw the whole thing. The murderers, wearing moc-
casins to make it appear that they were Indians, picked out the
best mules to ride and drove the rest into the canyon and killed
them. The dead men were tied up in their blankets and rolled
over a cliff. The camp equipage was burned.

The men, disguised, rode on into Lewiston at night. One had
ridden Magruder’s fine saddle mule with his elegant saddle.
They left their animals with a rancher and took the stage for
Walla Walla under fictitious names, then another stage to Wal-
lula, where they boarded a steamer bound for Portland, and
then took an ocean steamer for San Francisco.
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Hill Beachy was so firmly convinced that the men who had
come into Lewiston in the night and left in disguise the next day
had murdered Magruder that he swore out a complaint, obtained
a warrant for their arrest, got himself appointed deputy sheriff,
and got a requisition from Governor Wallace on the governors of
Washington Territory, Oregon, and California for the men.
Beachy’s friends thought he was a little hasty, so he went to ex-
amine the mules and saddles the men had left with the rancher.
Recognizing them as Magruder’s and learning of other evidence
that pointed to murder, Beachy and an associate followed the
path of the four men to Walla Walla, Wallula, Portland, and
San Francisco. Because the next ocean steamer would be two
weeks away, Beachy took the stage overland from Portland to
San Francisco. When he reached Yreka, the nearest telegraph
office, he relayed a description of the men to the chief of police
in San Francisco. Captain Lees, the chief, discovered that the
men had deposited a large amount of gold dust at the United
States Mint for coinage. He arrested them, and threw them in
prison. When Beachy arrived, he recognized the men, charged
them with murder, and was able to get a full story of what had
happened from William Page, who had been with them in San
Francisco. Lees, Beachy, and the latter’s partner took the men
back to Lewiston.

In Lewiston, where the party arrived December 7, 1863, the
men in custody were recognized by the citizens, who were quick
to get ropes for a hanging. Beachy explained that he had given
his word to the governor of California and the San Francisco
chief of police that the men would be given a fair trial, and he
talked the residents out of the lynching. The trial began January
5, 1864. Found guilty of murder, the three men were hung on
March 4. In due time, the gold dust deposited by the murderers
in the San Francisco Mint was returned to Magruder’s wife and
children. The first Idaho legislature, still in session when the
verdict was read, appropriated $6,244 to reimburse Beachy for
the expenses he had incurred. In the spring, when the snow in
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the mountains had melted, Beachy and others visited the loca-
tion of the murder, found the bodies, and verified the story that
Page had told at the trial.?

While the first legislature had generously agreed on a stipend
for Beachy, it failed to agree on a permanent territorial capital.
The twelve thousand persons in Virginia City wanted that loca-
tion. The sixteen thousand persons in Boise Basin wanted Idaho
City. And of course all the miners in the Clearwater and Salmon
Mountains country wanted Lewiston. Unable to agree—perhaps
hoping things would settle down and one location would emerge
as the clear choice—the legislature adjourned with no decision.

Caleb Lyon, who was named to replace Governor Wallace, fi-
nally arrived in Lewiston in August 1864. Born, as he boasted,
in Lyonsdale, in upstate New York, Lyon was educated in Mon-
treal (he was a descendant of the Marquis de Montcalm) and
graduated in civil engineering from Norwich University in Ver-
mont when he was only eighteen. He joined the California Gold
Rush in 1849, served as a secretary of the 1849 California con-
stitutional convention, and returned to New York, where he
served in the legislative assembly and state senate and was
elected to Congress. Lyon served as governor of Idaho until June
1866.

When he reached Lewiston, Lyon found the territorial credit
in shambles. Congress had not appropriated any money, and yet
the territory continued to grow in population and wealth. Oneida
County had been created in January 1864 and Ada County in
December of the same year. Since the territory had not yet been
surveyed and no land patents had been issued, there was no
property to be taxed. The necessary revenue to run the govern-
ment came from license taxes and a tax on “alien” miners at the
rate of $4 a month. The latter applied only to Chinese and was
intended to discourage them from moving into the mines.

Before the end of 1864 Lyon became embroiled in a battle be-
tween Lewiston and the territorial legislature over the location of
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the capital. Ever since the organization of the territory, the
number of miners in Pierce City, Elk City, Florence, and Lewis-
ton had been declining. Of the more than 10,000 who had
rushed there in the summer of 1862, scarcely 1,000 remained
by the time of the first territorial census in September 1863. The
Boise area had more than 16,000 inhabitants, East Bannack
and Virginia City close to 12,000. Consequently, in an action
fiercely opposed by Lewiston and North Idaho, the second legis-
lature, meeting in Lewiston as the year before, voted on Decem-
ber 7, 1864, to remove the capital to Boise City, which had
been founded in July of the previous year. Bitterly resented by
north Idahoans, who felt isolated with no control, the action set
off urgent agitation for the annexation of the Panhandle to
Washington or to Montana. Not until the establishment of better
roads and communication after statehood did this turmoil begin
to diminish.

Meanwhile, Lyon, in trouble with Lewiston if he signed the
bill and in trouble with the legislature if he refused, tried to pla-
cate everyone by giving speeches on his experiences in the Holy
Land. Boise sought to mollify the northerners by asking Con-
gress to set up a new interior Columbia Territory for Lewiston,
Walla Walla, north Idaho, and Missoula. When Montana Terri-
tory objected to losing Missoula, the Boise leaders petitioned
Congress to form a new Columbia Territory out of northern Idaho
and eastern Washington. Congress did not respond to either re-
quest. Lewiston tried to delay the move to Boise by getting the
local probate judge to declare the legislative session illegal.
When the judge and his cohorts sought to serve an injunction on
Lyon, he and two Boise legislators devised a plan for Lyon to
skip out of the territory on the pretext that he was going duck
hunting. On December 29, he hiked six miles to a ferry, where a
carriage picked him up across the Snake and took him to Walla
Walla. He did not return to the territory until the following No-
vember.
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Lyon’s departure, much resented by irate Lewistonians, left
Idaho with no executive department. Three months after Lyon
had left, a new territorial secretary, C. DeWitt Smith, arrived.
When Smith reached Lewiston, he solicited military support
and took the territorial seal and archives away from a vigilant
armed guard provided by Lewiston’s citizens. He arrived in
Boise on April 14, 1865, the very night Abraham Lincoln was
assassinated. He did not last long in Boise, however. At the end
of a strenuous chess game in Rocky Bar, in August 1865, he
suddenly expired from the effects of a “dismal and melancholy
disease.” Idaho was again left with no government.

At the end of his term as Idaho’s Congressional delegate, the
territory’s first governor, William Wallace, went to his good
friend Abraham Lincoln and obtained an appointment to replace
Lyon as governor. Wallace’s closeness to Lincoln is indicated
by the fact that Lincoln had invited him to be with him at Ford’s
Theater the night that John Wilkes Booth shot and killed the
president, and he was a pallbearer at Lincoln’s funeral. Lyon’s
friends managed to sidetrack Wallace’s appointment, and, with-
out the support of Lincoln, Wallace was now maneuvered out of
the job. Lyon returned to Idaho as governor, and Wallace set-
tled down at his old home at Steilacoom, on the Sound between
Olympia and Tacoma, where he stayed until his death in 1879.
Wallace was not as famous as his brother David, governor of
Indiana, or as his nephew Lew, the Civil War general who au-
thored Ben Hur, but he could take some satisfaction in the con-
tributions he had made to Idaho Territory.

Caleb Lyon had given lectures and lived the leisurely life of a
gentleman during the months he had been away from Idaho.
Upon his return in November 1865, Boiseans felt ill at ease
around him. He wore clean linen, took daily baths, wore dress
suits, and once appeared at a society function in a swallow-tail
coat. William J. McConnell reported that it was even hinted that
he wore suspenders!® Lyon first sought to gain admission for
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Idaho Territory as a state so he could run for United States Sena-
tor, but that effort failed. He negotiated a treaty with the Sho-
shoni, but the United States Senate failed to ratify it. He left
Boise in April 1866, taking with him some $46,000 in undis-
bursed Nez Perce Indian funds that he subsequently appropri-
ated for personal purposes. He was an art lover, a scholar, and a
poet, but most historians have regarded him as a failure as
Idaho’s second executive. The historian Hubert Howe Bancroft
(or his employed assistant Frances Fuller Victor), writing only
twenty years after Lyon’s departure, said “he lent his signature
to any and every bill of the most disloyal and vulgar-minded leg-
islature that ever disgraced the legislative office, except the one
that followed it. . . . His appointments were equally without re-
gard to the welfare of society and the territory.” Bancroft quoted
a newspaper correspondent who called Lyon “a revolving light
on the coast of scampdom.™®

Was the gargantuan ldaho Territory, including as it did in
1863—64 the mining districts in western Montana, north Idaho,
the Boise Basin, and Owyhee, really an effective government?
Or was it simply a paper government over a group of recently or-
ganized, self-governing mining districts? How well were law and
order maintained?

When government is feeble, when lawless elements run ram-
pant and threaten many lives, citizens tend to band together for
protection. Citizens’ groups were formed in the Lewiston, Idaho
City, Payette, Boise, Salmon, and Bannock-Virginia districts.
The Lewiston Protective Association, organized in 1862—63,
managed to exile some two hundred robbers and gamblers. Bea-
verhead vigilantes in a mining district in western Montana (then
Idaho) executed “Clubfoot Land,” “Red,” “Spanish Frank,”
“Dutch John,” and “Whiskey Bill.” As they “cleansed the
Augean Stables,” they reportedly hanged twenty-four men in a
few weeks during the early months of 1864.7 A vigilante group
was organized in Idaho City in 1865, and at least two persons,

223



224

HISTORY OF IDAHO

including the ex-sheriff of Ada County, David Updyke, were
lynched. There was fierce debate among Idahoans. Were vigi-
lantes “a gang of irresponsible outlaws attempting to make their
individual hates and interests the governing power”? Or were
they “preparing the way for law and order by executing known
outlaws and warning others out of the country?™®

William J. McConnell, who reported the rise and fall of law-
less elements in the Boise Basin, wrote that “the disturbers”
were an insignificant minority but they gave the impression that
they were really “the whole thing.”

Their ability to impress a community with their numeri-
cal strength is usually equal, or superior, to that of the tim-
ber, or mountain wolf, one of which can start its calliope
and in a few seconds convince the novice that the woods
are alive with its kind. The ease and celerity with which
the citizens of Boise and Payette valleys rid the country of
bad men is proof of the analogy.®

Historians Beal and Wells have defended the vigilantes: “In
taking this overt course, such citizens [protective societies] do
not diminish the power and prestige of law and order. On the
contrary, they prepare the way for that higher authority to mani-
fest itself. . . . Their record is praiseworthy. They did what was
needed and then dissolved.”'® M. M. McPherson describes the
organization of a vigilante committee in Salmon City in 1866.
“As soon as this became known,” he wrote, “there was an exo-
dus out over the mountains. While there were several men
killed at Leesburg, I think it was one of the most peaceful towns
in all the mining country.™'

In Payette Valley, William J. McConnell took the leadership
in breaking up a gang led by David Updyke, Ada County’s first
sheriff. Like Henry Plummer in East Bannack, Updyke led a
double life as sheriff and leader of a band of criminals. When a
partial disclosure of his deeds came to light, he was forced to
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resign and later was hung.'> “Within three months of its organi-
zation,” McConnell wrote, “the [Vigilance] committee trans-
formed the Payette Valley, with its hitherto unsavory reputation,
into a community of peaceful homes, where life and property
were as safe as in any of the older states or territories in the
Union.™?

The troublesome feature of territorial government was that the
governor and secretary, the men with the money and control,
were responsible only to the president of the United States and
the Congress, not to the people in the territory. This presented a
special problem in Idaho because for every year Idaho was a ter-
ritory, except four, the president was a Republican, whereas the
majority of the people in Idaho and a majority of the legislature
were, in almost every year, Democrats. Oddly enough, when the
nation had a Democratic president, Idaho voted Republican.
Friction was inevitable. Few of the appointed governors got
along with the legislature, and few in the legislature were will-
ing to cooperate with the unwanted “carpetbag” governors.

A further complication was caused by the Civil War. While
California, Oregon, and Washington Democrats tended to be
pro-Union, a large number of southern immigrants in Idaho
were Confederate sympathizers, so even the predominant Demo-
cratic Party was divided. When Edward D. Holbrook, a Califor-
nia Democrat, was elected delegate to replace William Wallace
in 1864, he began a tradition that continued until 1882. In 1886
the election of Fred T. Dubois, a sometime Republican, ended
the tradition that the political control of ldaho Territory, at least
as far as its elected officials was concerned, was in the hands of
Confederate refugees and their Democratic allies from Califor-
nia and Oregon.

Concurrent with these complicated political developments
was the growth of a new mining industry in central and southern
Idaho. High-yielding quartz mines were discovered in the early
1860s in the Boise Basin, South Boise, Owyhee, Camas Prairie,
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and elsewhere. Their working attracted miners, mill operators,
suppliers, and bankers. If we add to their numbers those coming
into the territory to farm and graze cattle, Idaho was accumulat-
ing population sufficient to qualify for eventual statehood.
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CHAPTER ELEVEN

Quartz Mines, Stamp Mills,

and Chinese Miners

LACER mining, the simplest and easiest way of obtaining
gold, was the first stage in the development of mining in
Idaho. But the territory had more lasting riches. By moving
upstream as they “panned” for gold, prospectors discovered
gold quartz and then followed the surface overburden toward the
outcrop or vein from which the gold had come. Quartz mining,
in turn, led to large-scale lead-silver-zinc operations that be-
came the major mining thrust of Idaho when railroads and im-
proved technology were introduced. Idaho was a leading mining
territory for many years and later a leading mining state. During
the early years, 1860 to 1869, twenty thousand or more miners
took out about $57 million in minerals, most of it in gold and sil-
ver. Approximately half came from placer mines and half from
quartz deposits. From 1863 to 1869, the Boise Basin alone
yielded 1.4 million ounces in gold.

The mining of gold-bearing quartz was more complicated than
placer mining. Lode miners prospected for gold-bearing veins
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cropping out on an exposed hill and then tunneled underground
to reach the minerals. Ore-bearing rock was removed and
hauled through access tunnels or shafts to the surface. Once on
the surface, the gold-bearing quartz had to be crushed to a pow-
der to free the gold. Next the gold had to be separated from the
sand, as in placer mining. Blasting hard rock was slow and ex-
pensive, especially before the introduction of dynamite in 1868.
Individuals or small groups of men could engage in placer min-
ing, but lode mining required a larger operation—a company or
partnership with more capital, labor, and equipment.

Early Idaho quartz miners used two processes of milling the
ore. The simplest and most primitive utilized an arrastra, a
crude rock-surfaced mill patterned after a type used in northern
Mexico in the sixteenth century. Resembling a round bathtub,
the arrastra could be assembled locally and operated at low
cost. A three- or four-foot hole in the ground with a hard-surface
bottom was lined with flat rocks. Two or four large drag stones
were placed in it and balanced on one or two long cross poles
that projected out from a central pivot. A horse, mule, or ox
walked around the edge, dragging the stone over gold-bearing
rock dumped into the “tub.” Where possible, waterpower was
used in place of the horse or mule.

The other device was a steam stamp mill, usually freighted
from San Francisco, which pounded rock into powder in a huge
mortar. The quartz was first shattered by sledge-hammers into
fragments about the size of apples, then shoveled into feeders
where heavy iron stamps mounted on vertical stems rose and fell
with the turning of a horizontal shaft to which the stems were
geared. The stamps, from 300 to 800 pounds in weight, struck
sixty times a minute, making a tremendous racket as they beat
the rock to a wet powder. The gold in the crushed rock was then
caught, as in placer mining, with quicksilver or washed out
through sluices and traps. The “soup” was conveyed to a fire re-
tort, the quicksilver was left behind, and the gold was molded
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into bricks and bars that brought a gleam to all eyes. Frequently
quartz could be mined fast enough to keep an arrastra going, but
not fast enough to feed a stamp mill, and so the investment in
stamp mills was often unproductive.

The placer excitement in Boise Basin in 1862—63 turned to
quartz in the fall of 1863. There had been quartz discoveries
near Placerville late in 1862, and at Idaho City, Rocky Bar, and
Silver City in 1863. Indeed, George C. Robbins, a former mayor
of Portland, having employed a large hand mortar pounding 200
pounds of rock daily, left the basin in September 1863 for San
Francisco with 400 pounds of ore from a forty-foot shaft. An-
other arrastra yielded $200 that year. Placer mining continued
to dominate for a time, and lode mining did not really begin un-
til the placer season had largely closed in June 1864. But the
richness of the quartz discoveries had already led to the order-
ing of many stamp mills. A ten-stamp Pioneer mill arrived in
Placerville on September 15, 1864, a Gambrinus mill arrived
on October 16, and other mills were expected to be in operation
in 1865. With ore from a 130-foot tunnel, the Pioneer mill
turned out $5,000 in its first week and a total of $20,000 by the
next spring.’

The spring of 1865, however, was something of a disappoint-
ment. The rush from Portland to Boise Basin had been deflected
to gold fields in Kootenai (or Kootenay) in British Columbia and
the Blackfoot Mountains in Montana. Then on May 18, Idaho
City burned down—the first fire in a series of four. More than
$1 million in property was destroyed. As the town was rebuilt,
placer mining continued; but quartz mining could not be
resumed until 1867 when the repaired stamp mills were re-
installed. In the two weeks ending April 28, 1867, the Elk Homn
produced $9,105; it produced another $8,200 in a run ending
June 15 and still another $12,000 in a cleanup of July 9, 1867.
In the spring of 1867 William Lent and James Classen reopened
the Pioneer operation on Gold Hill. They not only carried out
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many tests but also employed “the noted and experienced quartz
miner” George Hearst, father of the newspaper magnate Wil-
liam Randolph Hearst and a prominent California lode miner.
He took to Owyhee a 25-stamp Chickahoming mill, powered by
an eighty-horsepower boiler. Twenty-eight men were employed
in running a new tunnel and operating the mill. Still, Gold Hill
had to wait for future development before it became the major
lode mine in Boise Basin.

By 1868 some of the important Basin placers were being
worked out and the quartz finds were not rich enough to con-
tinue profitable working. New discoveries in White Pine in
northeastern Nevada in 1868 and Loon Creek in the Upper
Salmon River country in 1869 drew off some of the Basin’s
miners.?

In several instances, Boise Basin miners attacked the prob-
lem of deep gravel by hydraulic mining, a technique invented in
California in the early 1850s and later used in Nevada. Hy-
draulicking was a device for bringing water under high pressure
and aiming it, through a hose, at the hill believed to be under-
lain by a gold-laden channel of an ancient river.? The water was
run through wooden flumes to the top of a hill so that, in falling,
the water would build up a great deal of pressure. Conducted
through iron pipes, the water when it reached the bottom of the
hill was shot through a cannon-like nozzle or “monitor” or
“hydraulic giant” to wash away the mountainside. Once washed
loose, the soil was run through long sluices that separated and
caught the gold behind riffles. This mass-production system
could be applied where there were extensive deposits of buried
gravels near large streams, with hills that would give the water
sufficient fall. In some areas this became an important source of
gold. Although the technique required the purchase of patented
nozzles, pipes, and other equipment, it enabled water to do the
work of men. Beginning in 1867 a big ditch at Centerville deliv-
ered sufficient water to operate hydraulic giants, working a great
amount of ground for high returns.
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Boise Basin continued to be worked both as a placer and as a
quartz camp, although on a lesser scale, throughout the early
1870s. But the experience with stamp mills suggested that their
introduction had been premature. Nearly all operations were
closed down in 1875 and not resumed until 1884 when the com-
pletion of the Oregon Short Line Railroad allowed for more effi-
cient shipment of ore.

Far more success was registered in what was called South
Boise—mines south and east of Boise Basin, not south of Boise
City. Placers had been traced up Feather River to some promis-
ing quartz leads on Bear Creek in May 1863. A stampede of
1,500 Boise Basin miners to that location occurred later in the
month. They found high-yield placers on Red Warrior Creek
and promising ground on Bear Creek near the quartz outcrops.
But the placers were not extensive enough to hold all the rush-
ees, and the quartz prospects could not be developed for a sea-
son or two. After the excitement had subsided, about 100 min-
ers remained to work the Red Warrior claims; the future of the
South Boise mines was in quartz lodes, not in placers.*

Discovery of the Idaho ledge on May 7, 1863, started South
Boise quartz mining. Four lodes were being explored by the
middle of June. One of these was the Elmore, promoted by
Henry Thomas Paige Comstock, who gave his name to the fa-
mous Comstock lode of Nevada. “Old Pancake,” as he was
called, believed the Elmore was as rich as the Comstock.

South Boise was, however, inaccessible. There was no regu-
lar express serving the area in the spring of 1863, and miners
were fearful of the Bannock on the nearby Camas Prairie. A dif-
ficult eighty-mile mountain trail connected the Bear Creek area
with West Bannack or Idaho City. There was no road over which
heavy equipment might be transported to facilitate quartz devel-
opment, but quartz discoveries continued to be made. Ar-
rastras, which could be constructed from local materials, were
built and were operating by late summer of 1863. Seven tons of
Elmore ore averaged $347 per ton, four tons from the Golden
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Eagle yielded $1,480, and the Spanish company on the Ophir
was thought to have done even better. Nevertheless, owners
were not yet able to distinguish outcrops of important producers
from rich surface seams that at greater depth were valueless.

Swept away by the astonishing prospects and fabulous
claims, miners, merchants, promoters, and freighters invested
in stamp mills and other heavy machinery but had to await com-
pletion of a wagon road from Boise to Rocky Bar. Meanwhile,
they continued to use arrastras. Between June and August
1864, the number of South Boise arrastras rose from ten to
eighty. The ore milled in these arrastras ranged from $75 to
$300 per ton. By the fall of 1864, waterwheels had been in-
stalled to propel the arrastras. Larger arrastras, with a circum-
ference of thirty feet, were milling one to one and one-half tons
per day. The Wiley Ophir Company in a ten days’ run cleared
$3,000 from the tubs of two arrastras. Total 1864 South Boise
quartz production was $132,000, of which the Confederate Star
yielded $51,000 and the Elmore $15,000.

Some engineers mourned that the inefficient arrastras lost all
the silver and part of the gold, and Comstock tried to prove this
by finding $10 in a single pan of tailings that were deposited one
hundred feet below his arrastra. By the end of 1864 owners were
anticipating the arrival of expensive and more efficient stamp
mills from Chicago and San Francisco. But their success with
arrastras was deceiving. Prospecting was limited to surface op-
erations; they had not sunk shafts or driven tunnels sufficiently
to explore their veins for stamp-mill purposes. Outcrops of ore,
where weathering and fracturing had softened the rock and freed
the gold, were worked easily and cheaply; timbering and hoist-
ing were not required. Rich seams, weathered outcrops, and
narrow veins were suitable for arrastra milling but could not
supply sufficient ore to keep stamp mills running steadily. Ar-
rastras were small and ground slowly enough to thrive on un-
sorted ore unsuitable for stamp mills.
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South Boise promoters devoted 1864 to organizing substantial
companies to procure stamp mills. Seven incorporations were
filed in Idaho City during the week ending February 27, 1864,
their capitalizations ranging from $40,000 to $160,000. The
Ada Elmore Corporation, the largest, was capitalized at
$800,000, and the Victor Company was organized in San Fran-
cisco to develop Red Warrior properties.*®

Wilson Waddingham went to South Boise in 1864 and se-
cured rich samples of ore. Assured of the value, he sent 1,500
pounds to San Francisco for a test and recovered $800 per ton.
The Comstock had assayed $7,112 per ton, the Confederate Star
$5,589, and the Elmore $7,434. As a result of these early work-
ings, Waddingham, reasonably confident because the Civil War
was winding down, headed for New York to obtain eastern capi-
tal. Another South Boise agent in 1864 was S. B. Farnham, who
represented the New York and Idaho Gold and Silver Mining
Company. Others were Lafayette Cartee and a Mr. Gates, who
rushed a five-ton stamp mill to Rocky Bar in August. This first
stamp mill in South Boise reached the mines just as Julius New-
berg’s South Boise wagon road was finished on September 5,
1864.

The road ended the period of the arrastra. Two new stamp
mills arrived before the close of the 1864 season; six others were
on their way or being built. The Idaho Company’s twelve-stamp
mill arrived in November, with a freight tariff of $8,400. Rocky
Bar now looked forward to rivaling Virginia City. South Boise
miners left their arrastras to be destroyed by the elements dur-
ing the terrible winter of 1864—65. Miners with small arrastras
simply tried to sell their mines to the capitalists with stamp
mills: Idaho mining law, by act of February 4, 1864, limited
quartz-mining claims to two hundred feet along the vein, so
mining companies had to secure holdings from many owners in
order to keep their mills going.

For a time South Boise prospered. The Idaho Company’s
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twelve-stamp mill and Cartee and Gates’s five-stamp mill ran
continuously during the summer of 1865. The former produced
$800 to $1,000 each day; the latter, a custom mill, found ready
patrons for $25 per ton. Waddingham’s company, capitalized at
$600,000, was buying mines recklessly regardless of cost, and
the Pittsburgh and Idaho Gold and Silver Mining Company like-
wise paid out sizable sums—acquiring the Idaho mine and mill
for $140,000.°¢

A cloud soon appeared on the horizon. Dr. S. B. Farnham,
superintendent of the New York and Idaho company, who had
erected a magnificent building to house his ten-stamp mill,
started operating August 3, 1865. Within two months the work
had come to a complete stop. The unpaid teamsters who had
hauled freight for the company took Farnham prisoner; the rest
of the crew, miners, carpenters, and engineers barricaded the
mill, refusing to let anyone in until they received their back
wages.’

By the fall of 1865 the mines had been worked sufficiently to
reveal problems. There was inadequate water to run the steam
engines, and miners were plagued by low-quality ore. In the
spring of 1866, as the work progressed below the surface zone of
gold concentration that resulted from erosion and decomposition
of the exposed quartz, company leaders began to realize that
they had estimated values on the basis of exaggerated surface
indications. They learned that their prized stamp mills were not
recovering gold from the sulphurets (gold combined with sulfur).
The cost of transportation sometimes exceeded the cost of goods
carried to the mines. An enormous amount of hand work was in-
volved and labor was expensive: wages in South Boise were $7
per day, in Owyhee $6 per day, and in the Comstock in Nevada,
only $3.50.

But in the spring of 1866 the stamp milling approach seemed
to be still succeeding. Wilson Waddingham’s Confederate Star
cleared $7,200 from a thirteen-day mill run, at an average of
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$82 per ton, and his ten-stamp mill produced $60,000 between
December 1865 and March 1866. Others reported good produc-
tion. By the spring of 1866 South Boise had more stamp mills
than any other Idaho district. This was the peak of quartz min-
ing excitement, not only in South Boise but throughout the
West. Consideration was being given to establishing a branch
United States mint in Boise, in the expectation that South Boise
would produce $4.5 million in 1866.°

There were other problems. The mining stock exchange in
New York City was not doing well in 1865—66. Farnham’s 1865
disaster, Victor, collapsed in May 1866, and the milling de-
bacle worsened during the ensuing summer. Farnham’s New
York and Idaho company let its mill go to pay off debts. Even
Wilson Waddingham was attacked as a reckless operator for
spending too much. Only two of the well-established companies
operated during the summer of 1866.

Yet Waddingham’s mills continued to run until the fall of
1867. Major James P. Spear’s Pittsburgh company started to
sink a deep shaft in the Elmore lode in 1866, but incompetent
management caused it to be suspended. Twenty years later, in
1886, it reopened with better equipment and superior tech-
niques.

Meanwhile, operations were going on in Owyhee, in a moun-
tain region seventy miles south of Boise City. Those who left
Boise to work in the region encountered a dreary plain of sand
and alkali, often too barren even for sagebrush. A little steamer
plied the Snake River from Bruneau, below Salmon Falls, to a
point about one hundred miles downriver.

Owyhee began with placer gold, continued with quartz gold,
and ended up as rich silver-mining country. Albert D. Richard-
son, a national travel writer who visited Owyhee Country in No-
vember 1865, declared that the “Owyhee Region. . .[has] the
richest and most abundant lodes of gold and silver-bearing rock
ever found in the United States.” What he said was true. Their
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richness did surpass anything else yet found in the nation. Un-
like the quartz ledges in Boise Basin and South Boise, Owyhee
had mines so rich in depth that some operated for a decade or
more before they played out. In the earliest days of Silver City,
the War Eagle mines had richer ores and a larger initial produc-
tion than those previously worked, partly because mines at
Owyhee were able to take advantage of Comstock recovery
methods that were developed just in time for use in Owyhee.

The process used in silver recovery, called the Washoe pan
process, was developed by Almarin B. Paul, a California forty-
niner who had been a merchant, publisher, miner, and land
agent. He went to Washoe (the Comstock) in 1859. Interested in
gold-milling techniques, he signed contracts to supply twenty-
four stamp mills in Virginia City early in 1860 and furnished the
first quartz mill in operation in the district. But Paul knew little
about milling silver ores. Most of the world’s silver is found in
association with such base metals as lead, zinc, and copper and
can be separated from them only by smelting, but the silver ores
east of the Sierra Nevada were in association principally with
gold and could be treated much like California gold ores. This
was fortunate, but the owners were also lucky that the Comstock
ores were almost as rich in gold as in silver, and they could use-
fully transfer to Nevada the techniques they were familiar with
in California.

What Almarin Paul did was to improve primitive Mexican
practices of separating the silver by dumping quicksilver, salt,
and copper sulphate into pans and using the sun to provide the
heat to stimulate the interaction. Instead Paul used steam. He
adopted heavy iron mullers that would grind as well as mix the
pulverized rock. The iron filings that wore off the muller and
pan by friction provided another essential ingredient. By 1862
Paul and his associates had evolved these mechanical and
chemical constituents into the Washoe pan process. Used with
elaborate settling devices and traps, it was the final step in the
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process of separating out the gold and silver. The material
mined went through rock breakers, then through the stamp mill,
and finally through the Washoe pans.'®

Mark Twain’s humorous remark about the attempt to get the
proper combination of chemicals to release the silver was this:
“The object with many inventors of ‘processes’ appeared to be to
physic the silver out of the rock, or at least make it so sick that it
would be obliged to loose its hold upon its matrix and come out
and be caught by the quicksilver lying in wait for it in the bot-
tom of the pans.”"' Mark Twain could make the Washoe pan pro-
cess interesting, and other colorful and picturesque names came
out of Idaho’s mining experience.

Mention was made in Chapter Nine of the Michael Jordan
party that found placer gold in the Owyhee Mountains in 1863.
That July R. H. Wade of the Jordan party found a quartz lode in
Whisky Gulch two or three miles farther up the stream from
Happy Camp. A few weeks later, a group of prospectors follow-
ing gold up to veins on War Eagle Mountain discovered the Oro
Fino Ledge. Another lode discovery in October occurred on Jor-
dan Creek just below Whisky Gulch on the other side of the
mountain from the Oro Fino. This one they called Morning Star.
These discoveries were not immediately appreciated by the min-
ers interested in placers, but they began to draw speculators
during the winter of 1863—64. E. T. Beatty, of Rocky Bar,
visited Owyhee in November and returned with specimens of
Morning Star rock that ran $2,800 in gold and $7,000 in silver
to the ton. These assays far surpassed those of Comstock.

Boonville, a little up the river from Happy Camp, became the
placer center and had thirteen houses by November. Now, with
the Morning Star discovery, another mining town above Boon-
ville was built called Ruby City, and another built a mile up the
creek named Silver City. Boonville and Ruby City each had a
population of around 250 by February 1864. The Boise News of
February 20, 1864, said that Boonville, located on the creek
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between high and rugged hills, had narrow, crooked, and
muddy streets that “resembled the tracks or courses taken by a
lot of angleworms, and might have been laid out by a blind
cow.”'? There were perhaps a dozen frame and log buildings.
Ruby City, about twenty miles from the Oregon border, con-
sisted of buildings erected quickly on a wooded hillside sloping
down to Jordan Creek, near the bottom of a deep canyon. Loom-
ing over the city were several mountains that were gashed with
gorges, pointed with turrets, and covered with snow in the win-
ter. The king of these peaks was War Eagle, which, Richardson
correctly contended, contained “the richest and most wonderful
deposit of quartz yet discovered in the United States, even
eclipsing the famed Comstock Lode.”"?

Preparations for working the quartz lodes continued during
the winter of 1863—64; fifty-six whipsaws supplied lumber to
build the towns. By February 1864 the population of Owyhee
had risen to about 1,000. J. Marion More, who had led the Oro
Fino District in Pierce City and then had founded Idaho City,
acquired an interest in both the Oro Fino and Morning Star
properties and attracted wide publicity by exhibiting a 1V4-
pound rock from which he had recovered nine ounces of gold
and silver. He began to extract ore and process it by hand mor-
taring. New veins of ore were located on War Eagle Mountain,
and owners eagerly ordered stamp mills to work the many veins
that had been discovered. The Oro Fino shaft had gone down
eighty feet, and in that distance the vein had widened from six
inches on the surface to thirty inches at depth. D. H. Fogus,
representing the company that owned it, started to run a tunnel
and to build a mill.**

Also owning Owyhee property was the Oregon Steam Naviga-
tion Company, holder of the Columbia River steamboat monop-
oly that had hauled thousands of miners to Idaho after 1860.
Among the officers of the company were Simeon G. Reed, who
later owned the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mine in North Idaho
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and who endowed Portland’s Reed College, and John C. Ains-
worth, who later sold Oregon Steam Navigation to railroad mag-
nate Henry Villard. Ainsworth’s waterpower mill, built on
Sinker Creek three miles below the mine it was to serve, went
into operation in July 1864 after men had built a road to the
newly installed ten-stamp mill. This mill, which cost $70,000,
yielded $90,000 in its first forty-five working days. The mill was
converted to steam in October. The mill was designed only to re-
cover gold; when the men noticed that the ore was largely silver,
they adapted to the Washoe process which was suited to their
ores.'®

By the fall of 1864 A. P. Minear had established a custom
mill with ten 450-pound stamps, and More and Fogus were en-
gaged in serious development of the Oro Fino and Morning Star
properties. The More and Fogus ten-stamp mill, the best one in
the district, began to operate October 3 with ore that was rich
enough to compensate for the $100,000 in rock that had to be
hoisted by hand from company shafts. On November 27 More
arrived in Portland with $60,000 in silver bricks. The owners
expected to add twenty-four stamps the next summer. By De-
cember 1864 the Morning Star shaft was down 115 feet and the
ore was becoming increasingly rich. The mill was converted to
the Washoe process in order to complete recovery of silver, and
it produced about $1 million in its first year of operation.'®

One of the weaknesses in the “every man for himself” ap-
proach was the failure to consolidate bordering properties on the
same vein. Some three hundred ledges had been found on War
Eagle Mountain, and several adjacent independent mines were
worked at higher cost than would have been incurred had they
been combined in a single operation. Since their development
would require outside capital, several promoters went to New
York to solicit funds and found some investors sufficiently inter-
ested that they advanced money to buy stamp mills. Several
were rushed in during the summer and fall of 1865. Packing in
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the machinery for the large mills required several mule trains,
described as having “more of the appearance of a cavalcade of
mountain howitzers than anything else.”"’

Meanwhile, More and Fogus drilled day and night and kept
their mill running during the winter of 1864—65. Both men
thought they had enough good ore to keep them busy, and each
of their enterprises employed thirty to forty men. The mines on
Jordan Creek were closer to Silver City than to Ruby City, so
Silver City boomed.

Inevitably there were conflicts over the drift of the veins. On
August 5, 1865, a new lode, called the Hays and Ray, was lo-
cated. Eight 200-foot claims made up the Hays and Ray prop-
erty; this vein suddenly became the most prominent of the War
Eagle lodes. A prospector named Peck secretly found a
“pocket” or “chimney” of very rich float-rock (rock eroded from
a lode and carried away by water) about 1,000 feet south of the
Hays and Ray shaft. He covered up the pocket, said nothing,
and learned from the Hays and Ray discoverers that their
boundaries included the spot he had located. He tried to pur-
chase the property and left Owyhee when they wanted too much,
thinking they would come down by the time he returned. While
he was gone, D. C. Bryan and his small company of prospectors
found the same spot, called it the Poorman, and began to take
out ore of great richness—80 percent gold and silver, mainly
silver. Bryan located seven 200-foot claims and recorded them.

Hays and Ray claimed the ground, of course, but the Poor-
man Company refused to move. Were there two veins, separate
and parallel, or was this simply part of the Hays and Ray vein?
Hays and Ray gave Peck, now returned, a share for tracing it
from their opening. The Poorman people quickly took out what
ore they could in the six days that elapsed before Hays and Ray
could get an injunction restraining them. In those six days they
removed about $500,000 in gold and silver.'®

Aware that they were almost certainly on the Hays and Ray



QUARTZ MINES

vein, the Poorman owners combined with the Oregon Steam
Navigation Owyhee interests to get the financial backing they
would need to defend their case. A collision occurred on Sep-
tember 24. Armed with shotguns and sixshooters, the Poorman
defenders held back the Hays and Ray forces and built a fort,
Fort Baker, of logs with portholes and other means of defense.
Knowing the law was on their side, Hays and Ray interests did
not attack. Instead, they combined with George C. Robbins and
the New York and Owyhee Mill Company to get increased finan-
cial backing. As it turned out, the Poorman was simply part of
the Hays and Ray claim. A compromise was soon reached, how-
ever, and the New York and Owyhee organization and the Ore-
gon Steam Navigation Company came out with a share in the
consolidation. The Poorman remained closed, however, until
July 6, 1866."

Meanwhile, new mills using the efficient Washoe process
were placed in operation in the fall of 1865. By the spring of
1866 Owyhee had ten mills with 102 stamps; the district was
second only to South Boise, where larger mills had been in-
stalled around Rocky Bar. During the year 1865—66 More and
Fogus, in 426 days, had taken $1.1 million from the Morning
Star alone. Other mills were in profitable operation. By the end
of the summer of 1866 eighty-two stamps were going and pro-
duction was up to $70,000 a week.*

By reputation Ruby City and Silver City were both sober, re-
spectable mining communities. The men worked hard and had
no time to party half the night. The stamp mills usually observed
Sunday closing. J. A. Chittenden, the leading Owyhee assayer,
was also Idaho territorial Superintendent of Public Instruction
and kept the Silver City school going. Regular church services
were held, and a Sunday School was maintained. Silver City
sponsored lectures on temperance and Darwinism, had a circu-
lating library, was entertained by dancing schools and a city
band, and had access to theatrical productions and lectures that
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featured Lisle Lester, Carrie Chapman Catt, and Charlotte
Crampton. Patrons saw Shakespeare’s Hamlet and Richard i1,
and Retribution, Cincinnati Tragedy, and Boucicalt’s Colleen
Bawn. The Silver City Amateur Theatrical Association put on a
play to raise money for the town water tanks, held benefits for
blind John Oliver, and presented scenes from Shakespeare’s
Winter’s Tale *

Whatever the development of community life, less than a
month after the Poorman resumed work, More and Fogus, who
had been responsible for most of the production in Owyhee,
failed financially. Their collapse, which occurred August 24,
1866, was due to their involvement in other mines; they were
overextended. By over-expanding and at the same time neglect-
ing to pay their workers and other creditors, they had become
insolvent. More, who owed $200,000, announced that he was
giving everything he owned to his creditors. He was absolved of
any knavery. The creditors, mainly workers, organized the
Morning Star and Oro Fino Gold and Silver Mining Company on
September 13, 1866, resumed work in April 1867, and for a
while engaged in profitable production at a higher output than
under More and Fogus. The Poorman, although in actual pro-
duction less than six months after its discovery, brought in a re-
turn of more than $1 million.

There were other problems in Owyhee. Fed up with misman-
agements and incompetency, workers in several plants met at
the Owyhee County Court House in Silver City on October 1,
1867, to organize a miners’ union—the only such union in west-
ern mines since the one organized at Comstock in 1863. The
surprised mine owners, after a four-day strike, granted the most
important demands of the workers: first, that the workers be
given contracts instead of being hired informally, and second,
that wages be paid in bullion rather than in depreciated green-
backs. The union did not continue as an active force because of
the “every man for himself” fever of the boom. But as the camp
became more settled, a union was organized again in the spring
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of 1872 and succeeded in driving out a foreman who had sub-
jected them to “lavish abuse.” The Fairview Miners’ Union, as
it was called, continued as an active organization until the fail-
ure of the mines in 1875.%

Some cooperation existed among mine owners, at least for a
time. Two veins newly uncovered in 1867, both only a short dis-
tance from the Oro Fino, were the Ida Elmore, owned by D. H.
Fogus and his associates, and the Golden Chariot, owned by the
Hill Beachy syndicate. Rather than risk the heavy expenses
connected with a protracted litigation, the interests agreed to
share the discoveries, even leaving a neutral ground between
their two operations so they would not run into each other.
Everything proceeded well until late in February 1868, when
Golden Chariot violated the neutral ground and broke into the
Ida Elmore workings. Both sides armed for conflict. On March
25, the Golden Chariot forces advanced to the Ida Elmore shaft
in an offensive marked by heavy firing that threatened to shatter
and break up the timbering in the mine. Fogus sent for re-
inforcements to gain the upper hand on the surface, and several
persons responded to his call. The Owyhee War, as it was
called, began. The sheriff shut down all the local saloons.
Fighting continued underground, where each party claimed its
shooting was to protect its property from intruders.

The governor in Boise (sometimes referred to as Bossy Sitty)
at the time was David W. Ballard, a native of Indiana who had
replaced Caleb Lyon in June 1866. Ballard had crossed the
plains on the Oregon Trail when he was thirty and settled in
Lebanon, Oregon, where he practiced medicine. A Republican
who served during the time that the unpopular Radical Recon-
struction of the South was taking place, Ballard was the target of
secessionist sympathizers who tried to drive him from office. In-
deed, troops were called from Fort Boise to protect the territorial
executive officers from attack. Ballard was dismissed from of-
fice four times by President Andrew Johnson, but he had not yet
been replaced. He went unpaid as a governor for an entire year,
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supporting himself by fees from his Boise medical practice.

When word reached the governor’s office about the Owyhee
War, the mild-mannered but determined Ballard dispatched
Idaho’s renowned deputy marshal and Indian fighter, Orlando
Robbins, with a proclamation ordering both sides to desist and
settle the dispute by law. In a record six-hour trip Robbins
reached Silver City, consulted the sheriff, rounded up the lead-
ers of the two companies, and read them the proclamation. By
late that night a new agreement was reached, formal deeds were
drawn, and the matter never went to court. An unfortunate anti-
climax just five days later was a drunken celebratory brawl dur-
ing which J. Marion More was killed. More’s friends were about
to lynch their Golden Chariot opponents when Governor Ballard
arrived, addressed the citizens of Silver City, and summoned
troops from Fort Boise. Marching to Owyhee with a brass can-
non, 95 soldiers occupied Silver City for four days. The Owyhee
War was over. Both companies spent virtually all their earnings
on the war effort.

Owyhee production went up to more than $200,000 a month
after the war. In the summer of 1868 an improvement in tech-
nology was introduced—the use of dynamite. Shipments of gold
and silver from Silver City totaled more than $3 million by July
1868, and the next year the amount increased by another mil-
lion. By 1869 three companies had grossed more than a million
dollars each: More and Fogus, the Poorman, and the Ida El-
more. Two other large operations, the Ainsworth and the Golden
Chariot, had done well over half a million each. Approximately
$4.9 million of bullion shipments had been made from Owyhee
by the end of 1869.%

The easily mined surface bonanzas had kept the stamp mills
going, but the lack of investment capital now retarded develop-
ment of the mines and the construction of more efficient mills.
Work on the high-grade War Eagle properties continued until
failure of the Bank of California brought about a general mining
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collapse in 1875. Then in the 1880s, with improved technology
and transportation, stepped-up operations on lower-grade ores
brought the major Owyhee boom that lasted for about thirty
years until the primary producer became depleted around 1912.

Boise Basin, South Boise, and Owyhee were not the only
areas in which quartz mining activity in Idaho occurred in the
1860s. There was some initial prospecting and working of
quartz at Deadwood, many miles north of Idaho City; in the Vol-
cano district on the Camas Prairie far south of Rocky Bar; in the
Little Smoky district east of Rocky Bar; in the Banner District
north and east of Pioneerville; in the Atlanta District on the
middle fork of the Boise River east of Idaho City; at Warrens,
which became a major lode mining district; along the Wood
River in the Hailey Gold Belt; at Leesburg just west of Salmon
on tributaries of the Salmon River in northeastern Idaho; and at
Loon Creek, far to the north of the Stanley Basin and east and
north of the Boise Basin operations, to which there was a signifi-
cant rush in 1869. Unquestionably, Idaho earned its reputation
as a mining territory in the 1860s and drew thousands of adven-
turers to its mountain-fast treasures.

The continued working of the Montana mines also had an im-
pact on eastern Idaho. The rush to the diggings created serious
food shortages. The closest supply of food was in the Mormon
settlements in Cache Valley, Weber Valley, Davis County, and
the Salt Lake Valley. Joseph and Charles Woodmansee drove
four hundred miles to Salt Lake City for winter supplies. By way
of Bannack Pass, they went down the Snake River Plain, up the
Port Neuf River Valley (Port Neuf later modified into one word),
down the Malad Valley, and on to Salt Lake City. Others fol-
lowed them to East Bannack on the return trip. As the 1863 dis-
coveries at Alder Gulch (Virginia City), seventy miles east of
Bannack, brought in additional thousands of people, a new
wagon road was constructed by way of Monida and Beaver Can-
yon into the Snake River Plain—a road that went over two
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hundred miles within what is now Idaho. This road served as the
lifeline of food and supplies for the Montana mines, and for the
shipping of gold dust to Salt Lake City and on to San Francisco
until the Utah and Northern Railway crossed into Montana in
1880.

A regular traffic developed, with dozens of wagons on the
road. A ferry established at Eagle Rock (later Idaho Falls) by
Harry Richards and William A. Hickman was taken over in
1863 by a Mr. O’Neil, S. M. Hall, and G. F. Simpson and was
granted a charter by the Idaho territorial legislature in January
1864. A similar charter was issued to Joseph Meek and John P.
Gibson for a ferry on the Blackfoot River. Ben Holladay re-
ceived a contract for tri-weekly mail deliveries from Salt Lake
City to Virginia City by way of Cache Valley, Fort Hall, Eagle
Rock, and Beaver Canyon. On January 22, 1864, the legisla-
ture incorporated all of this area, from the borders of Owyhee
County east to the peaks of the Rocky Mountains, and from the
Utah line north to Montana and beyond, as Oneida County.

Perhaps the most fascinating story of this “Idaho gold road,”
as it was called, was the use of caravans of camels, particularly
on the north Idaho supply route between Washington and
Montana. In 1855 Jefferson Davis, Secretary of War, sent a
committee to the Near East to buy camels to be used in supply-
ing military outposts in the American West. Over a two-year pe-
riod seventy-seven Arabian camels—dromedaries—were pur-
chased. Davis was informed that they could travel seventy miles
a day and carry half a ton of supplies. Three camels could carry
on their backs as much as six mules could pull in a wagon and
cover the ground nearly twice as fast. The animals were good
swimmers and could climb ascents impracticable to the horse.
But there were difficulties. Nearly every horse and mule they
met bolted in terror at the sight and smell of the beasts. More-
over, unlike the horses and mules to whom riders and drivers
were accustomed, camels had a highly effective means of retali-
ating when they were not treated with care and respect. If a
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muleteer should abuse a camel, as he might his mule, the camel
would turn around and spit in his face a huge, foul-smelling
wad of cud. The animal’s moaning and groaning, voluminous
sneezes, haughty and disdainful expression, and bad odor
caused freighters to hate them to the point of obsession.**

Camels were used for a few years as pack animals in the
mining districts of New Mexico, Colorado, Nevada, Idaho, Mon-
tana, and along the Cariboo Trail in British Columbia. The for-
mation of the camel’s foot, however, caused it to suffer when it
worked constantly in rocky, mountainous country.

The story of an added hazard in the case of one of the Idaho
caravans was told by Colonel Hugh McQuaid, a Midwesterner
who went to Montana in 1864:

In 1866, the camels were taken to Montana. They were
in [the] charge of an irascible Frenchman, who brought in
a large quantity of miners’ supplies from the south. Rocky
roads ruined their feet, and when they reached the end of
the journey it was necessary for the owner to give them a
long period of rest in order that their bruised hoofs might
heal. They were herded in the neighborhood of Blackfoot
[at the base of Blackfoot Mountain just west of Helena,
Montana] which was then a lively mining camp.

While there, Tom McNear, late arrival from lowa,
started out in search of game, as fresh meat was scarce. He
had heard great stories of moose in the woods, and his
hopes were high that he might bring down one of these
rather rare animals. He had never seen a moose, of course,
nor had he seen a camel for that matter. He had not pro-
ceeded far when he saw through the trees and undergrowth
the head of one of the camels. The beast was lying down,
and only its head was visible. “It’s a moose,” he thought,
and slipped carefully along until he could get a good shot.
He let the animal have it between the eyes, and the camel
fell dead.

The Frenchman had been dozing under the trees, and
his lamentations over the loss of his camel were loud and
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emphatic. McNear thought he had run across a crazy man,
and as the other camels came into view, he yelled at the
frantic Frenchman: “Keep still, you darned fool, and I'll
get the rest of the herd.” Not until the Frenchman calmed
down did McNear get the idea into his head that he had
made a blunder. He finally settled for $300. McNear did
not hear the last of his moose hunt for many a day, and it
cost him many another dollar for drinks to quiet the josh-
ers. The Frenchman lost no time in taking his humped-
back animals out of the country.?

As the surface and easily worked quartz operations in Idaho
Territory were played out in the late 1860s, many of the disap-
pointing claims were sold to incoming Chinese. The Chinese be-
gan to work many of the low-grade and abandoned mines in the
Clearwater and Salmon Mountain areas, and more and more of
them drifted into Boise Basin, South Boise, and Owyhee. By
1870 there were 4,274 Chinese in Idaho, nearly all of whom
listed themselves as miners. In fact, they constituted more than
one-third of all the people in the territory and 60 percent of all
the miners.

Chinese first began to move into Idaho, principally from Cali-
fornia, Nevada, and British Columbia, when the early placer
mines began to play out. After considerable opposition, the
claim holders at Oro Fino, in September 1864, adopted a reso-
lution to invite the Chinese into the camp. As other mining
camps became less productive and laborers left to follow other
diggings, they followed Oro Fino’s example and invited Chinese
labor. Within the next three years Chinese appeared in every
mining district of northern Idaho, with as many as two thousand
in the region. In the middle sixties the Chinese moved south-
ward into the mining districts of central Idaho, reaching the
Owyhee District in the spring of 1865. On June 23, 1866, the
Owyhee Avalanche reported “Almost every abandoned claim or
gulch in which the color of gold can be found has its gang of
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Chinamen at work.” More than 500 Chinese were said to have
been working Jordan Creek.**

Chinese were moving into Boise Basin at the same time, buy-
ing up the “old, good-for-nothing claims” in the region. By 1869
there were perhaps two thousand Chinese in the Basin, account-
ing for almost half the population there. By 1870 they held most
of the creek and gulch claims of the Basin. That year they also
moved into the Warrens District, which had more than a thou-
sand Chinese by 1871. According to a government report, the
Chinese “monopolized the gravel workings, going over the min-
ing grounds a second and a third time.”*” Rossiter W. Raymond
reported in 1872 that two-thirds of all the claims being worked
in Idaho that year were in the hands of the Chinese.?® The follow-
ing year he reported that for every paying claim worked by white
men in Idaho, there were probably five or six that were returning
a profit to the Chinese, and some camps were worked almost ex-
clusively by Chinese.?

With their exotic appearance, customs, sing-song chant, and
language, the Chinese were very different from Idaho’s diverse
rabble of miners. In Silver City, where they numbered 700 in
1874, they were generally regarded as reliable and were re-
spected by most of the townspeople. They had a Masonic
temple, two joss houses (houses of adoration), four stores, three
restaurants, two laundries, five gambling establishments, and
many warehouses.*

Most of Idaho’s Chinese belonged to a company, or tong, that
assisted them in finding work, looked after them if arrested,
cared for them if ill, and gave them a Chinese burial (trans-
ported their bones to China). By and large, they were industri-
ous, patient, and loyal. They reworked the tailings left by quartz
reduction mills, repanned gold placers which white men had
abandoned, and, in Silver City at least, packed water from
mountain springs for deposit in wooden barrels kept at each
home and business establishment. As in medieval China, they
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shouldered a yoke from which two five-gallon cans swung, and
delivered one load of ten gallons to each patron daily, with an
extra turn on Monday, the community washday. For this service
the laborer was rewarded $.50 per week.> Some Silver City elite
employed Chinese servants at $40 per month; other Chinese
contracted to cut wood for residents and business establish-
ments. Still others operated laundries.

If we count the Indians as one brotherhood, the Chinese were
the second group to add to the cultural diversity of the territory
as well as contribute toward its economic productivity. With
their long black braids that swung under wide coolie hats, their
baggy blue pantaloons that flopped as they trotted to and from
their work, they were distinctive. So were their parades, the
darling of which was the great dragon—a writhing, brightly col-
ored monster that, amid a fusillade of firecrackers and the beat-
ing of gongs and the clashing of cymbals, twisted and undulated
while “his” head turned from side to side hissing and breathing
smoke.*?

Whereas a white worker wanted from five to seven dollars a
day, Chinese workmen were willing to earn from one to two dol-
lars a day. They lived frugally, shared a hut in “Chinese row”
with eight or ten companions, ate meagerly, and carefully
hoarded their money to return to China. Subjected to ridicule
and prejudice, often robbed and beaten, they did not fare well
in American courts. “He doesn’t have a Chinaman’s chance”
became an American expression. But like Idaho’s miners, mer-
chants, and farmers, they doggedly endured.

CHAPTER ELEVEN: SOURCES

Nearly all the sources listed for Chapter Nine have been used for
this chapter as well. That includes the Idaho, Northwest, and West-
ern histories, the listed mining histories, and many of the disserta-
tions and periodical articles.

For this chapter I have relied very heavily on Wells, Gold Camps
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and Silver Cities, and Beal and Wells, History of Idaho, 1:359—68.
For the South Boise section I have made heavy use of Robert L.
Romig, “Stamp Mills in Trouble: Quartz Miners Learned the Hard
Way on the South Boise Ledges,” Pacific Northwest Quarterly 44 (Oc-
tober 1953):166—76. Other sources include: Paul, Mining Frontiers
of the Far West; H. Leigh Gittins, Idaho’s Gold Road (Moscow: Uni-
versity Press of Idaho, 1976); Arthur A. Hart, Basin of Gold: Life in
the Boise Basin, 1862-1890 (Boise: Lithocraft, 1986); Rossiter W.
Raymond, Mineral Resources of the States and Territories West of the
Rocky Mountains (Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office,
1869); Betty Derig, “A History of Silver City, Idaho” (M.A. thesis,
Montana State University, 1951); W. W. Staley, Gold in Idaho (Mos-
cow, Idaho, 1946); Elliott West, “Five Idaho Mining Towns: A Com-
puter Profile,” Pacific Northwest Quarterly 73 (July 1982):108—20
(the five towns were Centerville, Idaho City, Pioneer, Placerville, and
Silver City); Greever, Bonanza West, 257—73; and “Frisky Times in
Silver City,” in Hanley and Lucia, Owyhee Trails: The West’s Forgot-
ten Corner, 198—231.

References on camels in the West are found in Lewis B. Lesley,
ed., Uncle Sam’s Camels . . .(E] Paso, Texas: Rio Grande Press 1929,
1970); Robert Froman, “The Red Ghost,” American Heritage 12
(April 1961):34—-37, 94—98; William Lewis, “The Camel Pack
Trains in the Mining Camps of the West,” Washington Historical
Quarterly 19 (October 1928):271-84; Thomas L. Connelly, “The
American Camel Experiment: A Reappraisal,” Southwestern Histori-
cal Quarterly 69 (April 1966):442—62; and an article in the Deseret
Weekly (Salt Lake City), October 1, 1898, p. 496.

On the Chinese in Idaho in the 1860s and 1870s, I have used: Fern
C. Trull, “History of the Chinese in Idaho” (M.A. thesis, University
of Oregon, 1946); Betty Derig, “The Chinese of Silver City,” Idaho
Yesterdays 2 (Winter 1958—59):2—5; Randall E. Rohe, “After the
Gold Rush: Chinese Mining in the Far West, 1850-1890,” Montana
The Magazine of Western History 32 (Autumn 1982):2—19; Betty
Derig, “Celestials in the Diggings,” Idaho Yesterdays 16 (Fall
1972):2—23; Gunther Barth, Bitter Strength (Cambridge: Harvard
University Press, 1964); and Li Hua Yu, “The Chinese in Idaho”
(Ph.D. dissertation, Bowling Green University, 1991).
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CHAPTER TWELVE

Early Latter-day Saint Settlers in Idaho:

Mormon Farm Villages

HE major force in the early history of Idaho Territory was

mining, and the earliest isolated settlers made their living

in part by supplying miners. But another influence became
important and remains significant to this date—irrigated agri-
culture, commenced by Mormons and other farmers who entered
the territory in the 1860s.

The first permanent non-Indian settler in what is now Idaho
was Colonel William Craig, a Virginian fur trapper who estab-
lished a home near Spalding’s mission at Lapwai in 1846. He
was respected by the Nez Perce (his wife was a Nez Perce) and
assisted Oregon white leaders in negotiating treaties with the
Nez Perce in the 1850s. For this he was given the title of lieu-
tenant colonel. He was the first Indian agent at Lapwai and was
buried there in 1869. His son-in-law, Albert H. Robie, in Au-
gust 1864 in Boise established a large new sawmill that pro-
vided doors, molding, and other lumber for Boise’s commercial
structures and residences. Robie later expanded into central
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Oregon, where he operated a large ranch with Alexander
Rossi—also his partner in the mill.

A second early settler and close friend of Colonel Craig was
“Doctor” Robert Newell, a trapper with the Smith-Jackson-
Sublette party of the Rocky Mountain Fur Company, who spent
twenty years in Idaho. In 1840 he led the small party that drove
the first wagons over the Oregon Trail from Fort Hall along the
Snake River Plain to Marcus Whitman’s mission at Waiilatpu.
Newell joined the rush of gold seekers who went to Pierce City
and Oro Fino in 1861-62, served for a period as an Indian
agent at Lapwai, helped with treaties with the Nez Perce, and
died in 1869 in Lewiston.

After the establishment of the Lapwai Mission in the late
1830s, as we have seen, the first group settlement in what is
now Idaho was by Latter-day Saints at Limhi. But the first per-
manent Latter-day Saint settlers founded Franklin in April
1860. They had already planted and harvested crops by the time
of the initial discovery of gold at Pierce City. We have post-
poned a discussion of this first permanent Idaho settlement be-
cause the Franklin settlers thought they were in Utah. (Franklin
is only one mile north of the Utah border.) They and their even-
tual neighbors continued to act on this assumption until an offi-
cial survey was accepted in 1872.

The Organic Act of Utah Territory (1850) specified the Forty-
second Parallel as the northern border of Utah, but no one in the
1850s and 1860s knew its precise location. Until the official
survey settled the matter in 1872, the people of Cache Valley
paid taxes in Utah, and the Cache County Court created school
districts and voting precincts and appropriated money for roads
in northern Cache Valley communities. Residents voted in Utah
elections and elected a representative who served in the Utah
Legislature. The citizens of Oneida County, Idaho, created in
1864, suspected at least as early as 1866 that the Franklin and
northern Cache Valley communities might be in their county,
but they held no Idaho elections there and did not succeed in
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collecting taxes. In 1870 federal census enumerators headquar-
tered in Salt Lake City took a census of Franklin, Oxford, and
other northern Cache Valley villages, assuming they were in
Utah. At the same time, census enumerators from Boise took the
census on the assumption that these communities might be part
of Idaho.

Although Franklin was Idaho’s first permanent settlement, its
status was not officially ratified because of the boundary confu-
sion until several years after the town was founded. Not until
June 3, 1872, did Cache County, Utah, turn over its assessment
records for Idaho towns to Oneida County. The same was true of
Bear Lake communities, which were considered part of Rich-
land County, Utah, until Idaho created Bear Lake County in
1875. After the survey was accepted in 1872 Charles C. Rich,
founder of the Bear Lake communities, sat in the Legislative
Council of Utah, while his son Joseph C. Rich, living nearby,
sat in the Idaho Legislature in Boise. The Mormon settlers ap-
parently preferred to have their civil structure follow the famil-
iar Utah pattern. Idaho officials, preoccupied with mining dis-
tricts in the Clearwater, Salmon Mountain, Boise Basin, and
Owyhee regions, may not have cared whether the Mormons were
part of “their” territory.

The area was settled partly as a result of the federal military
presence in Utah. After the army established Camp Floyd south
of Salt Lake City in the summer of 1858, people felt freer to
move into areas where Indians were occasionally present. In the
spring of 1859, under the guidance of Brigham Young and Peter
Maughan (the Cache Valley presiding Mormon bishop), incom-
ing groups planted colonies in Wellsville, Mendon, Logan, and
Summit Creek (Smithfield). In the fall they settled Providence.
Maughan was ecstatic about Cache Valley, which was about
forty miles long and twelve miles wide, and advertised its facili-
ties for irrigation and grazing in June 1859 through the Salt
Lake newspaper, the Deseret News.'

Among those who were influenced by this and other news
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about Cache Valley were five men from Weber Valley who went
to reconnoiter the region north of existing settlements. Others
followed. During the second week of April 1860 several home-
seekers went to the confluence of Worm Creek and Cub River
(originally called the Muddy), 110 miles from Salt Lake City.
One group of thirteen families under the leadership of Thomas
S. Smart, a brickmaker from Staffordshire and Normandy who
had previously settled in Provo, Utah, arrived April 14; a sec-
ond group followed on April 1s. Still another group arrived on
May 1. By the end of 1860 there were approximately sixty-one
families, comprising more than one hundred persons. Most of
them were young married couples from other Utah settle-
ments—Payson, Provo, Slaterville, Kaysville, and Bountiful.
All were Latter-day Saints. Presiding Bishop Maughan ap-
pointed three of them, Thomas S. Smart, Samuel R. Parkinson,
and James Sanderson, to take charge of affairs until a formal or-
ganization, a “ward,” was effected. There were Indians in the
vicinity and their chief, Kittemere, welcomed the colonists to
the land, water, and timber. The Mormons gave him presents of
beef and grain.

The families placed their wagon boxes on the ground as tem-
porary dwellings, grouped together as a means of protection
from troublesome hostiles, and the undercarriages on the wag-
ons were used to haul logs from the nearby canyon. Meals were
cooked on campfires. The men immediately began to lay out a
fort-style village, sixty by ninety rods, wherein log cabins were
built with doors opening to the inside of the enclosure. The fort
was ready for occupancy in August. Corrals for stock were out-
side the fort with hay ricks beyond the corrals. An important
early task was building a pit-sawmill for preparing lumber.
Within a year it was replaced by a water-powered sawmill. Dur-
ing the first summer five children were born in the wagon boxes.

On April 19 the settlers met to allot land. There was some
discussion of whether unmarried men should be allowed to take
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part in the drawing, but with only three dissenting votes the
group approved their inclusion. Ten-acre lots away from the
campsite had been surveyed and numbered, using a rope for
measuring distances, and direction determined by sighting on
the North Star. The names of the persons were then placed in a
hat with a drawing number. Number one had first choice on his
lot, number two second choice, and so on. As it turned out, the
first two numbers were drawn by single men. They chose their
lots close together near the center of the plot. In the summer the
men built a bowery as a place to hold church and village meet-
ings. This was an enclosure of brush and boughs that could
shelter an audience of 200 persons.

Although it snowed as late as May 12, the men had their land
cleared, plowed, and planted to oats, barley, and wheat by the
first of June. Next they planted their gardens. Finally, they
made ditches to irrigate their land. Except for Spalding’s irriga-
tion in the Clearwater Mission in 1838, this was the first irri-
gation system in Idaho. First, water was conveyed from Spring
Creek into the fort for their domestic use. They next dug a ditch
from High Creek down to the south field where their crops were
planted. Other ditches were made from Oxkiller and South can-
yons. Landowners worked on the ditches servicing their proper-
ties, and the ditches were finished about the middle of July. The
next ditch was the city ditch that, enlarged many times, still fur-
nishes water for the city of Franklin.

Most of their food during this first summer came from the Salt
Lake Valley, where members of the colony returned from time to
time to work on the Church Public Works (temple, theater,
roads). For their work they obtained credits to pay for the with-
drawals of foodstuffs and supplies from the church’s general
tithing office.

In early June Brigham Young made a visit to the village; gave
it the name Franklin, after Franklin D. Richards, an apostle;
and renamed the Muddy the Cub River, because it flowed into
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the Bear. Young appointed Preston Thomas, a convert from
Mississippi and proven pioneer, as bishop. Thomas, who was
unpaid, was the principal connection between the central
church in Salt Lake City and the settlers in Franklin. He intro-
duced and directed spiritual and temporal programs, collected
tithes and contributions, gave counsel, relayed doctrinal pro-
nouncements and policy decisions, solicited volunteers for spe-
cial missions, and, to use Brigham Young’s expression, “noti-
fied everyone of his duties.” Thomas supervised public works in
Franklin; directed the community’s common enterprises, in-
cluding the provision of welfare assistance for the sick, needy,
and visiting Indians; settled disputes and conflicts; and con-
ducted Sunday and weekday meetings, funeral services, and
marriages.

Thomas also managed the Franklin Tithing Office (the vil-
lage’s general store), which was the central coordinating agency
in the village. A similar agency functioned in Mormon villages
in Utah and was established in each LDS settlement founded in
Idaho in the years that followed. The tithing office was the
agency through which tithings of produce, livestock, and other
items were received and expended. Above all, it was useful in
Franklin in providing flour, beef cattle, grain sorghum, bullets,
and other items to visiting Indians. The resulting friendship no
doubt helped to prevent contemplated raids on the isolated and
vulnerable settlement.?

By the fall of 1860, the Franklin settlers had completed their
log cabins and dug a well inside the fort. Samuel Parkinson had
opened a store, and Alfred Alder and Shem Pumell had started
a blacksmith shop. Other early enterprises were a gristmill and
creamery. Hannah Comish started a school in her own cabin;
she had twenty students. The next spring a one-room combina-
tion schoolhouse-meetinghouse, located inside the fort, was
completed. Like the log cabin homes, this structure had a sod
roof, straw floor, benches made of slab lumber, and a fireplace;
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it also had the only window glass in the colony. The building
was also Franklin’s entertainment center, where readings, lec-
tures, plays, dances, and special dinners were held during the
almost four years the settlers lived in the fort.

The first season’s harvest consisted of potatoes, onions, and
forty-eight bushels of wheat. Although the harvest of 1861 was
still small, the settlers felt assured that the land would support
them. But with good reason the settlers were apprehensive of In-
dian depredations. Although Cache Valley was “swarming with
Indians,” no overwhelming dangers seemed to confront the
white settlers—at least at the beginning.* Long before the whites
came along as fur traders, overland emigrants, and settlers, the
Indians had visited this green valley, well watered by many trib-
utaries flowing down from the Bear River Range on the east into
the Bear River. There they found an abundance of fish, game,
berries, and roots for themselves and their horses.

The Indians of the Cache area were Northern or Northwestern
Shoshoni, one of at least five major groups of Shoshoni.* The
Northwestern bands had camps on Bannock Creek, just south of
Fort Hall; near Kelton, Utah, at the northern tip of Great Salt
Lake; near the confluence of Bear River with Great Salt Lake;
along Logan River above its confluence with Little Bear River;
and along Battle Creek, as it flows into the Bear River.

Although Mormons entered into treaty arrangements with var-
ious Indian bands and were generous in their gifts to Indians
who passed through their villages, Indians became increasingly
unhappy with the Mormon tendency to fill up the land with
farms and livestock. On the one hand, the Mormons accepted
Brigham Young's assertion that it was cheaper to feed Indians
than to fight them; on the other hand, they believed they had a
right to settle the land, grow crops, and make a living. They be-
came impatient with the constant thievery and aggressive kill-
ing. Also, the Mormons suffered when thoughtless emigrant
groups killed Indians quite wantonly, and the Indians, insisting
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on revenge, took it out on the Mormons. One band of Shoshoni
established a winter camp near Ogden, Utah, and began to steal
cattle and cut fences for firewood. When a Mormon leader, Da-
vid Moore (who had been at Limhi), protested, Chief Little Sol-
dier replied: “The grass the cows eat and the wood from which
the fences are built belong to the Indians.™

Although Brigham Young, as Utah’s Superintendent of Indian
Affairs, and his successors tried valiantly to obtain government
support for the Shoshoni, there was little response compared
with what the government had done or was doing for other In-
dian nations. Frequent incidents threatened both whites and na-
tives. In July 1860 an Indian was captured for stealing horses
and shot while attempting to escape. The Indians retaliated by
shooting John Reed, father of the first child born in Franklin.
The settlers had to guard their stock constantly but nevertheless
lost many horses and cattle. Raids, kidnappings, and “auda-
cious outrages” provoked the Cache Valley settlers, and pitched
battles occurred between local militiamen and angry Indians.

In 1862 President Abraham Lincoln, to insure protection for
the overland mail, telegraph, and emigrants (and to keep an eye
on the Mormons who, government officials felt, might threaten
to secede), called seven hundred California Volunteers to estab-
lish Camp Douglas in the hills overlooking Salt Lake City. They
were under the command of Colonel Patrick E. Connor, a vet-
eran of the war of 1846 and a California forty-niner. Connor and
the Volunteers were disappointed that, instead of being ordered
to the front in Virginia, where honor and glory might be won,
they had been consigned to a desert area where they might
“freeze to death around sage brush fires” while they chased
“nondescript bands of Indians away from the mail stations.”™ As
historian Brigham Madsen writes: “The stage was set for con-
frontation between a group of westerners who looked upon all
Indians as nuisances at best and the Shoshoni who had aban-
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doned any pretense at peace and were attacking settlers and
their herds, and emigrants and miners, with uninhibited deter-
mination to stop white encroachment and to secure food and
supplies for their families.”

During the early winter of 1862—63 a group of miners from
the Grasshopper Creek diggings at Bannack, Montana, was at-
tacked by Shoshoni-Bannock, and one of them was killed. A
surviving miner asked federal officers for help. Chief Justice
John F. Kinney of Utah Territory (a non-Mormon presidential
appointee) issued a warrant for the arrest of Chiefs Bear Hunter,
Sandpitch, and Sagwitch, along with a request that Colonel
Connor support the United States marshal in serving the war-
rant. Having heard that a large band of Northwestern Shoshoni
under the three chiefs was camped in a ravine near the Bear
River about twelve miles north of Franklin, the flinty Irishman
was glad to oblige and marched his men from their base at Camp
Douglas by night so as not to frighten away the Indians. They
took fifteen supply wagons and two howitzers. The Indians, as it
turned out, had no intention of leaving. Four hundred warriors
were prepared to defend their camp. The weather was sub-zero.
Connor’s troops crossed the ice-choked Bear River on the early
morning of January 29, 1863. The colonel did not ask for and
was not offered any assistance from the Cache Valley Mormons,
who were prepared to flee in the event of an Indian victory.

The ensuing battle, variously called the Battle of Bear River
and the Bear River Massacre, resulted in more casualties than
did any other Indian disaster in American history. Whereas the
notorious Wounded Knee massacre of December 29, 1890, re-
sulted in 146 Oglala Sioux deaths and that at Sand Creek in 130
Cheyenne deaths, the one at Bear River may have cost as many
as 368 Indian lives. The battle was important because it brought
about a significant change in Indian-white relations.

The Indians fought ferociously, and the battle was deadly. At
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the beginning the Indians were very confident, and most of the
white casualties occurred as the infantry descended from the
mountain toward Bear Hunter’s redoubt. When Connor’s men
determined that a frontal assault would probably fail, they be-
gan a flanking movement to attack the Indians from either side
and from the rear. Near the end of the four-hour battle, when the
Indians realized they were not going to win, they began a whole-
sale attempt to escape. Following Connor’s instruction that they
take no prisoners, the troops rushed in and began a methodical
slaughter. While the Volunteers counted 22 of their own dead,
49 wounded, and 79 disabled by frostbite, the colonel reported
224 Indian deaths (a Mormon observer reported 368) including
almost 90 women and children. Some 160 women and children
were saved, and a few Indian boys and men escaped via Bear
River. The troops destroyed 70 tepees, captured 175 horses,
and confiscated 1,000 bushels of grain. Although modern histo-
rians now consider the killing of the men, youths, women, and
children at the end of the battle as unforgivable, the destruction
of this band of Shoshoni was regarded at the time as proper pun-
ishment for a group that had terrorized emigrants and citizens of
northern Utah and southern Idaho for more than twenty years.
Colonel Connor was advanced to the office of brigadier general,
and the troops were commended for their “heroic conduct and
brilliant victory.”®

Franklin residents became involved after the battle when they
took teams and sleighs and helped remove the wounded soldiers
and Indians and the Indian women and children. Many on both
sides had frozen feet. Those in need of care were taken to
Franklin, and some of the orphaned Indian children were
adopted by Cache Valley families. Sagwitch, who Connor had
reported was among those killed, was instead seriously
wounded. He was nursed back to health and later became a
baptized Mormon.

Two sequels affected Idaho history. First, surviving Indians



EARLY MORMON SETTLERS

(perhaps 1,500 Northwest Shoshoni were not at the massacre
site) sought revenge and booty to replace their losses. The Mor-
mon settlers in Cache Valley suffered heavy losses in cattle and
horses, despite their continual handouts of beef, grain, and veg-
etables. A near disaster occurred at Franklin in September
1863 when a settler shot a drunken Indian who was trying to
ride his horse over a white woman. The Shoshoni seized a hos-
tage, demanded that the man who had fired the shot be turned
over to them, and resisted all pleas by the Mormon bishop to
settle the affair peaceably. The prompt arrival of 300 militiamen
from other Cache Valley villages prevented bloodshed and led
to a conference with Chief Washakie of the Eastern Shoshoni,
who was able to end the affair amicably.

Second, James Duane Doty, the government-appointed su-
perintendent of Indian affairs of Utah Territory, negotiated trea-
ties with the various groups of Shoshoni in July 1863. A treaty
was signed with Chief Washakie and the Eastern Shoshoni at
Fort Bridger on July 2 and with the chiefs of the Northwestern
Shoshoni on July 30 at Box Elder (Brigham City). The signing
chiefs solemnly promised an end to plunder and killing, and the
government was given permission to construct telegraph lines,
overland stage routes, stage stations, and railroads through In-
dian territory. When the government failed to carry out its prom-
ises to provide help to the tribes, the indignant Indians contin-
ued to bother local farmers by stealing livestock, grain, and
clothing. The Indians were less daring in their raids, however,
because Colonel Connor had established a post at Soda Springs.
In 1867 the Fort Hall Indian Reservation was established and
most of the Cache Valley Indians eventually went there to live.®

The Mormons continued their policy of helping the Indians
through their Tithing Office. The 1864 “Indian Account” of the
Cache Valley Tithing Office shows the following disbursements
to Indians:
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Date Item Disbursed Value
Apr. 15 104 lbs. flour to Sagwich $ 6.25
Apr. 19 216 lbs. flour to Weber Jack 12.96
May 2 50 lbs. flour to Indian George 3.00
July 23 500 lbs. flour to Indian Bannacks 30.00
July 5 102 lbs. flour to Indian Charles 6.12
July 31 760 lbs. flour to Indian Washakie 45.60
Aug. 16 300 lbs. flour to Indian Madagin 18.00
Sept. 8 One beef ox per P. Maughan to Washakie 70.00
Oct. 7 One beef ox per T. Tarbet to Washakie 35.00
Oct. 7 One beef steer per T. E. Ricks to Washakie 35.00
Oct. 7 116 lbs. beef to Sagwich 6.95
Nov. 24 5 bu. wheat ($10.00); 5 bu. corn ($7.50) 17.50
to Sagwich
Nov. 24 10 bu. potatoes ($10.00); 10 bu. carrots 15.00
($5.00) to Sagwich
Nov. 24 1 bu. corn ($1.50); 5 bu. potatoes 6.50
($5.00) to Sagwich
Nov. 24 5 bu carrots to Sagwich 2.50

Source: “Logan General Tithing Office Account Book, 1864—65,”
12—13. This record is in the LDS Church Library-Archives, Salt
Lake City.

Obviously, Cache Valley contributions toward the welfare of
the Indians were not insubstantial. The accounts also contain
such notations as “Fixin’ gun for Indian George” and “Bullets
for Indian Alma.”

Whatever the justification for the “battle” or “massacre,” the
consequence of that encounter and the signing of the Treaty of
Box Elder signalled to the settlers in what had become Idaho
Territory in July 1863 that there was now less risk in settling
new and choice localities. That is precisely what happened.
Franklin became “mother” of many settlements in southeastern

Idaho.
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Reasons for the spread of settlement are not hard to deter-
mine. Mormons had a high birth rate, the supply of easily irri-
gated land was scarce, additional convert-immigrants were com-
ing each summer from England and Scandinavia, and many
families were looking for better land to farm. In 1860 Cache
Valley had 2,605 people; by 1870 it had 8,299. A. J. Sim-
monds has estimated that Cache Valley’s population had in-
creased about 50 percent between 1861 and 1864, the very
years when Indian resistance precluded the establishment of
new settlements. As he suggests: “The genocide at Bear River
must have seemed a heaven-sent opportunity to break out of the
strait jacket into which Shoshoni resistance had placed valley
residents.”"°

Brigham Young had asked Colonel James H. Martineau, the
Cache County Surveyor, to explore Bear Lake Valley in 1862,
and after the Treaty of Box Elder, Young moved quickly. At a
meeting held Sunday evening, August 23, 1863, in Logan, “to
take into consideration the immediate possession of Bear Lake
Valley,” Brigham asked for fifty men from Cache Valley to go
over to Bear Lake Valley, about a day’s horseback ride to the
east, to build up a fort before winter. Several hundred Saints
would be sent the next year under the direction of Apostle
Charles C. Rich to establish settlements north, south, and west
of the lake. The president did not want a “single soul” to say
anything about the enterprise—“otherwise it will be telegraphed
to old Abe Lincoln by some of these officers, and then it will be
made a reservation of immediately to prevent us from getting it.”
“Is the Bear Lake Valley in Utah Territory?” asked one person.
“I don’t know,” responded the president, “neither do I care.”
He then asked the Cache Valley leaders to make a road to Bear
Lake so he could visit the new settlements the next year. “Lay
low, watch for ‘black ducks,’ ” he concluded, meaning presum-
ably federal military personnel. “We calculate to be kings of
these mountains. Now let us go ahead and occupy them.™"'
Among those assigned to make the journey to Bear Lake were
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settlers from Providence, Logan, and Franklin. One of them
wrote, on the day of leaving, “Our desire is to build the cities of
Zion and by the help of the Lord we hope to accomplish it.”*?

While in Logan, Young picked sites for settlement and nego-
tiated a treaty with Washakie of the Shoshoni and Tagi of the
Bannock that allowed Mormon settlement north of Bear Lake.
The south end of the lake was a traditional gathering place for
the Shoshoni where, among other activities, they engaged in
trade with the Utes, which may explain why American fur trap-
pers held two great fur-trade rendezvous there in 1827 and
1828.

General Rich (he had been a Mormon general during the Utah
War) led the advance group of settlers across the mountains for
Bear Lake Valley on September 18, taking nine wagons. They
were eight days in traveling the forty-six miles since it was nec-
essary to cut a road through the timber and construct dugways
along steep hillsides until they reached what they later called
Paris Creek. (The town was laid out by Surveyor Frederick
Perris, but someone misspelled his name when they applied for
a post office, and so it became Paris.) The advance company,
reinforced by others who arrived in October, built twenty cabins
of aspen logs to house the settlers who would remain for the win-
ter. The structures had dirt floors and roofs. Wild hay was cut
from the meadows and stored to feed the animals during the win-
ter, which proved to be mild. Between twenty and thirty families
spent their first winter at Paris.

The settlers were not without entertainment. Among other
things, the drama William Tell was presented. Because music
was necessary, two men made the winter trip to Franklin to re-
place some broken violin strings. The men carried back forty
pounds of mail to Paris, each with twenty pounds on his back.
They were the first in a regular weekly mail service carried by

tithing labor, residents donating one day in ten as “public
labor.”
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When the snows melted in the spring 700 additional settlers
arrived, and nine more settlements were established: Laketown,
Garden City, St. Charles, Ovid, Fish Haven, Bloomington,
Bennington, Liberty, and Montpelier. Most of these settlers
were from Cache, Davis, and Utah counties. They built homes,
erected fences, plowed land, and planted crops.

Brigham Young and other church officials went to Bear Lake
Valley in May 1864 to inspect the settlements. As the party left
Franklin there were 153 persons, 86 riding in vehicles and the
remainder mounted on horses. They had difficulty climbing the
mountains separating Franklin from Bear Lake Valley, found
themselves struggling through deep mud as they reached the
Bear Lake side, and finally arrived at Paris at three o’clock in
the morning. At the time Paris consisted of thirty-four log huts
with dirt roofs. The Bear Lakers gave the president and com-
pany an early breakfast of lake trout fried in butter, after which
they understandably took a nap.

The next day the party visited the various settlements in the
valley. On Sunday, they held a meeting in front of Apostle
Charles C. Rich’s cabin in Paris. Young named one settlement,
seven miles south of Paris, St. Charles after Apostle Rich. Rich
asked Young to name the creek as well. Young replied: “You
may call it big water, tall water, large water, big creek, pleasant
water, or rich water.” With no attempt at poetry or euphony, it
was called Paris Creek. Asked about a new-found settlement ten
miles northeast of Paris, he said he wished to name it Montpe-
lier, after the capital of his native state of Vermont.

Young was full of advice:

Make your fences strong and high at once, for to com-
mence a fence with three poles will teach your cows and
other stock to be breachy [fence jumpers]. They learn to
jump a three-pole fence, you add another pole and they
learn to jump that, and thus they are trained to leap fences
which would otherwise be sufficient to turn them.*
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Little children should not be sent out from the settlement to herd
cattle or sheep, he admonished, but kept at home or (if old
enough) entered in school.

Following the meeting, the pioneers formed St. Charles, di-
viding the farmland between them by lot, and surveyed the
townsite into ten-acre blocks. Twenty-five families built cabins
on their village lots in 1864. In 1865 they erected a log meeting-
house-schoolhouse and in 1866 added a flour mill. Also in the
spring of 1864, north of St. Charles, the town of Liberty was
founded where twenty families built cabins, planted crops, and
set out an orchard. In the northern end of the valley Montpelier
was also established in 1864, and water was brought from Mont-
pelier Creek to irrigate the farms.

For at least two years early frosts damaged a large part of the
Bear Lake crops, so many settlers were forced to journey across
the mountains to Cache Valley to acquire foodstuffs. Some colo-
nizers ground up their frost-bitten wheat or oats in coffee grind-
ers and sifted out the coarser particles with sieves. In 1865
Francis Pomeroy built a flour mill at the mouth of a nearby can-
yon, and in 1866 a sawmill was built in Paris Canyon.

The experiences of each of the nine towns founded in 1864
were similar: the colonists laid out townsites, built log cabins,
irrigated the land, and tilled the soil. The early years were hard
—a plague of grasshoppers damaged the crops in 1867—but the
settlers persevered and gradually turned to livestock pro-
duction. '

In 1865 a few settlers violated Rich’s instructions about not
settling the south end of the lake and began to build fences and
make farms. The Shoshoni destroyed their crops and sent the
settlers scurrying back to the relative security of St. Charles.
This confrontation caused other pullbacks in northern Cache
Valley and northern Bear Lake Valley. Not until 1867 were the
towns in northern Cache Valley and Bear Lake Valley perma-

nently reoccupied.
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In addition to the new colonies in Bear Lake Valley in July
1864, Cache Valley leader Ezra T. Benson, a church apostle,
sent an exploring company of seven men under the leadership of
Marriner W. Merrill of Richmond to locate sites in northwest
Cache. The towns and farm plots were laid out by surveyor Mar-
tineau in September.

The first settlers arrived that fall in Stockton and Oxford, in
what was called Round Valley, at the far north end of Cache
Valley just south of Swan Lake—about twenty miles north of
Franklin. Oxford was named, not for the university or city in
England, but for a settler’s animal that became mired in the
little creek. Stockton was named for the herds of Cache Valley
cattle that were grazing in Round Valley in 1864. Other settlers
arrived in the spring of 1865, most of them settling in Oxford.
They built log houses in fort style. When the Indians threatened
in the spring of 1866 the settlers removed to the “mother settle-
ment” of Franklin, but in the spring of 1867 they returned to
their lots in Oxford. They raised fruit and berries as well as
garden-stuffs and grain.

Additional towns established in 1865 by Franklin and other
Cache Valley settlers were Rushville, Weston, and Malad.
Rushville was on the headwaters of Deep Creek, four miles
south of Oxford; its name came from the bushes in the Oxford
Slough. The settlement expanded and after an 1869 survey was
named Clifton—the name deriving from a high cleft of rock west
of the settlement.

Weston, so named because it was on the west side of the val-
ley and was the maiden name of Peter Maughan’s wife, Mary
Ann Weston Maughan, was settled in April 1865. Lars Fred-
erickson described in his diary the process of settlement, a story
quite typical of all the 1863—65 settlements:

They all dug a hole in the ground and put a roof on
(called a dugout); this was the kind of houses they lived in,
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with an open fire place and chimney for heating and cook-
ing. They had no stoves in those days. . . .

They planted some crops mostly wheat this year. Each
man had a little strip of land on the creek bottom separated
with a ditch. I still remember the names of some of those
ditches. There was the Beeswax ditch, the Sheepskin
ditch, the Gopher ditch and others. '

After planting the crops—later destroyed by crickets—the
settlers began the construction of a dam to bring the water onto
the farmlands. Frederickson described the dam-building as fol-
lows:

Men started to put in willows, dig sods, and carry them
onto the dam. They had to carry all the dirt because they
had no other way. They made a rack with two poles and
wove it in with small willows so it would hold dirt, load that
up, then a man to each end to carry the load over on the
dam and unload, then repeat. That was the only kind of
wheel scrapers they had. The creek was full of Beavers, so
as soon as the Beavers understood that there was going to
be a dam built, they would work at night. They would cut
willows into three or four foot lengths, sometimes longer,
weave these together in the water where the dam was to be,
and plaster the whole thing up with mud; the beavers run
the night shift, so they were a great help to the first set-
tlers, so in about four weeks they had the water out and
getting their grain irrigated and growing fine. '

In the summer of 1866, as the crops were growing, the Indi-
ans posed a threat, so the settlers left their homes and lands and
returned to Richmond. Early in the fall, the men returned to the
Weston fields but took refuge again in Richmond after their har-
vesting was done.

In the spring of 1867 the settlers returned again to Weston,
bringing others with them. James Mack completed a gristmill on
Weston Creek. Two years later the settlers built log houses to
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replace the dugouts that had housed them for four years. These
log houses had large, open fireplaces and chimneys at one end
for cooking and heating. The furniture was, of course, all home-
made.

Five miles north of Weston and five miles south of Clifton was
Dayton, settled in 1867 by Joseph Chadwick and others of
Franklin. The settlement was on the road that led to the Mon-
tana mines, and Chadwick opened a store in his home to sell
supplies to freighters. By 1882 twenty families were living in
Dayton.

When the residents of Franklin moved out of their fort onto
their city lots in 1864, they lacked meadowlands for raising hay
and pasturing their livestock. Some miles north and west were
the Worm Creek bottoms—the flat lands between Worm Creek
and the Bear River. This land was covered with wild grasses and
had plenty of water. It was tempting to others as well, and herds
were driven in from many locations, so the Franklin residents
built herd cabins to protect their squatter claims. At first re-
maining there only in the summers, they later decided to stay.
Other settlers joined them. The place was called Worm Creek
until 1881, when it was renamed Preston.

At the same time that northern Cache Valley and Bear Lake
Valley were being colonized, Mormon families also moved to
settle Malad Valley. At this point, one must recognize that
Idaho has two Malad River valleys: the tributary of the Snake in
central Idaho, with the famed Malad Gorge, and the tributary of
the Bear River in southeastern Idaho, with which we are now
concerned. Both rivers apparently received their names from
French fur trappers who became sick after imbibing the water or
after eating the beaver they found in the water.

The Malad Valley in southeastern Idaho was frequented by
trappers, mountain men, and explorers in the 1820s and 1830s.
Overlanders passed through, particularly those headed for Cali-
fornia. John C. Fremont explored the region in 1843, as did
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Captain Howard Stansbury in 1849. As we have seen, members
of the Salmon River Mission went through Malad Valley on their
way to Limhi in 1855. It was along the route of miners and
freighters going to and from western Montana in the 1860s.

Mormons used Malad Valley as a herd ground for several
years in the early 1850s. In 1855, a colony of fifteen families
led by Ezra Barnard located on the east side of the Malad River,
built an adobe fort enclosing about an acre of ground in which
they dug cellars and erected log houses, and attempted farming.
The crops were destroyed by grasshoppers. The little settlement
was abandoned in 1858, at the same time as the Salmon River
Mission, because of the aggressions of the Shoshoni.

The first man to settle permanently in Malad Valley was
A. W. Vanderwood, in 1863. He kept the mail station at Mt.
Springs on the east side of the Malad River. The next spring
Henry Peck and Judson Stoddard established a livestock ranch
opposite the present site of Portage. In the same year Peck and
three of his sons settled there to fulfill a contract to cut and sell
wheat grass and meadow hay to Ben Holladay’s stage line. Peck
established his cabin at what he called Deep Creek, the present
site of Malad City. He found Chief Pocatello and his band
camped there but built his log cabin that fall. About a dozen set-
tlers followed Peck and settled on the present townsite, and the
families of Peck and Stoddard went there to live in the spring of
1865. About four hundred horses and many cattle were kept in
Peck’s large corral.

In the summer of 1865 ten additional families moved to
Malad from northern Utah, starting a tradition of settling Welsh
converts in the Malad Valley. The names commonly found in
Malad Valley throughout its history are mostly Welsh: Wil-
liams, Jones, Hughes, Davis, Evans, Waldron, James, Tovey,
Thomas, Lewis, Daniels, Parry. As in many Mormon villages,
the founders of Malad City patterned their settlement after Salt
Lake City, with ten-acre plots, eight lots to the plot.

In 1866 there was an influx of Reorganized Latter Day



EARLY MORMON SETTLERS

Saints—members of a church organized in 1860 with Joseph
Smith III, son of the founding prophet of the Church of Jesus
Christ of Latter-day Saints, as its leader. The RLDS Church,
headquartered at the time in Plano, Illinois, and now in Inde-
pendence, Missouri, sent missionaries to the Utah church in
1866, and some of those converted went to Malad to settle.
Malad thus began as a pluralistic society, with some non-
Mormon ranchers, Welsh Latter-day Saints, “Josephite” Latter
Day Saints (as the RLDS were called), assorted national groups
(Danish, English, Irish, Scottish, German), and some Native
Americans (Shoshoni, Bannock, and Northern Paiute).

From Malad City new settlers moved to other areas in the val-
ley. In the spring of 1865 a dozen families moved to Cherry
Creek, on Willow Springs, four miles south of Malad. The same
year another group went to Woodruff, twelve miles south of
Malad but still two and one-half miles north of the present Utah-
Idaho line. In 1868 another group settled in Samaria, nine miles
southwest of Malad. Most of these also were Welsh Latter-day
Saints. St. John, three and one-half miles north of Malad City,
was settled in 1869.

As we have seen, the Idaho territorial legislature passed the
act creating Oneida County on January 22, 1864. Soda Springs,
the post of Colonel Connor, was designated as the county seat.
In 1866, when Connor’s troops left Soda Springs, the county
seat was moved to Malad, where both Mormon farmers and non-
Mormon stockmen had settled. In contrast with Franklin and the
northern Cache Valley and Bear Lake Valley communities, set-
tlers in the Malad Valley always acknowledged they were in
Idaho, not in Utah.

These, of course, were only the first of a steady influx of Mor-
mons into Idaho Territory that eventually spread throughout the
Upper Snake River Valley, over to Goose Creek and Cassia
Creek, and later into most agricultural regions of southern
Idaho. Idaho, as they learned for certain in 1872, was their
home, and they sought to make the best of it.
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CHAPTER THIRTEEN

Economic and Political Trials

and Indian Conflicts

HE Civil War impacted Idaho in several ways. First, many

people came to the territory to escape the war and its conse-

quences in the states where they had lived, particularly Mis-
souri and Arkansas. Second, wartime taxes and financial prob-
lems made it difficult for Idaho promoters and developers to
raise money to exploit potentially rich mining deposits. Third,
the preoccupation of federal personnel with the war effort meant
only peripheral interest in remote territories like Idaho. Little
attention was given to the government of the territory, to white
and Chinese miners, and to Idaho’s Native Americans.'

As in other wars, there was a heightened demand for many
commodities and prices soared. Textiles quadrupled in price;
groceries and flour doubled; meat, fuel, and rents increased
more than 50 percent. Real wages and salaries lagged far
behind; but prices farmers received almost kept pace with the
general price increase, rising 86 percent. Because of the mild
inflation, gold became more valuable and was seldom used as
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payment. Banks suspended payment in coin, the government is-
sued $450 million in irredeemable greenbacks (the first govern-
ment paper money in the nation’s history), and the government
also distributed short-term Treasury notes that passed almost
like money. Paper money thus replaced metallic money as
means of circulation. In terms of gold, the greenbacks did not
circulate at par; in the summer of 1864, just before war’s end,
they dropped as low as 39 cents on the dollar.

After the war prices declined, not only because of the drop in
demand for many commodities on the part of government and
war contractors, but also because of the expansion of agricul-
tural and mineral production that had resulted from the spread
of settlement and opening up of new lands and resources west of
the Mississippi. Large numbers of farmers, mine owners, and
small businessmen had contracted debts during the war to in-
crease production. One would suppose that, in all fairness, the
government would now attempt to maintain stability and supply
the currency needed for continued industrial and agricultural
expansion. Instead, the government was determined to do pre-
cisely the opposite: restore prewar “normality” by contracting
the paper currency and reducing prices. The government’s goal
was to resume use of coin as currency and return to the gold
standard, a goal finally achieved in 1879 at the cost of substan-
tial injury to farmers, miners, small businessmen, and other
pioneer debtors and producers. Those who had borrowed to buy
land, livestock, and machinery at 50 cents on the dollar now
had to pay their obligations with an 80- or 90-cent dollar. Farm
prices declined by 12 percent in 1869, by 30 percent in 1870,
and by 35 percent in 1873.

Those who had been hurt by the contraction—and this in-
cluded nearly all Idahoans—proposed that the government, so
anxious to get back to a metal basis, inject more silver into cir-
culation. The ratio of gold to silver had been fixed in 1837 at 16
to 1 (actually 15.98 to 1). This decision overvalued gold slightly,
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so silver disappeared from the market. Since the silver dollar in
1873 was worth only $1.02 in gold, it was not profitable to coin,
and Congress dropped the further minting of the silver dollar. In
the eyes of those wanting an expansion—or at least mainten-
ance—of the circulating medium this demonetization of silver
was denounced as the “Crime of ‘73.” Idahoans and nearly all
westerners attacked this act. Silver, they said, had always stood
guard to prevent any considerable rise in gold, and the effect of
demonetization was an inordinate rise in gold and further drop
in the general price level. The price of silver plunged sharply.
By 1876 a silver dollar was worth only 90 cents in gold.

Not only were the financial policies of the nation damaging to
the interests of many Idahoans, but the general tenor of federal
postwar policy was objectionable, both politically and morally.
After the assassination of Abraham Lincoln, a coalition of north-
erners sought to punish the South and diminish its influence by
continuing the hate and abolition idealism that had accompa-
nied the war. The southerners were not compensated for the
freeing of their slaves, they were not reimbursed for their hold-
ings of Confederate bonds, they were deprived of voting rights if
they had given aid and comfort to the Confederacy (this in-
cluded virtually all of the South’s prominent citizens), they were
placed under military rule, and they were punished. (Congress’s
treatment of the conquered South was far more severe than its
treatment of conquered Japanese and Germans after World War
I1.) This was the intent of Radical Republicans who held control
of the national government for seventy years after the Civil War,
with the exception of eight years when Democrats achieved a
majority in the voting. Those in control, symbolized by South-
hating Thaddeus Stevens, sought to establish and maintain
northern supremacy. The election of Ulysses S. Grant in 1868
assured the domination of the Radical Republicans and his re-
election in 1872 continued the same rule for another four years.
Rutherford B. Hayes, elected in a disputed vote in 187e,
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removed troops from the South in 1877, but Radical Republi-
cans continued to dominate national policies. The setting of na-
tional monetary policy was thus largely in the hands of Republi-
can agents of eastern and midwestern industrial and financial
interests, to the detriment of Idaho’s farmers, miners, and mer-
chants.

A sample of the problems in Idaho Territory occurred at the
Fourth Session of the territorial legislature in 1866—67, the first
to meet after the death of Lincoln and the end of the Confeder-
acy. On July 2, 1862, Congress had passed a measure imposing
an “iron-clad oath” on all federal officials and practicing attor-
neys, requiring them to denounce the Confederacy as a domes-
tic enemy.? That the oath remained in effect after the war was
over was interpreted by Idaho’s Radical Republicans to mean
that the territory’s Confederate Democrats were prohibited from
serving in the legislature. Since all but five members of the leg-
islature were Confederate sympathizers, the legislators enacted
over the veto of David W. Ballard (the Radical Republican gov-
ernor from 1866 to 1870) a statute specifying that in Idaho at
least, the odious test oath applied only to presidential appoin-
tees—the governor, secretary, and Supreme Court justices.

That Ballard and the legislature would not get along was
clear. The legislature sent an economy bill to the governor sug-
gesting that the governor’s salary be cut in half. The governor
responded, asking for a “slight amendment” that would cut leg-
islative salaries in half as well. The governor and the legislature
agreed that the Supreme Court salaries should be cut in half. (In
Idaho, half the pay for the governor and the legislature came
from the federal treasury and half from the territory.) The legis-
lature’s response to the governor’s amendment was that when
the governor’s advice was required, it would be requested.

Regardless of the act that the legislature had passed over his
veto, Ballard insisted that the legislators must sign the required
test oath before receiving their pay. When the Radical Republi-
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can territorial secretary, Solomon R. Howlett, appealed to
Washington, the Secretary of the Treasury instructed Howlett
not to pay any legislators who refused to sign the loyalty oath.
When Howlett transmitted a copy of the order to the legislators,
“[t}he indignation of the Honorable gentlemen was absolutely
uncontrollable for some time, and most of them were totally un-
able to express themselves in terms sufficiently indignant.” In
actuality, Howlett’s predecessor as secretary had absconded
with the funds, and there was no Idaho money to pay out any-
way.

Some of the legislators expressed their resentment by throw-
ing lamps and chairs out the windows and smashing the furni-
ture. One member threatened to set the town on fire. Others de-
cided upon a concession. They would sign the hated oath and
would return their pay if the Washington examiners disallowed
the transaction. But Howlett would have none of it. Deciding
that a show of force was necessary, he asked for military aid
from Fort Boise. Twenty-two soldiers marched up to the legisla-
tive hall, loaded their arms, and assumed a belligerent attitude.
Meanwhile, legislators hurled epithets and insults at Howlett.
Some walked up to him with fists at the ready, while others drew
them back. The military intimidation reminded Confederate
sympathizers of what the South was experiencing: Recon-
struction was being practiced in Idaho as well. Historian John
Hailey, who was an observer of these events, reported: “Some of
the members [of the legislature] were rather high tempered and
fractious, while Secretary S. R. Howlett might be put down as a
would-be aristocratic, cranky, old granny. He seemed to think
things must go or come his way.™

Howlett was finally persuaded by two Supreme Court justices
to risk compensating the legislature although that payment was
contrary to Treasury instructions. Confederate members, for
their part, agreed to his stipulation that they sign the detested
oath, which they did on January 14, 1867. Ironically, on that
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very date, the United States Supreme Court rendered a decision
that the test oath was unconstitutional at least when applied to
attorneys and teachers. Also on that day, President Andrew
Johnson notified the Senate that he had removed Ballard as gov-
ernor and nominated John M. Murphy of Idaho City to take his
place. Murphy was not confirmed by the Senate, however, and
Ballard remained as governor for three more years.®

Both sides were bitter. Idaho Confederates continued to de-
nounce “the proven villainy, the shameless perjury, the abso-
lute dishonesty, and utter moral rottenness of Secretary How-
lett, who had. .. played the knave and pimp continuously. . .
[and who was] atrociously corrupt, and totally unworthy of any
position under the Government, save as a condemned felon in a
Government prison.” In another blast, the legislature’s press or-
gan continued in the same vein: “Lying and deceit and trouble-
brewing come as naturally from the perjured old scoundrel
[Secretary Howlett] as poison from an adder or slime from a
toad. How long is this old wretch to be permitted outside the
penitentiary walls?” Friends of the governor and secretary were
equally venomous. The legislators, according to the Sacramento
Daily Union, were “true and actual representatives of second
class hurdy-gurdy houses. . . . The third session was by all good
men—irrespective of party—pronounced infamous, but this one
is Satanic. With a few harmless acts expected, the present body
has made every enactment from a vile motive. . . . The demonia-
cal Fourth Idaho Legislature has denounced and abused [the
governor]. . . in a spirit of constant and fiendish ecstacy.™

Something far more damaging than name-calling between
Unionists and Confederates occurred in September 1873 when
the nation’s leading brokerage firm, Jay Cooke & Company,
failed. This firm had been principal financier of the Union in
the Civil War and in 1873 was engaged in building the Northern
Pacific Railroad. Its failure precipitated the most severe panic
in the nation’s history to that time. Prices of mineral and agri-
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cultural products continued to go down, numerous banks
closed, and a severe depression ensued that lasted through most
of the 1870s. Bank deposits dropped by one-third during the
twelve months following the panic. As difficult as it had been for
Idahoans to make a living in the late 1860s and early 1870s, it
was now even more critical.

Idaho mining had begun its decline as early as 1867. Most of
the rich placers had played out. The quartz properties, remote
from railroads, lacked access roads for transporting large stamp
mills. There were important placer discoveries in Leesburg in
1866, Loon Creek in 1869, and Caribou Mountain in 1870, and
some of the richer mines continued to be worked until the fail-
ure of the Bank of California in San Francisco in 1875. As a
result of the national depression and the slowing of its earlier
momentum, Idaho mining production went into a tailspin from
which it did not recover until the 1880s.

Idaho’s farming communities, at least the largely self-
sufficient Latter-day Saint communities in northern Cache Val-
ley, Bear Lake Valley, and Malad Valley, were not affected by
the postwar recession and the depression following the Panic of
1873 to the same extent as mining communities, whose products
were subject to the whims of government policy and national
and international markets. Making a living was nevertheless a
struggle. The Mormons’ solution, one that was hardly an option
to the individualistic mining towns in the Clearwater, Salmon
Mountain, Boise Basin, and Owyhee regions, was group cooper-
ation. The central institution was the tithinghouse, which served
the community much like a central bank except that there was
little coin or currency. By their labor, individuals would accu-
mulate credits that were then used in withdrawing produce that
had been brought in by families producing more than they
needed. Through this organized barter system the community
not only furnished assistance to needy families but also sup-
ported persons constructing roads, telegraph lines, and school-
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house-meetinghouses. By this means also Latter-day Saints sup-
ported the establishment of tanneries, woolen mills, tailor
shops, carpentry shops, and shingle mills. Each village main-
tained community herds of cows and sheep, supported a cream-
ery and cheese plant, and patronized craftsmen drafted by the
group to do tinwork and make boots, shoes, harness, and furni-
ture. As the village grew, in 1869 in most instances, the bishop
established a cooperative store that dovetailed with the tithing-
house in retailing goods—particularly those obtained from the
church’s central wholesaler in Salt Lake City, Zion’s Coopera-
tive Mercantile Institution (ZCMI). All of the Idaho Mormon
communities had cooperative general stores, the profits of
which, if any, were distributed “in kind” among the residents.
After the Panic of 1873, witnessing the failure of many enter-
prises in Idaho and elsewhere, villages formed United Orders,
formally organized community cooperatives under central lead-
ership that controlled the major economic enterprises in the
village and ran them as parts of one integrated operation. The
organization supplemented but did not supplant the private eco-
nomic activities of residents. The members elected a general
manager, usually the bishop, and persons were assigned to run
each of the various shops and industries. For example, commu-
nity leaders in Bear Lake Valley soon recognized that their
future lay in dairying (many Swiss families had settled in Bear
Lake Valley), so the community pooled its resources, built up
its herd of cattle, acquired additional pastureland, purchased
new pasteurizing and cream-separating equipment in the East,
and established a flourishing tannery and leather-working shop.
Supported by about 125 families (650 persons), the Bear Lake
Cooperative continued to expand until the Oregon Short Line
Railroad completed a branch line through the valley in 1882.
The lowering of transportation costs meant that outside products
of superior quality could be acquired more cheaply. In the
1880s, therefore, the cooperative leased out or liquidated its
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assets. As a result, Bear Lake Valley became more attuned to
the rest of the territorial and nationwide economy—as did, for
similar reasons, the Mormon cooperatives in northern Cache
Valley and Malad Valley.

Nevertheless, the communitarian experience did not die out;
there remained a strong group spirit among the Latter-day Saints
that continued into the twentieth century. The History of Idaho
Territory published in 1884 paid tribute to the residents of Paris
and other cooperative communities with this observation:
“Probably nowhere in the civilized world is cooperation carried
on so successfully as it is among this peculiar people.” The au-
thors continue:

This institution has demonstrated that by judicious man-
agement, cooperative institutions can be made the means
of increasing the wealth of the people; that the citizens of
moderate means, and even the poorer classes can, by a
combination of their efforts, do their own merchandising
and manufacture their own necessities and share the prof-
its among themselves, and thus prevent the growth of mo-
nopolies, which become, in many instances, the tyrants of
their patrons.’

With mining activities declining and Mormon communities
operating on an exclusivist basis, merchants, bankers, and
freighters in Idaho attached most of the blame for their reverses
to continued contraction of the supply of money in circulation
nationally. They joined other western interests in insisting that
the government do something. In particular, westerners de-
manded that the government expand the circulating medium by
putting silver into circulation. After much urging, with the
depression continuing, Congress in 1878 passed the Bland-
Allison Silver Purchase Act. The Treasury was required to buy
between $2 and $4 million in silver each month to be converted
into silver dollars. Although the bill was vetoed by President
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Rutherford B. Hayes, Congress voted to override his veto. Dur-
ing the next twelve years, 78 million silver dollars were coined.
But the nation was going through such a period of industrial ex-
pansion that silver dollars and certificates were absorbed with-
out difficulty and prices of minerals and agricultural products
continued to fall. One year after the passage of the Bland-
Allison Act the Treasury went back to specie payment.

The impact of the Republican Radicals on Idaho politics is
easily demonstrated by reduced appropriations for the territory,
particularly during the retrenchment that followed the Panic of
1873, and by the caliber of federal appointees. During the years
that the mild-mannered David Ballard was governor, the terri-
tory declined in population. The population in 1870, exclusive
of Indians, was only 17,804, of whom 4,274 were Chinese.
Placer miners, having skimmed the cream of the discoverable
gold, left for richer gleanings in other areas or for more comfort-
able living elsewhere. Ballard, who had won some measure of
acceptance from his anti-Radical Idaho constituents, returned
to Oregon in 1870 and resumed his medical practice in Leba-
non.

Ballard was not replaced until 1871, a year after his term ex-
pired. The new appointee, Thomas M. Bowen, served only from
July to September 1871. Born near Burlington, Iowa, he was an
attorney in lowa, then in Kansas; served as a general in the Civil
War (many of Grant’s appointees were generals); and then was a
Supreme Court justice in Arkansas. Bowen’s objective in ac-
cepting the Idaho governorship was to make a fortune in mining.
After wandering over the territory, however, he returned to Ar-
kansas, then went to Colorado, where he practiced law, became
a judge, and was finally elected to the United States Senate.
Certainly qualified by training to be a governor, he had no influ-
ence on Idaho because of his short stay.

President Grant was unsuccessful in getting a replacement for
Bowen until his sixth appointee, Thomas W. Bennett, accepted
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and remained for almost four years. Born in Indiana and a grad-
uate of the college that became DePauw University, Bennett
practiced law, served in the state senate, became a Civil War
general, was elected to another senate term, and served as
mayor of Richmond. A “jovially reckless gentleman,” according
to one observer, Bennett was personally popular with many
Idaho residents. Although he tried to get a railroad built in
Idaho by inducing the legislature to offer exemptions to railroad
corporations, the nationwide depression that followed the North-
ern Pacific collapse continued to delay Idaho’s railroad con-
struction for several years. Bennett also attempted territorial
reforms but found Congress to be utterly indifferent. In 1874 he
decided to run as Idaho’s delegate to Congress. Although he re-
ceived fewer votes than his opponent, as governor he threw out
many ballots on the basis of spelling errors and declared himself
elected. He held both offices for a year but finally resigned the
governorship in December 1875. He served out most of the term
in Congress before his method of counting the vote was rejected
and his opponent was seated in his stead. He was then re-
appointed governor; but when leading Idaho Republicans filed
charges of excessive absence from office, theft of public funds,
and selling pardons, he decided to return to his home in Indi-
ana.

Bennett was replaced by David P. Thompson, a native of
Ohio who had gone in 1853 to Oregon, where he became a sur-
veyor and businessman. He owned or partially owned transpor-
tation companies that had contracts with Idaho Territory. When
it became evident that he would have to divest himself of these
to avoid conflict-of-interest charges, he resigned—after serving
only four months as Idaho’s governor. For their part, Idahoans
rather admired his aggressive business ethic and hated to see
him go.

Thompson was replaced in August 1876 by Mason Brayman,
who served as governor for four years. Brayman was from
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Buffalo, New York, and had been editor of the Buffalo Bulletin
before he decided to practice law. He became city attorney for
Monroe, Michigan; moved to Illinois, where he served as a
special commissioner for Governor Thomas Ford in writing the
terms for the agreement under which the Mormons left Nauvoo,
Illinois, in 1846; served on the planning staff of the Illinois
Central Railroad, the nation’s first land-grant railroad; and was
a general with the Illinois Volunteers in the Civil War. After the
war he edited the Illlinois State Journal in Springfield. Seem-
ingly well qualified, Brayman had never been in the Far West
and had no experience in territorial politics. He was a strict
legalist who went by the book. Pompous in manner, he was not
respected by the Idaho citizenry, who found him just another
carpetbag outsider.

Clearly, Idaho’s experience with Grant’s appointees was not
particularly satisfying—nor was it unique. Federal regulations
were made all the more burdensome by the limited understand-
ing of administrative and congressional officials in Washington.
Most of Idaho’s governors refused to serve long: the opportuni-
ties for amassing fortunes on the side were not great, particu-
larly during the period from 1866 to 1880, and the pay and
“honor” were not tempting.

Not all of the inadequacies of Idaho government can be laid at
the door of the carpetbag governors. The governmental structure
was so poorly arranged that—as had been true in early Wash-
ington Territory—even divorces had to be obtained from the leg-
islature. W. J. McConnell, in his Early History of Idaho, gives
an example of the manner in which divorces were formally
granted in Idaho Territory:

AN ACT
To Dissolve the Bonds of Matrimony now Existing Be-
tween Martin Fallon and Mary Fallon, his Wife.
Be it enacted by the Legislative Assembly of the Terri-
tory of Idaho, as follows:
Section 1. That the bonds of matrimony heretofore and
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now existing, between Martin Fallon and Mary Fallon, his
wife, be, and the same are hereby dissolved, and declared
void.

Section 2. This act shall take effect and be in force from
and after its passage.

Approved February 9, 1881.°

There were a number of such acts in Idaho Territory.

The single biggest problem facing the governors was Native
Americans’ resentment of the intrusion of whites onto their
ancestral lands. Until white men came, bands of Shoshoni and
Bannock Indians had roamed at will over southern Idaho, re-
garding the land as theirs, however rarely used. They often lev-
ied tribute on traveling emigrants, begging in the daytime and
driving away their stock at night. There were a few instances
in which entire parties in small trains were murdered. Such
violence was more common in southwestern and southeastern
Idaho than in the Clearwater country because the Nez Perce
were more carefully controlled by their chiefs, some of whom at
least were protective of whites. The Boise Basin, on the other
hand, was frequented by scattered bands of Shoshoni and Ban-
nock (often called Snakes, Weisers, Malheurs, and Bruneaus)
hostile to white invasion.

In March 1863 the thievery and attacks on white invaders had
reached the point that miners, freighters, packers, merchants,
and saloonkeepers formed a company of eighty men under the
leadership of Captain Jefferson J. Standifer to confront the Indi-
ans who had killed George Grimes and who had continued to
plague the miners. Their guide was “Mountain Jack,” a young
white who did not know his real name but who had been cap-
tured (or found) by Snake Indians when he was a baby and was
raised by them, he said, as a slave. The Standifer company
killed a number of Indians and captured some of the horses that
had been stolen. This campaign, directed entirely at comba-
tants, halted the raids at least temporarily.® Another such com-
pany was raised in Owyhee in 1864 after a group of Indians

297



298

HISTORY OF IDAHO

killed Michael Jordan, discoverer of the original Owyhee mine,
and wounded his partner. The party found the Indian raiders,
killed several of them, and then disbanded.!®

Governor Caleb Lyon attempted to relieve tension with the
Bruneau Treaty, signed April 12, 1866. Meeting with 300 In-
dians across the Bruneau River, he concluded an agreement
promising a reservation for them in place of the Boise Valley
and assured the natives that whites would stop their aggressive
acts if the tribesmen would discontinue theirs. Congress, how-
ever, preferred a military solution and did not ratify the treaty.
Predictably, a series of encounters followed, usually referred
to as the Snake War of 1866—68. Fort Boise was the operating
base for army engagements in Oregon and Owyhee until General
George Crook took over in December of 1866. An Ohio farm boy
who graduated from West Point, Crook had been assigned to the
Fourth Infantry on the Pacific Coast and had learned to live off
the country, to understand the plight of the Indians, and to mis-
trust the motives of the volunteer militia. Having served in the
Rogue River War, the Yakima War, and (with distinction) the
Civil War, he was delighted when he was allowed to return to
the Pacific Northwest in charge of southwestern Idaho and east-
ern Oregon.

During the year and a half after he assumed control, General
Crook used Indian allies, undertook night marches, and con-
ducted a devastating winter campaign that kept the hostiles
busy. By 1868 he had pacified the region. Crook’s subsequent
career also has an interest to Idahoans. Assigned in 1871 to Ari-
zona, he forced the first surrender of Geronimo and put pressure
on roving bands of Apache. In 1875 he was put in command of
the military Department of the Platte, where he led expeditions
against the Sioux. He believed that Indian troubles were often
the result of tardy and broken faith on the part of the general
government. After retirement he gave lectures and wrote pam-
phlets for Indian-rights organizations. His death in 1890 saved
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him from witnessing the shame of the Battle of Wounded Knee.'!

The Nez Perce, influenced as they were by the missionaries
in the 1830s and 1840s, were basically friendly toward the
whites, even though they had suffered indignities and encroach-
ment by miners in the 1860s. Their land was between the Bitter-
root and Blue mountains in north central Idaho, northeastern
Oregon, and southeastern Washington, with the Salmon River
on the south and the northerm Palouse on the north. One group
favored their homeland in the Wallowa Valley, east of the
Grande Ronde River and west of the Snake at the base of the
Blues. White settlers also liked the valley and by force and
fraud began to move in; they interpreted Nez Perce patience
with their illegal action as a sign of indifference. They fenced in
the water and cultivated the valleys. The Nez Perce found it
more difficult to find forage for their ponies. White cattlemen
began to herd their stock there.

The Yakima were equally alarmed at the swarm of squatters
occupying their land in Washington and attempted to form an
Indian confederacy to drive out the whites. The Nez Perce re-
fused to join it. General Isaac I. Stevens, governor of Washing-
ton Territory and its superintendent of Indian affairs, had as-
sembled all the Indian tribes at Walla Walla in 1855 to arrange
for the purchase of Indian lands and sign a treaty. Old Joseph,
father of the Joseph noted in Idaho history, and his associate
Lawyer, principals of the Nez Perce, were present but did not
sign the treaty, which had little effect on their land. After the
gold discoveries of the early 1860s, however, whites began to
settle the Wallowa Valley and other Nez Perce lands. The gov-
ernment sponsored a treaty session in 1863 to purchase land
and reduce the reservation. Old Joseph again refused to sign,
although a number of other Indian groups’ leaders—including
Lawyer—did so. In 1873, President Grant issued an order giv-
ing back the ceded land to the Indians. Two years later, under
the influence of white lobbyists, Grant revoked the order and
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made Wallowa a part of the public domain. Just before that ac-
tion, Old Joseph died and his son, Joseph, became leader. On
his deathbed, Old Joseph admonished young Joseph not to give
up Wallowa.

In 1877 the Bureau of Indian Affairs in Washington, D.C.,
ordered the Nez Perce in Wallowa to move to the Lapwai Reser-
vation in Idaho. The Nez Perce replied that they had not signed
the treaty and did not consider themselves bound to leave Wal-
lowa. On the third day of the conference at which they were told
to move, Too-hul-hul-suit, the religious leader—“tu-at”—defh-
antly shouted that he would not move to the reservation. He was
promptly arrested and placed in the guardhouse by General Oli-
ver 0. Howard, commander of the Army’s Department of the
Columbia. Highly incensed, the Indians contemplated violence
but were restrained by young Joseph and his parallel leader,
White Bird.

On June 14, 1877, the day set by the government for moving
from Wallowa, rebellious Indians—in revenge for personal
grievances—went on a rampage and killed several white set-
tlers. Although the Nez Perce were clearly resigned to making
the move, however repugnant to their feelings, and although the
older Nez Perce were annoyed by the behavior of the young
hoodlums, General Howard chose to regard the youthful forays
as an indication of major tribal resistance. He sent two cavalry
companies to the scene. In doing so he transformed a minor dis-
pute into a full-scale confrontation. Fearful of what Howard’s
men would do to them, Joseph and White Bird sought to escape
his jurisdiction by fleeing to Montana in hope of being wel-
comed by the Crow. When they were met at the head of White
Bird Canyon by Howard’s troops, the Nez Perce defeated the
troops, inflicting heavy losses.

Howard then took personal charge of the campaign. He was a
native of Maine and 1854 graduate of West Point and had fought
with distinction in the Civil War, during which he lost his right
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arm. Howard had then served as the first director of the Freed-
men’s Bureau. He helped found and then served as president of
Howard University in Washington, D.C., before returning to ac-
tive duty and was sometimes referred to as the “praying general”
and later as the “humanitarian general.” Howard assembled a
force of about 600 troops and located Joseph’s men in a forest
region southeast of Kamiah. In a fierce battle the Nez Perce
were overwhelmed. They fled across the Clearwater and headed
for the Lolo Trail. Although they took along women, children,
old men, camp equipage, and livestock, the Nez Perce worked
their way quickly over the high mountains, deep canyons, swift
currents, and tangled underbrush. On July 18, only eleven days
after they began their flight from Idaho, the Nez Perce neared
the Montana end of the pass across the Bitterroots. Howard,
aware that his troops would never catch the elusive band, wired
General W. T. Sherman in Montana to send an intercepting
force to capture Joseph.

In Montana, Joseph assured the white settlers in his path that
he was fleeing, not on the warpath, and that his group if left
alone would not bother the whites. Surprised by a federal force
at Big Hole River, Joseph headed for Lemhi Valley, Camas
Meadows, and the Henry’s Lake country in southeastern Idaho,
then eastward into Wyoming through Yellowstone Park. Realiz-
ing that the government would not permit him to enjoy the pro-
tection of the Crow, he headed north through Montana for Sitting
Bull’s community in Canada.

On September 17, Colonel Nelson A. Miles, who had earlier
accepted the surrender of Crazy Horse, received an order from
General Howard to intercept the fleeing Nez Perce. White Bird
and 300 of his people had managed to reach Canada; but just
thirty miles short of the border, at Bear Paw Mountain, Joseph
was captured by Miles on October 4. Joseph’s surrender was
dramatic. Riding slowly up the hill to where General Howard
and Colonel Miles were waiting, he dismounted gracefully and
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offered his rifle to Howard, who magnanimously motioned him
to Miles. Joseph’s message in connection with the surrender, as
related by one observer, was as follows:

Tell General Howard I know his heart. What he told me
before—I have it in my heart. I am tired of fighting. Our
chiefs are killed. Looking-Glass is dead. Too-hul-hul-suit
is dead. The old men are all dead. It is the young men now,
who say “yes” or “no.” He who led on the young men
[Joseph’s brother, Ollicut] is dead. It is cold, and we have
no blankets. The little children are freezing to death. My
people—some of them—have run away to the hills, and
have no blankets, no food. No one knows where they are—
perhaps freezing to death. I want to have time to look for
my children, and to see how many of them I can find;
maybe I shall find them among the dead. Hear me, my
chiefs; my heart is sick and sad. From where the sun now
stands, I will fight no more forever!'?

Joseph won the respect of many Americans, including How-
ard and Miles. Despite Miles’s assurance that Joseph and his
band would be returned to the reservation at Lapwai, the Secre-
tary of the Interior thought it was risky to return them to a place
so close to their former haunt and sent them instead to Fort
Leavenworth in Kansas, and then on to Indian Territory (present
Oklahoma). After many years of petitioning, Joseph and the sur-
viving members of his band were transferred to the Colville Res-
ervation near Spokane, where Joseph died in 1904.

The Nez Perce War had cost the United States government
$930,000 and the lives of 127 soldiers and 50 civilians, with
110 soldiers and 40 civilians wounded. The Nez Perce, who had
191 fighting men and 450 women and children, suffered 151
killed and 80 wounded, mostly warriors.

The year after the war, 1878, there was a skirmish with the
Bannock. They had been assigned to the Fort Hall Reservation
in 1869, but they continued to roam over southern Idaho. Every
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summer they went to Camas Prairie. The men hunted while the
women dug camas roots, which they ground into meal. They
were incensed by the incursions of white cattlemen who grazed
their livestock there. Some whites had gone so far as to take
swine, which dug up and destroyed the camas, onto the prairie.
Inspired by the Nez Perce War, the Bannock followed as their
leader young Buffalo Horn, who had been a scout under General
Howard in the Nez Perce War and had also had scouting experi-
ence under Colonel Miles and General George Armstrong Cus-
ter in their Montana wars.

That the Bannock were in a desperate condition, and that
much of it was the fault of the government for failing to furnish
them promised provisions, is indicated by General Crook—now
of the Department of the Platte:

They have never been half supplied. The agent has sent
them off for half a year to enable them to pick up something
to live on, but there is nothing for them in that country.
The buffalo is all gone, and an Indian can’t catch enough
jack rabbits to subsist himself and family.. .. What are
they to do! Starvation is staring them in the face. . . . There
remains but one thing for them to do—fight while they
can. . . . Our treatment of the Indian is an outrage.'

During the night of May 30, 1878, Colonel Reuben F. Ber-
nard hurried to Camas Prairie from Fort Boise when he heard of
the preparations for war and convinced many of the Bannock to
return to the reservation. But Buffalo Horn and a group of about
200 dissidents wanted war and started westward across the
Snake River, killing settlers, taking provisions, and destroying
property. At South Mountain, a mining camp south of Silver
City, they were met by a company of volunteer militia. Although
the whites failed to win a decisive battle, they killed Buffalo
Horn, leaving the Indian militants without a leader. The war-
riors nevertheless advanced on to Oregon, where they hoped to
form an alliance with the Northern Paiute, Umatilla, and
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Yakima. General Howard, however, assisted by some compa-
nies of volunteers, engaged and succeeded in scattering them.'*

A third dispute was with the Sheepeater, or Tukuarika, a
small band of Shoshoni who, joined by a few families of Ban-
nock and Nez Perce, hid out in the fastnesses of the Salmon
River Mountains. Without horses or guns, they lived much as
their ancestors had for thousands of years except that, because
of the scarcity of mountain sheep and other game, they moved
out occasionally and white settlers wrongly blamed them for oc-
casional raids by other Indians on remote white settlements.
The Sheepeater were not numerous—perhaps 200 or 300. In
1878 several unwary prospectors and emigrants were killed,
their property burned, and their equipage stolen by some group
of Indians. In the winter of 1878—79 local Indians were ac-
cused of attacking a Chinese camp working on placers at Loon
Creek, killing all but one. The Sheepeater afterward denied the
attack, and historians now believe they had no connection with
it.

In 1878 belligerents in the Nez Perce and Bannock areas es-
caped to the mountains in the vicinity of the Sheepeater camps
and continued to steal horses and cattle. In May 1879, some of
these vagabond Indians went to the ranch of Hugh Johnson on
the South Fork of the Salmon River, killed Johnson and Peter
Dorsey, burned their buildings and haystacks, and drove off the
livestock. Under orders issued by General Howard at Vancou-
ver, Colonel Bernard, with sixty men from Fort Boise; Lieuten-
ant Henry Catley, with forty men from Fort Lapwai; and Lieu-
tenant E. S. Farrow, with twenty men and a few Umatilla scouts
from the Umatilla Agency, pursued the guilty Indians cautiously
in different directions through the Salmon River country. Cat-
ley’s detachment was surprised by two Sheepeater (yes, only
two), one of whom went on to defeat them and capture their pack
train and supplies. (Hard to imagine but apparently true.) Lieu-
tenant Farrow’s detachment succeeded in flanking the Sheep-
eater position and, on Loon Creek near its junction with the
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Middle Fork of the Salmon, on August 20 got into a battle from
which their adversaries retired into rough country. A few weeks
later the army contingent, having destroyed most of the Sheep-
eater supplies, was able to persuade the entire band of about
fifty-one, of whom fifteen were “warriors,” to move to Fort Hall.
Ironically, the armament of this formidable foe, as Sven Lil-
jeblad wrote, “pursued for three months by the United States
cavalry, mounted infantry, and enlisted Umatilla scouts, totaled
four carbines, one breech-loading and two muzzle-loading ri-
fles, and one double-barrelled shotgun.”® After the pathetic
group was placed on the Fort Hall Reservation, they merged
with other Indians there, and the Sheepeater Indians disap-
peared. This was the last “Indian War,” for such it has been
called, in Idaho history. '

CHAPTER THIRTEEN: SOURCES

Most of the general histories of Idaho and several of the histories of
the Pacific Northwest cover, in a general way, the political life of
Idaho Territory and the conflicts between whites and Indians during
the territorial years. Particularly useful are the chapters in Hailey,
History of Idaho, 201-54, and “Radical Reconstruction in Idaho
1866—1870" and “The Ride of Idaho’s Independent Political Tradi-
tion, 1872—1876,” in Beal and Wells, History of Idaho, 1:269-91,
440—93. A carefully researched article is Merle Wells, “Idaho and
the Civil War,” Rendezvous: Idaho State University Journal of Arts
and Letters 11 (Fall 1976):9—26.

The political situation in Idaho Territory in the 1870s is covered in
Limbaugh, Rocky Mountain Carpetbaggers; “Territorial Governors of
Idaho,” Idaho Yesterdays 7 (Spring 1963):14—23; Earl S. Pomeroy,
“Running a Territory: They Had Their Troubles,” Idaho Yesterdays
14 (Fall 1970):10—27; W. Turrentine Jackson, “Indian Affairs and
Politics in Idaho Territory, 1863—1870,” Pacific Historical Review 14
(September 1945):311-25; and Merle W. Wells, “David W. Ballard,
Governor of Idaho, 1866—1870,” Oregon Historical Quarterly 54
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(March 1953):3—26. There is also splendid background in Pomeroy,
The Territories and the United States.

Many books and scholarly articles deal with Idaho’s Indians and
the conflicts of the 1860s and 1880s. Those particularly useful for
this chapter have included:

General. Angie Debo, A History of the Indians of the United States
(Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1970); William T. Hagan,
American Indians (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1961); Rob-
ert M. Utley, The Indian Frontier of the American West, 1846—1890
(Albuguerque: University of New Mexico Press, 1984); R. Ross Ar-
nold, The Indian Wars of Idaho (Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1932);
“Idaho’s Indian Wars,” Idaho Yesterdays 5 (Summer 1961):22—25;
Liljeblad, The Idaho Indians in Transition; and Haines, Indians of the
Great Basin and Plateau.

Nez Perce. Books include: “The People of the Plateau,” in Alvin M.
Josephy, Jr., Nez Perce Country, Handbook No. 121 (Washington,
D.C.: National Park Service, 1983); Haines, The Nez Perces: Tribes-
men of the Columbia Plateau; Josephy, The Nez Perce Indians and the
Opening of the Northwest; Merrill D. Beal, “I Will Fight No More For-
ever”: Chief Joseph and the Nez Perce War (Seattle: University of
Washington Press, 1963); Lucullus Virgil McWhorter, Yellow Wolf:
His Own Story (Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1940, 1986); Alvin Jo-
sephy, The Patriot Chiefs (New York: Viking Press, 1961); Oliver
Otis Howard, Famous Indian Chiefs I Have Known (New York: Cen-
tury Company, 1908); and Mark H. Brown, The Flight of the Nez
Perce (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1967).

Articles on the Nez Perce include: Haruo Aoki, “Footnote to His-
tory: Chief Joseph’s Words,” Idaho Yesterdays 33 (Fall 1989):16—21;
Duncan MacDonald, “The Nez Perces: The History of Their Troubles
and the Campaign of 1877,” Idaho Yesterdays 21 (Spring 1977):2—
15, 26—30, (Winter 1978):2—10, 18—26; Merle W. Wells, “The Nez
Perce and Their War,” Pacific Northwest Quarterly 55 (January
1964):35—37; and Robert H. Ruby, “Return of the Nez Perce,”
Idaho Yesterdays 12 (Spring 1968):12—15.

Shoshoni-Bannock-Paiute. Madsen, The Bannock of Idaho; Tren-
holm and Carley, The Shoshonis: Sentinels of the Rockies; George F.
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Brimlow, The Bannock Indian War of 1878 (Caldwell: Caxton
Printers, 1938); Corless, The Weiser Indians: Shoshont Peacemakers;
Gae Whitney Canfield, Sarah Winnemucca of the Northern Paiutes
(Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1983); W. C. Brown, The
Sheepeater Campaign (Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1926); and John
Carrey, ed., Sheepeater Indian Campaign (Grangeville: Idaho County
Free Press, 1968).

Articles on the Shoshoni-Bannock-Paiute and the Coeur d’Alene
include: David L. Crowder, “Nineteenth-Century Indian—White Con-
flict in Southern Idaho,” Idaho Yesterdays 23 (Summer 1979):13—18;
George M. Shearer, “The Battle of Vinegar Hill,” Idaho Yesterdays 12
(Spring 1968):16—21; Jack Dozier, “The Coeur d’Alene Indians in
the War of 1858,” Idaho Yesterdays s (Fall 1961):22—32; Stewart,
“The Shoshoni: Their History and Social Organization™; and Carl
Yeckel, “The Sheepeater Campaign,” Idaho Yesterdays 15 (Summer
1971):2—9.
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CHAPTER FOURTEEN

Railways and New Settlements

OMPLETION of the transcontinental railroad, with the join-

ing of the rails at Promontory Summit in northern Utah in

1869, meant that Idaho and Montana farmers and miners
could now obtain supplies from Ogden, and later Salt Lake City
when a connecting branch was completed in January 1870.
Construction of the connecting link between Utah and Montana
furnished immediate railroad service for Idaho communities,
and many families from northern Utah and elsewhere moved to
sites along the Utah-to-Montana railroad to farm and engage in
other business. The first railroad into Idaho Territory was the
Utah Northern, a narrow-gauge line built from Ogden to Frank-
lin in 1873—74. Many Idaho communities owe their existence
to the construction of it and other railroads. With the further
construction of the Utah Northern—renamed the Utah and
Northern—and the arrival of the Oregon Short Line and North-
ern Pacific railroads in the late 1870s and early 1880s, the pop-
ulation of Idaho almost doubled.
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As suggested in Chapter Eleven, the discovery of gold at
Grasshopper Creek in western Montana had led to a flood of
traffic from northern Utah through eastern Idaho to Montana.
Northern Utah settlements—and Franklin and Malad—soon
were involved in hauling much-needed supplies to the mining
districts. The completion of the transcontinental railroad in
1869 created a new freighting and transportation center on the
Central Pacific line at Corinne, at the north end of the Great Salt
Lake approximately seventy-five miles north of Salt Lake City.
Prior to this connection, freighting was limited to overland or
water routes that were less than dependable and influenced by
weather conditions. An obstacle in Idaho was the Snake River,
finally bridged at Eagle Rock in 1865.

Along the “Gold Road” the most formidable barrier was the
Monida (Montana-Idaho) Pass through the Continental Divide,
the gateway to Montana. The pass was not usable during winter
months of blizzard and freezing weather. Montana could, of
course, be supplied from the Midwest by the Missouri River
route, but the river was unreliable—usable only during the few
months of high water. A few pack trains, some of them camels,
moved supplies from Washington Territory via the Mullan
Road. But approximately half of Montana’s imports during the
late 1860s and early 1870s came by ox- and mule-team over the
Montana Road in eastern Idaho. From Corinne, the road cut
north almost 500 miles to Malad, Marsh Creek, Fort Hall, Eagle
Rock, and Pleasant Valley and finally on into Montana.

Many of the freightings used army surplus teams and wagons
auctioned off by the government after the U.S. Expedition left
Utah to fight, some for the North and some for the South, in the
Civil War. Passengers on this route often traveled in stage-
coaches operated by Ben Holladay until he sold out to Wells
Fargo in 1866. The drivers or “jehus” of the coaches, the bull-
whackers with their plodding ox-teams, and the mule-skinners
with their heavy freight wagons were occasionally Mormons from
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Franklin and other Cache Valley settlements, but more often
men from Nevada and the Great Plains states.

The most commonly freighted product was flour, but eggs,
butter, and potatoes were carried from Franklin; salt from the
Oneida Salt Works on the Lander Emigrant Road eighty-five
miles southeast of Eagle Rock; and tobacco, coffee, tea, and
mining supplies and equipment from Corinne. On their return
from Montana to Utah the freighters took not only mail and pas-
sengers, but also gold dust and ores to be refined in Colorado.
No reliable figures exist as to the amount of the freight in the
1860s, but in 1872, the earliest year of estimate, 5,000 tons of
freight were shipped north from Corinne. Perhaps a thousand or
two thousand additional tons were shipped from Ogden, Logan,
Franklin, and other northern Utah and southern Idaho points.

The trade was lucrative, particularly in the early years before
large freighting outfits dominated. Alexander Toponce recalled
that in 1864 he bought a pig in Box Elder (Brigham City) for
$36, transported it north to the mines, and sold it for $600. In
the same year he bought a train of flour in Ogden, paying $24
per hundredweight, and saw the price in Montana that winter
rise to $125 per hundred. On one occasion he loaded up half a
dozen six-mule teams with eggs from Franklin and other Cache
Valley communities to sell them in Montana for $12 per
dozen—a dollar apiece! In 1872, more than $100,000 in butter

and eggs and about $250,000 worth of wheat were shipped out
of Cache Valley.

UTAH AND NORTHERN RAILROAD

The transcontinental railroad skirted the north side of the
Great Salt Lake, bypassing Salt Lake City. In response, Brig-
ham Young organized the Utah Central Railroad to build a
thirty-six-mile line from Ogden to the capital city. Constructed
on the cooperative plan by Mormons situated along the line, it
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was completed on January 10, 1870. The Utah Southern was
built in a similar manner to serve Mormon settlements south of
Salt Lake City. By 1871 enough freighting business existed to
support construction of the railroad north from Ogden to serve
the rich agricultural area in Cache Valley and beyond.

William B. Preston, the presiding bishop of Cache Valley,
expressed to Brigham Young the local willingness to build the
road; the president’s son, John W. Young, who had assisted in
construction of the Union Pacific, negotiated with Joseph and
Benjamin Richardson of New York City to finance the construc-
tion north from Ogden to Soda Springs, a distance of about 125
miles. The Richardsons agreed to furnish the rails and equip-
ment if Mormons would build the roadbed and lay the track. On
August 23, 1871, seventeen Mormon ecclesiastical and busi-
ness leaders of northern Utah met in Logan and organized the
Utah Northern Railroad Company, with John W. Young as pres-
ident and superintendent; William B. Preston, vice president
and assistant superintendent; and Moses Thatcher, secretary.
The directors consisted mostly of bishops of the settlements
along the route of the line.

The construction plan called for the bishops to recruit local
men to work on the road for stock in the company and some
“ready pay” consisting of vouchers redeemable in the local tith-
ing office. There was no government aid. The road was to be
narrow gauge, at a cost about one-third that of the standard
gauge. The worth of the three-foot road in mountainous terrain
had been proven by the narrow-gauge Rio Grande Railway in
Colorado.

The road was completed to Logan on January 31, 1873. A
month later, on March 3, 1873, Congress passed an act granting
the road a right-of-way to build north to Montana “by way of the
Bear River Valley, Soda Springs, Snake River Valley to a con-
nection with the Northern Pacific Railroad in Montana.” The
road was finished to Franklin on May 2, 1874, making the Utah
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Northern the first railroad to be constructed in Idaho Territory.
Fourteen miles of grade were built northeast out of Franklin to-
ward Soda Springs during the summer of 1874. That portion of
the track was not completed because of financial problems con-
nected with the Panic of 1873 and because of the realization
that the Soda Springs route to Montana was impractical. The
road had cost about $1.4 million, of which $700,000 were put
up by the Richardsons and the remainder was borne primarily
by Mormon farmers along the route working with their teams,
wheelbarrows, and scrapers.

As the northernmost point of the line, Franklin now became a
principal freighting center for the Montana traffic. Several
important freighters, including Diamond R Fast Freight and
Express Company, owned by E. G. Maclay of Montana, and the
California and Montana Transportation Company, owned by Ed-
ward Creighton of Omaha, moved their warehouses and head-
quarters from Corinne to Franklin. An estimated 600 freighters
hauled goods from Franklin to Montana in 1874, with an aver-
age of perhaps 80 wagons on the road night and day. The Dia-
mond R alone is said to have had 100 wagons and 600 mules.
The freight included hardware, brick, molasses, and clothing.
One driver reported having hauled at one time sixty barrels of
whiskey. Hauling charges were usually $7 per hundred pounds
or $140 per ton. A postal-car system was established to carry
the Montana mail to Franklin for forwarding north.

The terminus of the Utah Northern remained at Franklin from
1874 to 1877 because Joseph Richardson failed to furnish addi-
tional money after he suffered heavily from the Panic of 1873.
Mormon leaders, who were completing the sale of their Utah
Central and Utah Southern railroads to Union Pacific, solicited
the cooperation of Sidney Dillon, president of Union Pacific,
and Jay Gould. Sometimes held up as a “robber baron,” Gould
grew up in a poor New York family and received little formal ed-
ucation, but he unquestionably had a talent for making money.
After he acquired control of the Union Pacific, he worked with
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Richardson, Dillon, and Mormon officials to complete the road
to Montana. He gave Joseph Richardson $400,000 for his inter-
est in the Utah Northern, paid the Mormon leaders $80,000
(about 10 percent of their investment), reimbursed Mormon la-
borers at the rate of forty cents on the dollar, and induced
church officials to help select the location of the route north and
obtain local labor and supplies.

Gould then persuaded the Union Pacific backers to purchase
his interests. Under their direction a new corporation, called the
Utah and Northern Railroad Company, was formed on October
4, 1877. It represented a coalition between the old Utah North-
ern and leading stockholders and directors of the Union Pacific.
Contracts were let to construct the road from Franklin to Fort
Hall and beyond. In December 1877 the Utah Northern was
permitted to default on the $1.5 million due on bonds and inter-
est, and the assets were sold at auction for $100,000 to S. H. H.
Clark, general superintendent of the Union Pacific. A new oper-
ating entity, the Utah and Northern Railway Company, incorpo-
rated on April 30, 1878, could now issue new bonds to finance
construction to Montana. Congress granted the company the
right-of-way to Helena.

As work resumed, the company employed Washington Dunn,
a veteran Union Pacific engineer, as general superintendent of
construction. Prefabricated houses were set up at the various
stations, and the road, “the little bantam rooster,” crowed mer-
rily as it moved north.? Wells Fargo moved along with the road to
freight from successive termini the remainder of the way to Mon-
tana. The Mormon laborers, now paid in hard U.P. cash, took
along wives as cooks, their sons to work on grading crews, and
cows to provide milk. Logging camps and sawmills were set up
where needed. Construction stations were located, in succes-
sion, at Battle Creek, Dunnville (Banida), Oxford, Oneida (a
little west of Arimo), Black Rock (near present Inkom), Poca-
tello Creek, and Tyhee.

The surveyors ran the road right through the Fort Hall Indian
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Reservation. Sidney Dillon went to Washington, D.C., to obtain
specific authority to cross the reservation and was advised to ob-
tain the consent of the Indians. Eventually, negotiations were
successful: the Indians received a cash settlement and members
of the tribe were given free passes and other special benefits.

Construction was completed to Pocatello in August 1878, to
Blackfoot in December 1878, to Eagle Rock in April 1879, to
Camas in July 1879, to Beaver Canyon (Spencer) in September
1879, to Red Rock at Monida Pass in May 1880, to Dillon (Bea-
verhead), Montana, in September 1880, to Silver Bow Junction
in October 1881, to Butte in December 1881, and to the North-
ern Pacific connection at Garrison, Montana, in 1884.

The distance from Ogden to Garrison was 466 miles. The
Utah and Northern, with its “galloping gooses,” was one of the
longest narrow-gauge railroads in the world and one of the most
profitable of western railroads. Some 206 miles of U&N track
were in Idaho, all at the time of construction in Oneida County
—a county as large as Maryland and Delaware combined. Eagle
Rock replaced Logan as a center of maintenance and repair.
The whole road was rebuilt to standard gauge in 1887 and was
incorporated into the Oregon Short Line system in 1889.

Most of the workmen along the U&N line were Mormon farm-
ers from Franklin and other Cache Valley settlements. General
construction superintendent was Marriner W. Merrill, bishop of
the northern Cache Valley ward of Richmond. Thomas E. Ricks
and William D. Hendricks were in charge of grading and track-
laying. Ricks in particular became an important figure in east-
ern Idaho, and after the completion of the U&N road he also
played a role in the construction of the Northern Pacific. The
cash received by the laborers was of incalculable advantage in
building the already established settlements in Cache Valley.
But the road’s greatest impact on Idaho was in setting the stage
for the explosion of Mormon settlement along its Upper Snake
River Valley route in the 1880s.
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THE OREGON SHORT LINE RAILROAD

As early as 1844 Asa Whitney had advocated construction of
a railway over the Oregon Trail, and in 1865 Governor Caleb
Lyon suggested in his annual message to Idaho’s legislators that
Whitney’s railroad ought to be built to connect the Snake River
Valley with the Pacific Northwest and with the western-bound
transcontinental railroad. In the years that followed Idaho jour-
nalists, politicians, and businessmen continued to agitate for
such a road that would “unlock the rocks” of the mining regions.
Union Pacific engineers did a reconnaissance through Idaho in
1867, but plans did not jell until June 1879, when Sidney Dil-
lon discussed with his directors Henry Villard’s proposal to
organize a new enterprise “to build a road from Snake River to
Oregon which shall secure to the Union Pacific the trade of the
Columbia Valley.™

Villard was at the time engaged in constructing the road of
the Oregon Railway and Navigation Company. This successor to
the Oregon Steam Navigation Company was being built on the
south bank of the Columbia River from Portland to a junction
with the Northern Pacific, then pushing westward across Mon-
tana. Born Ferdinand Heinrich Gustav Hilgard in Bavaria, stu-
dent at the universities of Munich and Wurzburg, Villard mi-
grated to America when he was eighteen and changed his name
to avoid military service in his homeland. He learned English
well and reported to European newspapers on the Lincoln-
Douglas debates, the Colorado gold rush, and the Civil War. In
1874 he became the American representative for a group of in-
vestors in the Oregon and California Railroad, was named its
president in 1876, and also became president of the Oregon
Steamship Company and the Oregon Steam Navigation Com-
pany.

Although Dillon’s directors declined the purchase of a half-
interest in Villard’s Oregon Railway and Navigation Company,
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Dillon and his friends decided to form their own company, the
Oregon Short Line. Government regulations prevented the
Union Pacific Railway from building the road for the new line,
so holders of Union Pacific stock and their friends subscribed
privately for half the bonds and stock on O.S.L. The remainder
was held in the U.P. treasury.

One venture vital to the enterprise was the formation of the
Idaho and Oregon Land Improvement Company, which, on the
basis of O.S.L. plans, purchased lands, laid out townsites, and
promoted towns. These activities set the stage for an influx of
settlers following the railroad’s completion.

Construction of the Oregon Short Line began in 1881. The
road would connect with the main U.P. road at Granger, Wyo-
ming, and then angle northwestward toward the Idaho border
and on to Montpelier, Soda Springs, Pocatello, Minidoka,
Shoshone, King Hill, Mountain Home, Nampa, Riverside, and
Weiser. It would then stretch to Huntington, Oregon, to connect
with the O.R. & N. The contractors built fifty miles in Wyoming
in 1881. By the end of 1882 the track was completed to Sho-
shone, Idaho, 321 miles from Granger. At that point, work on
the main road was suspended while a branch from Shoshone to
the Wood River mining district, as far as Ketchum, was built.
The main track was extended another 100 miles in 1883, but
completion had to await the erection of the 740-feet-long steel
bridge across the Snake River just three miles east of Hunting-
ton. The road was ready for service on November 17, 1884. Pas-
sengers could now board the train in Omaha at eight o’clock
Monday evening and reach Portland by eight on Friday morn-
ing. Both Pullman and emigrant sleeping cars were furnished,
with no extra charge for the latter.* The entire track, includ-
ing the 70-mile Wood River branch, was 542 miles, of which
92 miles were in Wyoming, 434 in Idaho, and 16 in Oregon.
In 1889 a consolidation created the Oregon Short Line and
Utah Northern Railway Company, and in 1898 both routes were
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formally merged into the Union Pacific Railroad Company.

The completion of the road stimulated the development of
crop agriculture along its route, expansion of the livestock in-
dustry, and immigration. One western writer was particularly
pleased that, echoing a strangely popular theme, the rails would
bring in an independent non-Mormon population that would re-
duce the influence of the Mormons in Idaho’s agricultural devel-
opment.® Actually the Mormons had thrived under the stimulus
of the construction. One firm contracted to supply 75,000 ties
for the road, while other Mormon workers were employed for the
road-grading.

The construction was not simple. The terrain was rocky, wa-
ter often scarce. Builders encountered rattlesnakes and scorpi-
ons, flies and woodticks. Historians have made much of the
“hell on wheels” atmosphere—fighting, quarreling, profanity,
drunkenness, gambling, prostitution, and crime. Certainly
there was some of this, but the speed of construction suggests
that the vast majority worked laboriously and effectively. The
mighty Snake was spanned four times. Still, the haste of U.P.
officials and their desire to conserve costs by not building down
to the river bottom is indicated by the beeline road bypassing
Boise, going straight from Mountain Home to Nampa. (The
twenty-mile branch from Nampa to the capital was completed in
1887 and was referred to by proud Boiseans as “The Stub.”) The
road created divisional headquarters at Montpelier, Pocatello,
and Glenns Ferry, as well as at Granger and Huntington.

The portion of the road connecting Pocatello to American
Falls was built by the Utah and Northern Railway, and the steel
girders spanning the Snake River at that point were supplied by
U&N. Since the entire road from Granger to Huntington was
standard gauge, there was a problem in transferring cargo at the
junction with the U&N narrow gauge at Pocatello. It was solved
by a device called a Ramsey, which raised the car from the stan-
dard pair of trucks or wheel carriages and lowered it on the
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narrow-gauge trucks and vice versa. Hundreds of cars were
changed daily, as the procedure required only a few minutes per
car.®

When the Oregon Short Line was built, it was logical that Po-
catello, where the two lines intersected, should replace Eagle
Rock as the Gate City. The 2,000-acre townsite of Pocatello, lo-
cated at the mouth of the Portneuf River, was on the Fort Hall
Indian Reservation. Under the influence of Fred T. Dubois and
others, the Shoshoni-Bannock agreed to sell the land for $8 an
acre. The name of the city came from the noted Shoshoni chief,
Pocatello, who died in 1884. With a population of about three
thousand residents, mostly railroaders, the village was surveyed
and incorporated in 1889. In 1893 the city, now the leading
townsite in southeastern Idaho, became the seat of Bannock
County.

THE NORTHERN PACIFIC RAILWAY

The Northern Pacific grew out of a survey made for the War
Department in 1853 by Isaac l. Stevens, shortly thereafter ap-
pointed governor of Washington. After the Civil War the North-
ern Pacific was incorporated with the financial assistance of Jay
Cooke and Company. Construction began at Thompson Junc-
tion, near Duluth, Minnesota, in February 1870. One hundred
miles were built that year. In 1871 the westward-moving track
reached Fargo, Dakota Territory. The Franco-Prussian War of
1870—71, however, dried up foreign sources of capital, and
eastern writers began to refer derisively to the Northern Pacific
as “a railroad from no place through nothing to nowhere.” In ac-
quiring a controlling interest in other companies, the company
overextended itself, and Northern Pacific and Jay Cooke top-
pled in September 1873, launching the national Panic of 1873.

A subsequent reorganization by General Lewis Cass and
others led to a resumption of work. The road reached Bismarck,
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Dakota Territory, before the end of 1873. Construction then re-
mained dormant for five years before a reorganization by Freder-
ick Billings in 1878 led to further building. With much cutting,
filling, and bridging, the road reached Glendive, on the Yellow-
stone River in eastern Montana, in December 1880. Inspired by
the approach to Butte of the Utah and Northern, Billings con-
cluded an agreement with Henry Villard for the use of the Ore-
gon Railway and Navigation tracks to permit Northern Pacific to
construct a road eastward from Wallula, Washington, the site of
the old Fort Walla Walla, and at the same time run trains west-
ward to Portland. Villard had previously extended the rail lines
of O.R.&N. from Portland to Puget Sound and up the Columbia
to Wallula. This layout meant that North Idaho’s first railroad
would enter the territory from west to east.

Construction proceeded from Wallula northeast across the
Palouse through Spokane Falls and Westwood (Rathdrum),
reaching Lake Pend Oreille in 1882. Between this lake and the
Yellowstone River were 400 miles of alternating mountains and
canyons, requiring extensive trestle work. Construction from
Sandpoint eastward to Missoula was completed in 1883, and the
entire line was in operation just in time for the Coeur d’Alene
mining stampede the next year.®

Much of Northern Pacific’s construction money was supplied
by Henry Villard through a secret stock pool of $18 million that
secured control of Northern Pacific and facilitated Villard’s as-
suming the presidency of the company. Villard energetically
pushed the construction. Boom towns sprang up at the various
termini. The railroad bridged the Snake at a temporary town
called Ainsworth, not far from the connection of the Snake with
the Columbia River, and then headed northeast to Sprague,
Cheney, and Spokane. The next stop was Westwood, a town of
200 or 300 people on the westward edge of Idaho that the 189-
mile track had reached by the fall of 1881.

To speed construction Villard insisted that 6,000 men be
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employed on the western portion of the line as it went through
Idaho. The thousands of workmen included Swedes and Norwe-
gians from the Dakotas, Mormon farmers under Hendricks and
Ricks from Cache Valley, and itinerants from other states and
territories. Unable to get enough Swedes and Mormons, Villard
hired 4,000 Chinese, mostly direct from China. Apparently
most of them returned to China after the job was completed, for
few if any of them remained in North Idaho.

The long road crossed an extremely narrow strip of Idaho,
going from Westwood through Cocolalla, Sandpoint, Kootenai,
and Hope to reach the territory’s eastern boundary at Clark’s
Fork. George Bird Grinnell, a famous ethnologist and historian
of the American West, visited the site of construction in late
1881. Taking the dusty road from Westwood to Dry Lake, near
Lake Pend Oreille, Grinnell found an enormous construction
camp about ready to lay rails. He wrote:

It was a veritable canvas city, and its inhabitants white
men, Chinamen, horses, mules, and dogs. Everything here
is on an enormous scale. The eating tents cover an area
equal to that of a large hotel, the sleeping tents are num-
bered by hundreds; there are great forges, and watering
troughs at which twenty-five horses could drink at one
time; the bread pan in the cook tent was large enough to
serve a full grown man for a bath tub.®

From Dry Lake to Lake Pend Oreille, Grinnell wrote, there
were several railroad camps, each in a different stage of the con-
struction process. First, the carpenters and bridgebuilders; fur-
ther along, the road graders; and then the “right of way men,”
who were cutting their way through the forest, chopping and
burning to clear the road of timber for a width of fifty feet. Fif-
teen miles down the Pend Oreille River (Clark’s Fork), west of
present Sandpoint, was Siniaqueateen (near Laclede), an an-
cient crossing place for Coeur d’Alene Indians that had served
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as a stopping place for traffic headed from the Columbia to Brit-
ish Columbia and Montana during the gold rush of 1864—66.
There the Northern Pacific Commissary depot supplied engineer
parties laying out the line over the Coeur d’Alene Mountains.
Beyond was Clark’s Fork, on the eastern border of Idaho, from
which the road went southeast to Missoula, and then to Melrose,
south of Butte, to the westbound terminus.'®

The road was completed between St. Paul and Portland in
September 1883. Near the end, tracklaying had proceeded at
the rate of a mile per day. The joining-of-the-rails celebration
was held on September 8 on Gold Creek in Hell Gate Valley
near the summit of the Rocky Mountains, scene of the first dis-
covery of gold in Montana. Four palatial trains carried the dis-
tinguished guests, who included General U. S. Grant, Secretary
of the Interior Henry Teller (formerly U.S. Senator from Colo-
rado), British Minister Sir James Hannon, several governors,
and numerous others. More than 5,000 onlookers observed the
grand celebration. Among these were a crowd of hitherto un-
friendly Indians whose cries of “Grant! Grant! Grant!” (the only
name with which they were familiar) were annoying to Henry
Villard, who gave the principal address.

EXPANSION OF SETTLEMENT

Railroad companies were right in expecting the railroads to
promote the immigration of families, establishment of settle-
ments, and further development of resources. With substantial
federal land grants, railroads offered tempting incentives for
location along the line. Each company encouraged settlement in
order to develop local traffic.

Not much encouragement was required to induce northern
Utah residents, particularly those in Cache Valley, to move into
the Upper Snake River Valley. Many of them had worked on

construction crews and had seen abundant and fertile land.

327



328

HISTORY OF IDAHO

Their leaders in Salt Lake City encouraged them to move into
the “north country.” In a lengthy letter from Mormon President
John Taylor to William B. Preston, dated December 26, 1882,
the message was:

Go into the Snake River Country, found settlements,
care for the Indians, stand upon an equal footing and coop-
erate in making improvements. Gain influence among all

men [and women], and strengthen the cords of the Stakes
of Zion."

In the years between the commencement of construction in
1878 and the final completion of Utah and Northern in 1884,
hundreds of Mormons established farms and villages along the
150-mile frontier between Pocatello and Victor.

The settlement process began on February 10, 1879, when
John R. Poole of Ogden, who had been on a Mormon U&N grad-
ing crew, went deer hunting on lake bottom land north of the
present town of Roberts. The land had been occupied since
1867 by John and William Adams and other Virginians who
pastured livestock on land watered by the annual overflow from
Snake River. Israel Heal ran a large herd on adjacent land, re-
ferred to as Heal’s Island. Wanting to homestead, Poole asked
the permission of Heal, who replied: “I don’t believe God in-
tended that a few men should have all this great country to raise
horses and cows in.” Poole urged friends to visit the “island,”
and they also were impressed. The first to move was Joseph C.
Fisher, grandfather of Idaho novelist Vardis Fisher. Other fami-
lies followed, and an irrigating ditch was cut. Poole and others
informed Apostle Franklin D. Richards of Ogden, who called a
meeting to urge settlement by other Latter-day Saints. Heal’s Is-
land became Poole’s Island, then Cedar Buttes, then Menan—
an Indian word meaning “island.”

Menan was the parent colony of nine separate communities
founded in the 1880s: Egin (Parker), 1879; Louisville (Lewis-
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ville), 1882; Bannack (Rexburg), 1882; Lyman, 1883; Salem
(Sugar City), 1883; Teton, 1883; Wilford, 1883; Rigby, 1884;
and Victor, 1889. These settlements were founded by individ-
ual families rather than by group movements. They adopted the
cooperative pattern of work characteristic of Franklin, Paris,
and other Mormon villages but did not settle fort-style, as was
necessary during the period of Indian unrest. Since these home-
steaders lived on their 160-acre farms rather than in a village,
the communities had a scattered appearance. They were organ-
ized into wards or congregations beginning in 1882. Thomas
Ricks was chosen the first bishop of Rexburg (named for him),
which would become the headquarters ward. By 1884 there
were 1,400 Latter-day Saints in the area. Meanwhile, large
numbers of Latter-day Saints joined non-Mormon settlers in Po-
catello, Blackfoot, and Eagle Rock. This migration suggests
both the push of overcrowding in Utah and the attraction of
Idaho’s fertile volcanic soils.

In time, with the need for getting crops to markets, these new
settlements were anxious to obtain railroad service. The Utah
and Northern (and the Oregon Short Line that merged with it)
was not long in building branch lines. These included a line
from Idaho Falls to St. Anthony, built in 1900; Blackfoot to
Mackay, 1901; St. Anthony to Yellowstone Park, 1908; More-
land to Aberdeen, 1910; and Yellowstone to Ashton, 1910.
Lines were also extended from Montpelier to Paris, Driggs to
Victor, and Preston to Cache Junction, Utah.

Settlement also stretched along the route of the Oregon Short
Line, occasionally by Mormons but mostly by non-Mormon
stockmen, crop farmers, miners, and small-town businessmen
from the Great Plains and Midwest. Charles Francis Adams,
who became president of Union Pacific in 1884, was particu-
larly interested in building up this “Union Pacific Country.”
The railroad was not only a means of marketing cattle, gradually
replacing the buffalo on the Snake River Valley range, but also
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a means of stocking the range. In the spring of 1885, a single
consignment of cattle comprising 160 cars moved from Wyo-
ming to Idaho."?

When the O.S.L. was completed through the upper Portneuf
in 1882 and finished the next year to Pocatello, Portneuf Valley
north of Soda Springs and east of Pocatello became ready for
occupancy. Alexander Toponce, a French-born freighter, had
moved a large herd of cattle into the valley in the 1870s to sup-
ply his freighting to Montana. Cache Valley Mormons also pas-
tured stock in the area. In 1879 Chester Call, a highly respected
bishop in Bountiful, Utah, established a ranch at Chesterfield
(named for a city in England). Persuaded that irrigated and
dryfarm agriculture was possible, Call began homesteading, and
he was joined in 1881 and 1882 by other families from Bounti-
ful. They sold logs for ties and produced grain that was mar-
keted via the railroad. They formed a typical Mormon village,
close-knit and with a strong church orientation. Among the
early Mormon settlers was William Robertson, father of future
Idaho novelist Frank Robertson. Later colonies were estab-
lished in the vicinity, at Bancroft, Hatch, and Lund.

Another colony near the Montpelier to Pocatello route was
Trout Creek (Grace), on the southeast side of Bear River twelve
miles southwest of Soda Springs. The town was first settled by
Mormon families in 1893.

Several settlements were served by the O.S.L. at the Mini-
doka station, some fifty-five miles west of Pocatello. Mormon
farming settlements in Cassia County included those at Beech-
erville (Elba), Albion, Sublett, Almo, and Goose Creek (Oak-
ley). Oakley became the principal Latter-day Saint settlement in
the region.

Still farther along the line was Shoshone, which provided
connection not only with the Wood River area but also with
Shoshone Falls. The single most striking natural phenomenon in
the Snake River Valley, Shoshone Falls was located about
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twenty-five miles south of the Shoshone O.S.L. depot. The
Snake River there plunged 212 feet over a great basaltic horse-
shoe rim nearly 1,000 feet wide. Charles S. Walgamott, who
worked on the Kelton-to-Walla Walla stage line in the 1870s,
posted a squatter’s notice on the land below and above the falls,
excavated a dugout to “prove up” on his claim, and erected a
crudely built “hotel.” He then bought a stagecoach and trans-
ported tourists from the Shoshone station to the falls. Among
those he guided on trips to the Falls were Homer Pound, register
of the United States Land Office in Hailey and father of Ezra
Pound, poet and leader of America’s expatriate literary revolu-
tion of the 1920s; Jay Gould; Theodore Roosevelt, not yet presi-
dent; William Jennings Bryan, later a presidential candidate;
Idaho’s governor, Mason Brayman; and, in 1898, Edward H.
Harriman, who had become president of Union Pacific, and his
party of more than one hundred. In the group was seven-year-
old Averell Harriman, son of E. H., who later replaced his fa-
ther as chairman of the board of Union Pacific and became the
founding father of the Sun Valley resort.

Another of Walgamott’s guests was Edward Roberts, a noted
travel writer employed by Union Pacific president Charles Fran-
cis Adams to promote the O.S.L. with a series of articles, later
published in a book entitled Shoshone Falls and Other Western
Wonders (New York, 1888). But as far as the development of the
Snake River Valley was concerned, Walgamott’s most important
achievement was inducing 1. B. Perrine to establish the latter’s
Blue Lakes Ranch below the falls. Walgamott also encouraged
Perrine in eventually opening the Twin Falls and Northside
tracts to irrigation. More about that in Chapter Twenty.

The 0O.S.L. could do little about developing the agriculture of
southwest Idaho, though it tried. Farms had been established in
the area as soon as the mines in Boise Basin and Owyhee had
created a demand. The 1870 census shows only 414 farms in all
of Idaho Territory (not including the Mormon farms in Franklin
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and Bear Lake, not yet acknowledged to be in Idaho). About 65
percent of those, 269 farms, were in Ada County. Practically all
the 76,000 bushels of wheat and 65,000 bushels of potatoes
produced in Idaho in 1869 were raised in the Boise Valley. The
further development of farming, even with the presence of the
nearby railroad, required water. Although easily dug diversion
canals were built in the 1860s and ‘70s, the means of construct-
ing longer, more expensive highline canals had not yet been
found. Mormons accomplished this by means of cooperative irri-
gation companies owned by the farmers, but elsewhere the
adoption of legislative devices for the creation of irrigation dis-
tricts proceeded slowly.

Despite the supposed independence of Idahoans, they asked
for federal help. The editor of the Boise Idaho Daily Statesman

wrote on November 14, 1889, that, following proper surveys,

The entire Northwest will not only ask, but demand lib-
eral and generous government aid for building reservoirs
and opening ditches for irrigating these immense areas of
arid government land. It is a pretty state of affairs indeed,
if a government which can legally appropriate scores of
millions annually for the improvement of harbors and riv-
ers, may not set aside from the surplus a few million for
making its own land saleable, and fit for American
homes. . . . We are determined to prove that what has been
good for the Eastern gander these many years, will be
equally good for the Western goose.'?

If irrigation were expanded, Idahoans contended, more farms
could be created, the government could sell more land, and the
nation as a whole would benefit. They were on the right track:
when the federal government established the U.S. Reclamation
Service in 1902, agricultural production in southwestern Idaho
rose spectacularly. One of the export industries then developed
was fruit. Apples, cherries, peaches, and prunes came to be
grown in immense quantities in Caldwell, Payette, Emmett,
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Weiser, New Plymouth, Parma, and Council. In the meantime,
many mines opened up along the track. The Seven Devils mines
above Hells Canyon, for example, hauled tons of ore to the
0.S.L. station at Weiser. Weiser was also a gateway for pros-
pectors going to Warren, Roosevelt, and other Salmon Mountain
mines.

Branch lines built by the Oregon Short Line or by companies
it later absorbed in the years after 1882 include: Nampa to
Boise, 1887; Murphy to Emmett, 1902; Weiser to New Mead-
ows, 1902; Blackfoot to Mackay, 1902; Payette to New Ply-
mouth, 1906; Minidoka to Buhl, 1907; New Plymouth to
Emmett, 1910; Moreland to Aberdeen, 1910; Twin Falls to
Rogerson, 1910; Rupert to Bliss, 1910; Burley to Oakley, 1910;
Richfield to Hill City, 1912; and Burley to Declo, 1912.

Henry Villard was forced out of the presidency of Northern
Pacific shortly after that line was finished. His successors con-
structed several branch lines to serve portions of north Idaho
and, at the same time, encourage the establishment of new en-
terprises that would provide traffic. A 112-mile line was built in
1888 from Spokane to Genesee and later from Spokane to Lew-
iston, thus serving the grain- and pea-growing lands of the
Palouse and Camas Prairie areas as well as an increasingly pro-
ductive timber area. Lewiston, with about 700 people in 1880,
was the largest town in north Idaho; Moscow, with about 400,
was the second largest. A branch was constructed in 1890 from
Pullman, Washington, to Moscow, Troy, Kendrick, and Ju-
lietta, following the Potlatch River to the Clearwater. The line
was completed to Lewiston in 1898 and to a point adjacent to
Camas Prairie in 1899.

In 1886 a thirteen-mile road was built to connect Coeur
d’Alene, a city of 200 or 300, with the village of Hauser Junc-
tion on Idaho’s western border. In 1887, a thirty-mile branch
line was extended under the aegis of D. C. Corbin to serve
Kingston, Wardner, Osburn, Murray, Wallace, Burke, and
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Ryan. (The stretch through the narrow section of Burke Canyon
did not have room for both the creek and the railroad, so the rail
bed was built directly over Canyon Creek.) Corbin then bought
the shipping line that operated from Coeur d’Alene to Cataldo
and built a narrow-gauge up the South Fork of the Coeur
d’Alene River to the Montana line. The road reached Kellogg in
1887, Wallace in 1888, and Mullan in 1889 and was at the
Montana summit in 1891. The entire system was later leased to
and eventually purchased by Northern Pacific.

In 1892 North Idaho began to be served by the Great North-
ern Railway, which stretched from St. Paul to Puget Sound.
Under the dynamic leadership of James J. Hill, a Canadian-
American, the Great Northern went south of Glacier National
Park in Montana, through Bonners Ferry and Sandpoint into
Washington, then south to Spokane. The construction continued
during the depression of 1893, its payroll thus mitigating the
impact of the depression on the region. The railroad was respon-
sible for much of the immigration into the area north of Sand-
point in the 1890s and early years of the twentieth century.

A final transcontinental road was the Chicago, Milwaukee,
St. Paul, and Pacific Railroad, which crossed north Idaho in
1909 and is notable as the first railroad to electrify a major seg-
ment—a 438-mile section from Harlowtown, Montana, to
Avery, Idaho.

The Utah and Northern, Oregon Short Line, and Northern Pa-
cific railroads of the later 1870s and early 1880s, financed as
they were by eastern and European capital, brought income to
Idaho workers and supplied them with goods and services. The
roads facilitated colonization and settlement; stimulated the de-
velopment of cattle grazing, mining, and other industries that
required transportation for their profitability; and encouraged
the development of local manufacturing. They brought a larger
population that furnished new markets close at hand for the pro-
duce of Idaho’s farms. By outrunning the course of settlement,
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the railroads also changed the nature of pioneering. Farmers
could now travel with comparative ease to the Snake River Val-
ley and other areas to homestead cheap land, secure provisions
and supplies while the land was put under cultivation, and grow
specialized products for markets in thriving metropolitan areas
on the Pacific Coast and in the Midwest. The railroads were
likewise the foundation of Idaho’s potato industry; they were
also the foundation for the exciting mining developments at
Wood River and the Coeur d’Alene region. Within twenty years,
stimulated by these railroads, the population of 1daho spiraled
from 32,610 in 1880 to 88,548 in 1890 and 161,772 in 1900.

In short, the railroads were catalysts that speeded up the pro-
cesses of settlement and greatly increased Idaho’s income from
agriculture, mining, forestry, and commerce. They were medi-
ums of cultural interchange, for they brought visitors from Bos-
ton, New York, London, and Berlin who appreciated and publi-
cized Idaho’s natural wonders.

CHAPTER FOURTEEN: SOURCES

Most of the histories of Idaho and of the Pacific Northwest have
sections on the topics of this chapter. More specialized studies used
in preparing the chapter are given below.

Utah Northern and Utah and Northern Railroads. Merrill D. Beal,
Intermountain Railroads: Standard and Narrow Gauge (Caldwell:
Caxton Printers, 1962), 1-140; Robert G. Athearn, Union Pacific
Country (Chicago: Rand McNally & Company, 1971), 237-63, 279,
299; and Beal and Wells, History of Idaho, 1:494-518, the last
largely a reprint of Merrill D. Beal, “The Story of the Utah Northern
Railroad,” Idaho Yesterdays 1 (Spring 1957):3—10, and (Summer
1957):16—23. See also [Merle Wells], “Utah Northern Railroad,”
Idaho Yesterdays 22 (Spring 1978):26—28; “The Northern Railroad
Right of Way,” in Madsen, The Bannock of Idaho, 231—48; Leonard
J. Arrington, “Mormon Railroads,” in Great Basin Kingdom: An Eco-
nomic History of the Latter-day Saints, 1830—1900 (Cambridge,
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Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1958), 283-89; and Arrington,
“Railroad Building and Cooperatives, 1869—1879,” in Ricks and
Cooley, eds., The History of a Valley, 170—86; Robert L. Wrigley,
Jr., “Utah and Northern Railway Co.: A Brief History,” Oregon His-
torical Quarterly 48 (September 1957):245-53; Robert G. Athearn,
“Railroad to a Far-Off Country: The Utah and Northern,” Montana
The Magazine of Western History 18 (October 1968):2—23; Harry Ed-
ward Bilger, “A History of Railroads in Idaho” (M. A. thesis, Univer-
sity of Idaho, 1969); and “The Northern Railroads,” in Clarence A.
Reeder, Jr., “The History of Utah’s Railroads, 1869—1883” (Ph.D.
dissertation, University of Utah, 1970), 211—-56. Recent studies in-
clude Maurey Klein, Union Pacific (Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday &
Co., 1987); and George W. Hilton, American Narrow Gauge Rail-
roads (Stanford, Calif.: Stanford University Press, 1990).

Oregon Short Line. Beal, Intermountain Railroads, 141-95; Beal
and Wells, History of Idaho, 1:519-39; Athearn, Union Pacific
Country, 305—29, 356—57, 373—74, essentially the same as his ar-
ticle “The Oregon Short Line,” Idaho Yesterdays 13 (Winter 1969—
70):2—18; Bilger, “A History of Railroads in Idaho™; Ross R. Con-
troneo, “Snake River Railroad,” Pacific Northwest Quarterly 56 (July
1965):106—13; Dorothy O. Johansen, “The Oregon Steam Navigation
Company: An Example of Capitalism on the Frontier,” Pacific Histor-
ical Review 10 (June 1941):179—88; James H. Kyner and Hawthorn
Daniel, End of Track (Caldwell: Caxton Printers, 1937; reissued, Lin-
coln: University of Nebraska Press, 1960); James Blaine Hedges,
Henry Villard and the Railways of the Northwest (New Haven, Conn.:
Yale University Press, 1930).

Northern Pacific. Beal and Wells, 1:540—52; “Transportation De-
velopment,” in Livingston-Little, An Economic History of North
Idaho, 74—80; George Bird Grinnell, “Building the Northern Pa-
cific,” originally published in Forest and Stream, February 9, 1882,
and republished in Idaho Yesterdays 16 (Winter 1972—73):10-13;
Bilger, “A History of Railroads in Idaho”; August C. Bolino, “The
Big Bend of the Northern Pacific,” Idaho Yesterdays 3 (Summer
1959):5—10; William Harland Boyd, “The Holladay-Villard Trans-
portation Empire in The Pacific Northwest, 1868—1893,” Pacific
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Historical Review 15 (December 1946):379—89; John Fahey, Inland
Empire: D. C. Corbin and Spokane (Seattle: University of Washington
Press, 1965); Eugene V. Smalley, History of the Northern Pacific
Railroad (New York: G. P. Putnam’s Sons, 1883); Oscar O. Winther,
The Transportation Frontier: Trans-Muississippi West, 1865—-1890
(New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1964); and Robert E.
Riegel, The Story of the Western Railroads (New York: The Macmillan
Co., 1926).

Regional settlement is discussed in Beal, A History of Southeastern
Idaho; Danielson, History of the Development of Southeastern Idaho;
Ricks and Cooley, eds., The History of a Valley; Sudweeks, “Early
Agricultural Settlements in Southern Idaho”; Richard Sherlock,
“Mormon Migration and Settlement after 1875,” Journal of Mormon
History 2 (1975):53—68; Merrill D. Beal, The Snake River Fork Coun-
try (Rexburg: The Rexburg Journal, 1935); Davis Bitton, “Peopling
the Upper Snake: The Second Wave of Mormon Settlement in Idaho,”
Idaho Yesterdays 23 (Summer 1979):47—52; Dallas E. Livingston-
Little, “An Economic History of North Idaho, 1800-1900: Agricul-
tural Developments,” Journal of the West 3 (April 1964):175—98;
David L. Crowder, Tales of Eastern Idaho (1daho Falls: KID Broad-
casting Corporation, 1981); Kate B. Carter, comp., Pioneer Irriga-
tion: Upper Snake River Valley (Salt Lake City: Daughters of Utah
Pioneers, 1955); “Pioneer Irrigation in Southeastern Idaho,” in Beal
and Wells, History of Idaho, 2:119-35; and Janet Thomas, This Side
of the Mountains: Stories of Eastern Idaho (Idaho Falls: KID Broad-
casting Corporation, 1975).

Community studies include: Eugene B. Chaffee, “Boise: The
Founding of a City,” Idaho Yesterdays 7 (Summer 1963):2—7; Bird,
Boise, The Peace Valley; R. L. Wrigley, Jr., “Early History of Poca-
tello, Idaho,” Pacific Northwest Quarterly 34 (October 1943):353—
65; Davis Bitton, “The Making of a Community: Blackfoot, Idaho,
1878—1910,” Idaho Yesterdays 19 (Spring 1975):2—15; Frederick-
son, History of Weston, Idaho; David L. Crowder, Rexburg, ldaho:
The First One Hundred Years, 1883—1983 (Caldwell: Caxton Print-
ers, 1983); Young, “The History and Development of Franklin,
Idaho, During the Period 1860—1900”; Arrington and Jensen,
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“Lorenzo Hill Hatch: Pioneer Bishop of Franklin®; Mrs. James D.
Agnew, “Idaho Pioneer of 1864,” Washington Historical Quarterly 15
(January 1924):44—48; Paul L. Murphy, “Early Irrigation in the
Boise Valley,” Pacific Northwest Quarterly 44 (October 1953):177—
84; Lawrence G. Coates, “Mormons and Social Change Among the
Shoshoni, 1853—1900,” Idaho Yesterdays 15 (Winter 1972):2—11;
A. McKay Rich, “The Two Montpeliers,” Idaho Yesterdays 3 (Winter
1959—60):8—14; Leonard J. Arrington, “The Mormon Settlement of
Cassia County, Idaho, 1873—1921,” Idaho Yesterdays 23 (Summer
1979):36—46.

Additional references include: Betty M. Madsen and Brigham D.
Madsen, North to Montana: Jehus, Bullwhackers, and Muleskinners
on the Montana Trail (Salt Lake City: University of Utah Press,
1980); James Knox Polk Miller, The Road to Virginia City: The Diary
of James Knox Polk Miller, Andrew F. Rolle, ed. (Norman: University
of Oklahoma Press, 1960); Carrie A. Strahorn, Fifteen Thousand
Miles by Stage: A Woman’s Unique Experience (1912; reissued in
2 vols., Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1989); Alexander
Toponce, Reminiscences (Salt Lake City: Deseret News Publishing
Co., 1934); and Peter J. Valora, “A Historical Geography of Agricul-
ture in the Upper Snake River Valley, Idaho” (Ph.D. dissertation,
University of Colorado, 1986).

In 1990 the Idaho Humanities Council and the History Committee
of the Idaho Centennial Commision funded a project on “Mormon Mi-
gration and Idaho” that included papers by Lawrence Coates, Ron
Hatzenbuehler, and Peter Boag; copies in possession of the writer.
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CHAPTER FIFTEEN

The Lead-Silver Mining Rush of the 1880s

DAHO enjoyed another mining boom in the 1880s and 1890s.

This was the product of spectacular new discoveries along the

Wood and Coeur d’Alene rivers plus the service provided by
the Utah and Northern, Oregon Short Line, and Northern Pa-
cific railroads and their branches, and substantial technological
innovation and improved scientific understanding. The new
mines, and the rejuvenated old mines, became massive indus-
trial enterprises in which millions of dollars were invested by
easterners, British, and Europeans. As sophisticated syndicates
took charge, workers responded by organizing unions, calling
strikes, and eventually engaging in industrial warfare.'

Placer mining continued in the 1870s. Pockets of men with
burros, picks and shovels, rockers and lo